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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018

or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from_______________ to ________________

Commission file number: 001-37763

TURNING POINT BRANDS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 20-0709285
(State or other jurisdiction of
Incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

5201 Interchange Way, Louisville, KY 40229
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(502) 778-4421
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report: not applicable

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☑ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☑ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller
reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller
reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☑
Non-accelerated filer ☐ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ☐
Emerging growth company ☑

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act ☑

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐
No ☑
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At November 1, 2018, there were 19,549,301 shares outstanding of the registrant’s voting common stock, par value $0.01 per share.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-
looking statements may generally be identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” and “will”
or, in each case, their negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters that
are not historical facts. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events, and
depend on circumstances, that may or may not occur in the future. As a result, actual events may differ materially from those expressed
in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement made by Turning Point Brands, Inc. (“TPB”), in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q speaks only as of the date hereof. New risks and uncertainties come up from time to time, and it is
impossible for TPB to predict these events or how they may affect it. TPB has no obligation, and does not intend, to update any forward-
looking statements after the date hereof, except as required by federal securities laws. Factors that could cause these differences include,
but are not limited to:

· declining sales of tobacco products, and expected continuing decline of sales, in the tobacco industry overall;
· our dependence on a small number of third-party suppliers and producers;
· the possibility that we will be unable to identify or contract with new suppliers or producers in the event of a supply or product

disruption;
· the possibility that our licenses to use certain brands or trademarks will be terminated, challenged, or restricted;
· failure to maintain consumer brand recognition and loyalty of our customers;
· substantial and increasing U.S. regulation;
· regulation of our products by the Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”), which has broad regulatory powers;
· uncertainty related to the regulation and taxation of our NewGen products;
· possible significant increases in federal, state, and local municipal tobacco-related taxes;
· possible increasing international control and regulation;
· our reliance on relationships with several large retailers and national chains for distribution of our products;
· our amount of indebtedness;
· the terms of our credit facilities, which may restrict our current and future operations;
· intense competition and our ability to compete effectively;
· uncertainty and continued evolution of markets containing our NewGen products;
· significant product liability litigation;
· the scientific community’s lack of information regarding the long-term health effects of electronic cigarette, vaporizer, and e-

liquid use;
· requirement to maintain compliance with Master Settlement Agreement escrow account requirements;
· competition from illicit sources;
· our reliance on information technology;
· security and privacy breaches;
· contamination of our tobacco supply or products;
· infringement on our intellectual property;
· third-party claims that we infringe on their intellectual property;
· failure to manage our growth;
· failure to successfully integrate our acquisitions or otherwise be unable to benefit from pursuing acquisitions;
· fluctuations in our results;
· exchange rate fluctuations;
· adverse U.S. and global economic conditions;
· sensitivity of end-customers to increased sales taxes and economic conditions;
· failure to comply with certain regulations;
· departure of key management personnel or our inability to attract and retain talent;
· imposition of significant tariffs on imports into the U.S.;
· reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common stock less attractive to

investors, potentially decreasing our stock price;
· failure to maintain our status as an emerging growth company before the five-year maximum time period a company may retain

such status;
· our principal stockholders will be able to exert significant influence over matters submitted to our stockholders and may take

certain actions to prevent takeovers;
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· our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as Delaware law and certain regulations, could discourage or prohibit
acquisition bids or merger proposals which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock;

· our certificate of incorporation limits the ownership of our common stock by individuals and entities that are Restricted
Investors. These restrictions may affect the liquidity of our common stock and may result in Restricted Investors being required
to sell or redeem their shares at a loss or relinquish their voting, dividend, and distribution rights;

· future sales of our common stock in the public market could reduce our stock price, and any additional capital raised by us
through the sale of equity or convertible securities may dilute your ownership in us;

· we may issue preferred stock whose terms could adversely affect the voting power or value of our common stock; and
· our status as a “controlled company” could make our common stock less attractive to some investors or otherwise harm our

stock price.

4
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands except share data)

ASSETS

(unaudited)
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Current assets:

Cash $ 1,631 $ 2,607
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $44 in 2018 and $17 in 2017 6,603 3,248
Inventories 89,433 63,296
Other current assets 14,556 10,342

Total current assets 112,223 79,493
Property, plant, and equipment, net 10,585 8,859
Deferred income taxes - 450
Deferred financing costs, net 922 630
Goodwill 146,328 134,620
Other intangible assets, net 35,140 26,436
Master Settlement Agreement (MSA) escrow deposits 29,926 30,826
Other assets 1,207 963

Total assets $ 336,331 $ 282,277

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 8,760 $ 3,686
Accrued liabilities 17,401 18,694
Current portion of long-term debt 8,000 7,850
Revolving credit facility 30,000 8,000

Total current liabilities 64,161 38,230
Notes payable and long-term debt 188,529 186,190
Deferred income taxes 2,178 -
Postretirement benefits 3,916 3,962
Other long-term liabilities 558 571

Total liabilities 259,342 228,953

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; $0.01 par value; authorized shares 40,000,000; issued and outstanding shares -0- - -
Common stock, voting, $0.01 par value; authorized shares, 190,000,000; issued and outstanding

shares - 19,540,593 at September 30, 2018, and 19,210,633 at December 31, 2017 195 192
Common stock, nonvoting, $0.01 par value; authorized shares, 10,000,000; issued and outstanding

shares -0- - -
Additional paid-in capital 110,074 103,640
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,681) (2,973)
Accumulated deficit (29,599) (47,535)

Total stockholders’ equity 76,989 53,324
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 336,331 $ 282,277

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(dollars in thousands except share data)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Net sales $ 83,349 $ 73,340
Cost of sales 47,138 40,372

Gross profit 36,211 32,968
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 23,253 18,534

Operating income 12,958 14,434
Interest expense 3,836 4,027
Interest income (134) (4)
Investment income (89) (131)
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost (45) 58

Income before income taxes 9,390 10,484
Income tax expense 1,436 3,110

Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374

Basic income per common share:
Consolidated net income $ 0.41 $ 0.39

Diluted income per common share:
Consolidated net income $ 0.40 $ 0.38

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 19,378,054 19,085,329
Diluted 19,882,994 19,589,424

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(dollars in thousands except share data)
(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Net sales $ 238,392 $ 212,214
Cost of sales 134,577 119,508

Gross profit 103,815 92,706
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 66,314 53,764

Operating income 37,501 38,942
Interest expense 11,073 13,010
Interest income (262) (8)
Investment income (328) (334)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Net periodic benefit expense, excluding service cost 176 174

Income before income taxes 24,458 19,984
Income tax expense 4,153 3,850

Consolidated net income 20,305 16,134
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest - (556)

Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 20,305 $ 16,690

Basic income per common share:
Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 1.05 $ 0.88

Diluted income per common share:
Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 1.03 $ 0.86

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 19,290,096 18,915,606
Diluted 19,767,667 19,503,130

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(dollars in thousands)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Amortization of unrealized pension and postretirement losses, net of tax of $3 in 2018 and $43 in

2017 10 71
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of tax of $69 in 2018 and $8 in 2017 (231) 12
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps, net of tax of $70 in 2018 (233) -

(454) 83
Consolidated comprehensive income $ 7,500 $ 7,457

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

8

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents

Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(dollars in thousands)
(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Consolidated net income $ 20,305 $ 16,134

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Amortization of unrealized pension and postretirement losses, net of tax of $85 in 2018 and $132 in

2017 314 218
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of tax of $173 in 2018 and $150 in 2017 (738) 241
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps, net of tax of $92 in 2018 (308) -

(732) 459
Consolidated comprehensive income 19,573 16,593

Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest - (556)
Comprehensive income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 19,573 $ 17,149

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in thousands)
(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities:

Consolidated net income $ 20,305 $ 16,134
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Loss on sale of property, plant, and equipment - 17
Depreciation expense 1,596 1,192
Amortization of other intangible assets 557 527
Amortization of deferred financing costs 712 768
Amortization of original issue discount - 66
Deferred income taxes 2,806 1,847
Stock compensation expense 1,056 498
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (3,192) (779)
Inventories (18,840) (970)
Other current assets (5,971) 2,383
Other assets 144 (105)
Accounts payable 4,442 (2,292)
Accrued postretirement liabilities (107) (18)
Accrued liabilities and other (4,918) (4,993)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 974 $ 20,391

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures $ (1,528) $ (1,052)
Restricted cash, MSA escrow deposits (2,234) 320
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (19,161) 268
Issuance of note receivable (6,500) -
Receipt of note receivable repayment including prepayment penalty 7,475 -

Net cash used in investing activities $ (21,948) $ (464)

10
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Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Cont.)
(dollars in thousands)
(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from (payments of) 2018 first lien term loan, net $ 156,000 $ -
Proceeds from 2018 second lien term loan 40,000 -
Proceeds from 2018 revolving credit facility 30,000 -
Payment of dividends (1,537) -
Proceeds from (payments of) 2017 first lien term loans, net (140,613) 142,075
Proceeds from (payments of) 2017 second lien term loan, net (55,000) 55,000
Proceeds from (payments of) 2017 revolving credit facility, net (8,000) 15,550
Payments of VaporBeast Note Payable (2,000) -
Proceeds from release of restricted funds 1,107 -
Payments of financing costs (3,286) (4,783)
Exercise of options 779 1,371
Payment to terminate acquired capital lease (170) -
Payments of first lien term loan - (147,362)
Payments of second lien term loan - (60,000)
Payments of revolving credit facility - (15,083)
Payments of Vapor Shark loans - (1,867)
Prepaid equity issuance costs - (394)
Surrender of options - (1,000)
Redemption of options (623) (1,740)
Distribution to non-controlling interest - (4)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 16,657 $ (18,237)

Net increase (decrease) in cash: $ (4,317) $ 1,690

Cash, beginning of period:
Unrestricted 2,607 2,865
Restricted 4,709 3,889

Total cash at beginning of period 7,316 6,754

Cash, end of period:
Unrestricted 1,631 4,235
Restricted 1,368 4,209

Total cash at end of period $ 2,999 $ 8,444

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing activities:
Issuance of shares for acquisition $ 5,292 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars in thousands, except where designated and per share data)

Note 1. Organizations and Basis of Presentation

Organizations

Turning Point Brands, Inc. (the “Company”), is a holding company which owns North Atlantic Trading Company, Inc. (“NATC”), and
its subsidiaries and Turning Point Brands, LLC (“TPLLC”), and its subsidiaries. Except where the context indicates otherwise, references
to the Company include the Company; NATC and its subsidiaries National Tobacco Company, L.P. (“NTC”), National Tobacco Finance,
LLC (“NTFLLC”), North Atlantic Operating Company, Inc. (“NAOC”), North Atlantic Cigarette Company, Inc. (“NACC”), and RBJ
Sales, Inc. (“RBJ”); and TPLLC and its subsidiaries Intrepid Brands, LLC (“Intrepid”), Vapor Beast, LLC (“VaporBeast,” f/k/a Smoke
Free Technologies, Inc.), Vapor Shark, LLC, and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Vapor Shark,” f/k/a The Hand Media), Vapor Acquisitions
Company, LLC (“Vapor Supply”), Vapor Finance, LLC (“VFIN”), and International Vapor Group, LLC and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“IVG”).

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting practices
described in the Company’s audited, consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, and are
unaudited. In the opinion of management, the unaudited, interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements included herein contain
all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Company for the periods
indicated. Such adjustments, other than nonrecurring adjustments separately disclosed, are of a normal and recurring nature. The
operating results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for a full year or future interim periods. The
unaudited, interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited, consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. The accompanying interim, condensed,
consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and, accordingly, do not include all the disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”)
with respect to annual financial statements.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The changes did not have an impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows in any of the periods presented.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned. All
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Revenue Recognition

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which
supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP, on January 1, 2018. The Company recognizes revenues,
net of sales incentives and sales returns, including shipping and handling charges billed to customers, upon delivery of goods to the
customer at an amount that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods in accordance with the five-step
analysis outlined in Topic 606: (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii)
determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as)
performance obligations are satisfied.

A further requirement of ASU 2014-09 is for entities to disaggregate revenue recognized from contracts with customers into categories
that depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. Company
management views business performance through segments that closely resemble the performance of major product lines. Thus, the
primary and most useful disaggregation of the Company’s contract revenue for decision making purposes is the disaggregation by
segment which can be found in Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. An additional disaggregation of contract revenue
by sales channel can be found within Note 16 as well.
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Shipping Costs

The Company records shipping costs incurred as a component of selling, general, and administrative expenses. Shipping costs incurred
were approximately $3.8 million and $2.9 million for the three months ending September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Shipping costs
incurred were approximately $10.5 million and $7.4 million for the nine months ending September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Fair Value

GAAP establishes a framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under GAAP are described below:

· Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at
the measurement date.

· Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the
asset or liability, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other
means.

· Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date.

Derivative Instruments

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts: The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of its exposure
to changes in foreign currency exchange rates on inventory purchase commitments. The Company accounts for its forward contracts
under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Under the Company’s policy, the Company may hedge up to 100% of its
anticipated purchases of inventory in the denominated invoice currency over a forward period not to exceed twelve months. The Company
may also, from time to time, hedge up to ninety percent of its non-inventory purchases in the denominated invoice currency. Forward
contracts that qualify as hedges are adjusted to their fair value through other comprehensive income as determined by market prices on
the measurement date, except any hedge ineffectiveness which is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses on these forward
contracts are transferred from other comprehensive income into net income as the related inventories are received. Changes in fair value
of any contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in income.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements: The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage interest rate risk and reduce the
volatility of future cash flows. The Company accounts for its interest rate swap contracts under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging. Swap contracts that qualify as hedges are adjusted to their fair value through other comprehensive income as determined
by market prices on the measurement date, except any hedge ineffectiveness which is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses
on these swap contracts are transferred from other comprehensive income into net income upon settlement of the derivative position or
at maturity of the interest rate swap contract. Changes in fair value of any contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not
designated as hedges are recognized currently in income.

Risks and Uncertainties

Manufacturers and sellers of tobacco products are subject to regulation at the federal, state, and local levels. Such regulations include,
among others, labeling requirements, limitations on advertising, and prohibition of sales to minors. The tobacco industry is likely to
continue to be heavily regulated. There can be no assurance as to the ultimate content, timing, or effect of any regulation of tobacco
products by any federal, state, or local legislative or regulatory body, nor can there be any assurance that any such legislation or regulation
would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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The tobacco industry has experienced, and is experiencing, significant product liability litigation. Most tobacco liability lawsuits have
been brought against manufacturers and sellers of cigarettes for injuries allegedly caused by smoking or exposure to smoke. However,
several lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and sellers of smokeless products for injuries to health allegedly caused by
use of smokeless products. Typically, such claims assert that use of smokeless products is addictive and causes oral cancer. Additionally,
several lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and distributors of NewGen products due to malfunctioning devices. There
can be no assurance the Company will not sustain losses in connection with such lawsuits and that such losses will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Master Settlement Agreement (MSA): Pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement (the “MSA”) entered into in November 1998 by
most states (represented by their attorneys general acting through the National Association of Attorneys General) and subsequent states’
statutes, a “cigarette manufacturer” (which is defined to include a manufacturer of make-your-own (“MYO”) cigarette tobacco) has the
option of either becoming a signatory to the MSA or opening, funding, and maintaining an escrow account to have funds available for
certain potential tobacco-related liabilities with sub-accounts on behalf of each settling state. The Company chose to open and fund an
escrow account as its method of compliance. It is the Company’s policy to record amounts on deposit in the escrow account for prior years
as a non-current asset. Each year’s annual obligation is required to be deposited in the escrow account by April 15 of the following year. In
addition to the annual deposit, many states have elected to require quarterly deposits for the previous quarter’s sales. As of September 30,
2018, the Company had on deposit approximately $32.1 million, the fair value of which was approximately $29.9 million. At December
31, 2017, the Company had on deposit approximately $32.1 million, the fair value of which was approximately $30.8 million. Effective
in the third quarter of 2017, the Company no longer sells any product covered under the MSA. Thus, absent a change in legislation, the
Company will no longer be required to make deposits to the MSA escrow account.

The Company has chosen to invest a portion of the MSA escrow deposits in U.S. Government securities including TIPS, Treasury Notes,
and Treasury Bonds. These investments are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair value. Realized losses are prohibited under
the MSA; any investment in an unrealized loss position will be held until the value is recovered, or until maturity. The following shows
the fair value of the MSA escrow account:

As of September 30, 2018 As of December 31, 2017

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,367 $ - $ 1,367 $ 3,602 $ - $ 3,602
U.S. Governmental agency

obligations
(unrealized loss position < 12

months) 3,181 (53) 3,128 722 (17) 705
U.S. Governmental agency

obligations
(unrealized loss position > 12

months) 27,514 (2,084) 25,430 27,733 (1,214) 26,519
$ 32,062 $ (2,137) $ 29,925 $ 32,057 $ (1,231) $ 30,826

Fair value for the U.S. Governmental agency obligations are Level 2. The following shows the maturities of the U.S. Governmental
agency obligations:

As of
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Less than one year $ 1,499 $ -
One to five years 9,600 7,114
Five to ten years 15,141 17,662
Greater than ten years 4,455 3,679
Total U.S. Governmental agency obligations $ 30,695 $ 28,455
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The following shows the amount of deposits by sales year for the MSA escrow account:

Deposits as of
Sales
Year

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

1999 $ 211 $ 211
2000 1,017 1,017
2001 1,673 1,673
2002 2,271 2,271
2003 4,249 4,249
2004 3,714 3,714
2005 4,552 4,552
2006 3,847 3,847
2007 4,167 4,167
2008 3,364 3,364
2009 1,619 1,626
2010 406 406
2011 193 193
2012 199 199
2013 173 173
2014 143 143
2015 101 101
2016 81 81
2017 83 70

Total $ 32,063 $ 32,057

Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”): On June 22, 2009, the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act (“FSPTCA”)
authorized the FDA to immediately regulate the manufacturing, sale, and marketing of four categories of tobacco products – cigarettes,
cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless tobacco. On August 8, 2016, the FDA deeming regulation became effective.
The deeming regulation gave the FDA the authority to additionally regulate cigars, pipe tobacco, electronic cigarettes (“e-cigarettes”),
vaporizers, and e-liquids as “deemed” tobacco products under the FSPTCA.

The FDA assesses tobacco product user fees on six classes of regulated tobacco products and computes user fees using a methodology
similar to the methodology used by the U.S Department of Agriculture to compute the Tobacco Transition Payment Program (“TTPP,”
also known as the “Tobacco Buyout”) assessment. First, the total, annual, congressionally established user fee assessment is allocated
among the various classes of tobacco products using the federal excise tax weighted market share of tobacco products subject to
regulation. Then, the assessment for each class of tobacco products is divided among individual manufacturers and importers.

Prior to October 1, 2016, these FDA user fees applied only to those products then regulated by the FDA. Effective October 1, 2016, the
FDA began additionally applying FDA user fees to newly “deemed” tobacco products subject to FDA user fees as described above, i.e.,
cigars and pipe tobacco.

On July 28, 2017, the FDA announced a new direction in regulating tobacco products, including the newly “deemed” markets such
as cigars and vapor products. The FDA stated it intends to begin several new rulemaking processes, some of which will outline
foundational rules governing the premarket application process for the deemed products, including Substantial Equivalence Applications
and Premarket Tobacco Applications. Compliance and related costs could be significant and could increase the costs of operating in our
NewGen segment. The original filing deadlines for newly “deemed” products on the market as of August 8, 2016, have been postponed
until August 8, 2021, for “combustible” products (e.g., cigar and pipe) and August 8, 2022, for “non-combustible” products (e.g., vapor
products). No other significant filing deadlines have been altered at this time. The FDA also acknowledged a “continuum of risk” among
tobacco products (i.e., certain tobacco products pose a greater risk to individual and public health than others), that it intends to seek
public comment on the role flavors play in attracting youth and the role flavors may play in helping some smokers switch to potentially
less harmful forms of nicotine delivery, and that it would be increasing its focus on the regulation of cigarette products. FDA has since
published a number of Advanced Notices of Proposed Rulemaking (“ANPRM”) on these subjects.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

The Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes nearly all existing revenue
recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP, in the first quarter of 2018 using the modified retrospective method. This ASU requires the
recognition of revenue to depict the transfer of goods to customers at an amount that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for
those goods in accordance with the following five-step analysis: (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance
obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v)
recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied. Other major provisions include capitalization of certain contract
costs, consideration of time value of money in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be recognized
before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The guidance also requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. The adoption of this ASU had no
effect on the timing or amount of revenue recognition, or on net income.

The Company adopted ASU 2018-02, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax
Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, in the first quarter of 2018 on a prospective basis. This ASU allows entities
to make a one-time reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) to retained earnings for the effects of
remeasuring deferred tax liabilities and assets originally recorded in other comprehensive income as a result of the change in the federal
tax rate by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”). The adoption of this ASU resulted in a reclassification of stranded tax effects related to
the TCJA from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings of less than $0.1 million during the first quarter of 2018.

The Company adopted ASU 2017-07, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic
Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost, in the first quarter of 2018 using the full retrospective method. This ASU
requires an entity to report the service cost component in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services
rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The other components of net periodic benefit cost are required to be presented in
the income statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from operations. The adoption of this
ASU resulted in a reclassification of $0.1 million and $0.2 million from cost of sales and selling, general, and administrative expenses to
net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, in the first quarter of 2018 using the full
retrospective method. The amendments in this ASU require that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the
total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. As a result of this ASU
the Company’s statements of cash flows include changes in restricted cash, such as changes in the portion of the MSA escrow deposits
held in cash.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes Topic 840, Leases. ASU 2016-02 requires a
lessee to recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset (the lease asset) for the lease term. For leases with a term of 12 months or less for
which there is not an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, a lessee is permitted to
make an accounting policy election by class of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and should recognize
lease expense for such leases generally on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Certain qualitative disclosures along with specific
quantitative disclosures will be required so that users are able to understand more about the nature of an entity’s leasing activities. ASU
2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early
adoption permitted. At transition, lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented
using a modified retrospective approach, which includes a number of optional practical expedients related to the identification and
classification of leases that commenced before the effective date of ASU 2016-02. An entity that elects to use the practical expedients
will, in effect, continue to account for leases that commenced before the effective date in accordance with previous GAAP unless the
lease is modified, except that lessees are required to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all operating leases at each
reporting date based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments that were tracked and disclosed under previous
GAAP.
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In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, providing entities with an additional, optional
transition method by which to adopt the new leases standard. ASU 2018-11 allows for application of the new leases standard at adoption
date and recognition of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The
Company will adopt the new leases standard under this optional transition method on January 1, 2019, and does not expect a material
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at adoption. While the Company is still in the process of quantifying the impact
to the consolidated balance sheet upon adoption, the Company expects to report increased assets and liabilities as a result of recognizing
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities related to the Company’s operating lease agreements discussed in the Company’s 2017 Annual
Report on Form 10-K. However, the Company does not expect adoption of ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-11 to have a material impact on
its consolidated statements of income as the majority, if not all, of the Company’s leases are expected to remain operating in nature.

Note 3. Acquisitions

IVG

In September 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interest of IVG for total consideration of $23.7 million satisfied through
$14.4 million paid in cash, 153,079 shares of common stock with a fair value of $5.3 million, and a $4.0 million note payable to IVG’s
former owners (“IVG Note”) which matures 18 months from the acquisition date. All principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the
IVG Note is subject to indemnification obligations of the sellers pursuant to the International Vapor Group Stock Purchase Agreement
dated as of September 5, 2018. The arrangement includes an additional $4.5 million of earnouts with both performance-based and service-
based conditions payable to former IVG owners who became employees of the Company as a result of the acquisition. The portion
of earnout payments a recipient will receive will be calculated by reference to certain performance metrics not to exceed a two-year
period as specified within the acquisition agreement. The Company recorded earnout expense of approximately $0.4 million within the
consolidated statement of income for the three months ended September 30, 2018, based on the probability of achieving the performance
conditions.

IVG markets and sells a broad array of proprietary and third-party vapor products directly to adult consumers through an online platform
under brand names such as VaporFi, South Beach Smoke, and Direct Vapor. IVG operates company-owned stores under the VaporFi
brand and also operates as a franchisor to franchisee-owned stores. The acquisition of IVG adds a significant business-to-consumer
distribution platform to the Company’s NewGen portfolio. As of September 30, 2018, the Company had not completed the accounting for
the acquisition. The following purchase price and goodwill are based on the excess of the acquisition price over the estimated fair value
of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and are based on management’s preliminary estimates.

Total purchase price $ 24,292
Adjustments to purchase price:

Cash acquired (391)
Working capital (245)

Adjusted purchase price 23,656

Assets acquired:
Working capital 2,681
Fixed assets 1,296
Intangible assets 8,140
Capital lease obligation (169)

Net assets acquired 11,948

Goodwill $ 11,708

The goodwill of $11.7 million consists of the synergies and scale expected from combining the operations and is currently deductible for
tax purposes.
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Vapor Supply

On April 30, 2018, the Company purchased the assets of Vapor Supply LLC, vaporsupply.com, and some of its affiliates including
the Ecig.com domain through its subsidiary Vapor Acquisitions Company, LLC, for total consideration of $4.8 million paid in cash to
strengthen its presence within the NewGen segment. Vapor Supply is a business-to-business e-commerce distribution platform servicing
independent retail vape shops. Additionally, Vapor Supply manufactures and markets proprietary e-liquids under the DripCo brand and
operates company-owned stores. As of September 30, 2018, the Company had not completed the accounting for the acquisition of these
assets. The following fair value for working capital (primarily inventory), fixed assets, and trade name are based on management’s
preliminary estimates:

Fair Value

Working capital $ 3,181
Fixed assets 498
Trade name 1,121
Total purchase price $ 4,800

Pro Forma Information – IVG and Vapor Supply

The following table presents financial information regarding IVG and Vapor Supply operations included in our Consolidated Statement
of Operations from the date of acquisition through September 30, 2018, under the “Vapor Supply and IVG Actuals from Acquisition
Dates through September 30, 2018” column. The following table also presents unaudited pro forma information as if the acquisitions
of IVG and Vapor Supply had occurred on January 1, 2017, under the “Pro Forma Consolidated” columns. The table below has been
prepared for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the actual results that would have been attained had the
acquisition occurred as of the beginning of the periods presented, nor is it indicative of future results. Furthermore, the unaudited pro
forma information does not reflect management’s estimate of any revenue-enhancing opportunities or anticipated cost savings as a result
of the integration and consolidation of the acquisition. Amortization of fair value, interest on debt, and income tax adjustments are
included in the numbers below.

Vapor Supply
and IVG Actuals Pro Forma Consolidated

from Acquisition
Dates Through

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

September 30, 2018 2018 2017
Net sales $ 9,737 $ 281,679 $ 270,795
Income (loss) before income taxes (55) 24,556 21,539
Net income (loss) $ (55) $ 20,386 $ 17,390

Basic earnings per common share:
Net income $ 1.06 $ 0.92

Diluted earnings per common share:
Net income $ 1.03 $ 0.89

Weight average common shares outstanding:
Basic - inclusive of voting and non-voting shares 19,290,096 18,915,606
Diluted - inclusive of voting and non-voting shares 19,767,667 19,503,130

Vapor Shark

In March 2017, the Company entered into a strategic partnership with Vapor Shark in which the Company committed to make a deposit
up to $2.5 million to Vapor Shark in exchange for a warrant to purchase 100% of the equity interest in Vapor Shark on or before April
15, 2018. In the event the Company exercised the warrant, the Company granted Vapor Shark’s sole shareholder the option to purchase
from Vapor Shark the retail stores it owns, effective as of January 1, 2018. In April 2017, the Company entered into a management
agreement with Vapor Shark whereby the Company obtained control of the operations. As a result of the management agreement, Vapor
Shark was accounted for as a VIE during the second quarter of 2017. The Company exercised its warrant on June 30, 2017, and obtained
100% ownership of Vapor Shark as of that date for a nominal purchase price. In January 2018, the Company finalized an agreement
to pay Vapor Shark’s former sole shareholder total consideration of $1.5 million in exchange for terminating his option to purchase the
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million to be paid in 24 monthly installments through February 2020.
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Note 4. Derivative Instruments

Foreign Currency

The Company’s policy is to manage the risks associated with foreign exchange rate movements. The policy allows hedging up to 100%
of its anticipated purchases of inventory over a forward period that will not exceed 12 rolling and consecutive months. The Company
may, from time to time, hedge currency for non-inventory purchases, e.g., production equipment, not to exceed 90% of the purchase
price. The Company executed various forward contracts during the three months ended September 30, 2018, none of which met hedge
accounting requirements, for the purchase of €2.3 million. The Company executed various forward contracts during the nine months
ended September 30, 2018, none of which met hedge accounting requirements, for the purchase of €14.5 million. The Company executed
no forward contracts during 2017. At September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, the Company had forward contracts for the purchase
of €5.5 million and €0 million, respectively.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company’s policy is to manage interest rate risk by reducing the volatility of future cash flows associated with debt instruments
bearing interest at variable rates. In March 2018, the Company executed various interest rate swap agreements for a notional amount
of $70 million with an expiration of December 2022. The swap agreements fix LIBOR at 2.755%. The swap agreements met the
hedge accounting requirements; thus, any change in fair value is recorded to other comprehensive income. The Company uses the
Shortcut Method to account for the swap agreements. The Shortcut Method assumes the hedge to be perfectly effective; thus, there is no
ineffectiveness to be recorded in earnings. The swap agreements’ fair values at September 30, 2018, resulted in a liability of $0.4 million
included in other long-term liabilities.

Note 5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the Company using the methods and assumptions described below. However,
considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein
are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are, by definition, short-term. Thus, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Accounts Receivable

The fair value of accounts receivable approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.

2018 Revolving Credit Facility

The fair value of the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility approximates its carrying value as the interest rate fluctuates with changes in market
rates.

Note Payable – IVG

The fair value of the IVG Note approximates its carrying value of $4.0 million due to the recency of the note’s issuance, September 5,
2018, relative to the end of the quarter, September 30, 2018.
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Long-Term Debt

As the Company’s long-term debt bears interest at variable rates that fluctuate with market rates, the carrying values of the long-term debt
instruments approximate their respective fair values. As of September 30, 2018, the fair values of the 2018 First Lien Term Loan and the
2018 Second Lien Term Loan approximated $156.0 million and $40.0 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, the fair values of
the 2017 First Lien Term Loans and the 2017 Second Lien Term Loan approximated $140.6 million and $56.1 million, respectively. See
Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding our current and past credit facilities.

Foreign Exchange

The Company had forward contracts for the purchase of €5.5 million at September 30, 2018. The Company had no forward contracts
outstanding as of December 31, 2017. The fair values of the foreign exchange contracts are based upon quoted market prices and resulted
in a loss of approximately $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The fair value of the foreign exchange contracts
resulted in a liability of less than $0.1 million as of September 30, 2018.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company had swap contracts for a total notional amount of $70 million at September 30, 2018. The Company had no swap
agreements outstanding at December 31, 2017. The fair values of the swap contracts are based upon quoted market prices and resulted in
a liability of $0.4 million as of September 30, 2018.

Note 6. Inventories

The components of inventories are as follows:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Raw materials and work in process $ 3,285 $ 2,545
Leaf tobacco 34,873 30,308
Finished goods - Smokeless products 7,313 5,834
Finished goods - Smoking products 13,604 14,110
Finished goods - NewGen products 35,103 14,532
Other 722 1,290

94,900 68,619
LIFO reserve (5,467) (5,323)

$ 89,433 $ 63,296

The inventory valuation allowance was $1.1 million and $0.5 million as of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Note 7. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Land $ 22 $ 22
Buildings and improvements 2,320 2,072
Leasehold improvements 2,064 1,873
Machinery and equipment 13,275 12,635
Furniture and fixtures 4,601 3,821

22,282 20,423
Accumulated depreciation (11,697) (11,564)

$ 10,585 $ 8,859
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Note 8. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Inventory deposits $ 9,251 $ 3,797
Other 5,305 6,545

$ 14,556 $ 10,342

On May 18, 2018, the Company entered into an arrangement with a supplier which manufactures and distributes vapor products whereby
the supplier received a $6.5 million loan with a maturity date of May 18, 2019. The note was secured by the supplier’s assets and accrued
interest at an annual rate of 15% with quarterly interest payments due to the Company which began in August 2018. In September 2018,
the supplier repaid the full outstanding balance of the loan in addition to a $1.0 million early termination fee which was recorded as a
reduction to selling, general, and administrative expenses.

Note 9. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Accrued payroll and related
items $ 4,142 $ 5,683

Customer returns and allowances 2,353 2,707
Other 10,906 10,304

$ 17,401 $ 18,694

Note 10. Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt

Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the following in order of preference:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

2018 First Lien Term Loan $ 156,000 $ -
2018 Second Lien Term Loan 40,000 -
Note payable - IVG 4,000 -
2017 First Lien First Out Term

Loan - 105,875
2017 First Lien Second Out

Term Loan - 34,738
2017 Second Lien Term Loan - 55,000
Note payable - VaporBeast - 2,000

Total notes payable and long-
term debt 200,000 197,613

Less deferred finance charges (3,471) (3,573)
Less current maturities (8,000) (7,850)

$ 188,529 $ 186,190

2018 Credit Facility

On March 7, 2018, the Company entered into a $250 million credit facility consisting of a $160 million 2018 First Lien Term Loan with
Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent, and other lenders, and a $50 million 2018 Revolving Credit Facility (collectively, the “2018
First Lien Credit Facility”) in addition to a $40 million 2018 Second Lien Term Loan (together with the 2018 First Lien Credit Facility, the
“2018 Credit Facility”) with Prospect Capital Corporation, as administrative agent, and other lenders. The 2018 Credit Facility retained
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Credit Facility. The Company incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.4 million in the first quarter of 2018 as a result of the
refinancing.
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The 2018 Credit Facility contains customary events of default including payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties,
covenant defaults, cross-defaults to certain other material indebtedness in excess of specified amounts, certain events of bankruptcy and
insolvency, certain ERISA events, judgments in excess of specified amounts, and change in control defaults. The 2018 Credit Facility
also contains certain negative covenants customary for facilities of these types including covenants that, subject to exceptions described
in the 2018 Credit Facility, restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors: (i) to pledge assets, (ii) to incur additional
indebtedness, (iii) to pay dividends, (iv) to make distributions, (v) to sell assets, and (vi) to make investments. Refer to Note 17 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding dividend restrictions.

2018 First Lien Credit Facility: The 2018 First Lien Term Loan and the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR plus a
spread of 2.75% to 3.50% based on the Company’s senior leverage ratio. The 2018 First Lien Term Loan has quarterly required payments
of $2.0 million beginning June 30, 2018, increasing to $3.0 million on June 30, 2020, and increasing to $4.0 million on June 30, 2022.
The 2018 First Lien Credit Facility has a maturity date of March 7, 2023. The 2018 First Lien Term Loan is secured by a first priority
lien on substantially all of the assets of the borrowers and the guarantors thereunder, including a pledge of the Company’s capital stock,
other than certain excluded assets (the “Collateral”). The 2018 First Lien Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants including
maximum senior leverage ratio of 3.50x with step-downs to 3.00x, a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.50x with step-downs to 4.00x,
and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.20x. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 First Lien Term Loan was 5.49%
at September 30, 2018. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility was 6.36% at September 30, 2018. At
September 30, 2018, the Company had $30.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility. The $20.0
million unused portion of the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility is reduced by a $0.5 million letter of credit with Fifth Third Bank, resulting
in $19.5 million of availability under the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility at September 30, 2018.

2018 Second Lien Credit Facility: The 2018 Second Lien Credit Facility bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 7.00% and has a maturity
date of March 7, 2024. The 2018 Second Lien Term Loan is secured by a second priority interest in the Collateral and is guaranteed by
the same entities as the 2018 First Lien Term Loan. The 2018 Second Lien Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants including
a maximum senior leverage ratio of 3.75x with step-downs to 3.50x, a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.75x with step-downs to 4.50x,
and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.10x. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 Second Lien Term Loan was 9.15%
at September 30, 2018.

Note Payable – IVG

In September 2018, the Company issued a note payable to IVG’s former shareholders (“IVG Note”). The IVG Note is $4.0 million
principal with 6.0% interest compounding annually and matures on March 5, 2020.

2017 Credit Facility

On February 17, 2017, the Company and NATC, entered into a $250 million secured credit facility comprised of (i) a First Lien Credit
Facility with Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent, and other lenders (the “2017 First Lien Credit Facility”) and (ii) a Second Lien
Credit Facility with Prospect Capital Corporation, as administrative agent, and other lenders (the “2017 Second Lien Credit Facility,” and
together with the 2017 First Lien Credit Facility, the “2017 Credit Facility”). The Company used the proceeds of the 2017 Credit Facility
to repay, in full, the Company’s prior credit facilities and to pay related fees and expenses. As a result of this transaction, the Company
incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $6.1 million during the first quarter of 2017.

Note Payable – VaporBeast

On November 30, 2016, the Company issued a note payable to VaporBeast’s former shareholders (“VaporBeast Note”). The VaporBeast
Note was $2.0 million principal with 6% interest compounded monthly and matured on May 30, 2018, at which time it was paid in full.
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Note 11. Income Taxes

In December 2017, the U.S. Congress passed the TCJA which the President signed in the same month. The TCJA reduced the corporate
income tax rate to 21%, effective January 1, 2018. Other significant changes accompanying the corporate income tax rate reduction
include eliminating the corporate alternative minimum tax, limiting the interest expense deduction to 30% of adjusted taxable income,
and limiting net operating losses to 80% of taxable income for losses arising in tax years beginning after 2017. The TCJA required the
Company to remeasure its deferred tax assets and liabilities at the newly enacted tax rate in December 2017, the period of enactment.

The Company’s effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, was 15% and 17%, respectively,
which includes a tax deduction of $3.3 million and $5.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, relating to stock
option exercises. The Company’s effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, was 30% and 19%,
respectively, which includes a tax deduction of $2.6 million and $11.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
relating to stock option exercises. The Company’s effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, also reflected
a tax benefit of $0.4 million primarily related to Kentucky corporate income tax changes enacted in April 2018. The significant impacts
to the Company regarding the Kentucky changes included a reduction of the corporate tax rate from 6% to 5% and moving to a single
sales factor apportionment formula for tax years beginning on and after January 1, 2018.

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 740-10-25, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be
recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The amount recognized is
measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company
has determined that the Company did not have any uncertain tax positions requiring recognition under the provisions of ASC 740-10-25.
The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on uncertain tax positions, if any, as part of interest expense. The
Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. In general, the Company is no longer
subject to U.S. federal and state tax examinations for years prior to 2014.

Note 12. Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan. Benefits for hourly employees were based on a stated benefit per year of service,
reduced by amounts earned in a previous plan. Benefits for salaried employees were based on years of service and the employees’ final
compensation. The defined benefit pension plan is frozen. The Company’s policy is to make the minimum amount of contributions that
can be deducted for federal income taxes. The Company expects to make no contributions to the pension plan in 2018. In the second
quarter of 2018, the Company made mutually agreed upon lump-sum payments to certain individuals covered by the defined benefit
pension plan which resulted in a curtailment loss of approximately $0.3 million during the second quarter of 2018.

The Company sponsored a defined benefit postretirement plan that covered hourly employees. This plan provides medical and dental
benefits. This plan is contributory with retiree contributions adjusted annually. The Company’s policy is to make contributions equal to
benefits paid during the year. The Company expects to contribute approximately $0.3 million to its postretirement plan in 2018 for the
payment of benefits.

The following table provides the components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs and total costs for the plans:

Three Months Ended September 30,
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017
Service cost $ 26 $ 26 $ - $ -
Interest cost 135 164 30 36
Expected return on plan assets (221) (256) - -
Amortization of (gains) losses 33 114 (21) -
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ (27) $ 48 $ 9 $ 36
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Nine Months Ended September 30,
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017
Service cost $ 78 $ 78 $ - $ -
Interest cost 419 484 88 108
Expected return on plan assets (728) (768) - -
Amortization of (gains) losses 153 350 (61) -
Curtailment loss 306 - - -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 228 $ 144 $ 27 $ 108

Note 13. Share Incentive Plans

On April 28, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the Turning Point Brands, Inc., 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2015 Plan”), pursuant to which awards may be granted to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants. In addition, the 2015
Plan provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options to employees of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to
the 2015 Plan, 1,400,000 shares of the Company’s voting common stock are reserved for issuance as awards to employees, non-employee
directors, and consultants as compensation for past or future services or the attainment of certain performance goals. The 2015 Plan is
scheduled to terminate on April 27, 2026. The 2015 Plan is administered by a committee (the “Committee”) of the Company’s Board of
Directors. The Committee determines the vesting criteria for the awards, with such criteria to be specified in the award agreement. As
of September 30, 2018, net of forfeitures, there were 18,247 shares of restricted stock, 184,000 performance-based restricted stock units,
and 297,520 options granted under the 2015 Plan. There are 900,233 shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan.

On February 8, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”) of North Atlantic
Holding Company, Inc., pursuant to which awards may be granted to employees. The 2006 Plan provides for the granting of nonqualified
stock options and restricted stock awards to employees. Upon the adoption of the Company’s 2015 Equity Incentive Plan in connection
with its IPO, the Company determined no additional grants would be made under the 2006 Plan. However, all awards issued under the
2006 Plan that have not been previously terminated or forfeited remain outstanding and continue unaffected.

On February 7, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company approved stock option cash-out agreements with three Company officers
and a director for the surrender of 83,400 expiring stock options in exchange for payment to the option holders of $11.99 per share.
This payment equaled the difference between the exercise price of $1.06 and closing stock price of $13.05 on the approval date, or an
aggregate of $1.0 million.

There are no shares available for grant under the 2006 Plan. Stock option activity for the 2006 and 2015 Plans is summarized below:

Stock
Option
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding, December 31,
2016 1,637,762 $ 2.41 $ 1.23

Granted 133,819 14.69 4.41
Exercised (923,708) 1.55 0.83
Forfeited (801) 15.37 4.59
Surrendered (83,400) 1.06 0.54
Outstanding, December 31,

2017 763,672 5.73 2.36

Granted 124,100 21.27 6.33
Exercised (196,585) 3.96 1.42
Forfeited (13,595) 13.08 3.71
Outstanding, September 30,

2018 677,592 $ 8.95 $ 3.33
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Under the 2006 and 2015 Plans, the total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, was $5.2 million, and $11.7 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options surrendered during the nine months ended
September 30, 2017, was $1.0 million.

At September 30, 2018, under the 2006 Plan, the outstanding stock options’ exercise price for 432,227 options is $3.83 per share, all of
which are exercisable. The weighted average of the remaining lives of the outstanding stock options with an exercise price of $3.83 is
approximately 4.62 years. The Company estimates the expected life of these stock options is ten years from the date of grant. For the
$3.83 per share options, the weighted average fair value of options was determined using the Black-Scholes model assuming a ten-year
life from grant date, a current share price and exercise price of $3.83, a risk-free interest rate of 3.57%, volatility of 40%, and no assumed
dividend yield. Based on these assumptions, the fair value of these options is approximately $2.17 per share option granted.

At September 30, 2018, under the 2015 Plan, the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rate for the expected life at the time
of grant. The expected volatility is based on the average long-term historical volatilities of peer companies. We intend to continue to
consistently use the same group of publicly traded peer companies to determine expected volatility until sufficient information regarding
volatility of our share price becomes available or until the selected companies are no longer suitable for this purpose. Due to our limited
trading history, we are using the simplified method presented by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to calculate expected holding
periods, which represent the periods of time for which options granted are expected to be outstanding. We will continue to use this method
until we have sufficient historical exercise experience to give us confidence in the reliability of our calculations. The fair values of these
options were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following table outlines the assumptions based on the number of options granted under the 2015 Plan.

February 10,
2017

May 17,
2017

March 7,
2018

March 13,
2018

Number of options granted 40,000 93,819 98,100 26,000
Options outstanding at September 30, 2018 38,300 84,665 96,400 26,000
Number exercisable at September 30, 2018 11,900 28,572 - 8,840
Exercise price $ 13.00 $ 15.41 $ 21.21 $ 21.49
Remaining lives 8.37 8.63 9.44 9.46
Risk free interest rate 1.89% 1.76% 2.65% 2.62%
Expected volatility 27.44% 26.92% 28.76% 28.76%
Expected life 6.000 6.000 6.000 5.495
Dividend yield - - 0.83% 0.82%
Fair value at grant date $ 3.98 $ 4.60 $ 6.37 $ 6.18

The Company has recorded compensation expense related to the options based on the provisions of ASC 718 under which the fixed
portion of such expense is determined as the fair value of the options on the date of grant and amortized over the vesting period. The
Company recorded compensation expense related to the options of approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. The Company recorded compensation expense related to the options of approximately $0.6 million
and $0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Total unrecognized compensation expense related to options
at September 30, 2018, is $0.5 million, which will be expensed over 1.93 years.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSUs”)

PRSUs are restricted stock units subject to both performance-based and service-based vesting conditions. The number of common stock
shares a recipient will receive upon vesting of a PRSU will be calculated by reference to certain performance metrics related to the
Company’s performance over a five-year period. PRSUs will vest on the measurement date, which is no more than 65 days after the
performance period (provided the applicable service and performance conditions are satisfied). On March 31, 2017, the Company’s
Board of Directors granted 94,000 PRSUs to employees of the Company. On March 7, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors granted
an additional 96,000 PRSUs to employees of the Company. The fair values of the PRSUs granted on March 31, 2017, and March 7,
2018, are $15.60 and $21.21, respectively, the Company’s stock price on the date of grant. As of September 30, 2018, there are 184,000
PRSUs outstanding, all of which are unvested. The Company recorded compensation expense related to the PRSUs of approximately $0.2
million and $0.1 million in the consolidated statements of income for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, based on the
probability of achieving the performance condition. The Company recorded compensation expense related to the PRSUs of approximately
$0.4 million and $0.2 million in the consolidated statements of income for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Total
unrecognized compensation expense related to these awards at September 30, 2018, is $2.7 million which will be expensed over the
service periods based on the probability of achieving the performance condition.
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Note 14. Contingencies

Other major tobacco companies are defendants in product liability claims. In a number of these cases, the amounts of punitive and
compensatory damages sought are significant and could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The
Company is a defendant in certain cases which have been dormant for many years, which cases have now been dismissed with prejudice.

The Company is subject to several lawsuits alleging personal injuries resulting from malfunctioning vaporizer devices and may be subject
to claims in the future relating to other NewGen products. The Company is still evaluating these claims and the potential defenses to
them. For example, the Company did not design or manufacture the products at issue; rather, the Company was merely the distributor.
Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in these cases, and they could have a material adverse effect on the
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.

Note 15. Income Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS computations of net income:

Three Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017

Income Shares
Per

Share Income Shares
Per

Share
Consolidated net

income $ 7,954 $ 7,374

Basic EPS:
Weighted average 19,378,054 $ 0.41 19,085,329 $ 0.39

Diluted EPS:
Effect of dilutive

securities:
Stock options 504,940 504,095

19,882,994 $ 0.40 19,589,424 $ 0.38

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017

Income Shares
Per

Share Income Shares
Per

Share
Net income attributable

to Turning Point
Brands, Inc. $ 20,305 $ 16,690

Basic EPS:
Weighted average 19,290,096 $ 1.05 18,915,606 $ 0.88

Diluted EPS:
Effect of dilutive

securities:
Stock options 477,571 587,524

19,767,667 $ 1.03 19,503,130 $ 0.86

26

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents

Note 16. Segment Information

In accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting, the Company has three reportable segments: Smokeless products, Smoking products,
and NewGen products. The Smokeless products segment (i) manufactures and markets moist snuff and (ii) contracts for and markets
chewing tobacco products. The Smoking products segment (i) markets and distributes cigarette papers, tubes, and related products; (ii)
markets and distributes finished cigars and MYO cigar wraps; and (iii) processes, packages, markets, and distributes traditional pipe
tobaccos. The NewGen products segment (i) markets and distributes e-cigarettes, e-liquids, vaporizers, and certain other products without
tobacco and/or nicotine; (ii) distributes a wide assortment of vaping products to non-traditional retail outlets via VaporBeast, Vapor
Shark, Vapor Supply, and IVG; and (iii) distributes a wide assortment of vaping related products to individual consumers via Vapor
Shark, Vapor World, and VaporFi branded retail outlets in addition to online platforms. Smokeless and Smoking products are distributed
primarily through wholesale distributors in the United States while NewGen products are distributed primarily through e-commerce to
non-traditional retail outlets in the United States. The Other segment includes the costs and assets of the Company not assigned to one of
the three reportable segments such as intercompany transfers, deferred taxes, deferred financing fees, and investments in subsidiaries.

The accounting policies of these segments are the same as those of the Company. Segment data includes a charge allocating corporate
costs to the three reportable segments based on their respective net sales. Prior period corporate costs have been allocated in accordance
with the current period allocation methodology to conform prior period segment operating income figures to current period presentation.
The Company evaluates the performance of its segments and allocates resources to them based on gross profit.
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The tables below present financial information about reported segments:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017

Net sales
Smokeless products $ 21,743 $ 21,294
Smoking products 28,079 26,860
NewGen products 33,527 25,186

$ 83,349 $ 73,340

Gross profit
Smokeless products $ 11,020 $ 11,516
Smoking products 14,814 14,201
NewGen products 10,377 7,251

$ 36,211 $ 32,968

Operating income (loss)
Smokeless products (1) $ 4,114 $ 6,036
Smoking products (2) 8,595 8,958
NewGen products (3) 371 (535)
Other (4) (122) (25)

$ 12,958 $ 14,434

Interest expense 3,836 4,027
Interest income (134) (4)
Investment income (89) (131)
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost (45) 58

Income before income taxes $ 9,390 $ 10,484

Capital expenditures
Smokeless products $ 251 $ 446
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 274 39

$ 525 $ 485

Depreciation and amortization
Smokeless products $ 342 $ 341
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 343 255

$ 685 $ 596

(1) Includes allocated corporate charges of $1,748 and $1,734 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(2) Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,266 and $2,187 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(3) Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,168 and $2,061 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(4) “Other” includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017

Net sales
Smokeless products $ 66,900 $ 63,563
Smoking products 84,403 81,056
NewGen products 87,089 67,595

$ 238,392 $ 212,214

Gross profit
Smokeless products $ 34,546 $ 32,385
Smoking products 43,158 42,018
NewGen products 26,111 18,303

$ 103,815 $ 92,706

Operating income (loss)
Smokeless products (1) $ 15,040 $ 15,256
Smoking products (2) 24,270 25,663
NewGen products (3) (1,437) (1,916)
Other (4) (372) (61)

$ 37,501 $ 38,942

Interest expense 11,073 13,010
Interest income (262) (8)
Investment income (328) (334)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Net periodic benefit expense, excluding service cost 176 174

Income before income taxes $ 24,458 $ 19,984

Capital expenditures
Smokeless products $ 1,140 $ 973
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 388 79

$ 1,528 $ 1,052

Depreciation and amortization
Smokeless products $ 1,014 $ 1,046
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 1,139 672

$ 2,153 $ 1,718

(1) Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,010 and $5,324 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(2) Includes allocated corporate charges of $7,585 and $6,789 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(3) Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,948 and $5,662 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
(4) “Other” includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.
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September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Assets
Smokeless products $ 100,199 $ 94,559
Smoking products 141,129 141,869
NewGen products 94,020 44,914
Other (1) 983 935

$ 336,331 $ 282,277

(1) “Other” includes the assets that are not assigned to the three reportable segments. All
goodwill has been allocated to the reportable segments.

Revenue Disaggregation—Sales Channel

Revenues of the Smokeless and Smoking segments are primarily comprised of sales made to wholesalers while NewGen sales are made
to wholesalers, retailers, and ultimate end-customers. NewGen net sales are broken out by sales channel below.

NewGen Segment
Three Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Wholesalers $ 1,892 $ 2,818
Retail outlets 22,473 19,889
End-customers 9,162 2,479

$ 33,527 $ 25,186

NewGen Segment
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Wholesalers $ 6,572 $ 7,971
Retail outlets 63,185 53,665
End-customers 17,332 5,959

$ 87,089 $ 67,595

Net Sales—Domestic vs. Foreign

The following table shows a breakdown of consolidated net sales between domestic and foreign customers.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Domestic $ 78,529 $ 69,484
Foreign 4,820 3,856
Total $ 83,349 $ 73,340
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Domestic $ 226,826 $ 203,210
Foreign 11,566 9,004
Total $ 238,392 $ 212,214

Note 17. Dividends

On November 9, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the initiation of a cash dividend to shareholders. The initial quarterly
dividend of $0.04 per common share was paid on December 15, 2017, to shareholders of record at the close of business on November
27, 2017. The most recent dividend of $0.04 per common share was paid on October 12, 2018, to shareholders of record at the close of
business on September 24, 2018.

Dividends are classified as restricted payments within the 2018 Credit Facility. The Company is generally permitted to make restricted
payments provided that, at the time of payment, or as a result of payment, the Company is not in default on its debt covenants. Additional
restrictions limit the aggregate amount of restricted, quarterly dividends during a fiscal year to the aggregate amount of mandatory and
voluntary principal payments made on the priority term loans during the fiscal year.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of the historical financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our historical
condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, which are included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q. In addition, this discussion includes forward-looking statements subject to risks and uncertainties that may result in actual results
differing from statements we make. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Factors that could cause actual
results to differ include those risks and uncertainties discussed in “Risk Factors.”

The following discussion relates to the unaudited financial statements of Turning Point Brands, Inc., included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. In this discussion, unless the context requires otherwise, references to “our Company” “we,” “our,” or “us” refer
to Turning Point Brands, Inc., and its consolidated subsidiaries. References to “TPB” refer to Turning Point Brands, Inc., without any of
its subsidiaries. We were incorporated in 2004 under the name North Atlantic Holding Company, Inc. On November 4, 2015, we changed
our name to Turning Point Brands, Inc. Many of the amounts and percentages in this discussion have been rounded for convenience of
presentation.

Organizational Structure

We, Turning Point Brands, Inc., are a holding company which owns North Atlantic Trading Company, Inc. (“NATC”), and its
subsidiaries National Tobacco Company, L.P. (“NTC”), National Tobacco Finance, LLC (“NTFLLC”), North Atlantic Operating
Company, Inc. (“NAOC”), North Atlantic Cigarette Company, Inc. (“NACC”), and RBJ Sales, Inc. (“RBJ”), and Turning Point
Brands, LLC (“TPLLC”), and its subsidiaries Intrepid Brands, LLC (“Intrepid”), Vapor Beast, LLC (“VaporBeast”, f/k/a Smoke Free
Technologies, Inc.), Vapor Shark, LLC, and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Vapor Shark”, f/k/a The Hand Media), Vapor Acquisitions
Company, LLC (“Vapor Supply”), Vapor Finance, LLC (“VFIN”), and International Vapor Group, LLC and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“IVG”).

Overview

We are a leading independent provider of Other Tobacco Products (“OTP”) in the U.S. We sell a wide range of products across
the OTP spectrum including moist snuff tobacco (“MST”), loose leaf chewing tobacco, premium cigarette papers, make-your-own
(“MYO”) cigar wraps, cigars, liquid vapor products, and tobacco vaporizer products; however, we do not sell cigarettes. We estimate
the OTP industry generated approximately $11 billion in manufacturer revenue in 2017. In contrast to manufactured cigarettes, which
have been experiencing declining volumes for decades based on data published by the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau
(“TTB”), the OTP industry is demonstrating increased consumer appeal with low- to mid-single digit consumer unit growth as reported
by Management Science Associates, Inc. (“MSAi”), a third-party analytics and informatics company. Under the leadership of a senior
management team with an average of 22 years of experience in the tobacco industry, we have grown and diversified our business through
new product launches, category expansions, and acquisitions while concurrently improving operational efficiency.

Products

We operate in three segments: Smokeless products, Smoking products and NewGen products. In our Smokeless products segment we
(i) manufacture and market moist snuff and (ii) contract for and market loose leaf chewing tobacco products. In our Smoking products
segment, we (i) market and distribute cigarette papers, tubes, and related products; (ii) market and distribute finished cigars and MYO
cigar wraps; and (iii) process, package, market, and distribute traditional pipe tobaccos. In our NewGen products segment, we (i)
market and distribute e-cigarettes, e-liquids, vaporizers, and certain other products without tobacco and/or nicotine; (ii) distribute a wide
assortment of vaping related products to non-traditional retail via VaporBeast, Vapor Shark, Vapor Supply, and IVG; and (iii) distribute
a wide assortment of vaping related products to individual consumers via Vapor Shark, Vapor World, and VaporFi branded retail outlets
in addition to online platforms. Refer to the ‘Recent Developments’ section below for details regarding the Vapor Supply and IVG
acquisitions. Our portfolio of brands includes some of the most widely recognized names in the OTP industry such as Stoker’s® in the
Smokeless segment, Zig-Zag® in the Smoking segment, and VaporBeast® in the NewGen segment.
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Operations

Our core tobacco business (Smokeless and Smoking segments) primarily generates revenues from the sale of our products to wholesale
distributors who, in turn, resell the products to retail operations. Our acquisition of VaporBeast in the fourth quarter of 2016 expanded our
revenue streams as we began selling directly to non-traditional retail outlets and to ultimate consumers via non-traditional retail outlets
as well. Our acquisitions of Vapor Shark in the second quarter of 2017, Vapor Supply in the second quarter of 2018, and IVG in the third
quarter of 2018 have further expanded our selling network by allowing us to directly reach ultimate consumers through Vapor Shark,
Vapor World, and VaporFi branded retail outlets. Our net sales, which include federal excise taxes, consist of gross sales net of cash
discounts, returns, and selling and marketing allowances.

We rely on long-standing relationships with high-quality, established manufacturers to provide the majority of our produced products.
Approximately 85% of our production, as measured by net sales, is outsourced to suppliers. The remaining 15% represents our moist snuff
tobacco operations located in Dresden, TN, and Louisville, KY; the packaging of our pipe tobacco in Louisville, KY; and the proprietary
e-liquids operations located in Oklahoma City, OK, Louisville, KY, and Miami, FL. Our principal operating expenses include the cost of
raw materials used to manufacture the limited number of our products which we produce in-house; the cost of finished products, which
are generally purchased goods; federal excise taxes; legal expenses; and compensation expenses, including benefits and costs of salaried
personnel. Our other principal expenses include interest expense among other expenses.

Key Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

We consider the following to be the key factors affecting our results of operations:

· Our ability to further penetrate markets with our existing products;
· Our ability to introduce new products and product lines that complement our core business;
· Decreasing interest in some tobacco products among consumers;
· Price sensitivity in our end-markets;
· Marketing and promotional initiatives, which cause variability in our results;
· General economic conditions, including consumer access to disposable income;
· Cost and increasing regulation of promotional and advertising activities;
· Cost of complying with regulation, including newly passed “deeming regulations”;
· Counterfeit and other illegal products in our end-markets;
· Currency fluctuations;
· Our ability to identify attractive acquisition opportunities in OTP; and
· Our ability to integrate acquisitions.

Recent Developments

VMR

On October 2, 2018, VMR Products LLC (“VMR”), the supplier of V2 e-cigarettes to TPB under a long-term exclusive agreement for
retail brick and mortar distribution and sales, was purchased by Juul Labs for a reported $75 million. Our contract anticipated such
an event and affords an acquirer of VMR the right to terminate the contract, subject to certain terms and conditions including product
buyback requirements and a termination payment based on the purchase price. On November 6, 2018, we received a letter from VMR,
now owned by Juul Labs, stating that it would no longer accept orders and that we are permitted to continue to sell-through any V2
inventory. Our net sales of V2 products were $5.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. We have sufficient inventory
on hand to satisfy sales through the first quarter of 2019. Thereafter, we intend to replace these volumes with new initiatives.

IVG

In September 2018, we acquired IVG for total consideration of $23.7 million satisfied through $14.4 million paid in cash, 153,079 shares
of common stock with a fair value of $5.3 million, and a $4.0 million note payable to IVG’s former owners (“IVG Note”) which matures
18 months from the acquisition date. All principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the IVG Note is subject to indemnification
obligations of the sellers pursuant to the International Vapor Group Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of September 5, 2018. The
arrangement includes an additional $4.5 million of earnouts with both performance-based and service-based conditions payable to former
IVG owners who became employees of the Company as a result of the acquisition. The portion of earnout payments a recipient will
receive will be calculated by reference to certain performance metrics not to exceed a two-year period as specified within the acquisition
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agreement. The Company recorded earnout expense of approximately $0.4 million within the consolidated statement of income for the
three months ended September 30, 2018, based on the probability of achieving the performance conditions.

IVG markets and sells a broad array of proprietary and third-party vapor products directly to adult consumers through an online platform
under brand names such as VaporFi, South Beach Smoke, and Direct Vapor. IVG operates company-owned stores under the VaporFi brand
and also operates as a franchisor to franchisee-owned stores. The acquisition of IVG adds a significant business-to-consumer distribution
platform to the Company’s NewGen portfolio. Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more details regarding
the IVG acquisition.
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Vapor Supply

On April 30, 2018, we purchased the assets of Vapor Supply LLC, vaporsupply.com, and some of its affiliates including the Ecig.com
domain through our subsidiary Vapor Acquisitions Company, LLC, for total consideration of $4.8 million paid in cash to strengthen its
presence within the NewGen segment. Vapor Supply is a business-to-business e-commerce distribution platform servicing independent
retail vape shops. Additionally, Vapor Supply manufactures and markets proprietary e-liquids under the DripCo brand and operates
company-owned stores. Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more details regarding the Vapor Supply
acquisition.

Credit Facility Refinancing

On March 7, 2018, we entered into a $250 million credit facility consisting of a $160 million 2018 First Lien Term Loan with Fifth Third
Bank, as administrative agent, and other lenders, and a $50 million 2018 Revolving Credit Facility (collectively, the “2018 First Lien
Credit Facility”) in addition to a $40 million 2018 Second Lien Term Loan (together with the 2018 First Lien Credit Facility, the “2018
Credit Facility”) with Prospect Capital Corporation, as administrative agent, and other lenders. The 2018 Credit Facility retained the $40
million accordion feature of the 2017 Credit Facility. Proceeds from the 2018 Credit Facility were used to repay, in full, the 2017 Credit
Facility. We incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.4 million in the first quarter of 2018 as a result of the refinancing. Refer to
the Long-Term Debt section for a more complete description of our credit facilities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Uses of Estimates

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from the information provided in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K with the
exception of the items listed below.

Revenue Recognition

We adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes
nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP, on January 1, 2018. We recognize revenues, net of sales incentives
and sales returns, including shipping and handling charges billed to customers, upon delivery of goods to the customer at an amount that
we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods in accordance with the five-step analysis outlined in Topic 606: (i) identify the
contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied.

A further requirement of ASU 2014-09 is for entities to disaggregate revenue recognized from contracts with customers into categories
that depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. Our management
views business performance through segments that closely resemble the performance of major product lines. Thus, the primary, and most
useful, disaggregation of our contract revenue for decision making purposes is the disaggregation by segment which can be found in Note
16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. An additional disaggregation of contract revenue by sales channel can be found within
Note 16 as well.

Interest Rate Swaps

We enter into interest rate swap contracts to manage interest rate risk and reduce the volatility of future cash flows. We account for
interest rate swap contracts under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Swap contracts that qualify as hedges are
adjusted to their fair value through other comprehensive income as determined by market prices on the measurement date, except any
hedge ineffectiveness which is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses on these swap contracts are transferred from other
comprehensive income into net income upon settlement of the derivative position or at maturity of the interest rate swap contract. Changes
in fair value of any contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in income.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report for a description of recently issued
accounting pronouncements, including those recently adopted.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018, to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

The table and discussion set forth below displays our consolidated results of operations (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017 % Change

Consolidated Results of Operations Data:
Net sales

Smokeless products $ 21,743 $ 21,294 2.1%
Smoking products 28,079 26,860 4.5%
NewGen products 33,527 25,186 33.1%

Total net sales 83,349 73,340 13.6%
Cost of sales 47,138 40,372 16.8%
Gross profit

Smokeless products 11,020 11,516 -4.3%
Smoking products 14,814 14,201 4.3%
NewGen products 10,377 7,251 43.1%

Total gross profit 36,211 32,968 9.8%

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 23,253 18,534 25.5%
Operating income 12,958 14,434 -10.2%
Interest expense 3,836 4,027 -4.7%
Interest income (134) (4) NM
Investment income (89) (131) -32.1%
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost (45) 58 NM

Income before income taxes 9,390 10,484 -10.4%
Income tax expense 1,436 3,110 -53.8%

Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374 7.9%

Net Sales: For the three months ended September 30, 2018, consolidated net sales increased to $83.3 million from $73.3 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $10.0 million or 13.6%. The increase in net sales was primarily driven by volume
growth in Smoking and NewGen which includes the addition of one month of IVG sales in 2018.

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, net sales in the Smokeless products segment increased to $21.7 million from $21.3
million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $0.4 million or 2.1%. For the three months ended September 30,
2018, volume decreased 2.2% and price/mix increased 4.3%. The increase in net sales was primarily driven by the continuing growth
of Stoker’s® MST partially offset by declines in chewing tobacco attributable to increased competition, our promotional timing, and a
continuing segment shift to lower price products.

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, net sales in the Smoking products segment increased to $28.1 million from $26.9 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $1.2 million or 4.5%. For the three months ended September 30, 2018,
volume increased 3.0% and price/mix increased 1.5%. Net sales growth was primarily driven by volume growth for our Zig-Zag® branded
papers and cigar wraps equating to $2.0 million of increases offset by $0.7 million of decreases related to our strategic decision to de-
emphasize the low margin cigar products business and line rationalization of our MYO tobacco line.

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, net sales in the NewGen products segment increased to $33.5 million from $25.2 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $8.3 million or 33.1%. The increase in net sales was primarily driven by
continued VaporBeast momentum, Vapor Supply net sales, and one month of IVG net sales.
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Gross Profit: For the three months ended September 30, 2018, consolidated gross profit increased to $36.2 million from $33.0 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $3.2 million or 9.8%. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased
to 43.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2018, from 45.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2017, primarily due to
the NewGen segment, which has lower margins, becoming a larger share of the Company.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2018, gross profit in the Smokeless products segment decreased to $11.0 million from $11.5
million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, a decrease of $0.5 million or 4.3%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
decreased to 50.7% of net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2018, from 54.1% of net sales for the three months ended
September 30, 2017. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of revenue was primarily driven by an unfavorable LIFO impact when
compared to the prior year.

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, gross profit in the Smoking products segment increased to $14.8 million from $14.2
million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $0.6 million or 4.3%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
decreased to 52.8% of net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2018, from 52.9% of net sales for the three months ended
September 30, 2017, primarily due to an unfavorable LIFO impact when compared to the prior year.

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, gross profit in the NewGen products segment increased to $10.4 million from $7.3
million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $3.1 million or 43.1%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
increased to 31.0% of net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2018, from 28.8% of net sales for the three months ended
September 30, 2017, primarily as a result of the addition of IVG, a business-to-consumer operation which generally has higher margins,
in 2018.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses: For the three months ended September 30, 2018, selling, general, and administrative
expenses increased to $23.3 million from $18.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $4.7 million or
25.5% due primarily to the inclusion of Vapor Supply and IVG selling, general, and administrative expenses, transaction costs associated
with the IVG acquisition and variable costs associated with increased sales at VaporBeast partially offset by the prepayment penalty
associated with the loan made to a supplier during the second quarter of 2018.

Interest Expense: For the three months ended September 30, 2018, interest expense decreased to $3.8 million from $4.0 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2017, as a result of lower interest rates from our March 2018 refinancing of our credit facility.

Interest Income: For the three months ended September 30, 2018, interest income increased to $0.1 million from less than $0.1 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2017, as a result of interest received from a note receivable issued to a supplier during the
second quarter of 2018.

Income Tax Expense: Our income tax expense of $1.4 million was 15.3% of income before income taxes for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 compared to 29.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease is primarily a result of the change
in the federal tax rate from 35% to 21% and the change in the Kentucky tax rate from 6% to 5%.

Investment Income: Investment income relating to investment of the MSA escrow deposits was approximately $0.1 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Consolidated Net Income: Due to the factors described above, consolidated net income for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, was $8.0 million and $7.4 million, respectively.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018, to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
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The table and discussion set forth below displays our consolidated results of operations (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017 % Change

Consolidated Results of Operations Data:
Net sales

Smokeless products $ 66,900 $ 63,563 5.2%
Smoking products 84,403 81,056 4.1%
NewGen products 87,089 67,595 28.8%

Total net sales 238,392 212,214 12.3%
Cost of sales 134,577 119,508 12.6%
Gross profit

Smokeless products 34,546 32,385 6.7%
Smoking products 43,158 42,018 2.7%
NewGen products 26,111 18,303 42.7%

Total gross profit 103,815 92,706 12.0%

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 66,314 53,764 23.3%
Operating income 37,501 38,942 -3.7%
Interest expense 11,073 13,010 -14.9%
Interest income (262) (8) NM
Investment income (328) (334) -1.8%
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116 -61.0%
Net periodic benefit expense, excluding service cost 176 174 1.1%

Income before income taxes 24,458 19,984 22.4%
Income tax expense 4,153 3,850 7.9%

Consolidated net income 20,305 16,134 25.9%
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest - (556) NM

Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 20,305 $ 16,690 21.7%

Net Sales: For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, consolidated net sales increased to $238.4 million from $212.2 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $26.2 million or 12.3%. The increase in net sales was primarily driven by
volume growth in the NewGen segment which includes an additional quarter of Vapor Shark results in 2018 and the acquisitions of Vapor
Supply and IVG.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, net sales in the Smokeless products segment increased to $66.9 million from $63.6
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $3.3 million or 5.2% primarily due to the continuing growth of
Stoker’s® MST.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, net sales in the Smoking products segment increased to $84.4 million from $81.1 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $3.3 million or 4.1% primarily driven by the continued growth of our Zig-
Zag® branded papers and cigar wraps offset by decreases related to our strategic decision to de-emphasize the low margin cigar products
business and line rationalization of our MYO tobacco line.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, net sales in the NewGen products segment increased to $87.1 million from $67.6 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $19.5 million or 28.8%. The increase in net sales was primarily driven by
continued VaporBeast momentum, one additional quarter of Vapor Shark results in 2018, and the acquisitions of Vapor Supply and IVG.

Gross Profit: For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, consolidated gross profit increased to $103.8 million from $92.7 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $11.1 million or 12.0%. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased
to 43.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, from 43.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, primarily due to
the NewGen segment, which has lower margins, becoming a larger share of the Company.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, gross profit in the Smokeless products segment increased to $34.5 million from $32.4
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $2.2 million or 6.7%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
increased to 51.6% of net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, from 50.9% of net sales for the nine months ended
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September 30, 2017. The increase in gross profit as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to a favorable LIFO impact when compared
to the prior year.
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, gross profit in the Smoking products segment increased to $43.2 million from $42.0
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $1.1 million or 2.7%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
decreased to 51.1% of net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, from 51.8% of net sales for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017, primarily due to new product launch costs associated with our Zig-Zag® branded papers and cigar wraps product
lines.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, gross profit in the NewGen products segment increased to $26.1 million from $18.3
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $7.8 million or 42.7%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales
increased to 30.0% of net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, from 27.1% of net sales for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017, primarily due to acquisition activity which has resulted in business-to-consumer sales, which generally have higher
margins, becoming a larger share of the NewGen segment.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses: For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, selling, general, and administrative
expenses increased to $66.3 million from $53.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $12.6 million
or 23.3%, due primarily to the inclusion of Vapor Supply and IVG selling, general, and administrative expenses in 2018 along with an
additional quarter of Vapor Shark when compared to 2017, transaction costs associated with the Vapor Supply and IVG acquisitions,
higher legal and litigation expenses associated with our anti-counterfeiting initiative, and variable costs associated with increased sales at
VaporBeast partially offset by a receivable reserve reversal and prepayment penalty, both of which are associated with the loan issued to
a supplier in the second quarter of 2018 which was repaid during the third quarter of 2018.

Interest Expense: For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, interest expense decreased to $11.1 million from $13.0 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2017, as a result of lower interest rates from our March 2018 refinancing of our credit facility.

Interest Income: For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, interest income increased to $0.3 million from less than $0.1 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, as a result of interest and fees received from a note receivable issued to a supplier during
the second quarter of 2018.

Income Tax Expense: Our income tax expense of $4.2 million was 17.0% of income before income taxes for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, compared to 19.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease is a result of the change in the
federal tax rate from 35% to 21%, the change in the Kentucky tax rate from 6% to 5%, and lower stock option exercises in 2018 compared
to 2017.

Investment Income: Investment income relating to investment of the MSA escrow deposits was approximately $0.3 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt: For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, loss on extinguishment of debt was $2.4 million
as the result of refinancing our credit facility in the first quarter of 2018. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, loss on
extinguishment of debt was $6.1 million as the result of refinancing our credit facility in the first quarter of 2017.

Consolidated Net Income: Due to the factors described above, consolidated net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, was $20.3 million and $16.1 million, respectively.

Net Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interest: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest of $0.6 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017, is related to Vapor Shark being a VIE in the second quarter of 2017.

Net Income Attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc.: Due to the factors described above, net income attributable to Turning Point
Brands, Inc., for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, was $20.3 million and $16.7 million, respectively.
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

To supplement our financial information presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States,
or U.S. GAAP, we use non-U.S. GAAP financial measures including EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. We believe Adjusted EBITDA
provides useful information to management and investors regarding certain financial and business trends relating to our financial
condition and results of operations. Adjusted EBITDA is used by management to compare our performance to that of prior periods for
trend analyses and planning purposes and is presented to our Board of Directors. We believe that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are
appropriate measures of operating performance because they eliminate the impact of expenses that do not relate to operating performance.
In addition, our credit agreements contain financial covenants which use Adjusted EBITDA calculations.

We define “EBITDA” as net income before interest expense, loss on extinguishment of debt, provision for income taxes, depreciation,
and amortization. We define “Adjusted EBITDA” as net income before interest expense, loss on extinguishment of debt, provision for
income taxes, depreciation, amortization, other non-cash items, and other items we do not consider ordinary course in our evaluation of
ongoing operating performance.

Non-U.S. GAAP measures should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, financial measures calculated in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA excludes significant expenses required to be recorded in our financial statements by U.S. GAAP and is subject
to inherent limitations. Other companies in our industry may calculate this non-U.S. GAAP measure differently than we do or may not
calculate it at all, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. The tables below provide reconciliations between net income and
Adjusted EBITDA.

(in thousands)
Three Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374
Add:

Interest expense 3,836 4,027
Interest income (134) (4)
Income tax expense 1,436 3,110
Depreciation expense 479 421
Amortization expense 206 175

EBITDA $ 13,777 $ 15,103
Components of Adjusted EBITDA

LIFO adjustment (a) 201 (641)
Pension/postretirement expense (b) (18) 84
Stock options, restricted stock, and incentives expense (c) 367 226
Foreign exchange hedging (d) 70 -
Strategic initiatives (e) 1,126 219
New product launch costs (f) 545 566
Product line rationalizations (g) 301 314
Organizational development (h) 98 -

Adjusted EBITDA $ 16,467 $ 15,871

(a) Represents expense related to an inventory valuation allowance for last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) reporting.
(b) Represents our non-cash Pension/postretirement expense.
(c) Represents non-cash stock options, restricted stock and incentives expense.
(d) Represents non-cash gain and loss stemming from our foreign exchange hedging activities.
(e) Represents the fees incurred for the study of strategic initiatives and acquisition expenses.
(f) Represents product launch costs of our new product lines.
(g) Represents costs associated with discontinued products related to product line rationalization.
(h) Represents costs associated with departmental restructuring.
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(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 20,305 $ 16,690
Add:

Interest expense 11,073 13,010
Interest income (262) (8)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Income tax expense 4,153 3,850
Depreciation expense 1,596 1,192
Amortization expense 557 526

EBITDA $ 39,806 $ 41,376
Components of Adjusted EBITDA

LIFO adjustment (a) 144 246
Pension/postretirement expense (b) 254 252
Stock options, restricted stock, and incentives expense (c) 1,056 446
Foreign exchange hedging (d) 70 (90)
Product line rationalizations (e) 1,309 314
Strategic initiatives (f) 2,755 990
New product launch costs (g) 1,227 1,727
Organizational development (h) 778 -

Adjusted EBITDA $ 47,399 $ 45,261

(a) Represents expense related to an inventory valuation allowance for last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) reporting.
(b) Represents our non-cash Pension/postretirement expense.
(c) Represents non-cash stock options, restricted stock and incentives expense.
(d) Represents non-cash gain and loss stemming from our foreign exchange hedging activities.
(e) Represents costs associated with discontinued products related to product line rationalization.
(f) Represents the fees incurred for the study of strategic initiatives and acquisition expenses.
(g) Represents product launch costs of our new product lines.
(h) Represents costs associated with departmental restructuring.

Liquidity and Capital Reserves

Our principal uses for cash are working capital, debt service, and capital expenditures. We believe our cash flows from operations
and borrowing availability under our 2018 Revolving Credit Facility (as defined herein) are adequate to satisfy our operating cash
requirements for the foreseeable future.

Our working capital, which we define as current assets less current liabilities, increased $6.8 million to $48.1 million at September
30, 2018, compared with $41.3 million at December 31, 2017. The increase in working capital is primarily due to inventory increases
resulting from the Vapor Supply asset purchase and the IVG acquisition, in addition to pre-tariff inventory buys within our existing
operations, partially offset by borrowings against the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility to support acquisitions.

As of

(in thousands)
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2017

Current assets $ 112,223 $ 79,493
Current liabilities 64,161 38,230
Working capital $ 48,062 $ 41,263
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, net cash provided by operating activities was $1.0 million compared to net cash provided
by operating activities of $20.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, a decrease of $19.4 million, primarily due to
inventory increases to support increased sales and pre-tariff inventory buys.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, net cash used by investing activities was $21.9 million compared to net cash used in
investing activities of $0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, a decrease of $21.5 million, primarily due to the Vapor
Supply and IVG acquisitions.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, net cash provided by financing activities was $16.7 million compared to net cash used
in financing activities of $18.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of $34.9 million, primarily due to
borrowings against our 2018 Revolving Credit Facility to fund our investing activities.

Dividends

On November 9, 2017, our Board of Directors approved the initiation of a cash dividend to shareholders. The initial quarterly dividend
of $0.04 per common share was paid on December 15, 2017, to shareholders of record at the close of business on November 27, 2017.
The most recent dividend of $0.04 per common share was paid on October 12, 2018, to shareholders of record at the close of business on
September 24, 2018.

Long-Term Debt

As of September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with the financial and restrictive covenants of the 2018 Credit Facility. The following
table provides outstanding balances of our debt instruments.

(in thousands) September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

2018 Revolving Credit Facility $ 30,000 $ -
2018 First Lien Term Loan 156,000 -
2018 Second Lien Term Loan 40,000 -
Note payable - IVG 4,000 -
2017 Revolving Credit Facility - 8,000
2017 First Lien First Out Term Loan - 105,875
2017 First Lien Second Out Term Loan - 34,738
2017 Second Lien Term Loan - 55,000
Note payable - VaporBeast - 2,000

230,000 205,613
Less deferred financing charges (3,471) (3,573)
Less revolving credit facility (30,000) (8,000)
Less current maturities of long-term debt (8,000) (7,850)
Notes payable and long-term debt $ 188,529 $ 186,190

2018 Credit Facility

The 2018 Credit Facility contains customary events of default including payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties,
covenant defaults, cross-defaults to certain other material indebtedness in excess of specified amounts, certain events of bankruptcy and
insolvency, certain ERISA events, judgments in excess of specified amounts, and change in control defaults. The 2018 Credit Facility
also contains certain negative covenants customary for facilities of these types including covenants that, subject to exceptions described
in the 2018 Credit Facility, restrict our ability: (i) to pledge assets, (ii) to incur additional indebtedness, (iii) to pay dividends, (iv) to make

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


distributions, (v) to sell assets, and (vi) to make investments. Refer to Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information regarding dividend restrictions.

41

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents

2018 First Lien Credit Facility: The 2018 First Lien Term Loan and the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at LIBOR plus a
spread of 2.75% to 3.50% based on our senior leverage ratio. The 2018 First Lien Term Loan has quarterly required payments of $2.0
million beginning June 30, 2018, increasing to $3.0 million on June 30, 2020, and increasing to $4.0 million on June 30, 2022. The 2018
First Lien Credit Facility has a maturity date of March 7, 2023. The 2018 First Lien Term Loan is secured by a first priority lien on
substantially all of the assets of the borrowers and the guarantors thereunder, including a pledge of our capital stock, other than certain
excluded assets (the “Collateral”). The 2018 First Lien Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants including maximum senior
leverage ratio of 3.50x with step-downs to 3.00x, a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.50x with step-downs to 4.00x, and a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.20x. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 First Lien Term Loan was 5.34% at September 30,
2018. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility was 6.05% at September 30, 2018. At September 30,
2018, we had $30.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility. The $20.0 million unused portion of the
2018 Revolving Credit Facility is reduced by a $0.5 million letter of credit with Fifth Third Bank, resulting in $19.5 million of availability
under the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility at September 30, 2018.

2018 Second Lien Credit Facility: The 2018 Second Lien Credit Facility bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 7.00% and has a maturity
date of March 7, 2024. The 2018 Second Lien Term Loan is secured by a second priority interest in the Collateral and is guaranteed by
the same entities as the 2018 First Lien Term Loan. The 2018 Second Lien Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants including
a maximum senior leverage ratio of 3.75x with step-downs to 3.50x, a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.75x with step-downs to 4.50x,
and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.10x. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 Second Lien Term Loan was 9.05%
at September 30, 2018.

Note Payable – IVG

In September 2018, we issued a note payable to IVG’s former shareholders (“IVG Note”). The IVG Note is $4.0 million principal with
6.0% interest compounding annually and matures on March 1, 2020.

Note Payable – VaporBeast

On November 30, 2016, we issued a note payable to VaporBeast’s former shareholders (“VaporBeast Note”). The VaporBeast Note was
$2.0 million principal with 6% interest compounded monthly and matured on May 30, 2018, at which time it was paid in full.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

During the third quarter of 2018 we executed forward contracts for the purchase of €2.3 million. During 2017, we executed no forward
contracts. At September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, we had forward contracts for the purchase of €5.5 million and €0 million,
respectively.

Contractual Obligations

As of September 30, 2018, there had been no material changes outside the ordinary course of business to our contractual obligations
as of December 31, 2017, as reported in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, with the exception of changes to our long-term debt
obligations due to the refinancing discussed in the ‘Long-Term Debt’ section.
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The following tables summarize our contractual obligations (in thousands):

Payments due by period as of September 30, 2018

Total
Less than 1

year 1-3 years 4-5 years
More than 5

years
Long-term debt obligations, including

interest $ 280,795 $ 51,969 $ 44,632 $ 142,600 $ 41,594

Payments due by period as of December 31, 2017

Total
Less than 1

year 1-3 years 4-5 years
More than 5

years
Long-term debt obligations, including

interest $ 266,052 $ 29,803 $ 42,444 $ 193,805 $ -

Inflation

We believe that any effect of inflation at current levels will be minimal. Historically, we have been able to increase prices at a rate equal
to or greater than that of inflation and believe that we will continue to be able to do so for the foreseeable future. In addition, we have
been able to maintain a relatively stable variable cost structure for our products due, in part, to our successful procurement with regard to
our tobacco products and, in part, to our existing contractual agreement for the purchase of our premium cigarette papers.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign Currency Sensitivity

Although we engaged in hedging inventory purchases during the three months ended September 30, 2018, there have been no material
changes in our exposure to exchange rate fluctuation risk, as reported within our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, during the period.
Please refer to our ‘Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk’ included in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC.

Credit Risk

There have been no material changes in our exposure to credit risk, as reported within our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, during the
three months ended September 30, 2018. Please refer to our ‘Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk’ included in our
2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our March 2018 refinancing resulted in all of our long-term debt instruments having variable interest rates that fluctuate with market
rates. To reduce the volatility of future cash flows, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with lenders under the 2018 Credit
Facility in March 2018. At September 30, 2018, $70 million of our outstanding long-term debt carrying variable rates is covered by the
interest rate swap agreements and, thus, effectively bears interest at a fixed rate. We believe the effect, if any, of reasonably possible
near-term changes in interest rates on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows would not be significant.
A 1% increase in the interest rate would change pre-tax income by approximately $1.5 million per year. Refer to Note 4 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements located at Part I, Item 1, for additional information regarding the interest rate swaps.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We have carried out an evaluation under the supervision, and with the participation of, our management including our Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”), Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), and Chief Accounting Officer (“CAO”), of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Act”)) as of September 30, 2018. Based upon the evaluation, our CEO, CFO, and CAO concluded our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we
file or submit under the Act is: (i) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive
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and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures.

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter which have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are a party from time to time to various proceedings in the ordinary course of business. For a description of the Master Settlement
Agreement, to which we are a party, see “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies: Risk and Uncertainties.” Other than the proceedings mentioned below, there is no material litigation, arbitration or governmental
proceeding currently pending against us or any of our officers or directors in their capacity as such, and we and our officers and directors
have not been subject to any such proceeding.

Other major tobacco companies are defendants in product liability claims. In a number of these cases, the amounts of punitive and
compensatory damages sought are significant and could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The
Company is a defendant in certain cases which have been dormant for many years, which cases have now been dismissed with prejudice.

We are subject to several lawsuits alleging personal injuries resulting from malfunctioning vaporizer devices and may be subject to claims
in the future relating to our other NewGen products. We are still evaluating these claims and the potential defenses to them. For example,
we did not design or manufacture the products at issue; rather, we were merely the distributor. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance
that we will prevail in these cases, and they could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Because of
their relative novelty, electronic cigarette and vaporizer product manufacturers and sellers have only recently become subject to litigation.

See ‘Risk Factors—We may become subject to significant product liability litigation’ within our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional details.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, carefully consider the factors discussed in the ‘Risk Factors’ section contained
in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There have been no material changes to the Risk Factors set forth in the 2017 Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the period of this report, the Company issued 153,079 unregistered shares of the Company’s common stock to the former
stockholders of IVG as partial consideration for the Company’s acquisition of IVG. In September 2018, the Company acquired IVG for
total consideration of $23.7 million satisfied through $14.4 million paid in cash, 153,079 shares of common stock with a fair value of
$5.3 million, and a $4.0 million note payable to IVG’s former owners. Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
located at Part I, Item 1, for additional information.

The issuance of unregistered shares was made by the Company in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, a amended
(the “1933 Act”) and Regulation D promulgated thereunder. All of the individuals and/or entities that received the unregistered securities
were “accredited investors” and were all known to the Company and its management through pre-existing business relationships.
All purchasers were provided access to all material information, which they requested, and all information necessary to verify such
information and were afforded access to management of the Company in connection with their purchases. All purchasers of the
unregistered securities acquired such securities for investment and not with a view toward distribution, acknowledging such intent to the
Company. All certificates representing such securities that were issued contained restrictive legends, prohibiting further transfer of the
securities, without such securities either being first registered or otherwise exempt from registration in any further resale or disposition.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 International Vapor Group Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of September 5, 2018, between Turning Point Brands,
Inc. and International Vapor Group, LLC.*+

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Lawrence S. Wexler.*

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Robert Lavan.*

31.3 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Brian Wigginton.*

32.1 Section 1350 Certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.*

101 XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from Turning Point Brands, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018, filed on November 7, 2018, formatted in
XBRL: (i) consolidated balance sheets, (ii) consolidated statements of income, (iii) consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, (iv) consolidated statements of cash flows, and (v) the notes to consolidated financial
statements.*

* Filed or furnished herewith

+ Certain schedules, appendices and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation
S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission
staff upon request.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TURNING POINT BRANDS, INC.

By: /s/ Lawrence S. Wexler
Name: Lawrence S. Wexler

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ Robert Lavan
Name: Robert Lavan

Title: Chief Financial Officer

By: /s/ Brian Wigginton
Name: Brian Wigginton

Title: Chief Accounting Officer

Date: November 7, 2018
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Exhibit 2.1

EXECUTION COPY

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

by and among

Turning Point Brands, LLC
as Buyer,

Pegasus Real Estate Investment Group, LLC,
David Epstein,

Milander Investments, LLC,
David Herrera,
David Mardini,
John M. Scott,

Martin Flumenbaum,
Elizabeth McColm,

Robert Schumer,
Daniel Kramer,

Durlan Bergnes,
Angelo Bonvino,
John Lange and
Mark Wlazlo
as Shareholders,

IVG Holdings S Corporation,
as Seller, and

Nicolas Molina, as Seller's Representative,

concerning the purchase of the shares (membership interests) of

International Vapor Group, LLC
as the Company

dated as of September 5, 2018
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EXECUTION COPY

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Stock Purchase Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as of September 5, 2018, is entered into by and among (i) Turning
Point Brands, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer"), (ii) Pegasus Real Estate Investment Group, LLC, a Florida
limited liability company ("Pegasus"), David Epstein, a Florida resident ("Epstein"), Milander Investments, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company ("Milander"), David Herrera, a Florida resident ("Herrera"), David Mardini, a Florida resident ("Mardini"),
John M. Scott, a New York resident ("Scott"), Martin Flumenbaum, a New York resident ("Flumenbaum"), Elizabeth McColm,
a New York resident ("McColm"), Robert Schumer, a New York resident ("Schumer"), Daniel Kramer, a New York resident
("Kramer"), Durlan Bergnes, a Florida resident ("Bergnes"), Angelo Bonvino, a New York resident ("Bonvino"), John Lange, a
Hong Kong resident ("Lange") and Mark Wlazlo, a New Jersey resident ("Wlazlo") (each of Pegasus, Epstein, Milander, Herrera,
Mardini, Scott, Flumenbaum, McColm, Schumer, Kramer, Bergnes, Bonvino, Lange, and Wlazlo, a "Shareholder" and, collectively,
the "Shareholders"), (iii) IVG Holdings S Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Seller") and (iv) Nicolas Molina, as Seller's
Representative.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, International Vapor Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Company"), the successor by
statutory conversion under Delaware law to International Vapor Group, Inc. (the "Conversion"), directly and indirectly through wholly-
owned subsidiaries, is engaged in the business of designing, manufacturing, marketing and selling certain e-liquids, mods, tanks, and
electronic cigarette products (collectively, the "Products");

WHEREAS, Shareholders owned all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.001 of the Company
prior to the exchange of such shares (the "Exchange") for stock of Seller, which Exchange shall occur prior to Closing;

WHEREAS, after the consummation of the Exchange, Seller will hold all of the issued and outstanding equity of the Company;

WHEREAS, the consummation of the Conversion, which shall occur immediately after the Exchange, caused the Company to
be converted into a limited liability company wholly-owned by Seller.

WHEREAS, Shareholders and Seller desire to sell to Buyer, and Buyer wishes to purchase from Seller, all of the issued and
outstanding Shares (i.e., the 100% membership interest in the Company held by Seller after the Restructuring), subject to the terms and
conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, in connection with the Restructuring, several subsidiaries of the Company that were operating in corporate form
were also converted through statutory conversions into limited liability companies; and
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NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

The following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this Article I:

"Acquisition Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(a).

"Action" means any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, notice of violation, proceeding,
litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at
law or in equity.

"Affiliate" of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. The term "control" (including the terms "controlled by" and "under common
control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies
of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Allocation Schedule" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.05(b).

“Assumed Indebtedness” means the existing Company Indebtedness represented by the following:

(a) Single Sided Lease Agreements - $1 Purchase Option, Agreement Numbers 301-0225015-001, 301-0225015-002,
301-0225015-003, 301-0225015-004, 301-0225015-005, 301-0225015-006, 301-0225015-007 and 301-0225015-008, dated April 21,
2015, April 27, 2016, October 28, 2016, May 19, 2017, December 4, 2017, March 22, 2018, [undated] and [undated], respectively, by
and between the Company and Wells Fargo Equipment Finance, Manufacturer Services Group.

(b) Premium Finance Agreement with Premium Advance Corporation dated January 26, 2018.

"Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"Balance Sheet Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"Basket" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).

"Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(a).
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“Bonused Employees” means those employees of the Target Companies receiving a bonus payment from Seller relating to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as listed on Exhibit J.

"Business Day" means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks located in New York,
New York are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business.

"Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Buyer Indemnitees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02.

“Buyer Parent” means Turning Point Brands, Inc., a Delaware corporation which is the sole member of Buyer.

"Buyer Parent Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).

"Buyer Parent Note" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b).

"Buyer Tax Act" means any action not in the ordinary course of business and not specifically contemplated by and agreed
to under this Agreement which is taken or made effective by Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including the Target Companies) after the
Closing which directly or indirectly increases Taxes of any Target Company, Seller or Shareholders for any Pre-Closing Tax Period.

"Buyer's Accountants" means RSM US LLP.

"Cap" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.04(a).

"CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the
Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.

"Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05.

"Closing Adjustments" means the adjustments to the Purchase Price described in Section 2.04(a).

"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05.

"Closing Indebtedness Certificate" means a certificate executed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company certifying on
behalf of the Company an itemized list of all outstanding Indebtedness as of the Closing Date and the Person to whom such outstanding
Indebtedness is owed and an aggregate total of such outstanding Indebtedness.

"Closing Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(c).

"Closed Retail Locations" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.16.
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"Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate" means a certificate executed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certifying the amount of Transaction Expenses remaining unpaid as of the Closing Date (including an itemized list of each such unpaid
Transaction Expense with a description of the nature of such expense and the person to whom such expense is owed).

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(a).

"Company" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Company Intellectual Property" means all Intellectual Property that is owned or held for use by the Target Companies.

"Company IP Agreements" mean all licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements, settlements, coexistence agreements,
covenants not to sue, permissions and other Contracts (including any right to receive or obligation to pay royalties or any other
consideration), whether written or oral, relating to Intellectual Property to which a Target Company is a party, beneficiary or otherwise
bound.

"Company IP Registrations" mean all Company Intellectual Property that is subject to any issuance registration, application or
other filing by, to or with any Governmental Authority or authorized private registrar in any jurisdiction, including registered trademarks,
domain names and copyrights, issued and reissued patents and pending applications for any of the foregoing.

"Company Subsidiaries" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.04.

"Compiled Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"Confidential Information" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(d).

"Consent Judgment" means the Prop 65 Center for Environmental Health Consent Judgement.

"Contract Consents" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(c).

"Contracts" mean all contracts, leases, deeds, mortgages, Franchise Agreements, licenses, instruments, notes, commitments,
undertakings, indentures, joint ventures and all other agreements, commitments and legally binding arrangements, whether written or
oral.

"Covered Communications" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.14.

"Current Assets" means cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, refundable deposits, inventory, and all other current
assets, but excluding (a) deferred Tax assets, and (b) receivables from any Affiliates of a Target Company, directors, employees, officers
or stockholders and any of their respective Affiliates; in each case determined in accordance with GAAP (with the exceptions set forth
on Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedule).
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"Current Liabilities" means accounts payable, accrued Taxes and accrued expenses determined in accordance with GAAP
(with the exceptions set forth on Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedule), but excluding any deferred Tax liabilities, Transaction
Expenses and the current portion of any Indebtedness (including Assumed Indebtedness) of the Company, and excluding any outstanding
balances on Target Company credit cards (in an aggregate amount not exceeding $32,339, which was the balance of such credit cards
which was outstanding at May 31, 2018 but was not included on the May 31, 2018 balance sheet). Current Liabilities shall include the
employer portion of any withholding obligation under Section 2.06 and/or with respect to a direct or indirect distribution of any portion
of the Purchase Price to the Bonused Employees.

"Data Room" means the electronic data room established by the Shareholders in connection with this transaction.

"Developers" mean all Persons that have signed an area development agreement with a Target Company granting a Developer
the right to develop two or more Franchised Outlets.

"Direct Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05(c).

"Disclosure Schedules" mean the Disclosure Schedules delivered by Shareholders and Buyer concurrently with the execution
and delivery of this Agreement.

"Disputed Amounts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(iii).

"Dollars or $" means the lawful currency of the United States.

"Effective Time" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05.

"Effective Time Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(i).

"Effective Time Working Capital" means: (a) the Current Assets of the Company, minus (b) the Current Liabilities of the
Company, determined as of the Effective Time, but with pro forma adjustments to reflect the impact which the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement have on the Company’s Working Capital as measured on the Closing Date (e.g., any amount payable to a taxing
authority with respect to compensation paid out of the Purchase Price).

"Effective Time Working Capital Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(b)(ii).

"E.O. 11246" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(e).

each of "Employment Agreement" and "Employment Agreements" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(b)(ii).

"Encumbrance" means any charge, claim, community property interest, pledge, condition, equitable interest, lien (statutory or
other), option, security interest, mortgage, easement, encroachment, right of way, right of first refusal, or restriction of any kind, including
any restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership.
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"Environmental Claim" means any Action, Governmental Order, lien, fine, penalty, or, as to each, any settlement or judgment
arising therefrom, by or from any Person alleging liability of whatever kind or nature (including liability or responsibility for the costs
of enforcement Actions, investigations, cleanup, governmental response, removal or remediation, natural resources damages, property
damages, personal injuries, medical monitoring, penalties, contribution, indemnification and injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or
resulting from: (a) the presence, Release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials; or (b) any actual or alleged non-compliance with
any Environmental Law or term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

"Environmental Law" means any applicable Law, and any Governmental Order or binding agreement with any Governmental
Authority: (a) relating to pollution (or the cleanup thereof) or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species,
human health or safety, or the environment (including ambient air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or subsurface strata); or (b)
concerning the presence of, exposure to, or the management, manufacture, use, containment, storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse,
treatment, generation, discharge, transportation, processing, production, disposal or remediation of any Hazardous Materials. The term
"Environmental Law" includes, without limitation, the following (including their implementing regulations and any state analogs): the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and
Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act of 1976, as amended by the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.; the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control
Act of 1976, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§
11001 et seq.; the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.; and the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29 U.S.C.
§§ 651 et seq.

"Environmental Notice" means any written directive, notice of violation or infraction, or notice respecting any Environmental
Claim relating to actual or alleged non-compliance with any Environmental Law or any term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

"Environmental Permit" means any Permit, letter, clearance, consent, waiver, closure, exemption, decision or other action
required under or issued, granted, given, authorized by or made pursuant to Environmental Law.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

"ERISA Affiliate" means all employers (whether or not incorporated) that would be treated together with the Company or any
of its Affiliates as a "single employer" within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code.

"Estimated Closing Indebtedness" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(i).
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"Estimated Closing Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(i).

"Estimated Effective Time Working Capital" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a)(i).

"FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

"FDA Deeming Regulations" mean the final rule published by the FDA pursuant to The Family Smoking Prevention and
Tobacco Control Act and entitled "Deeming Tobacco Products To Be Subject to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended
by the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act; Restrictions on the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco Products and Required
Warning Statements for Tobacco Products."

"FDD" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(c).

"Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"FPR(s)" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(d).

"Franchise" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(a).

"Franchise Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(a).

"Franchised Outlet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(a).

"Franchisee" means an authorized franchisee of any Target Company that has the right to offer, sell or distribute goods or
services under a franchise or license agreement with such Target Company for the operation of the franchisee's business using a name,
mark or similar commercial symbol of a Target Company.

"Fundamental Representations" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01.

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time, as applied consistent with
the Company's historical accounting policies and practices.

"Government Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(a)(viii).

"Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local or foreign government or political subdivision thereof, or any
agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision, or any self-regulated organization or other non-governmental
regulatory authority or quasi-governmental authority (to the extent that the rules, regulations or orders of such organization or authority
have the force of Law), or any arbitrator, court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction.

"Governmental Order" means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination or award entered by or
with any Governmental Authority.
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"Hazardous Materials" means: (a) any material, substance, chemical, waste, product, derivative, compound, mixture, solid,
liquid, mineral or gas, in each case, whether naturally occurring or manmade, that is hazardous, acutely hazardous, toxic, or words of
similar import or regulatory effect under Environmental Laws; and (b) any petroleum or petroleum-derived products, radon, radioactive
materials or wastes, asbestos in any form, lead or lead-containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, and polychlorinated
biphenyls.

"Highly-Sensitive Personal Information" means (i) a Person's government-issued identification number (including Social
Security number, driver's license number, or state-issued identification number); (ii) financial account number, credit card number, debit
card number, or credit report information, with or without any required security code, access code, personal identification number, or
password that would permit access to an individual’s financial account; and (iii) biometric, genetic, health, medical, or medical insurance
data.

"Indebtedness" means, without duplication and with respect to any Target Company, all of the following obligations: (a)
obligations for borrowed money; (b) obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services (including past acquisitions),
(c) obligations for capitalized leases in accordance with GAAP (d) obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar
instruments, (e) obligations under any interest rate, currency swap or other hedging agreement or arrangement; (f) obligations of others
secured by an Encumbrance on any asset of any Target Company; (g) obligations under any letter of credit, banker's acceptance or similar
credit transactions or for which any Target Company assures a credit against loss; (h) obligations under conditional sale or other title
retention Contracts; (i) obligations with respect to vendor advances or any other advances made to any Target Company; (j) obligations
for unpaid Taxes due prior to the Closing Date; (k) except with respect to accrued payroll expenses included as a Current Liabilities in the
calculation of Effective Time Working Capital, obligations to any Affiliates, managers, employees or equityholders of any of the Target
Companies and any of their respective Affiliates, other than lease obligations in respect of the Real Property; (l) guarantees made by any
Target Company on behalf of any third party in respect of obligations of the kind referred to in the foregoing clauses (a) through (k);
and (m) any accrued interest, fees, expenses or penalties in respect of any of the foregoing, including prepayment penalties, termination
fees, reimbursements, indemnities, letters of credit and bankers' acceptances and consent fees, "breakage" costs, "break fees" or similar
payments or contractual charges. The term "Indebtedness" does not include Current Liabilities included in the calculation of Effective
Time Working Capital.

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05.

"Indemnifying Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05.

"Independent Accountant" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(iii).

"Information Systems" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.18(e).

"Institutional Shareholders" means those Shareholders listed on Exhibit F.

"Insurance Policies" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.16.
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"Intellectual Property" means all intellectual property and industrial property rights and assets, and all rights, interests and
protections that are associated with, similar to, or required for the exercise of, any of the foregoing, however arising, pursuant to the Laws
of any jurisdiction throughout the world, whether registered or unregistered, including any and all: (a) trademarks, service marks, trade
names, brand names, logos, trade dress, design rights and other similar designations of source, sponsorship, association or origin, together
with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by any of the foregoing; and all registrations, applications and renewals
for any of the foregoing; (b) internet domain names, whether or not trademarks, registered in any top-level domain by any authorized
private registrar or Governmental Authority; web addresses; web pages; websites and related content; accounts with Twitter, Facebook
and other social media companies and the content found thereon and related thereto; and URLs; (c) works of authorship, expressions,
designs and design registrations, whether or not copyrightable, including copyrights, author, performer, moral and neighboring rights;
and all registrations, applications for registration and renewals of such copyrights; (d) inventions; discoveries; trade secrets, as defined in
Title 18 of the United States Code on the Closing Date of this Agreement, including 18 U.S.C. § 1839 and applicable state law; business
and technical information and know-how; databases; data collections and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights
therein; (e) patents (including all reissues, divisionals, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part, re-examinations, renewals,
substitutions and extensions thereof); patent applications; and other patent rights and any other Governmental Authority-issued indicia of
invention ownership (including inventor's certificates, petty patents and patent utility models); (f) software and firmware, including data
files, source code, object code, application programming interfaces, architecture, files, records, schematics, computerized databases and
other related specifications and documentation; and (g) recipes, formulas and flavors for e-liquids.

"Interim Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"Interim Balance Sheet Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

"Knowledge of Shareholders" or "Shareholders' Knowledge" or any other similar knowledge qualification, means the
actual and constructive knowledge of Nicolas Molina or David Epstein after reasonable investigation. For purposes of this definition,
"constructive knowledge" means what a person should have known in the ordinary course of performing his services for the Target
Company.

"Law" means any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, order, constitution, treaty, common law, judgment, decree,
other requirement or rule of law of any Governmental Authority.

"Liabilities" means any liabilities, obligations or commitments of any nature whatsoever, asserted or unasserted, known or
unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, matured or unmatured or otherwise.

"Losses" means losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies, Actions, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs or
expenses of whatever kind, including reasonable attorneys' fees and the cost of enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder and the
cost of pursuing any insurance providers; provided, however, that "Losses" shall not include punitive damages, except in the case of fraud
or to the extent actually awarded to a Governmental Authority or other third party.
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“Major Shareholders” means those Shareholders who are not Institutional Shareholders (i.e., Pegasus, Epstein and Herrera).

"Material Adverse Effect" means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that is, or could reasonably be expected to
become, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to (a) the business, results of operations, condition (financial or otherwise)
or assets of the Company and the other Target Companies as a whole, or (b) the ability of Shareholders to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby on a timely basis; provided, however, that "Material Adverse Effect" shall not include any event, occurrence, fact,
condition or change, directly or indirectly, arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic or political conditions; (ii) conditions
generally affecting the industries in which the Target Companies operate; (iii) any changes in financial or securities markets in general;
(iv) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism, or the escalation or worsening thereof; (v) any action required
by this Agreement, except pursuant to Section 3.05 and Section 5.08; (vi) any changes in accounting rules, including GAAP; or (vii)
the public announcement, pendency or completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided further, however, that
any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) immediately above shall be taken into account
in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or could reasonably be expected to occur to the extent that such event,
occurrence, fact, condition or change has a materially disproportionate effect on the Target Companies compared to other participants in
the industries in which the Target Companies conduct their businesses.

"Material Contracts" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(a).

"Material Customers" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).

"Material Suppliers" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(b).

"Multiemployer Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(c).

"NASAA" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(c).

“Obsolete” inventory means (i) any inventory item that has been put on clearance at a price above its cost and at least 10%
of the original clearance quantity has not been sold in the most recent month, (ii) any inventory item currently on clearance where the
item’s cost exceeds the item’s clearance price and at least 10% of the original clearance quantity has been sold in the most recent month
and (iii) any inventory item currently on clearance where the item’s cost exceeds the item’s clearance price and at least 10% of the
original clearance quantity has not been sold in the most recent month. For all purposes of this Agreement, the dollar amount of Obsolete
inventory under clauses (i) and (iii) above is the balance of inventory on hand multiplied by the item’s cost; and under clause (ii) above is
the balance of the inventory on hand multiplied by the excess of the item’s cost over the most recent clearance price of the last sold item.
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"Organizational Documents" means (a) the articles or certificate of incorporation and the bylaws of a corporation; (b) the
certificate of formation and operating agreement of a limited liability company; (c) the partnership agreement and any statement of
the partnership of a general partnership; (d) the limited partnership agreement and the certificate of limited partnership of a limited
partnership; (e) any charter or similar document adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or organization of a Person;
and (f) any amendment to any of the foregoing.

"PEO Employees" means any individual engaged by a Target Company pursuant to a contractual relationship with a
professional employer organization, staffing company, or similar third-party entity.

"Permits" means all permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, authorizations, registrations, certificates, variances and similar
rights obtained, or required to be obtained, from Governmental Authorities.

"Permitted Encumbrances" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

"Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority,
unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity.

"Personal Information" means information provided to a Target Company by or at the direction of a customer, information
which is created or obtained by a Target Company on behalf of a customer, or information to which access was provided to a Target
Company by or at the direction of a customer, in the course of a Target Company's business that: (i) identifies or can be used to
identify an individual (including, without limitation, names, signatures, addresses, telephone numbers, email addresses, and other unique
identifiers); or (ii) can be used to authenticate an individual (including, without limitation, employee identification numbers, government-
issued identification numbers, passwords or PINs, user identification and account access credentials or passwords, financial account
numbers, credit report information, student information, biometric, health, genetic, medical, or medical insurance data, answers to
security questions, and other personal identifiers), in case of both subclauses (i) and (ii), including, without limitation, all Highly-
Sensitive Personal Information. A customer's business contact information is not by itself deemed to be Personal Information.

"Post-Closing Adjustments" means the adjustments to the Purchase Price described in Sections 2.04(b) and 2.04(c).

"Post-Closing Tax Period" means any taxable period of a Target Company beginning after the Closing Date.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" means any taxable period of a Target Company ending on or before the Closing Date.

"Pro Rata Share" means, with respect to each Shareholder, the percentage set forth opposite such Shareholder's name on
Exhibit A.
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"Product Warranty Claims" means any notice, Action or claim for or based upon breach of product warranty, strict liability
in tort, negligent design, negligent manufacture of product, design defects, negligent provision of services, or any other allegation of
material liability, including or resulting in product recalls, arising from the materials, design, testing, manufacture, packaging, labeling
(including instructions for use), documentation or sale of products by a Target Company (other than warranty service and repair claims
in the ordinary course of business not material in amount or significance).

"Product Warranty Issues" means reports, claims, notices, and problems regarding any defects, non-conformities, alleged
defects, alleged incidents, alleged non-conformities, and similar product liability issues that relate to any of the services or Products
manufactured and/or sold by the Target Companies or products of the Target Companies sold by any franchisee or retailer.

"Products" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.

"Qualified Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(c).

"Real Property" means all real property owned, leased or subleased by the Target Companies, together with all buildings,
structures and facilities located thereon.

"Rebates" mean "rebates" as defined for purposes of the FDD and applicable Law with respect to Franchises in the United
States.

"Registration Laws" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.26(c)

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging,
injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, abandonment, disposing or allowing to escape or migrate into or through the environment
(including, without limitation, ambient air (indoor or outdoor), surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata or within any
building, structure, facility or fixture).

"Representative" means, with respect to any Person, any and all directors, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors,
counsel, accountants and other agents of such Person.

"Resolution Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(ii).

"Restricted Business" means the design, manufacture, marketing, advertising, sale, distribution, retailing (including without
limitation online retailing and business to consumer online) and promotion of electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS), including
without limitation, vaporizers, tanks and mods, e-liquids, electronic cigarettes, and related accessories (but specifically excluding any of
the above items for use with cannabis or hemp products).

“Restricted Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(a).

"Restriction Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(a).
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"Restructuring" means the formation of Seller as a newly-formed Delaware corporation, the contribution by the Shareholders
of all of the equity of the Company to Seller, the conversion of the Company from a Delaware corporation to a Delaware limited liability
company, which prior to the Closing the Seller will file an election to have the Company be treated as a disregarded entity for federal
income tax purposes, and the conversion of each of the U.S. domestic Target Companies that was a corporation into a limited liability
company.

"Review Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(i).

"Rule 144" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.07(a).

"SEC" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(c).

"Section 503" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(e).

"Securities Exchange Agreement" means the Securities Exchange Agreement by and among Standard General Master Fund,
L.P. (“Standard General”), Standard Diversified, Inc. (“Standard Diversified”), the Shareholders and Seller's Representative in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit K.

"Security Breach" means (i) any act or omission that compromises either the security, confidentiality, or integrity of
Personal Information or the physical, technical, administrative, or organizational safeguards that relate to the protection of the security,
confidentiality, or integrity of Personal Information, or (ii) receipt of a complaint in relation to the privacy and data security practices of
the Target Companies. Without limiting the foregoing, a compromise shall include any unauthorized access to or disclosure or acquisition
of Personal Information.

"Seller" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Seller’s Accountants" means Kaufman, Rosin & Co., P.A.

"Seller’s Counsel" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.14.

"Shareholders' Guaranties" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12.

"Seller Indemnitees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.03.

"Seller's Representative" means Nicolas Molina.

"Seller's Representative's Fund" means $500,000.

"Shares" represents the 100% equity interest in the Company held by Seller immediately prior to the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and which may after the Restructuring be referred to in the Company's organizational
documents as "shares", "membership interests" or "units", but in all cases represents the successor equity interests to shares of common
stock of the Company prior to its conversion into a Delaware limited liability company.
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"Shareholder" and "Shareholders" has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

"Statement of Objections" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(ii).

"Subsidiaries" mean, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, association, partnership, joint
venture, or other business or corporate entity, enterprise or organization which is directly or indirectly (through one or more
intermediaries) controlled by or owned fifty percent (50%) or more by such Person.

"Supplemental Disclosure Schedules" mean the updated Disclosure Schedule containing disclosures that have occurred after
the date of this Agreement and that are delivered by Buyer and Shareholders no later than two Business Days prior to the Closing Date.

"Target Companies" mean the Company and all Company Subsidiaries and "Target Company" means one of the Target
Companies.

"Target Working Capital" means $5,975,075.

"Tax" or "Taxes" means all federal, state, local, foreign and other income, gross receipts, sales, use, production, ad valorem,
transfer, franchise, registration, profits, license, lease, service, service use, withholding, payroll, employment, unemployment, estimated,
excise, severance, environmental, stamp, occupation, premium, property (real or personal), real property gains, windfall profits, customs,
duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect
thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties.

"Tax Authority" means any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the imposition, assessment or collection of any
Tax.

"Tax Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.06(c).

"Tax Make-Whole Payment" shall mean $84,000, which, based upon the calculation performed by Seller’s Accountants,
the parties agree is the amount of incremental Taxes of Seller and/or Shareholders payable as a result of the transactions contemplated
hereby resulting solely and directly from the structuring of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for Tax purposes as an asset
acquisition, including the amount of incremental Taxes triggered by and resulting from the payment of the Tax Make-Whole Payment
itself.

"Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or statement or other document
relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof, in each case, which has been filed
or submitted or that is required to be filed with or submitted to any Tax Authority.

"Territory" means worldwide.

"Third Party Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.05(a).
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"Transaction Documents" mean this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules, the Employment Agreements, the Buyer Parent
Note, the Securities Exchange Agreement and the other agreements, instruments and documents required to be delivered at Closing.

"Transaction Expenses" means all directly related fees and expenses incurred by the Target Companies, Seller, Seller's
Representative or the Shareholders at or prior to the Closing in connection with Transaction Documents, and the performance and
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation, (i) success fees, transaction fees,
severance fees or compensation, commissions, legal and accounting expenses, broker fees and other amounts payable by any of the Target
Companies to third parties in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including, without limitation, any sale
bonuses payable by the Target Companies to their employees), and (ii) legal, accounting and other expenses of the Target Companies,
Seller, Seller's Representative or the Shareholders arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement that are charged to or
payable by any of the Target Companies.

"Undisputed Amounts" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(c)(iii).

"Union" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(b).

"VEVRAA" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(e).

"WARN Act" means the federal Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, and similar state, local and
foreign laws related to plant closings, relocations, mass layoffs and employment losses.

ARTICLE II
PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.01 Purchase and Sale. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, at the Closing, Seller shall sell,
convey, assign and transfer to Buyer, and Buyer will purchase from Seller, all of the right, title, and interest of Seller in and to the Shares,
free and clear of all Encumbrances, for the consideration specified in Section 2.02.

Section 2.02 Purchase Price. The aggregate purchase price for the Shares shall be Twenty-Four Million Dollars
($24,000,000), subject to the working capital adjustment pursuant to Section 2.04 (the "Purchase Price"). In addition, Buyer will pay
the Tax Make-Whole Payment. The Purchase Price and the Tax Make-Whole Payment will be paid as follows:

(a) $5,000,000 in the form of 153,079 shares of Buyer Parent common stock ("Buyer Parent Common Stock")
to a Seller account designated by Seller's Representative to Buyer; immediately thereafter to be exchanged at the direction of
the Seller's Representative for Standard Diversified common shares pursuant to the Securities Exchange Agreement. Buyer
shall cause Buyer Parent to issue the Buyer Parent Common Stock pursuant to this Section 2.02(a);
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(b) $4,000,000 (subject to post-Closing adjustment pursuant to Section 2.04(a)(iii)) in the form of an unsecured
promissory note of Buyer Parent, as maker, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G (the "Buyer Parent Note"), with
principal and all accrued interest payable to Seller through an account designated by Seller's Representative on behalf of
Seller. The Buyer Parent Note will accrue interest at the rate of 6% per annum, with all principal and accrued interest payable
on the date 18 months after the Closing Date, subject to the terms of such Buyer Parent Note (for the avoidance of doubt, the
Seller shall maintain ownership of, and shall not transfer or distribute to Seller’s Representative and/or the Shareholders, the
Buyer Parent Note, until such date as the Buyer Parent Note shall have been paid in full; except that if the Seller shall
liquidate prior to such date, the Buyer Parent Note shall be distributed to the Seller’s Representative);

(c) the $84,000 Tax Make-Whole Payment shall be paid in cash, by wire transfer of immediately available funds
to an account of Seller designated by Seller's Representative to Buyer. The Shareholders, the Seller's Representative, and
Seller hereby agree that they have independently confirmed that $84,000 is an acceptable and agreed-upon amount to be paid
by Buyer as a Tax Make-Whole Payment, and upon the making of such Tax Make-Whole Payment by Buyer, each of the
Shareholders, the Seller's Representative and Seller hereby release Buyer from and against any further liability, claim,
obligation or expense arising out of or associated with any obligations of Buyer under this Agreement with respect to the
determination of the amount or calculation of the Tax Make-Whole Payment; and

(d) the $15,000,000 balance of the Purchase Price, after adjustment for the amounts set forth in clauses (a) and
(b) above (the "Closing Payment"), shall be paid in cash, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account of
Seller designated by Seller's Representative to Buyer. The Closing Payment shall be reduced by (i) the Seller's
Representative's Fund amount which is to be retained by the Seller's Representative and administered pursuant to the terms of
Section 10.01, and (ii) an amount equal to the aggregate Transaction Expenses and Indebtedness paid pursuant to Section
2.03(c), and shall be further subject to the following adjustments:

(A) pursuant to Section 2.04(a) (the Closing Adjustments); and

(B) Section 2.04(c)(vi) (the Post-Closing Adjustments).

Section 2.03 Transactions to be Effectuated at the Closing.

(a) At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver:

(i) to the account(s) designated by the Seller's Representative, the Buyer Parent Common Stock and the
Closing Payment;

(ii) the Employment Agreements (as described below) executed by Buyer;
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(iii) the Buyer Parent Note;

(iv) the Securities Exchange Agreement executed by Standard General and Standard Diversified, and

(v) the other Transaction Documents and all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates
required to be delivered by Buyer at or prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 7.03 of this Agreement.

(b) At the Closing, the Seller's Representative shall deliver to Buyer:

(i) stock certificates evidencing the Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances, duly endorsed in blank or
accompanied by stock powers or other instruments of transfer duly executed in blank, with all required stock transfer
tax stamps affixed thereto (or other evidence of ownership satisfactory to Buyer);

(ii) Employment Agreements, substantially in the form of Exhibit C, executed by each of Nicolas
Molina, David Shield, Lisa Pena, Matt Nahaanee, Cortni Lewis, Anthony Yockey, David Epstein, Alyssa Alvarez and
Marc Waxman (each, an "Employment Agreement" and collectively, the "Employment Agreements"));

(iii) the Securities Exchange Agreement, executed by Seller, the Shareholders and Seller's
Representative;

(iv) the other Transaction Documents and all other agreements, documents, instruments or certificates
required to be delivered by Seller at or prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 7.02 of this Agreement; and

(v) documentation evidencing the Restructuring, in form and content satisfactory to Buyer.

(c) At the Closing, Buyer shall pay, on behalf of the Target Companies or Seller, the following amounts:

(i) any Indebtedness of the Company (other than the Assumed Indebtedness) not paid or satisfied prior
to Closing, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts and in the amounts specified on the Closing
Indebtedness Certificate; and

(ii) any Transaction Expenses unpaid at Closing, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
accounts and in the amounts specified on the Closing Transaction Expenses Certificate.

(d) At the Closing, certificates representing the shares of Buyer Parent Common Stock to be issued pursuant to
Section 2.02(a) will be deemed to have been delivered to Seller electronically through Buyer's transfer agent.
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Section 2.04 Purchase Price Adjustment.

(a) Closing Adjustments.

(i) Not less than one Business Day prior to the Closing, Seller's Representative shall prepare and
deliver to Buyer a statement (the "Estimated Closing Statement") setting forth his good faith estimate of (A)
Closing Indebtedness other than Assumed Indebtedness (the "Estimated Closing Indebtedness") and (B) Effective
Time Working Capital (the "Estimated Effective Time Working Capital"), which statement will be calculated in
the manner consistent with the Target Companies' Financial Statements and prior periods, and which will contain
an estimated consolidated balance sheet of the Target Companies as of the Effective Time (without giving effect
to the transactions contemplated herein other than the payment of Indebtedness contemplated by Section 2.03(c)),
calculations of Estimated Closing Indebtedness and Estimated Effective Time Working Capital, and a certificate of
an officer of the Company that the Estimated Closing Statement was prepared (x) in accordance with GAAP (with
the exceptions set forth on Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedule) applied using the same accounting methods,
practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation
methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Interim Balance Sheet for the most recent fiscal year end and
(y) as if such Estimated Closing Statement was being prepared as of a fiscal year end.

(ii) If the Estimated Effective Time Working Capital is between 90% and 110% of Target Working
Capital, then there will be no increase or decrease in the Closing Payment with respect to Target Working Capital
and the Closing Adjustment, and the Closing Payment will be decreased by the amount, if any, of Estimated Closing
Indebtedness. If Estimated Effective Time Working Capital is greater than 110% of Target Working Capital, then the
Closing Payment will be adjusted as follows: the Closing Payment will be increased by the amount of the Estimated
Effective Time Working Capital in excess of 110% of Target Working Capital and decreased by the Estimated Closing
Indebtedness. If Estimated Effective Time Working Capital is less than 90% of Target Working Capital, then the
Purchase Price will be adjusted as follows: the Purchase Price will be decreased by the amount by which Estimated
Effective Time Working Capital falls below 90% of Target Working Capital and further decreased by the Estimated
Closing Indebtedness.

(iii) If the calculations set forth in this paragraph result in a reduction in the Purchase Price, then the
principal balance of the Buyer Parent Note shall be reduced by the amount of the Closing Payment reduction.

(iv) If the calculations set forth in this paragraph result in an increase in the amount of the Purchase Price,
then the Company may either distribute cash equal to the increase immediately prior to Closing to Seller or if such
amount is not distributed prior to Closing, then the Closing Payment will be increased by such amount.

18

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


(b) Post-Closing Adjustments.

(i) Not more than 60 days after the Closing, Seller's Representative shall prepare and deliver to Buyer
an unaudited, internally prepared balance sheet of the Company as of the Effective Time (without giving effect to the
transactions contemplated herein) (the "Effective Time Balance Sheet"). Buyer agrees to make available to Seller's
Representative, upon reasonable request of Seller's Representative post-closing, any books, records, and systems of
the Company as reasonably necessary for Seller's Representative to prepare such Effective Time Balance Sheet.

(ii) Within 30 days of Buyer's receipt of the Effective Time Balance Sheet from Seller's Representative,
Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Seller's Representative a statement setting forth its own calculation of Effective
Time Working Capital and Closing Indebtedness, which statement shall be calculated in the manner set forth on
Exhibit B attached hereto and shall contain an unaudited, internally prepared balance sheet of the Company as
of the Effective Time (without giving effect to the transactions contemplated herein), a calculation of Effective
Time Working Capital (the "Effective Time Working Capital Statement") and a certificate of the Chief Financial
Officer of Buyer that the Effective Time Working Capital Statement was prepared in accordance with Exhibit B and
otherwise with GAAP (with the exceptions set forth on Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedule) and this Agreement,
a calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment, and a calculation of Closing Indebtedness.

(c) Examination and Review.

(i) Examination. After receipt of the Effective Time Working Capital Statement, Seller's Representative
shall have 30 days (the "Review Period") to review the Effective Time Working Capital Statement and the Buyer’s
calculation of the Post-Closing Adjustment. During the Review Period, Seller's Representative and Seller’s
Accountants shall have full access to the books and records of the Target Companies, the personnel of, and work
papers prepared by, Buyer and/or Buyer's Accountants to the extent that they relate to the Effective Time Working
Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment and to such historical financial information (to the extent in
Buyer's possession) relating to the Effective Time Working Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment
as Seller's Representative may reasonably request for the purpose of reviewing the Effective Time Working Capital
Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment and to prepare a Statement of Objections (defined below), provided,
that such access shall be in a manner that does not interfere with the normal business operations of Buyer or the Target
Companies.
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(ii) Objection. On or prior to the last day of the Review Period, Seller's Representative may object
to the Effective Time Working Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment by delivering to Buyer a
written statement setting forth Seller's Representative's objections in reasonable detail, indicating each disputed item
or amount and the basis for Seller's Representative's disagreement therewith (the "Statement of Objections"). If
Seller's Representative fails to deliver the Statement of Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, the
Effective Time Working Capital Statement and the Post-Closing Adjustment, as the case may be, reflected in the
Effective Time Working Capital Statement shall be deemed to have been accepted by Seller and the Shareholders.
If Seller's Representative delivers the Statement of Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, Buyer and
Seller's Representative shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such objections within 30 days after the delivery of the
Statement of Objections (the "Resolution Period"), and, if the same are so resolved within the Resolution Period, the
Effective Time Working Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment with such changes as may have been
previously agreed in writing by Buyer and Seller's Representative, shall be final and binding.

(iii) Resolution of Disputes. If Seller's Representative and Buyer fail to reach an agreement with respect
to all of the matters set forth in the Statement of Objections and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment before expiration
of the Resolution Period, then any amounts remaining in dispute ("Disputed Amounts" and any amounts not so
disputed, the "Undisputed Amounts") shall be submitted for resolution to an impartial nationally recognized firm
of independent certified public accountants, other than Seller’s Accountants or Buyer's Accountants, whom Buyer
and Seller's Representative shall appoint by mutual agreement (the "Independent Accountant"), and the Independent
Accountant, acting as an expert and not an arbitrator, shall resolve the Disputed Amounts only and make any
adjustments to the Post-Closing Adjustment, as the case may be, and the Effective Time Working Capital Statement.
The parties hereto agree that all adjustments shall be made without regard to materiality. The Independent Accountant
shall only decide the specific items under dispute by the parties and their decision for each Disputed Amount must
be within the range of values assigned to each such item in the Effective Time Working Capital Statement and/or the
Post-Closing Adjustment and the Statement of Objections, respectively.

(iv) Fees of the Independent Accountant. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall be
paid by Seller and/or the Shareholders, on the one hand, and by Buyer, on the other hand, based upon the percentage
that the amount actually contested but not awarded to Seller or Buyer, respectively, bears to the aggregate amount
actually contested by Seller and Buyer.

(v) Determination by Independent Accountant. The Independent Accountant shall make a determination
as soon as practicable within 30 days (or such other time as the parties hereto shall agree in writing) after their
engagement, and their resolution of the Disputed Amounts and their adjustments to the Effective Time Working
Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto.
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(vi) Payments of Post-Closing Adjustment. The final amount of the Post-Closing Adjustment shall take
account of the effect on the Purchase Price of any previously-implemented Closing Adjustment. Except as otherwise
provided herein, any payment of the Post-Closing Adjustment, together with interest calculated as set forth below,
shall (A) be a reduction or an addition of Purchase Price; (B) be due (x) within 45 Business Days of acceptance of
the applicable Effective Time Working Capital Statement or (y) if there are Disputed Amounts, then all undisputed
amounts within 45 Business Days of Seller's Representative's delivery of the Statement of Objections and all Disputed
Amounts within five Business Days of the resolution described in clause (v) above; and (C) with respect to cash
payments of the Post-Closing Adjustment, be paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as
is directed by Buyer or Seller's Representative. The amount of any Post-Closing Adjustment shall bear interest from
and including the Closing Date to and including the date of payment at a rate per annum equal to 6%. Such interest
shall be calculated daily on the basis of a 365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.

(d) Adjustments for Tax Purposes. Any payments made pursuant to Section 2.04 shall be treated as an
adjustment to the Purchase Price by the parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

Section 2.05 Closing. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the purchase and sale of the Shares
contemplated hereby shall take place at a closing (the "Closing") to be held on the date hereof, at such time and place as Seller's
Representative and Buyer may mutually agree upon in writing (the day on which the Closing takes place being the "Closing Date").
The parties agree that for financial accounting and business purposes, the Closing shall be effective as of 12:01 a.m. Eastern Time on the
September 1, 2018 (the "Effective Time"). Alternatively, the parties may agree to conduct the Closing remotely through the exchange of
executed Transaction Documents via electronic mail or facsimile.

Section 2.06 Withholding Tax. Buyer and the Company shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Purchase Price
all Taxes that Buyer and the Target Companies are required to deduct and withhold under any provision of Tax Law. All such withheld
amounts shall be treated as delivered to Seller hereunder. Notwithstanding the preceding, Seller shall be responsible for withholding
any amounts to be paid out of the Purchase Price consideration as bonuses or W-2 compensation to employees of the Target Companies,
including without limitation any amounts paid or distributed to the Bonused Employees and any withholding obligation arising out of
any transfer of stock to a Bonused Employee at any time after Closing, including the employer portion of any W-2 wages payable to any
taxing authority. Seller's Representative and Seller shall include in the computation of Estimated Working Capital as a Current Liability
any amount payable to a taxing authority with respect to compensation paid out of the Purchase Price. For the avoidance of doubt, any
Tax deductions or other Tax benefits arising out of the payment of such amounts to the employees and such taxing authorities shall be
retained by Seller, rather than transferred to Buyer.
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Section 2.07 Buyer Parent Common Stock.

(a) All Buyer Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to this Agreement shall be unregistered shares and shall be
"restricted securities" under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act ("Rule 144") and the Shareholders and Seller
acknowledge that the sale of the Buyer Parent Common Stock shall be subject to Rule 144 transfer restrictions.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer Parent Common Stock shall, immediately following the Closing,
be exchanged for shares of common stock of Standard Diversified pursuant to the Securities Exchange Agreement.

(c) The parties acknowledge that no shares of Buyer Parent Common Stock will be issued or distributed to non-
accredited investors, and Shareholders, Seller and Seller's Representative agree that consideration payable pursuant to this
Agreement shall be allocated and distributed so as to avoid the issuance or distribution of Buyer Parent Common Stock to
non-accredited investors. Except in accordance with federal and state securities laws, Shareholders, Seller and Seller's
Representative agree that similar transfer restrictions will apply to any shares for which the Buyer Parent Common Stock is
exchanged in accordance with and as contemplated in the Securities Exchange Agreement.

(d) Certificates representing Buyer Parent Common Stock shall include a legend evidencing the restrictions on
transfer set forth in this Section 2.07, or if shares of Buyer Parent Common Stock are issued in electronic format, such shares
shall be issued by the Transfer Agent subject to the notation of such applicable transfer restrictions.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Section of the Disclosure Schedules, the Shareholders represent and
warrant to Buyer that the statements contained in this Article III are true and correct as of the date hereof (provided, however, that each
Institutional Shareholder is making only those representations and warranties which are set forth in Sections 3.01, 3.05, 3.22(o), and
3.24 and, in each case, such representations and warranties are being made only with respect to itself or himself, and not with respect to
the Company, any Target Company or any other Seller).
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Section 3.01 Representations regarding Seller, the Shareholders and Seller’s Shares.

(a) Each Shareholder has full power, capacity and authority to enter into this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents to which such Shareholder is a party, to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each Shareholder, and
(assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of such Shareholder enforceable against such Shareholder in accordance with its terms. When each other Transaction Document
to which such Shareholder is or will be a party has been duly executed and delivered by such Shareholder (assuming due
authorization, execution and delivery by each other party thereto), such Transaction Document will constitute a legal and
binding obligation of such Shareholder enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. The execution and delivery of this
Agreement does not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (other than the Restructuring, as to which
no representation or warranty is being made under this Section 3.01(a)), will not result in any violation of, or default under
(with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any
material obligation or loss of any material benefit under any provision of the charter documents or material contract of any
Shareholder.

(b) The Buyer Parent Common Stock to be received by the Seller’s Representative on behalf of each Shareholder
will be immediately exchanged for shares of Standard Diversified Common Stock held by Standard General pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Agreement.

(c) Buyer has delivered to Seller's Representative for distribution to Seller and the Shareholders a reasonable time
before the date of this Agreement true and complete copies of Buyer's (i) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"); (ii) all periodic reports on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC since December 31, 2017 to the date hereof; and (iii) all Forms 10-Q filed with the SEC since December 31, 2017
to the date hereof. Each Shareholder, or a representative thereof, has received a draft of this Agreement and has confirmed that
all documents, books and records pertaining to such Shareholder's investment in Buyer Parent Common Stock and requested
by Seller's Representative or such Seller have been made available.

(d) Each Shareholder is an experienced investor in securities and acknowledges that it bears the complete
economic risk of its investment and has such knowledge and experience in financial or business matters that such Shareholder
is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in Buyer Parent Common Stock. Except for Bergnes, each
Shareholder is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 501(a) promulgated under the Securities Act.

(e) Each Shareholder and Seller acknowledges that he or it has been advised to seek his or its own tax and legal
advice in connection with this Agreement, including with respect to the treatment of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement for Federal, foreign, state and local income tax purposes and the treatment of Seller and Shareholders for tax
purposes in connection therewith. Each Shareholder and Seller acknowledges that none of the parties to this Agreement has
(i) made any representations and warranties to him or it or to any of the other parties hereto regarding the treatment of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement for Federal, foreign, state or local tax purposes, or (ii) provided any tax opinion
or advice regarding the treatment of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement for Federal, foreign, state or local tax
purposes or the treatment of the Shareholders or Seller for tax purposes in connection therewith.
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(f) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by any of Seller or the Shareholders that is a business entity,
and the performance by such Shareholder or Seller of its obligations under this Agreement have been duly authorized by all
necessary action on the part of such party (including by any managing body of such party). No Shareholder or Seller is required
to give any notice to, make any filing or registration with, or obtain any authorization, waiver, license, consent, or approval of
any Governmental Authority or third party in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Seller and the
Shareholders and the performance by Seller and Shareholders of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (other than the Restructuring, as to which no representation or warranty is
being made under this Section 3.01(f)).

(g) Immediately prior to the Restructuring, each Shareholder was the true and lawful owner of, and had good
and valid title to, the shares of Company common stock representing by such Shareholder's certificates and as set forth on
Exhibit A, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than limitations on transfers imposed by applicable securities laws). In
the Restructuring, each Shareholder transferred good and valid title to the shares of Company common stock represented by
such Shareholder's certificates and listed on Exhibit A to Seller, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than limitations on
transfers imposed by applicable securities laws). Immediately prior to the Closing, Seller is the true and lawful owner of, and
had good and valid title to, the Shares representing by all of the Shareholders' certificates, free and clear of all Encumbrances
(other than limitations on transfers imposed by applicable securities laws). Upon consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer shall hold good and valid title to all of the Shares, free and clear of all
Encumbrances. No Shareholder is an individual resident of any state that is subject to community property laws.

(h) Each Shareholder and Seller acknowledges that the Buyer Parent Common Stock issued to Seller shall not be
registered under the Securities Act at the time of issuance, and as such shall constitute "restricted securities" within the meaning
of Rule 144 and, unless sold pursuant to an effective registration statement, the Buyer Parent Common Stock shall be available
for sale in the public market only in compliance with Rule 144. Seller and the Shareholders understand that in connection with
exchanging Shares for Buyer Parent Common Stock, such party agrees that it will not transfer or dispose of any Buyer Parent
Common Stock unless and until, if requested by Buyer, such party shall have furnished to Buyer (at the expense of such party
or its transferee) a customary opinion of counsel or other evidence, reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, to the effect that such
transfer may be made without restrictions under the Securities Act (provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply to
the exchange of Buyer Parent Common Stock for Standard Diversified Common Stock pursuant to the Securities Exchange
Agreement). Each Shareholder and Seller further understands that this Agreement places additional restrictions on the transfer
of Buyer Parent Common Stock. Certificates representing the Buyer Parent Common Stock shall bear a legend substantially
as follows:
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THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT AND
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
LAWS. SUCH SHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD, PLEDGED, OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH
REGISTRATION OR A VALID EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY
REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAW OR OTHER EVIDENCE
SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED. THE SHARES
REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER
SET FORTH IN A STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT DATED SEPTEMBER 5, 2018, A COPY OF WHICH IS
MAINTAINED IN THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION.

Section 3.02 Organization, Authority and Qualification of the Company. The Company is limited liability company,
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the state of Delaware and has full entity power and authority
to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it and to carry on its business as it has been and is
currently conducted. Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth each jurisdiction in which the Company is licensed or qualified
to do business, and the Company is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the
properties owned or leased by it or the operation of its business as currently conducted makes such licensing or qualification necessary.
All entity actions taken by the Company in connection with this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents will be duly authorized
on or prior to the Closing. Seller's Representative has made available to Buyer in the Data Room copies of all Organizational Documents
of the Company as currently in effect and those of its predecessor corporation.

Section 3.03 Capitalization.

(a) Immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Restructuring, the authorized capital stock of the Company
consisted of one million (1,000,000) shares of common stock, par value $0.001, of which 50,000 shares were issued and
outstanding. All of such shares had been duly authorized, were validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and were owned
of record and beneficially, free and clear of all Encumbrances, by the Shareholders set forth on Exhibit A. In the
Restructuring, pursuant to the terms of a Plan of Reorganization and Capitalization Agreement, all of the Shareholders
contributed their Company shares to the Seller in exchange for an equal number of shares of Seller common stock.
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(b) Following the effectiveness of the Restructuring, the Company has 50,000 issued and outstanding limited
liability company membership interests (the “Shares” hereunder), all of which are being sold pursuant to this Agreement.
All of such Shares have been duly authorized, are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and are owned of record and
beneficially, free and clear of all Encumbrances. Upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
Buyer shall own all of such Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances.

(c) All of the Shares were issued in compliance with applicable Laws. None of the Shares were issued in violation
of any agreement, arrangement or commitment to which any Seller or the Company is a party or is subject to or in violation of
any preemptive or similar rights of any Person.

(d) There are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights, agreements,
arrangements or commitments of any character relating to the capital stock of the Company or obligating any Shareholder,
Seller or the Company to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, or any other interest in, the Company. Except as set forth
on Section 3.03 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company does not have outstanding or authorized any stock appreciation,
phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights. Except as set forth on Section 3.03 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are
no voting trusts, stockholder agreements, proxies or other agreements or understandings in effect with respect to the voting or
transfer of any of the Shares.

Section 3.04 Organization, Authority and Qualification of the Company Subsidiaries. Section 3.04 of the Disclosure
Schedules sets forth a complete list of all of the Subsidiaries of the Company ("Company Subsidiaries"). Each such Company Subsidiary
is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization, has all requisite power
and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted and is duly qualified as a
foreign entity in all jurisdictions in which it is required to be so qualified. Except as set forth on Section 3.04 of the Disclosure Schedules,
the Company does not presently have any other Subsidiaries or, directly or indirectly, own, control or have any interest in any shares
or other ownership interest in any other Person. The Company Subsidiaries are wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Company, and as of
Closing, each such [U.S. domestic] Company Subsidiary shall be a limited liability company. There are no outstanding or authorized
options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character relating to the equity
interests of such Company Subsidiaries or obligating Seller or any of the Target Companies to issue or sell any of the equity interests
of, or any other interest in, any of the Company Subsidiaries. None of the Company Subsidiaries has any outstanding or authorized any
stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or similar rights. There are no voting trusts, members' agreements, proxies or other
agreements or understandings in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the equity interests of the Company Subsidiaries.
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Section 3.05 No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by Seller and the Shareholders of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which they are a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby (other than the Restructuring, as to which no representation or warranty is being made under this Section 3.05), do
not and will not: (a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the Organizational Documents
of any of the Target Companies; (b) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order
applicable to any Seller or any of the Target Companies; (c) except as a result of the Restructuring or as set forth in Section 3.05 of
the Disclosure Schedules, require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under, conflict with, result in a violation or breach
of, constitute a default or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, result in the
acceleration of or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel any Contract to which any Seller or any of
the Target Companies is a party or by which any Seller or any of the Target Companies are bound or to which any of their respective
properties and assets are subject (including any Material Contract) or any Permit affecting the properties, assets or business of the Target
Companies; or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance other than Permitted Encumbrances on any properties or
assets of any of the Target Companies. No consent, approval, Permit, Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any
Governmental Authority is required by or with respect to any Seller or any of the Target Companies in connection with the execution
and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby (other than the Restructuring, as to which no representation or warranty is being made under this Section 3.05).

Section 3.06 Financial Statements. Complete copies of the Company's unaudited, compiled consolidated financial
statements consisting of the balance sheet of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and the related statements of income and retained
earnings, stockholders' equity and cash flow for the year then ended (the "Compiled Financial Statements"), and the unaudited balance
sheet of the Company as at May 31, 2018, as to which the Company's accountants have performed certain agreed-upon procedures (the
"Interim Balance Sheet," and together with the Compiled Financial Statements, the "Financial Statements"), have been delivered to
Buyer. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (with the exceptions set forth on Section 3.06 of the
Disclosure Schedule) applied on a consistent basis throughout the period and on the dates reflected in both the Compiled Financial
Statements and the Interim Balance Sheet collectively, subject, in the case of the Interim Balance Sheet, to normal and recurring year-end
adjustments (the effect of which will not be materially adverse) and the absence of notes (that, if presented, would not differ materially
from those presented in the Compiled Financial Statements). The Financial Statements are based on the books and records of the Target
Companies, and fairly present the consolidated financial condition of the Target Companies as of the respective dates they were prepared
and the results of the operations of the Target Companies for the periods indicated. The balance sheet of the Company as of December
31, 2017, is referred to herein as the "Balance Sheet" and the date thereof as the "Balance Sheet Date" and May 31, 2018 is referred
to herein as the "Interim Balance Sheet Date." The Company maintains a standard system of accounting established and administered
in accordance with GAAP (with the exceptions set forth on Section 3.06 of the Disclosure Schedule) . No Target Company is a party to
or otherwise involved in any "off-balance sheet arrangements" (as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended).
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Section 3.07 Undisclosed Liabilities. To the Knowledge of the Shareholders (which for the purpose of this Section 3.07
only, means the actual and constructive knowledge of Nicolas Molina, David Epstein and David Shield, the Company’s Chief Financial
Officer), no Target Company has any liabilities, obligations or commitments of any nature whatsoever, asserted or unasserted, known or
unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, matured or unmatured or otherwise, of a type which would be required to be
set forth in the body of a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP on and as of the date hereof ("Liabilities"), except (a) those
which are adequately reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet as of the Balance Sheet Date, and (b) those which have been
incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date and which are not, individually or
in the aggregate, material in amount.

Section 3.08 Absence of Certain Changes, Events and Conditions. Except as set forth in Section 3.08 of the Disclosure
Schedules or as contemplated with respect to the Restructuring, since the Interim Balance Sheet Date, and other than in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice, there has not been, with respect to the any of the Target Companies, any:

(a) event, occurrence or development that has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect;

(b) amendment of any of the Organizational Documents of such entity;

(c) split, combination or reclassification of any shares of the capital stock or equity interests, as applicable, of
such entity;

(d) issuance, sale or other disposition of any of the capital stock or equity interests, as applicable, of such entity,
or grant of any options, warrants or other rights to purchase or obtain (including upon conversion, exchange or exercise) any of
the capital stock or equity interests, as applicable, of such entity;

(e) declaration or payment of any dividends or distributions on or in respect of any of the capital stock or
equity interests, as applicable, of such entity or redemption, purchase or acquisition of the capital stock or equity interests, as
applicable, of such entity;

(f) material change in any method of accounting or accounting practice of the Company, except as required by
GAAP or as disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements;

(g) material change in the Target Companies' cash management practices and the policies, practices and procedures
of the Target Companies with respect to collection of accounts receivable, establishment of reserves for uncollectible accounts,
accrual of accounts receivable, inventory control, prepayment of expenses, payment of trade accounts payable, accrual of other
expenses, deferral of revenue and acceptance of customer deposits;
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(h) entry into any Contract, or any amendment or modification of any Contract, that would constitute a Material
Contract;

(i) entry into any Contract that would constitute a Franchise Agreement;

(j) incurrence, assumption or guarantee of any indebtedness for borrowed money except unsecured current
obligations and Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(k) transfer, assignment, sale or other disposition of any of the assets shown or reflected in the Balance Sheet or
cancellation of any debts or entitlements;

(l) transfer, assignment or grant of any license or sublicense of any material rights under or with respect to any
Company Intellectual Property or Company IP Agreements;

(m) material damage, destruction or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) to its property;

(n) any capital investment in, or any loan to, any other Person;

(o) acceleration, termination, material modification to or cancellation of any material Contract (including, but not
limited to, any Material Contract) to which a Target Company is a party or by which it is bound;

(p) any material capital expenditures;

(q) imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the Target Companies' properties, capital stock, equity interests
or assets, tangible or intangible;

(r) (i) grant of any bonuses, whether monetary or otherwise, or increase in any wages, salary, severance, pension
or other compensation or benefits in respect of its current or former employees, officers, directors, independent contractors or
consultants, other than as provided for in any written agreements or required by applicable Law, and except for normal and
customary increases in wages and salaries not to exceed eight percent, (ii) change in the terms of employment for any employee
or any termination of any employees for which the aggregate costs and expenses exceed $10,000, or (iii) action to accelerate the
vesting or payment of any compensation or benefit for any current or former employee, officer, director, independent contractor
or consultant;

(s) hiring or promoting any person as or to (as the case may be) an officer or hiring or promoting any employee
below officer except to fill a vacancy in the ordinary course of business;

(t) adoption, modification or termination of any: (i) employment, severance, retention or other agreement with any
current or former employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant, (ii) Benefit Plan or (iii) collective bargaining
or other agreement with a Union, in each case whether written or oral;
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(u) any loan to (or forgiveness of any loan to), or entry into any other transaction with, any of its stockholders or
current or former directors, officers and employees;

(v) entry into a new line of business or abandonment or discontinuance of existing lines of business;

(w) adoption of any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition
in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against
it under any similar Law;

(x) purchase, lease or other acquisition of the right to own, use or lease any property or assets for an amount in
excess of $10,000, individually (in the case of a lease, per annum) or $25,000 in the aggregate (in the case of a lease, for the
entire term of the lease, not including any option term), except for purchases of inventory or supplies in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice;

(y) acquisition by merger or consolidation with, or by purchase of a substantial portion of the assets or stock of,
or by any other manner, any business or any Person or any division thereof;

(z) action by the Company to make, change or rescind any Tax election, amend any Tax Return or take any
position on any Tax Return, take any action, omit to take any action or enter into any other transaction that would have the
effect of increasing the Tax liability or reducing any Tax asset of the Company in respect of any Post-Closing Tax Period; or

(aa) any Contract to do any of the foregoing, or any action or omission that would result in any of the foregoing.

Section 3.09 Material Contracts.

(a) Section 3.09(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists each of the following Contracts of a Target Company (such
Contracts, together with all Contracts concerning the occupancy, management or operation of any Real Property (including
without limitation, brokerage contracts) listed or otherwise disclosed in Section 3.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedules and all
Company IP Agreements set forth in Section 3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, being "Material Contracts"):

(i) each Contract of a Target Company involving aggregate consideration in excess of $25,000 and
which, in each case, cannot be cancelled by the Company without penalty or without more than 30 days' notice;

(ii) all Contracts that require a Target Company to purchase its total requirements of any product or
service from a third party or that contain "take or pay" provisions;
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(iii) all Contracts that provide for the indemnification by a Target Company of any Person or the
assumption of any Tax, environmental or other Liability of any Person;

(iv) all Contracts that relate to the acquisition or disposition of any business, a material amount of stock
or assets of any other Person or any real property (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);

(v) all broker, distributor, dealer, manufacturer's representative, franchise, agency, sales promotion,
market research, marketing consulting and advertising Contracts to which a Target Company is a party;

(vi) all employment agreements and Contracts with independent contractors or consultants (or similar
arrangements) to which a Target Company is a party and which are not cancellable without material penalty or without
more than 30 days' notice;

(vii) except for Contracts relating to trade receivables, all Contracts relating to indebtedness (including,
without limitation, guarantees) of a Target Company;

(viii) all Contracts with any Governmental Authority to which a Target Company is a party
("Government Contracts");

(ix) all Contracts that limit or purport to limit the ability of a Target Company to compete in any line of
business or with any Person or in any geographic area or during any period of time;

(x) any Contracts to which a Target Company is a party that provide for any joint venture, partnership or
similar arrangement by such Target Company;

(xi) all Contracts between or among a Target Company on the one hand and Seller or any Shareholder or
any Affiliate of Seller or any Shareholder (other than a Target Company) on the other hand;

(xii) all collective bargaining agreements or Contracts with any Union to which a Target Company is a
party;

(xiii) all Contracts with any Franchisee.

(xiv) all Contracts with any affiliate marketer or any other lead generation company; and

(xv) any other Contract that is material to a Target Company and not previously disclosed pursuant to this
Section 3.09.
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(b) Each Material Contract is valid and binding on the applicable Target Company in accordance with its terms
and is in full force and effect. None of the Target Companies or, to Shareholders' Knowledge, any other party thereto is in
breach of or default under (or is alleged to be in breach of or default under), or has provided or received any notice of any
intention to terminate, any Material Contract to which it is a party. No event or circumstance has occurred that, with notice
or lapse of time or both, would constitute an event of default under any Material Contract or result in a termination thereof
or would cause or permit the acceleration or other changes of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit thereunder.
Complete and correct copies of each Material Contract (including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and
waivers thereunder) have been made available by Seller's Representative to Buyer in the Data Room.

(c) No prior consent of any party to a Material Contract is required for the consummation by Seller and the
Shareholders of the transactions contemplated hereby (other than the Restructuring, as to which no representation or warranty
is being made under this Section 3.09(c)) to be in compliance with the provisions of such Material Contract or to avoid the loss
of any right under or the incurrence of any obligation under, such Material Contract, other than those consents listed on Section
3.05 of the Disclosure Schedules (the "Contract Consents").

(d) No Target Company is a party to a Contract with LG Chem, Ltd. or any of its Affiliates, and as such no Target
Company is in breach of any such Contract.

Section 3.10 Title to Assets; Real Property.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 3.10 of the Disclosure Schedules, Target Companies have good title to all of
their properties and assets, including without limitation, all leasehold interests. No Target Company owns or has ever owned
any Real Property. A Target Company has a valid leasehold interest in, all Real Property and personal property and other assets
reflected in the Compiled Financial Statements or acquired after the Balance Sheet Date, other than properties and assets sold
or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date. All of
the Target Companies' properties and assets (including leasehold interests) are free and clear of Encumbrances except for the
following (collectively referred to as "Permitted Encumbrances"):

(i) those items set forth in Section 3.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedules;

(ii) liens for Taxes not yet due and payable;

(iii) mechanics, carriers', workmen's, repairmen's or other like liens arising or incurred in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice or amounts that are not delinquent and which are not, individually or in
the aggregate, material to the respective businesses of the Target Companies;
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(iv) easements, rights of way, zoning ordinances and other similar encumbrances affecting Real Property
which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the respective businesses of the Target Companies;

(v) statutory landlord's liens; or

(vi) liens arising under original purchase price conditional sales contracts and equipment leases with third
parties entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice which are not, individually or in the
aggregate, material to the respective businesses of the Target Companies.

(b) Section 3.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists (i) the street address of each parcel of Real Property; (ii)
if such property is leased or subleased by the Company, the landlord under the lease, the rental amount currently being paid,
and the expiration of the term of such lease or sublease for each leased or subleased property; and (iii) the current use of
such property. With respect to leased Real Property, Seller's Representative has delivered or made available to Buyer in the
Data Room true, complete and correct copies of any leases affecting the Real Property. No Target Company is a sublessor or
grantor under any sublease or other instrument granting to any other Person any right to the possession, lease, occupancy or
enjoyment of any leased Real Property. The use and operation of the Real Property in the conduct of the Target Companies'
respective businesses do not violate in any material respect any Law, covenant, condition, restriction, easement, license, permit
or agreement. No material improvements constituting a part of the Real Property encroach on real property owned or leased by
a Person other than a Target Company. There are no Actions pending nor, to Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened against or
affecting the Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein in the nature or in lieu of condemnation or eminent domain
proceedings.

Section 3.11 Sufficiency of Assets. The buildings, plants, structures, furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment, vehicles
and other items of tangible personal property currently owned or leased by a Target Company, together with all other properties and assets
of the Target Companies, are sufficient for the continued conduct of the Target Companies' respective businesses after the Closing in
substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing and constitute all of the rights, property and assets necessary to conduct
the businesses of the Target Companies as currently conducted. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties
have agreed that immediately prior to the Closing, title to and physical possession of the desktop computers utilized by Nicolas Molina
and David Epstein shall be transferred to such persons, and shall not be included in the assets of the Target Companies; provided, however,
that any Company Intellectual Property or confidential or trade secret information, if any, shall be removed to the satisfaction of Buyer
from such computers prior to their transfer.
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Section 3.12 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 3.12(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all (i) Company IP Registrations and (ii) Company Intellectual
Property, including software, that are not registered but that are material to the Target Companies' businesses or operations.
All required filings and fees related to the Company IP Registrations have been timely filed with and paid to the relevant
Governmental Authorities and authorized registrars, and all Company IP Registrations are otherwise in good standing. Seller's
Representative has made available to Buyer in the Data Room with true and complete copies of file histories, documents,
certificates, office actions, excluding any attorney work product, related to all Company IP Registrations.

(b) Section 3.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all Company IP Agreements. Seller's Representative has
made available to Buyer in the Data Room true and complete copies of all such Company IP Agreements, including all
modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder. Each Company IP Agreement is valid and binding
on the Company in accordance with its terms and is in full force and effect. Neither the Company nor, to Shareholders'
Knowledge, any other party thereto is in breach of or default under (or is alleged to be in breach of or default under), or has
provided or received any notice of breach or default of or any intention to terminate, any Company IP Agreement.

(c) Except as set forth in Section 3.12(c)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target Companies are the sole and
exclusive legal and beneficial, and with respect to the Company IP Registrations, record owners of all right, title and interest in
and to the Company Intellectual Property, and, to the Shareholders' Knowledge, have the valid right to use all other Intellectual
Property used in or necessary for the conduct of the Target Companies' current businesses or operations, in each case, free
and clear of Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except as
set forth on Section 3.12(c)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, each Target Company entered into written agreements with every
current and former employee of such Target Company, and with every current and former independent contractor, who had
access to or involvement in the creation of such Target Company's Company Intellectual Property whereby such employees
and independent contractors (i) assign to such Target Company any ownership interest and right they may have in its Company
Intellectual Property; and (ii) acknowledge such Target Company's exclusive ownership of all of its Company Intellectual
Property. Seller's Representative has provided Buyer with true and complete copies of all such agreements.

(d) The consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder (other than the Restructuring, as to which no
representation or warranty is being made under this Section 3.12(d)), will not result in the loss or impairment of or payment of
any additional amounts with respect to, nor require the consent of any other Person in respect of, the Target Companies' right
to own, use or hold for use any Intellectual Property as owned, used or held for use in the conduct of the Target Companies'
businesses or operations as currently conducted.

(e) To the Shareholders' Knowledge, the Target Companies' rights in the Company Intellectual Property are valid,
subsisting and enforceable. The Target Companies have taken reasonable steps to maintain the Company Intellectual Property
and to protect and preserve the confidentiality of all trade secrets included in the Company Intellectual Property.
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(f) To the Shareholders' Knowledge, the conduct of the Target Companies' businesses as currently and formerly
conducted, and the Products, processes and services of the Target Companies, have not infringed, misappropriated, diluted or
otherwise violated, and do not and will not infringe, dilute, misappropriate or otherwise violate the Intellectual Property or
other rights of any Person. To the Shareholders' Knowledge, no Person has infringed, misappropriated, diluted or otherwise
violated, or is currently infringing, misappropriating, diluting or otherwise violating, any Company Intellectual Property.

(g) There are no Actions (including any oppositions, interferences or re-examinations) settled, pending or, to
Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened (including in the form of offers to obtain a license): (i) alleging any infringement,
misappropriation, dilution or violation of the Intellectual Property of any Person by any Target Company; (ii) challenging the
validity, enforceability, registrability or ownership of any Company Intellectual Property or any Target Company's rights with
respect to any Company Intellectual Property; or (iii) by any Target Company or any other Person alleging any infringement,
misappropriation, dilution or violation by any Person of the Company Intellectual Property. No Target Company is subject to
any outstanding or prospective Governmental Order (including any motion or petition therefor) that does or would restrict or
impair the use of any Company Intellectual Property.

Section 3.13 Inventory. All inventory of the Target Companies, whether or not reflected in the Balance Sheet, consists of
a quality and quantity usable and salable in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, except for Obsolete, damaged,
defective or slow-moving items that have been written off or written down to fair market value or for which adequate reserves have been
established. Except as set forth on Section 3.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, all such inventory is owned by the Target Companies free
and clear of all Encumbrances, and no inventory is held on a consignment basis. The quantities of each item of inventory (whether raw
materials, work-in-process or finished goods) are not excessive, but are reasonable in the present circumstances of the Target Companies.

Section 3.14 Accounts Receivable. The accounts receivable reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet and the accounts
receivable arising after the date thereof (a) have arisen from bona fide transactions entered into by the Target Companies involving the
sale of goods or the rendering of services in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; and (b) constitute only valid,
and, to the Shareholders' Knowledge, undisputed claims of the Target Companies not subject to claims of set-off or other defenses or
counterclaims other than normal cash discounts accrued in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. The reserve for
bad debts shown on the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to accounts receivable arising after the Interim Balance Sheet Date, on the
accounting records of the Target Companies have been determined in accordance with GAAP (with the exceptions set forth on Section
3.06 of the Disclosure Schedule), consistently applied, subject to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of disclosures normally
made in footnotes.
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Section 3.15 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth (i) each customer who has paid aggregate consideration
to the Company for goods or services rendered in an amount greater than or equal to $100,000 for the most recent fiscal year
(collectively, the "Material Customers"); and (ii) the amount of consideration paid by each Material Customer during such
period. Except as set forth in Section 3.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target Companies have not received any notice,
and have no reason to believe, that any of its Material Customers has ceased, or intends to cease after the Closing, to use its
goods or services or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with a Target Company.

(b) Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth (i) the Company's top 25 suppliers based upon the
amount of consideration the Company has paid to such suppliers for goods or services rendered for the most recent fiscal year
(collectively, the "Material Suppliers"); and (ii) the amount of purchases from each Material Supplier during such period.
Except as set forth in Section 3.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target Companies have not received any notice, and
have no reason to believe, that any of its Material Suppliers has ceased, or intends to cease, to supply goods or services to a
Target Company or to otherwise terminate or materially reduce its relationship with a Target Company.

Section 3.16 Insurance. Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and complete list of all current policies
or binders of fire, liability, product liability, umbrella liability, real and personal property, workers' compensation, vehicular, directors'
and officers' liability, fiduciary liability and other casualty and property insurance maintained by the Target Companies or any of their
Affiliates and relating to the assets, business, operations, employees, officers and directors of the Target Companies (collectively, the
"Insurance Policies") and true and complete copies of such Insurance Policies have been made available to Buyer in the Data Room.
None of the Shareholders, Seller, the Target Companies, nor any of their Affiliates has received any written notice of cancellation of,
premium increase with respect to, or alteration of coverage under, any of such Insurance Policies. All premiums due on such Insurance
Policies have either been paid or, if due and payable prior to Closing, will be paid prior to Closing in accordance with the payment
terms of each Insurance Policy. The Insurance Policies do not provide for any retrospective premium adjustment or other experience-
based liability on the part of the Target Companies. All such Insurance Policies (a) are valid and binding in accordance with their terms;
(b) to the Shareholders' Knowledge, are provided by carriers who are financially solvent; and (c) have not been subject to any lapse
in coverage. Except as set forth on Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no claims related to the business of the Target
Companies pending under any such Insurance Policies as to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed or in respect of
which there is an outstanding reservation of rights. The Insurance Policies are of the type and in the amounts customarily carried by
Persons conducting businesses similar to the Target Companies and are sufficient for compliance with all applicable Laws and Contracts
to which a Target Company is a party or by which it is bound. Except with respect to the Restructuring, as to which no representation
is being made pursuant to this Section 3.16: (a) Such Insurance Policies are in full force and effect on the date hereof; and (b) None of
Seller, the Shareholders, the Target Companies or any of their Affiliates is in default under, or has otherwise failed to comply with, in any
material respect, any provision contained in any such Insurance Policy.
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Section 3.17 Legal Proceedings; Governmental Orders.

(a) There are no Actions pending or, to Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened (i) against or by a Target Company
affecting any of its properties or assets or otherwise relating to the business of a Target Company (or by or against Seller, a
Shareholder or any Affiliate thereof and relating to a Target Company or the business of a Target Company); or (ii) against or
by a Target Company, Seller, the Shareholders or any Affiliate of Seller or a Shareholder that challenges or seeks to prevent,
enjoin or otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. To the Shareholders' Knowledge, no event has
occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise to, or serve as a basis for, any such Action.

(b) There are no outstanding Governmental Orders and no unsatisfied judgments, penalties or awards against or
affecting a Target Company or any of its properties or assets.

(c) Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedules identifies and describes all Product Warranties Issues relating to the
services or Products of the Target Companies and to Shareholders' Knowledge, Target Companies' Products sold by franchisees
or retailers. Except as set forth on Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedule, no Target Company has received notice of a Product
Warranty Claim with respect to a Product or service of the Target Companies or products of any other manufacturer, and to the
Shareholders' Knowledge, there are no Product Warranty Claims with respect to the Target Companies' Products or services,
and there is no basis for any such claim (disregarding warranty and repair claims in the ordinary course of business not material
in amount or significance) and no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or lapse of time) could
result in any such liability or recall.

(d) To the Shareholders’ Knowledge, all of the services rendered by the Target Companies (whether directly or
indirectly through independent contractors) have been performed, and all the Products sold by the Target Companies have
been sold, in each case in conformity with all express warranties and with all applicable contractual obligations, and none of
the Target Companies have any Liability for replacement or repair or for other damages relating to or arising from any such
services or Products, except for amounts incurred in the ordinary course of business which are immaterial individually and
in the aggregate. The Seller's Representative has made available to the Buyer copies of all Target Company contracts with
customers which contain warranty, indemnity or similar provisions.

(e) Except as disclosed on Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedules, there is no claim, nor to the Shareholders'
Knowledge the basis of any claim, against the Target Companies for injury to person or property of employees or third Persons
suffered as a result of the manufacture, sale or distribution of any Product or the performance of any service by the Target
Companies or any predecessor of the Target Companies. Except as disclosed on Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedule, there
is no pending or, to the Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened investigation against any of the Target Companies with respect to
any Products produced by or services rendered by the Target Companies or any predecessor of the Target Companies.
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(f) The Target Companies have completely satisfied any and all financial obligations and, to the Shareholders’
Knowledge, all other obligations, under the Consent Judgment.

Section 3.18 Compliance with Laws; Permits. Except with respect to the Restructuring, as to which no representation is
being made pursuant to this Section 3.18:

(a) The Target Companies have been, and are currently, in material compliance with all Laws applicable to them or
their respective businesses, properties or assets, including any Laws relating to product safety, product responsibility, product
liability or defective products, including without limitation, the FDA Deeming Regulations.

(b) All Permits required for the Target Companies to conduct their respective businesses have been obtained by
them and are valid and in full force and effect. All fees and charges with respect to such Permits as of the date hereof have been
paid in full. Section 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all current Permits issued to the Target Companies, including
the names of the Permits and their respective dates of issuance and expiration. To the Shareholders' Knowledge, no event
has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation,
suspension, lapse or limitation of any Permit set forth in Section 3.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedules.

(c) The Seller's Representative has made available to Buyer in the Data Room true and complete copies of (i)
all information and correspondence relating to the Target Companies' and the Products' compliance with FDA regulations and
requirements and (ii) all material correspondence and other communications between the Target Companies and the FDA.

(d) Except as set forth on Section 3.18(d) of the Disclosure Schedules, each of the Target Companies has used
its reasonable best efforts to comply in all material respects with all applicable Law, contractual obligations and its privacy
policies relating to the collection, storage, use, disclosure and transfer of any personally identifiable information collected by
or on behalf of it, and has taken all measures required by applicable Law to protect and maintain the confidential nature of such
personally identifiable information. Seller's and the Shareholders' execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and
any ancillary agreement contemplated hereby will comply with all applicable Law relating to privacy. No member of the Target
Companies has received a written notice of a complaint regarding its collection, use or disclosure of personally identifiable
information.
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(e) Each of the Target Companies has implemented and maintained, consistent with industry standard practices
and its contractual and other obligations to other Persons, all reasonable security and other reasonable measures necessary to
protect all computers, networks, software and systems used in connection with the operation of the Target Companies' business
(the "Information Systems") from viruses and unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure or other misuse. The Seller's
Representative has provided to Buyer all of its disaster recovery and security plans, and procedures relating to the Target
Companies' Information Systems. Except as set forth on Section 3.18(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Shareholders'
Knowledge, there have been no unauthorized intrusions or breaches of the security of the Target Companies' Information
Systems.

(f) The Target Companies have provided Buyer with true and correct copies of all material communications
(written or otherwise) to Franchisees relating to compliance with FDA regulations and other regulatory requirements, including
without limitation, any communications that included a reference to or analysis by the law firm Michael Best.

(g) The Target Companies have fully disclosed to Buyer in writing any youth related communications from the
FDA or other regulatory bodies.

Section 3.19 Environmental Matters.

(a) To the Shareholders' Knowledge, the Target Companies are currently and have been in compliance with all
Environmental Laws and have not, and no Target Company has received from any Person any: (i) Environmental Notice
or Environmental Claim; or (ii) written request for information pursuant to Environmental Law, which, in each case, either
remains pending or unresolved, or is the source of ongoing obligations or requirements as of the Closing Date.

(b) Except with respect to the Restructuring, as to which no representation is being made pursuant to this Section
3.19(b): The Target Companies have obtained and are in material compliance with all Environmental Permits (each of which is
disclosed in Section 3.19(b) of the Disclosure Schedules) necessary for the ownership, lease, operation or use of the businesses
or assets of the Target Companies and all such Environmental Permits are in full force and effect and shall be maintained in
full force and effect by the Target Companies through the Closing Date in accordance with Environmental Law, and neither
any Shareholder nor any Target Company is aware of any condition, event or circumstance that might reasonably be expected
to prevent or impede, after the Closing Date, the ownership, lease, operation or use of the businesses or assets of the Target
Companies as currently carried out. With respect to any such Environmental Permits, to the extent any such transfer is necessary
as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Seller's Representative has undertaken, or will undertake
prior to the Closing Date, all reasonable measures necessary to facilitate transferability of the same, and to the Shareholders'
Knowledge, there exists no condition, event or circumstance that might prevent or impede the transferability of the same, nor
have they received any Environmental Notice or written communication regarding any material adverse change in the status or
terms and conditions of the same.
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(c) No real property currently or formerly owned, operated or leased by the Company is listed on, or, to the
Shareholders' Knowledge, has been proposed for listing on, the National Priorities List (or CERCLIS) under CERCLA, or any
similar state list.

(d) To the Shareholders' Knowledge, there has been no Release of Hazardous Materials in contravention of
Environmental Law with respect to the businesses or assets of the Target Companies or any real property currently or formerly
owned, operated or leased by the Target Companies, and neither the Target Companies nor any Shareholder has received
an Environmental Notice that any real property currently or formerly owned, operated or leased in connection with the
businesses of the Target Companies (including soils, groundwater, surface water, buildings and other structure located on
any such real property) has been contaminated with any Hazardous Material which could reasonably be expected to result
in an Environmental Claim against, or a violation of Environmental Law or term of any Environmental Permit by, Seller, a
Shareholder or the Target Companies.

(e) Section 3.19(e) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a complete and accurate list of all active or abandoned
aboveground or underground storage tanks owned or operated by the Target Companies.

(f) Section 3.19(f) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a complete and accurate list of all off-site Hazardous
Materials treatment, storage, or disposal facilities or locations used by the Target Companies or Shareholders and any
predecessors as to which the Target Companies may retain liability, and none of these facilities or locations has been placed
or proposed for placement on the National Priorities List (or CERCLIS) under CERCLA, or any similar state list, and neither
any Shareholder nor any Target Company has received any Environmental Notice regarding potential liabilities with respect to
such off-site Hazardous Materials treatment, storage, or disposal facilities or locations used by the Target Companies.

(g) Each hazmat employee (as defined in 49 CFR 171.8) has received the training required by 49 CFR, §§700-704
and each such employee that has transported Hazardous Materials on behalf of a Target Company has done so in a manner
consistent with such training and in compliance with Law.

(h) Neither any Shareholder nor any Target Company has retained or assumed, by contract or, to Shareholders'
Knowledge, operation of Law, any liabilities or obligations of third parties under Environmental Law.
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(i) The Seller's Representative has provided or otherwise made available to Buyer in the Data Room and listed
in Section 3.19(i) of the Disclosure Schedules: (i) any and all environmental reports, studies, audits, records, sampling data,
site assessments, risk assessments, economic models and other similar documents with respect to the businesses or assets of
the Target Companies or any currently or formerly owned, operated or leased real property which are in the possession or
control of the Shareholders or a Target Company related to compliance with Environmental Laws, Environmental Claims or an
Environmental Notice or the Release of Hazardous Materials; and (ii) any and all material documents concerning planned or
anticipated capital expenditures required to reduce, offset, limit or otherwise control pollution and/or emissions, manage waste
or otherwise ensure compliance with current or future Environmental Laws (including, without limitation, costs of remediation,
pollution control equipment and operational changes).

(j) As of the Closing Date and to the Shareholders' Knowledge, there is no conditions, event or circumstance
concerning the Release or regulation of Hazardous Materials that might, after the Closing Date, prevent, impede or materially
increase the costs associated with the ownership, lease, operation, performance or use of the businesses or assets of the Target
Companies as currently carried out.

Section 3.20 Employee Benefit Matters.

(a) Section 3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a true and complete list of each pension, benefit,
retirement, compensation, employment, consulting, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, incentive, bonus, performance
award, phantom equity, stock or stock-based, change in control, retention, severance, vacation, paid time off, welfare, fringe-
benefit and other similar agreement, plan, policy, program or arrangement (and any amendments thereto), in each case whether
or not reduced to writing and whether funded or unfunded, including each "employee benefit plan" within the meaning of
Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not tax-qualified and whether or not subject to ERISA, which is or has been maintained,
sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by a Target Company for the benefit of any current or former
employee, officer, director, retiree, independent contractor or consultant of a Target Company or any spouse or dependent of
such individual, or under which a Target Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates has or may have any Liability (as listed
on Section 3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, each, a "Benefit Plan"). The Company has separately identified in Section
3.20(a) of the Disclosure Schedules each Benefit Plan that contains a change in control provision.

(b) With respect to each Benefit Plan, the Seller's Representative has made available to Buyer in the Data Room
accurate, current and complete copies of each of the following, to the extent applicable: (i) where the Benefit Plan has been
reduced to writing, the plan document together with all amendments; (ii) where the Benefit Plan has not been reduced to
writing, a written summary of all material plan terms; (iii) where applicable, copies of any trust agreements or other funding
arrangements, custodial agreements, insurance policies and contracts, administration agreements and similar agreements,
and investment management or investment advisory agreements, now in effect or required in the future as a result of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise; (iv) copies of any summary plan descriptions, summaries of material
modifications, employee handbooks and any other written communications (or a description of any oral communications)
relating to any Benefit Plan; (v) in the case of any Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the
Code, a copy of the most recent determination, opinion or advisory letter from the Internal Revenue Service; (vi) in the case
of any Benefit Plan for which a Form 5500 is required to be filed, a copy of the two most recently filed Forms 5500, with
schedules and financial statements attached; (vii) actuarial valuations and reports related to any Benefit Plans with respect to
the two most recently completed plan years; (viii) the most recent nondiscrimination tests performed under the Code; and (ix)
copies of material notices, letters or other correspondence from the Internal Revenue Service, Department of Labor, Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation or other Governmental Authority relating to the Benefit Plan.
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(c) Each Benefit Plan and related trust (other than any multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 3(37)
of ERISA (each a "Multiemployer Plan")) has been established, administered and maintained materially in accordance with
its terms and in material compliance with all applicable Laws (including ERISA and, the Code and any applicable local Laws).
Each Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code (a "Qualified Benefit Plan") is so qualified
and has received a favorable and current determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service, or with respect to a prototype
plan, can rely on an opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service to the prototype plan sponsor, to the effect that such
Qualified Benefit Plan is so qualified and that the plan and the trust related thereto are exempt from federal income taxes under
Sections 401(a) and 501(a), respectively, of the Code, and nothing has occurred that could reasonably be expected to adversely
affect the qualified status of any Qualified Benefit Plan. To Shareholders' Knowledge, nothing has occurred with respect to
any Benefit Plan that has subjected or could reasonably be expected to subject the Target Companies or any of their ERISA
Affiliates or, with respect to any period on or after the Closing Date, Buyer or any of its Affiliates, to a penalty under Section
502 of ERISA or to tax or penalty under Section 4975 of the Code. All benefits, contributions and premiums relating to each
Benefit Plan have been timely paid in accordance with the terms of such Benefit Plan and all applicable Laws and accounting
principles, and all benefits accrued under any unfunded Benefit Plan have been paid, accrued or otherwise adequately reserved
to the extent required by, and in accordance with, GAAP (with the exceptions set forth on Section 3.06 of the Disclosure
Schedule).

(d) Neither the Target Companies nor any of their ERISA Affiliates has (i) incurred or reasonably expects to
incur, either directly or indirectly, any material Liability under Title I or Title IV of ERISA or related provisions of the Code
or applicable local Law relating to employee benefit plans; (ii) failed to timely pay premiums to the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation; (iii) withdrawn from any Multiemployer Plan; or (iv) engaged in any transaction which would give rise to liability
under Section 4069 or Section 4212(c) of ERISA.

(e) With respect to each Benefit Plan (i) no such plan is a Multiemployer Plan; (ii) no such plan is a "multiple
employer plan" within the meaning of Section 413(c) of the Code or a "multiple employer welfare arrangement" (as defined in
Section 3(40) of ERISA); (iii) no Action has been initiated by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to terminate any such
plan or to appoint a trustee for any such plan; (iv) no such plan is subject to the minimum funding standards of Section 412 of
the Code or Title IV of ERISA, and none of the assets of the Target Companies or any ERISA Affiliate is, or may reasonably
be expected to become, the subject of any lien arising under Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412(a) of the Code; and (v) no
"reportable event," as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA, has occurred with respect to any such plan.
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(f) Each Benefit Plan can be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued by a Target Company before the
Closing in accordance with its terms, or after the Closing in accordance with its terms, without material Liability to Buyer,
the Target Companies or any of their Affiliates, other than contributions owed in due course or ordinary administrative
expenses typically incurred in a termination event. No Target Company has a commitment or obligation and has not made
any representations to any employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant, whether or not legally binding,
to adopt, amend, modify or terminate any Benefit Plan or any collective bargaining agreement, in connection with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.

(g) Other than as required under Section 601 et. seq. of ERISA or other applicable Law, no Benefit Plan provides
post-termination or retiree welfare benefits to any individual for any reason, and neither the Target Companies nor any of their
ERISA Affiliates has any Liability to provide post-termination or retiree welfare benefits to any individual or ever represented,
promised or contracted to any individual that such individual would be provided with post-termination or retiree welfare
benefits.

(h) There is no pending or, to Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened Action relating to a Benefit Plan (other than
routine claims for benefits), and no Benefit Plan has within the three years prior to the date hereof been the subject of an
examination or audit by a Governmental Authority or the subject of an application or filing under or is a participant in, an
amnesty, voluntary compliance, self-correction or similar program sponsored by any Governmental Authority.

(i) There has been no amendment to, announcement by Seller, the Shareholders, the Target Companies or any
of their Affiliates relating to, or change in employee participation or coverage under, any Benefit Plan or collective bargaining
agreement that would increase the annual expense of maintaining such plan above the level of the expense incurred for the
most recently completed fiscal year with respect to any director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant,
as applicable. None of Seller, the Shareholders, the Target Companies, nor any of their Affiliates has any commitment or
obligation or has made any representations to any director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant, whether or
not legally binding, to adopt, amend, modify or terminate any Benefit Plan or any collective bargaining agreement.

(j) To Shareholders' Knowledge, each Benefit Plan that is subject to Section 409A of the Code has been
administered in compliance with its terms and the operational and documentary requirements of Section 409A of the Code
and all applicable regulatory guidance (including notices, rulings and proposed and final regulations) thereunder. No Target
Company has any obligation to gross up, indemnify or otherwise reimburse any individual for any excise taxes, interest or
penalties incurred pursuant to Section 409A of the Code.
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(k) Each individual who is classified by the Target Companies as an independent contractor has been properly
classified for purposes of participation and benefit accrual under each Benefit Plan.

(l) Except as set forth in Section 3.20(l) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the execution of this Agreement
nor any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or
subsequent events): (i) entitle any current or former director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant of a Target
Company to severance pay or any other payment; (ii) accelerate the time of payment, funding or vesting, or increase the amount
of compensation due to any such individual; (iii) limit or restrict the right of a Target Company to merge, amend or terminate
any Benefit Plan; (iv) increase the amount payable under or result in any other material obligation pursuant to any Benefit Plan;
(v) result in "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code; or (vi) require a "gross-up" or
other payment to any "disqualified individual" within the meaning of Section 280G(c) of the Code. There have been no Section
280G calculations prepared (whether or not final) with respect to any disqualified individual in connection with the transactions
contemplated herein.

(m) The Target Companies and any co-employer of PEO Employees have complied with COBRA, the Family
Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, the Women's Health and Cancer Rights Act of 1998, the Newborns' and Mothers'
Health Protection Act of 1996, and any similar provisions of state law applicable to the Target Companies' employees and PEO
Employees. The Target Companies have no unsatisfied obligations to any of its employees or qualified beneficiaries pursuant
to COBRA, HIPAA or any state law governing health care coverage or extension. The co-employer of the PEO Employees
does not have any unsatisfied obligations to any PEO Employees or qualified beneficiaries pursuant to COBRA, HIPAA or any
state law governing health care coverage or extension.

(n) The Target Companies have complied with all applicable requirements of the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act of 2010, including, without limitation, offering affordable coverage to a sufficient number of employees of the Target
Companies to avoid penalties thereunder and providing reports to the Internal Revenue Service and the employees of the Target
Companies as required by Code Sections 6055 and 6056.
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Section 3.21 Employment Matters.

(a) Section 3.21(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a list of all persons who are employees, independent
contractors or consultants of the Target Companies as of the date hereof, including any employee who is on a leave of absence
of any nature, paid or unpaid, authorized or unauthorized, and sets forth for each such individual the following: (i) name; (ii)
title or position (including whether full or part time); (iii) hire date; (iv) current annual base compensation rate; (v) commission,
bonus or other incentive-based compensation; and (vi) a description of the fringe benefits provided to each such individual as
of the date hereof. Except as set forth in Section 3.21(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, as of the date hereof, all compensation,
including wages, commissions and bonuses, payable to all employees, independent contractors or consultants of the Target
Companies for services performed on or prior to the date hereof have been paid in full (or accrued in full on the audited balance
sheet contained in the Effective Time Working Capital Statement) and there are no outstanding agreements, understandings or
commitments of the Target Companies with respect to any compensation, commissions or bonuses.

(b) The Target Companies are not, and have not been for the past three years, a party to, bound by, or negotiating
any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a union, works council or labor organization (collectively, "Union"),
and there is not, and has not been for the past three years, any Union representing or purporting to represent any employee of
a Target Company, and no Union or group of employees is seeking or has sought to organize employees for the purpose of
collective bargaining. There has never been, nor has there been any threat of, any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout,
concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor disruption or dispute affecting the Target Companies or any of their
employees. The Target Companies have no duty to bargain with any Union.

(c) The Target Companies are and have been in compliance with all applicable Laws pertaining to employment
and employment practices, including all Laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment
practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits,
immigration, wages, hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working
conditions, meal and break periods, privacy, health and safety, workers' compensation, leaves of absence and unemployment
insurance. All individuals characterized and treated by the Target Companies as independent contractors or consultants are
properly treated as independent contractors under all applicable Laws, and all employees of the Target Companies classified as
exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act and state and local wage and hour laws are properly classified. Except as set forth
in Section 3.21(c), there are no Actions against any Target Companies pending, or to Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened to
be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Authority or arbitrator in connection with the employment of any current
or former applicant, employee, consultant or independent contractor of a Target Company, including, without limitation, any
claim relating to unfair labor practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, equal pay, wage and hours or any
other employment related matter arising under applicable Laws.

(d) Up to the Closing Date, the Target Companies have complied with the WARN Act, and it have no plans to
undertake any action in the future that would trigger the WARN Act.
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(e) With respect to each Government Contract, the Target Companies are and have been in compliance with
Executive Order No. 11246 of 1965 ("E.O. 11246"), Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 ("Section 503") and
the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974 ("VEVRAA"), including all implementing regulations. The
Target Companies maintain and comply with affirmative action plans in compliance with E.O. 11246, Section 503 and
VEVRAA, including all implementing regulations. Except as set forth in Section 3.21(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
Target Companies are not, and have not been, since January 1, 2014, the subject of any audit, investigation or enforcement
action by any Governmental Authority in connection with any Government Contract or related compliance with E.O. 11246,
Section 503 and VEVRAA. The Target Companies have not been debarred, suspended or otherwise made ineligible from doing
business with the United States government or any government contractor.

Section 3.22 Taxes. Except as set forth in Section 3.22 of the Disclosure Schedules:

(a) All Tax Returns required to be filed on or before the Closing Date by the Target Companies have been timely
filed (for the avoidance of doubt, the Target Companies’ 2017 Tax Returns will be filed by the Seller’s Representative after the
Closing). Such Tax Returns are, or will be, true, complete and correct in all material respects. All Taxes due and owing by the
Target Companies shown on any Tax Return have been timely paid.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target Companies have withheld and
paid each Tax required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent
contractor, creditor, customer, shareholder or other party, and complied with all information reporting and backup withholding
provisions of applicable Law.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, no claim has been made by any Tax
Authority in any jurisdiction where the Target Companies do not file Tax Returns that a Target Company is, or may be, subject
to Tax by that jurisdiction.

(d) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(d) of the Disclosure Schedules, no extensions or waivers of statutes of
limitations currently in effect have been given or requested with respect to any Taxes of the Target Companies.

(e) The amount of the Target Companies' Liability for unpaid Taxes for all periods ending on or before June 30,
2018, does not, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of accruals for Taxes (excluding reserves for deferred Taxes) reflected on
the Financial Statements. The amount of the Target Companies' Liability for unpaid Taxes for all periods following the end
of the recent period covered by the Financial Statements shall not, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of accruals for Taxes
(excluding reserves for deferred Taxes) as adjusted for the passage of time in accordance with the past custom and practice of
the Target Companies.
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(f) Section 3.22(f) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth:

(i) those taxable years for which examinations by the Tax Authorities have been completed; and

(ii) those taxable years for which examinations by Tax Authorities are presently being conducted.

(g) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(g) of the Disclosure Schedules, all deficiencies or assessments made
against a Target Company as a result of any examinations by any Tax Authority have been fully paid or are being contested in
good faith. Section 3.22(f) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth all such deficiencies or assessments.

(h) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(h) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Target Company is a party to any
Action by any Tax Authority. Except as set forth on Section 3.22(h) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no pending or, to
Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened Actions by any Tax Authority against any Target Company.

(i) Seller's Representative has delivered to Buyer copies of all federal, state, local and foreign income, franchise
and similar Tax Returns, examination reports, and statements of deficiencies assessed against, or agreed to by, the Target
Companies for all Tax periods ending on an after December 31, 2015.

(j) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(j) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no Encumbrances for Taxes
(other than for current Taxes not yet due and payable) upon the assets of the Target Companies.

(k) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(k) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Target Company is a party to, or bound
by, any Tax indemnity, Tax sharing or Tax allocation agreement.

(l) No private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda or similar agreement or rulings have been requested,
entered into or issued by any Tax Authority with respect to the Target Companies

(m) Except as set forth on Section 3.22(m) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Target Company has been a member
of an affiliated, combined, consolidated or unitary Tax group for Tax purposes with any non-Target Company. Except as set
forth on Section 3.22(m) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Target Company has Liability for Taxes of any Person (other than
any other Target Company) under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any corresponding provision of state, local or
foreign Law), as transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise.

(n) [Intentionally deleted.]

(o) Seller is not a "foreign person" as that term is used in Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2.
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(p) As of the Closing, (i) the Company will be a limited liability company, which the Seller intends to be treated
as a disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes, and (ii) each Company Subsidiary, other than the UK subsidiary, will
be a limited liability company, which the Seller intends to be treated as a disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes.

(q) No Target Company is, and has not been, a party to, or a promoter of, a "reportable transaction" within the
meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b).

(r) Section 3.22(r) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth each state into which the Target Companies have,
directly or indirectly, sold the Products since January 1, 2015 and each state for which the Target Companies currently collect
sales tax.

(s) The Target Companies have completed the Restructuring as of the Closing Date. A "check-the-box" election
for the Company to be taxed as an association taxable as a corporation has not been filed with respect to the Company and none
of Seller, Seller's Representative or the Shareholders will file such election.

Section 3.23 Books and Records. The minute books and stock record books of the Target Companies, all of which have
been made available to Buyer in the Data Room, are reasonably complete and correct and have been maintained in accordance with
sound business practices. The minute books of the Target Companies contain reasonably accurate and reasonably complete records of all
meetings, and actions taken by written consent of, the stockholders, the board of directors and any committees of the board of directors
of the Company, and the members or managers of the Company Subsidiaries, and no meeting, or action taken by written consent, of any
such stockholders, board of directors, committee, members or managers has been held for which minutes have not been prepared and are
not contained in such minute books. At the Closing, all of those books and records will be in the possession of the Company.

Section 3.24 Brokers. Except for MidCap Advisors, LLC, no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any
brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller, the Shareholders or the Target Companies.

Section 3.25 Target Companies' Products.

(a) Seller's Representative has delivered or made available to Buyer in the Data Room a true, complete and
correct listing of all flavors used in the Products, excluding any third-party products sold by the Target Companies, in such
format and with such detail as reasonably necessary to file or maintain Buyer's product listing submissions to the FDA Center
for Tobacco Products.

(b) To the Shareholders' Knowledge, the Target Companies have fully disclosed to Buyer in writing any changes
to the formulations or combinations of Target Companies' Products.
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Section 3.26 Franchise Matters.

(a) Section 3.26(a) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a true and complete list of all franchise agreements,
license agreements, subfranchise agreements, sublicense agreements, master franchise agreements, area development
agreements, market development agreements, and reserved area agreements (each a "Franchise Agreement" and, collectively,
the "Franchise Agreements") to which the Company or any other Target Company is or was a party or by which any Target
Company or was bound (other than any such agreements between the Target Companies), and that grant or purport to grant
the right to operate or license others to operate or to develop within a specific geographic area or at a specific location any
VaporFi® outlets or other Person whose operation with respect to the Target Companies' Products brings such Person within
the scope of the Federal Trade Commission Franchise Rule (16 CFR Part 436) (each a "Franchised Outlet"). True, correct,
and complete copies of all Franchise Agreements have been provided or made available to Buyer in the Data Room.

(b) Unless otherwise disclosed on Section 3.26(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, each Franchise Agreement is
in full force and effect and is a valid and binding obligation of the Target Company party thereto and enforceable against
such Target Company and the other parties thereto in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforceability, to bankruptcy,
insolvency, and other Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors' rights and to general equity principles.
To the Shareholders’ Knowledge, all Franchise Agreements comply in all material respects with all applicable Laws. The
execution, delivery and performance by Seller and the Shareholders of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents
to which they are a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (other than the
Restructuring, as to which no representation or warranty is being made under this Section 3.26(b)), do not and will not: (i)
conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the Franchise Agreements; (ii) except as set
forth in Section 3.26(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under, conflict
with, result in a violation or breach of, constitute a default or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both,
would constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify
or cancel any Franchise Agreements; or (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance other than Permitted
Encumbrances on any properties or assets of any of the Target Companies pursuant to any Franchise Agreements. Except by
operation of Law, no Franchise Agreement expressly grants any Franchisee any right of rescission or set-off; and no Franchisee
has asserted in writing any such right of rescission or set-off. There is no default under any Franchise Agreement by any Target
Company or, to the Shareholders' Knowledge, by any other party thereto, and no event has occurred that with the lapse of time
or the giving of notice or both would constitute a default thereunder by a Target Company or, to the Shareholders' Knowledge,
by any other party thereto.

49

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


(c) Except as set forth on Section 3.26(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Target Companies have prepared and
maintained each franchise disclosure document ("FDD") in compliance, in all material respects, with: (i) the North American
Securities Administrators Association, Inc. ("NASAA") 2008 Franchise Registration and Disclosure Guidelines; (ii) the FTC
Franchise Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 436; and (iii) the Laws of the various states of the United States that require disclosure and/
or registration before a company may offer and/or sell franchises or business opportunities (collectively, the "Registration
Laws"). Section 3.26(c) of the Disclosure Schedules contains the status of all state franchise registrations as of the date of this
Agreement. None of the Target Companies or their representatives have represented to any franchisee or potential Franchisee,
or otherwise provided any disclosure or opinion to any Franchisee or potential Franchisee, to the effect that Franchise Outlets
are not subject to the Registration Laws or other Laws governing franchise relationships.

(d) Neither Shareholders nor any Target Companies have furnished or authorized any Person to furnish: (i) to
prospective franchisees in the United States any materials or information that could be construed as an "earnings claim" or a
"financial performance representation" information in violation of the requirements specified in the NASAA 2008 Franchise
Registration and Disclosure Guidelines and/or 16 C.F.R. § 436.1(b) (together, "FPR(s)"), and no FPR has been made since
January 1, 2015 to any prospective Franchisee in the United States; or (ii) to prospective franchisees in any non-United States
jurisdiction any materials or information from which a specific level or range of actual or potential sales, costs, income, or
profit from franchised or non-franchised units may be easily ascertained, except as set forth in Section 3.26(b) of the Disclosure
Schedules. None of the Target Companies, in applications and/or filings with states under the Registration Laws, or in any
other applications or filings, have made any untrue statement of a material fact required to be stated therein, or omitted to state
a fact necessary to make the statements made therein, taken as a whole, not misleading.

(e) None of Seller, the Shareholders or the Target Companies are a party to any Contract pursuant to which a
Target Company receives Rebates as a result of transactions between the Franchisees and suppliers selling products or services
to the Franchisees. When a Target Company buys products, goods, and services from a supplier, such supplier charges such
Target Company (or its Affiliate) for these items on the same basis as the supplier charges a Franchisee operating a Franchised
Outlet in the United States for similar products, goods, and services purchased for use in connection with such Franchised
Outlet.

(f) Except as set forth on Section 3.26(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, and except with respect to the Restructuring,
as to which no representation is being made pursuant to this Section 3.26(f), Shareholders and/or the Target Companies
have made on an accurate basis all required additional filings under the Registration Laws, including filings with respect to
material changes, advertising, broker and salesperson registrations, amendments, and renewals, and neither the Shareholders
nor any Target Companies have offered or executed a Franchise Agreement or offered or sold the rights granted therein in
any jurisdiction in which such offer and sale was not duly registered (if registration was required by a Registration Law) or
exempt from registration at the time the offer was made and the sale occurred, and Shareholders and the Target Companies
have otherwise complied with all applicable franchise disclosure document and Franchise Agreement delivery requirements
under applicable Laws (including, the Registration Laws), and, in each case, obtained receipts evidencing delivery and receipt
thereof. Except as set forth on Section 3.26(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, neither Shareholders nor any Target Companies
have otherwise engaged in the offer, sale, or execution of Franchise Agreements in violation of applicable Registration Laws,
or unfair or deceptive trade practices Law or regulation or similar Laws or regulation.
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(g) The Target Companies' area development agreements grant exclusive development territories to developers that
have development rights, and the Franchise Agreements grant limited protected radii to certain Franchisees. Except (i) for those
grants, (ii) as set forth on Section 3.26(g) of the Disclosure Schedule, and (iii) as provided by operation of Law, no Franchisee
has an exclusive territory, right of first refusal, option, or other similar arrangement with respect to a Franchised Outlet and no
person currently holds any right or option to operate, develop, or locate a Franchised Outlet, or to exclude any Target Company
or others from operating or licensing a third party to operate a Franchised Outlet, in any geographic area or at any location.

(h) Section 3.26(h) of the Disclosure Schedules lists the Contracts that are in effect as of the date hereof with any
formal or informal franchisee association or group of Franchisees regarding any Franchise Agreement or franchise operational
matter.

(i) Section 3.26(i) of the Disclosure Schedules lists the Franchisees, if any, that to the Shareholders' Knowledge
are currently the subject of a bankruptcy or similar Actions.

(j) With respect to all expirations, terminations, and non-renewals of Franchisees and/or Franchise Agreements
since January 1, 2015, the Shareholders and the Target Companies have complied in all material respects with all applicable
franchise termination, nonrenewal, unfair practices, and/or relationship Laws, including those Laws' requirements with respect
to the proper notice of default, time to cure, and the actual termination of any Franchisee or business opportunity operator.

(k) Neither the Shareholders nor any Target Companies operate a retail location selling the Products within any
protected territory or reserved area granted to any Franchisee. No Franchisee has a right of first refusal, right of first negotiation,
or similar right to acquire any retail location from a Target Company.

(l) The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (other than the Restructuring, as to
which no representation or warranty is being made under this Section 3.26(l)), will not result in or constitute a breach or default
under any Franchise Agreement, and will neither cause the termination of such Franchise Agreement nor permit any party to
such Franchise Agreement to cause it to be terminated, modified, cancelled, accelerated or receive payments in connection with
the transaction contemplated by this Agreement.
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Section 3.27 Exclusive Representation. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Seller and the Shareholders have not made
and are not making any representations or warranties whatsoever regarding the subject matter of this Agreement, express or implied,
except as provided in this Agreement, the Transaction Documents, and the other certificates or documents furnished to Buyer pursuant
to this Agreement, and that it is not relying and has not relied on any representations or warranties whatsoever regarding the subject
matter of this Agreement, express or implied, except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered Section of the Disclosure Schedules, Buyer represents and warrants to
Seller and the Shareholders that the statements contained in this Article IV are true and correct as of the date hereof.

Section 4.01 Organization of Buyer. Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the Laws of the state of Delaware. Buyer has full entity power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to which Buyer is a party, to carry out its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Buyer of this Agreement and any other Transaction
Document to which Buyer is a party, the performance by Buyer of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation by
Buyer of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite company action on the part of
Buyer. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer, and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by
Seller) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms.
When each other Transaction Document to which Buyer is or will be a party has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer (assuming
due authorization, execution and delivery by each other party thereto), such Transaction Document will constitute a legal and binding
obligation of Buyer enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

Section 4.02 No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents to which it is a party, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, do not and will
not: (a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the Organizational Documents of Buyer; (b)
conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Law or Governmental Order applicable to Buyer; or (c) except as set
forth in Section 4.02 of the Disclosure Schedules, require the consent, notice or other action by any Person under any Contract to which
Buyer is a party. No consent, approval, Permit, Governmental Order, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority
is required by or with respect to Buyer in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, except for such consents, approvals, Permits,
Governmental Orders, declarations, filings or notices which, in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
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Section 4.03 Investment Purpose. Buyer is acquiring the Shares solely for its own account for investment purposes and
not with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with, any distribution thereof. Buyer acknowledges that the Shares are not registered
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state securities laws, and that the Shares may not be transferred or sold except
pursuant to the registration provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or pursuant to an applicable exemption therefrom and
subject to state securities laws and regulations, as applicable. Buyer is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of the Securities Act
of 1933 and the regulations adopted thereunder.

Section 4.04 Brokers. No broker, finder or, except as previously disclosed to Seller's Representative, investment banker is
entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer.

Section 4.05 Legal Proceedings. There are no Actions pending or, to Buyer's knowledge, threatened against or by Buyer
or any Affiliate of Buyer that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
No event has occurred or circumstances exist that may give rise or serve as a basis for any such Action.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS

Section 5.01 Conduct of Business Prior to the Closing. From the date hereof until the Closing, except as otherwise
provided in this Agreement or consented to in writing by Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), Major
Shareholders shall, and shall cause the Target Companies to, (x) conduct their respective businesses in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice, including the offer and sale of Franchises; (y) without limiting the generality of the foregoing, conduct all
Product promotions, sales, and discount offerings in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and refrain from any
activity intended to, or that may have the result of, pulling any post-Closing period sales forward to the period prior to the Closing; and (z)
use reasonable best efforts to maintain and preserve intact the current organization, business and franchise of the Target Companies and
to preserve the rights, franchises, goodwill and relationships of employees, customers, lenders, suppliers, regulators and others having
business relationships with the Target Companies. Without limiting the foregoing, from the date hereof until the Closing Date, Major
Shareholders shall cause the Target Companies:

(a) to preserve and maintain all of its Permits;

(b) to pay their debts, Taxes and other obligations when due;

(c) to maintain the properties and assets owned, operated or used by the Target Companies in the same condition
as they were on the date of this Agreement, subject to reasonable wear and tear;

(d) to continue in full force and effect without modification all Insurance Policies, except as required by
applicable Law;
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(e) to defend and protect their properties and assets from infringement or usurpation;

(f) to perform all of its obligations under all Contracts relating to or affecting its properties, assets or business;

(g) to maintain their books and records in accordance with past practice;

(h) to comply with all applicable Laws; and

(i) not to take or permit any action that would cause any of the changes, events or conditions described in Section
3.08 to occur.

Section 5.02 Access to Information. From the date hereof until the Closing, Major Shareholders shall, and shall cause the
Target Companies to, (a) afford Buyer and its Representatives full and free access to and the right to inspect all of the Real Property,
properties, assets, premises, books and records, Contracts and other documents and data related to the Target Companies; (b) furnish
Buyer and its Representatives with such financial, operating and other data and information related to the Target Companies as Buyer
or any of its Representatives may reasonably request; and (c) instruct the Representatives of Shareholders and the Target Companies to
cooperate with Buyer in its investigation of the Target Companies. Any investigation pursuant to this Section 5.02 shall be conducted in
such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of the business the Target Companies.

Section 5.03 No Solicitation of Other Bids.

(a) Seller and Shareholders shall not, and shall not authorize or permit any of its Affiliates (including the Target
Companies) or any of its or their Representatives to, directly or indirectly, (i) encourage, solicit, initiate, facilitate or continue
inquiries regarding an Acquisition Proposal; (ii) enter into discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to,
any Person concerning a possible Acquisition Proposal; or (iii) enter into any agreements or other instruments (whether or not
binding) regarding an Acquisition Proposal. Each Shareholder and Seller shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated,
and shall cause its Affiliates (including the Target Companies) and all of its and their Representatives to immediately cease and
cause to be terminated, all existing discussions or negotiations with any Persons conducted heretofore with respect to, or that
could lead to, an Acquisition Proposal. For purposes hereof, "Acquisition Proposal" shall mean any inquiry, proposal or offer
from any Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) concerning (A) a merger, consolidation, liquidation, recapitalization,
share exchange or other business combination transaction involving any Target Company; (B) the issuance or acquisition of
shares of capital stock or other equity securities of any Target Company; or (C) the sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of
any significant portion of the Target Companies' properties or assets.

(b) In addition to the other obligations under this Section 5.03, Major Shareholders shall promptly (and in any
event within three (3) Business Days after receipt thereof by a Major Shareholder or its Representatives) advise Buyer orally
and in writing of any Acquisition Proposal, any request for information with respect to any Acquisition Proposal, or any inquiry
with respect to or which could reasonably be expected to result in an Acquisition Proposal, the material terms and conditions
of such request, Acquisition Proposal or inquiry, and the identity of the Person making the same.
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(c) Seller and Shareholders agree that the rights and remedies for noncompliance with this Section 5.03 shall
include having such provision specifically enforced by any court having equity jurisdiction, it being acknowledged and agreed
that any such breach or threatened breach shall cause irreparable injury to Buyer and that money damages would not provide
an adequate remedy to Buyer.

Section 5.04 Notice of Certain Events.

(a) From the date hereof until the Closing, Major Shareholders shall promptly notify Buyer in writing of:

(i) any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence, occurrence or taking of which (A) has had, or
could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (B) has resulted in,
or could reasonably be expected to result in, any representation or warranty made by Seller or Shareholders hereunder
not being true and correct or (C) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, the failure of any of the
conditions set forth in Section 7.02 to be satisfied;

(ii) any notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or
may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(iii) any notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and

(iv) any Actions commenced or, to Shareholders' Knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving
or otherwise affecting Seller, a Shareholder or any Target Company that, if pending on the date of this Agreement,
would have been required to have been disclosed pursuant to Section 3.17 or that relates to the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) Buyer's receipt of information pursuant to this Section 5.04 shall not operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any
representation, warranty or agreement given or made by Seller or Shareholders in this Agreement (including Section 8.02 and
Section 9.01(b)) and shall not be deemed to amend or supplement the Disclosure Schedules.

Section 5.05 If requested in writing prior to Closing by Buyer, one or more officers and directors of Target Companies shall
deliver to Buyer written resignations, effective as of the Closing Date, of the applicable offices with the Target Companies.
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Section 5.06 Confidentiality. From and after the Closing, each of the Shareholders and Seller shall, and each shall cause
its Affiliates and Representatives (collectively, the "Restricted Parties") to hold in confidence any and all information, whether written
or oral, concerning the Target Companies, except to the extent that the Restricted Parties can show that such information (a) is generally
available to and known by the public through no fault of a Restricted Party; or (b) is lawfully acquired by such Restricted Party from and
after the Closing from sources which are not prohibited from disclosing such information by a legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation.
If a Restricted Party is compelled to disclose any information by judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of Law, such
Restricted Party shall promptly notify Buyer in writing and shall disclose only that portion of such information which such Restricted
Party is advised by its counsel in writing is legally required to be disclosed, provided that the Restricted Parties shall use reasonable
best efforts to obtain an appropriate protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such
information.

Section 5.07 Non-competition; Non-solicitation.

(a) For a period equal to the later of (i) 24 months after the Closing Date, or (ii) 24 months after the date that
such Person's and/or such Person's Affiliate’s employment with a Target Company or Affiliate of Buyer shall terminate (the
"Restriction Period"), none of Seller, Pegasus, Molina, Epstein or Herrera (all of the foregoing being the “Restricted Sellers”)
shall, and none of the Restricted Sellers shall permit any of their Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, (i) engage in or assist others
in engaging in the Restricted Business in the Territory; (ii) have an interest in any Person that engages directly or indirectly in
the Restricted Business in the Territory in any capacity, including as a partner, shareholder, member, employee, principal, agent,
trustee or consultant; or (iii) intentionally interfere in any material respect with the business relationships (whether formed
prior to or after the date of this Agreement) between the a Target Company and its customers or suppliers. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, each Restricted Seller may own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any Person traded on
any national securities exchange if such Restricted Seller is not a controlling Person of, or a member of a group which controls,
such Person and does not, directly or indirectly, own 5% or more of any class of securities of such Person.

(b) During the Restriction Period, Restricted Sellers shall not, and shall not permit any of their Affiliates to,
directly or indirectly, hire or solicit any employee of a Target Company or encourage any such employee to leave such
employment or hire any such employee who has left such employment except pursuant to a general solicitation which is not
directed specifically to any such employees.

(c) During the Restriction Period, Restricted Sellers shall not, and shall not permit any of their Affiliates to,
directly or indirectly, solicit or entice, or attempt to solicit or entice, any clients or customers of a Target Company or potential
clients or customers of a Target Company for purposes of diverting their business or services from the Target Company.
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(d) Each Shareholder and Seller agrees that it shall (i) maintain the strict confidence of, undertake all necessary
steps to avoid divulging or disclosing, and preserve and protect the trade secrets, know-how, discoveries, concepts, ideas,
market studies, business plans, products, services, costs, processes, techniques, protocols, plans for future development, market
analyses, product uses, projects and plans, customer lists, information regarding Target Companies' financial status, customers,
profits, profit margins, project costs, pricing information and any other information that may not be known generally or publicly
outside of Target Companies (collectively, "Confidential Information") from disclosure to, or access or use by, any person
or entity, including any competitor or potential competitor of the Business, and (ii) not use the Confidential Information to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Business, nor attempt to otherwise take commercial advantage of the Confidential
Information. Each Shareholder and Seller acknowledges that the Confidential Information constitutes valuable, special and
unique property of the business of the Target Companies being acquired by Buyer. Buyer has expressly or impliedly protected
such information from unrestricted use by persons not associated with Buyer. Each Shareholder and Seller agrees to return
and deliver to Buyer at Closing any and all papers, books, records, documents, memoranda and manuals, including all copies
thereof, whether hard or digital copies, belonging or relating to the business of the Target Companies, or containing any
Confidential Information.

(e) To the extent that a Shareholder or Seller or their respective Affiliates owns, acquires or controls any part of
the Intellectual Property used by or relating to the business of the Target Companies, or any rights therein, such party hereby
irrevocably assigns, transfers, conveys and quitclaims all right, title and interest therein and thereto to Target Companies, and
agrees to irrevocably assign, transfer, convey and quitclaim any and all future ownership and rights, title and interest therein
and thereto to Target Companies. Furthermore, to the extent that some or all of such Intellectual Property are determined
not to constitute "works made for hire," as a matter of law, each Shareholder and Seller hereby irrevocably assigns, transfers,
conveys and quitclaims to Target Companies, without any separate or additional remuneration or compensation, all right, title
and interest in and to any such Intellectual Property, including, without limitation, any copyrights.

(f) Seller and Shareholders acknowledge that a breach or threatened breach of this Section 5.07 would give rise
to irreparable harm to Buyer, for which monetary damages would not be an adequate remedy, and hereby agrees that in the
event of a breach or a threatened breach by Seller or a Shareholder of any such obligations, Buyer shall, in addition to any
and all other rights and remedies that may be available to it in respect of such breach, be entitled to equitable relief, including
a temporary restraining order, an injunction, specific performance and any other relief that may be available from a court of
competent jurisdiction (without any requirement to post bond).
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(g) Seller and Shareholders acknowledge that the restrictions contained in this Section 5.07 are reasonable and
necessary to protect the legitimate interests of Buyer and constitute a material inducement to Buyer to enter into this Agreement
and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In the event that any covenant contained in this Section
5.07 should ever be adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, product or service, or other limitations permitted by applicable
Law in any jurisdiction, then any court is expressly empowered to reform such covenant, and such covenant shall be deemed
reformed, in such jurisdiction to the maximum time, geographic, product or service, or other limitations permitted by applicable
Law. The covenants contained in this Section 5.07 and each provision hereof are severable and distinct covenants and
provisions. The invalidity or unenforceability of any such covenant or provision as written shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable the remaining covenants or provisions hereof, and any such invalidity or unenforceability in any jurisdiction
shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such covenant or provision in any other jurisdiction.

(h) The parties agree and acknowledge that no portion of the Purchase Price shall be allocated to the covenants
set forth in this Section 5.07.

Section 5.08 Governmental Approvals and Consents.

(a) Major Shareholders and Buyer shall, as promptly as possible, (i) make, or cause or be made, all filings
and submissions required under any Law applicable to such party or any of its Affiliates; and (ii) use reasonable best
efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, all consents (except for any consents requirements triggered by the Restructuring),
authorizations, orders and approvals from all Governmental Authorities that may be or become necessary for its execution
and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents. Each party shall cooperate fully with the other party and its Affiliates in promptly seeking to obtain all such
consents, authorizations, orders and approvals. The parties hereto shall not willfully take any action that will have the effect of
delaying, impairing or impeding the receipt of any required consents, authorizations, orders and approvals.

(b) Major Shareholders and Buyer shall use reasonable best efforts to give all notices to, and obtain all consents
from, all third parties that are described in Section 3.05 of the Disclosure Schedules.

(c) Without limiting the generality of the parties' undertakings pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) above, each of
the Major Shareholders and Buyer shall use all reasonable best efforts to:

(i) respond to any inquiries by any Governmental Authority regarding antitrust or other matters with
respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Transaction Document;

(ii) avoid the imposition of any order or the taking of any action that would restrain, alter or enjoin the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Transaction Document; and

(iii) in the event any Governmental Order adversely affecting the ability of the parties to consummate
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any Transaction Document has been issued, to have such
Governmental Order vacated or lifted.
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(d) If any consent, approval or authorization necessary to preserve any right or benefit under any Contract to which
a Target Company is a party is not obtained prior to the Closing, Major Shareholders shall, subsequent to the Closing, cooperate
with Buyer and the Target Company in attempting to obtain such consent, approval or authorization as promptly thereafter
as practicable. If such consent, approval or authorization cannot be obtained, Major Shareholders shall use reasonable best
efforts to provide the Target Company with the rights and benefits of the affected Contract for the term thereof, and, if Major
Shareholders provide such rights and benefits, the Target Company shall assume all obligations and burdens thereunder.

(e) All analyses, appearances, meetings, discussions, presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments,
and proposals made by or on behalf of either party before any Governmental Authority or the staff or regulators of any
Governmental Authority, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not
including any interactions between Major Shareholders or the Target Companies with Governmental Authorities in the ordinary
course of business, any disclosure which is not permitted by Law or any disclosure containing confidential information) shall
be disclosed to the other party hereunder in advance of any filing, submission or attendance, it being the intent that the parties
will consult and cooperate with one another, and consider in good faith the views of one another, in connection with any such
analyses, appearances, meetings, discussions, presentations, memoranda, briefs, filings, arguments, and proposals. Each party
shall give notice to the other party with respect to any meeting, discussion, appearance or contact with any Governmental
Authority or the staff or regulators of any Governmental Authority, with such notice being sufficient to provide the other party
with the opportunity to attend and participate in such meeting, discussion, appearance or contact.

(f) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 5.08 shall require, or be construed to require, Buyer or
any of its Affiliates to agree to (i) sell, hold, divest, discontinue or limit, before or after the Closing Date, any assets, businesses
or interests of Buyer, the Target Companies or any of their respective Affiliates; (ii) any conditions relating to, or changes or
restrictions in, the operations of any such assets, businesses or interests which, in either case, could reasonably be expected
to result in a Material Adverse Effect or materially and adversely impact the economic or business benefits to Buyer of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (iii) any material modification or waiver of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

Section 5.09 Books and Records.

(a) In order to facilitate the resolution of any claims, investigations, audits or other similar inquiries made against
or incurred by Shareholders prior to the Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of five years after the Closing,
Buyer shall:
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(i) retain the books and records (including personnel files) of the Target Companies relating to periods
prior to the Closing in a manner reasonably consistent with the prior practices of the Target Companies; and

(ii) upon reasonable notice, afford Shareholders or their Representatives reasonable access (including
the right to make, at a Shareholders' expense, photocopies), during normal business hours, to such books and
records; provided, however, that any books and records related to Tax matters shall be retained pursuant to the periods
set forth in Article VI.

(b) In order to facilitate the resolution of any claims, investigations, audits or other similar inquiries made by or
against or incurred by Buyer or the Target Companies after the Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of
five years following the Closing, Major Shareholders shall:

(i) retain the books and records (including personnel files) which relate to the Target Companies and its
operations for periods prior to the Closing; and

(ii) upon reasonable notice, afford the Representatives of Buyer or the Target Companies reasonable
access (including the right to make, at Buyer's expense, photocopies), during normal business hours, to such books and
records; provided, however, that any books and records related to Tax matters shall be retained pursuant to the periods
set forth in Article VI.

(c) Neither Buyer nor Major Shareholders shall be obligated to provide the other party with access to any books
or records (including personnel files) pursuant to this Section 5.09 where such access would violate any Law.

Section 5.10 Closing Conditions. From the date hereof until the Closing, each party hereto shall, and Major Shareholders
shall cause the Target Companies to, use reasonable best efforts to take such actions as are necessary to expeditiously satisfy the closing
conditions set forth in Article VII.

Section 5.11 Public Announcements. The parties acknowledge that Buyer will announce the Closing of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement as required under applicable Law and stock exchange requirements.

Section 5.12 Shareholders' Guaranties.

(a) Major Shareholders and Buyer shall use reasonable best efforts to ensure that, effective as of the Closing, each
Shareholder is removed as a personal guarantor of any post-Closing obligations of a Target Company under any guaranties
executed by any Shareholder in favor of a Target Company including, without limitation, those items set forth in Exhibit
D (collectively, the " Shareholders' Guaranties"). In the event that Buyer and Major Shareholder are unable to remove
the Shareholders from all Shareholders' Guaranties prior to the Closing Date, Buyer and Major Shareholders agree to use
reasonable best efforts to remove Shareholders from any ongoing Shareholders' Guaranties as promptly as possible following
the Closing and in particular: (a) within a reasonable time following the Closing, the Buyer shall cause the Company to
replace the American Express credit card account currently held by it, and which is guaranteed by Nicolas Molina, with a
replacement credit card with no personal guaranty by any Seller; and (b) within sixty (60) days following the Closing, the Buyer
shall cause the Company to replace the current merchant accounts which are personally guaranteed by David Mardini with
replacement merchant accounts with no personal guaranty by any Seller. As set forth in Section 8.03(c), Buyer will indemnify
the Shareholders for any liability of the Shareholders relating to post-Closing obligations of the Target Companies arising under
such Shareholders' Guaranties.
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Section 5.13 Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall, and shall cause their respective
Affiliates to, execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances and take such further actions as
may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions hereof and give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.14 Buyer's Retirement Plan. For purposes of determining eligibility and vesting of employees of the Target
Companies in Buyer's retirement plan and for all other employee benefits and perquisites (including length of vacation time), and to
the extent allowable by the plan documents, Buyer shall recognize all service credit of a Target Company's employees with the Target
Company.

Section 5.15 Closed Retail Locations. Major Shareholders represent and warrant to Buyer that all leases affecting the
Company-owned retail locations set forth on Section 5.15 of the Disclosure Schedules (the "Closed Retail Locations") have been
terminated. Major Shareholders have made available to Buyer in the Data Room true and complete copies of the termination agreements
for all Closed Retail Locations

Section 5.16 Payment of Bonus Compensation. Seller agrees that it shall be solely responsible for and shall pay any
amounts due to employees (including the Bonused Employees) of the Target Companies with respect to any phantom stock in the Target
Companies or other bonus arrangements or bonus plans or other compensation arrangements pursuant to which a right to compensation
or bonus amounts have accrued through the Closing Date or are triggered by the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, which responsibility shall include the obligation to withhold from such compensation tax withholding amounts subject to the
terms of Section 2.06.

ARTICLE VI
TAX MATTERS

Section 6.01 Tax Covenants; Tax Returns.

(a) Prior to Closing, the Shareholders, the Company and the Seller shall complete the Restructuring. Seller and
Shareholders agree that they will not file a "check-the-box" election or take any other action resulting in the Company being
taxed as an association taxable as a corporation. The parties acknowledge that the sale of the Shares by Seller and the
acquisition by Buyer of the Shares are intended to be treated for federal tax purposes as a purchase and sale of assets, and each
of the parties shall file all applicable income tax returns consistent with the treatment of the transaction as an asset sale and
purchase.
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(b) Buyer shall not take any action with respect to any Tax filing or Tax Return relating to any Target Company for
the period ending at the Effective Time. Buyer shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, all Tax Returns for the Target Companies
for the period after the Effective Time.

(c) All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration, value added and other such Taxes and fees (including
any penalties and interest) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (including any
real property transfer Tax and any other similar Tax) shall be borne and paid fifty percent by the Seller and fifty percent by
Buyer when due. Seller shall, at its own expense, timely file any Tax Return or other document with respect to such Taxes or
fees (and Buyer shall cooperate with respect thereto as necessary).

(d) Each of the parties acknowledges that such party has relied on his or its own tax advisors with respect to the tax
consequences of the Restructuring and the IRS filings and other aspects of structuring and implementing the Restructuring and
that such party acknowledges that it has not relied on any representations and warranties or other information provided by any
other party's tax advisors in connection with the structuring and implementation and tax consequences of the Restructuring.

Section 6.02 Tax Indemnification. Except to the extent attributable to a Buyer Tax Act, Seller shall indemnify the Buyer,
and each Buyer Indemnitee and hold them harmless from and against (a) any Loss to Buyer or the Target Companies attributable to
any breach of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made in Section 3.22; (b) any Loss to Buyer or the Target Companies
attributable to any breach or violation of, or failure to fully perform, any covenant, agreement, undertaking or obligation in this Article
VI; (c) any Loss to Buyer or the Target Companies attributable to Taxes of the Target Companies (or relating to the businesses of the
Target Companies) up to and including the Closing Date; (d) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary
group of which a Target Company (or any predecessor of such Target Company) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date by
reason of a liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any comparable provisions of foreign, state or local Law; and (e) any
and all Taxes of any person imposed on a Target Company arising under the principles of transferee or successor liability or by contract,
relating to an event or transaction occurring before the Closing Date; in each of the above cases, together with any out-of-pocket fees and
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' and accountants' fees) incurred in connection therewith.
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Section 6.03 Allocation of Purchase Price. The parties agree that the Purchase Price and the Liabilities of the Target
Companies (which are Indebtedness paid off at Closing or thereafter) (plus other relevant items) shall be allocated among the assets
of the Target Companies for tax purposes) in accordance with this Agreement and as shown on the allocation schedule attached hereto
as Exhibit H (the "Allocation Schedule"). The Allocation Schedule is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 1060 of
the Code and the applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law, as
appropriate). The Buyer, the Seller and their respective Affiliates shall report all Tax and file all Tax Returns and any amendments to such
Tax Returns required with respect to any adjustment to the Purchase Price (including Internal Revenue Service Form 8594) in all respects
and for all purposes consistent with the Allocation Schedule. None of the Target Companies, Seller, Buyer, or any of their Affiliates
shall take any position (whether in audits, Tax Returns or otherwise) that is inconsistent with the information set forth on the Allocation
Schedule, unless required to do so by applicable Law; provided, however, that the amount realized by Seller may differ from the total
amount allocated hereunder to reflect transaction costs that reduce the amount realized for federal income Tax purposes. In the event
that any adjustment is required to be made to the Allocation Schedule as a result of an adjustment to the Purchase Price pursuant to this
Agreement, such adjustment shall be made in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule and Seller shall prepare or cause to be
prepared, and shall provide to Buyer a revised Allocation Schedule reflecting such adjustment.

Section 6.04 Contests.

(a) The Seller shall control the preparation, prosecution, defense, settlement or other resolution, and conduct,
through counsel of its own choosing and at its own expense, of any Tax Claim (as defined below) relating to Seller or any of
the Target Companies relating to any Pre-Closing Period.

(b) The Buyer shall control the preparation, prosecution, defense, settlement or other resolution, and conduct,
through counsel of its own choosing and at its own expense, of any Tax Claim relating to any of the Subsidiaries of Seller that
are Target Companies relating to any Post-Closing Period.

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 6.04, and not Section 8.05, shall govern the conduct of any Tax
Claims. Without limiting the foregoing, the parties hereto shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by
any other party, in connection with the filing of Tax Returns arising from any Tax Claim (including signing any such Tax
Returns) and the preparation, prosecution, defense or conduct of any audit, claim for refund, or administrative or judicial
Actions involving any asserted Tax liability or refund (any such audit, claim for refund, or Actions relating to an asserted Tax
liability referred to herein as a "Tax Claim").

Section 6.05 Tax Refunds.

(a) Any refund (or credit against Taxes received in lieu of an actual refund) of Taxes (including any interest
thereon received from a Governmental Authority) of each Target Company for a Post-Closing Tax Period shall be the property
of the Target Company and shall be retained by the Target Company.

(b) Any refund (or credit against Taxes received in lieu of an actual refund) of Taxes (including any interest
thereon received from a Governmental Authority) of each Target Company for a Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be the property
of the Seller and, if received or utilized by Buyer (or any of its Affiliates) or the Target Companies after the Closing shall be
promptly paid (net of Taxes actually paid by Buyer or the Target Companies and any other costs and expenses) by such party
to the Seller's Representative (for the benefit of the Seller).
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(c) Any refund of Taxes (including any interest thereon) for a Taxable period of a Target Company that includes
but does not end on the Closing Date shall be allocated between the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the Post-Closing Tax Period
based on the percentage of the relevant tax year represented by each such period.

Section 6.06 Cooperation and Exchange of Information. Seller and Buyer shall provide each other with such cooperation
and information as either of them reasonably may request of the other in filing any Tax Return pursuant to this Article VI or in connection
with any audit or other Actions in respect of Taxes of the Target Companies. Such cooperation and information shall include providing
copies of relevant Tax Returns or portions thereof, together with accompanying schedules, related work papers and documents relating
to rulings or other determinations by Tax Authorities. Seller shall retain all Tax Returns, schedules and work papers, records and other
documents in its possession relating to Tax matters of the Target Companies for any Pre-Closing Tax Period until the expiration of the
statute of limitations of the taxable periods to which such Tax Returns and other documents relate, without regard to extensions.

Section 6.07 [Intentionally Deleted]

Section 6.08 Overlap. To the extent that any obligation or responsibility pursuant to Article VIII may overlap with an
obligation or responsibility pursuant to this Article VI, the provisions of this Article VI shall govern.

ARTICLE VII
CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 7.01 Conditions to Obligations of All Parties. The obligations of each party to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Governmental
Order which is in effect and has the effect of making the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal, otherwise
restraining or prohibiting consummation of such transactions or causing any of the transactions contemplated hereunder to be
rescinded following completion thereof.

(b) Major Shareholders shall have received all consents, authorizations, orders and approvals from the
Governmental Authorities referred to in Section 3.05 (if any) and Buyer shall have received all consents, authorizations, orders
and approvals from the Governmental Authorities referred to in Section 4.02 (if any), in each case, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and the Seller's Representative, and no such consent, authorization, order and approval shall
have been revoked.
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Section 7.02 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer. The obligations of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or Buyer's waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) Other than the representations and warranties of Shareholders and Seller contained in Section 3.01, Section
3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.06 and Section 3.24, the representations and warranties of Seller and Shareholders contained in
this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant hereto shall be true
and correct in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) or
in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty not qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect)
on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date
(except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be
determined as of that specified date in all respects). The representations and warranties of Seller and Shareholders contained
in Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.06 and Section 3.24 shall be true and correct in all respects on and as
of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those
representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be determined as of
that specified date in all respects).

(b) Each of the Shareholders, Seller's Representative and Seller shall have duly performed and complied in all
material respects with all agreements, covenants and conditions required by this Agreement and each of the other Transaction
Documents to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date.

(c) No Action shall have been commenced against Buyer, a Shareholder, Seller or a Target Company, which would
prevent the Closing. No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any Governmental Authority, and be in effect,
which restrains or prohibits any transaction contemplated hereby.

(d) Consent by the landlord(s) and sublandlord(s) with respect to the leases of the Company’s headquarters and
warehouse located at 14412-20 and 14300 Commerce Way, Miami Lakes, Florida, that are listed on Section 3.05 of the
Disclosure Schedules shall have been received, and executed counterparts thereof shall have been delivered to Buyer at or prior
to the Closing.

(e) From the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect, nor shall any
event or events have occurred that, individually or in the aggregate, with or without the lapse of time, could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(f) The Transaction Documents (other than this Agreement) shall have been executed and delivered by the parties
thereto and true and complete copies thereof shall have been delivered to Buyer.
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(g) Buyer shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of
Company certifying as to correct and complete copies of (i) each Target Company's Organizational Documents, (ii) incumbency
and signatures of officers of the Company, and (iii) resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company authorizing the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which the Company is a party, and the taking of
any and all actions reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated herein and therein.

(h) Buyer shall have received resignations of the directors and officers of the Target Companies pursuant to
Section 5.05.

(i) Intentionally deleted.

(j) Intentionally Deleted.

(k) Seller's Representative shall have delivered to Buyer good standing certificates (or its equivalent) for each
Target Company from the secretary of state or similar Governmental Authority of the jurisdiction under the Laws in which each
such Target Company is organized.

(l) Seller shall have delivered a statement (in such form as may be reasonably requested by counsel to Buyer),
dated as of the Closing Date and executed by the Seller's President, certifying that for purposes of satisfying Buyer's obligations
under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445-2(b)(2), the Seller is not a "foreign person" as defined in Section 1445 of the Code.

(m) If requested by Buyer, Seller's Representative shall cause the Company to deliver to Buyer written
resignations, effective as of Closing, of all officers and directors of the Company.

(n) Seller's Representative shall have delivered to Buyer any necessary payoff or similar letters with respect to the
repayment and satisfaction, simultaneous with or prior to Closing, of the Indebtedness (other than the Assumed Indebtedness),
and the Company's assets shall have been released, or be eligible for release, from all security interests thereon and the
Company shall have taken all steps necessary to terminate, or initiate the termination of, all UCC financing statements which
have been filed with respect to such security interests (except, in each case, with respect to the Assumed Indebtedness).

(o) Each Shareholder shall have delivered to Buyer a general release by such Shareholder of the Target Companies
(and with respect to Pegasus by Nicolas Molina and with respect to Milander by Steven Martinez), in the form of Exhibit I
attached hereto.

(p) Seller's Representative shall have delivered, or caused Seller to have delivered, to Buyer a certificate for
50,000 Units of limited liability company interest in the Company evidencing the Shares, free and clear of Encumbrances, duly
endorsed in blank or accompanied by a stock power or other instruments of transfer duly executed in blank (or other satisfactory
evidence of the existence and title to such equity in Buyer's sole discretion).
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(q) Seller's Representative shall have delivered documents sufficient to cause Buyer's designees to be added, and
the designees of the Target Companies to be removed, as signatories with respect to each Target Company's bank accounts and
to terminate any powers of attorney.

(r) Seller's Representative shall have delivered to Buyer such other documents or instruments as Buyer reasonably
requests and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(s) Seller's Representative shall have disclosed all known instances, incidents, claims, lawsuits, demands,
investigations, fines, warnings, adverse health effects or other similar information relating to the Products.

(t) Seller's Representative shall have preserved all health documents in his possession, regardless of source or date
publish, and have provided such information to Buyer prior to the Closing Date.

(u) At or prior to Closing, Seller's Representative and Buyer shall have agreed upon and executed the Closing
Statement.

(v) Seller's Representative shall have delivered agreements and instruments effecting the Restructuring, in form
and content satisfactory to Buyer.

(w) The Target Companies shall have prepared and provided copies to Buyer of all necessary documents to
enable all franchisees to register such franchisees as manufacturers post-closing (with such documents to be distributed to the
franchisees following, and not prior to, the Closing).

Section 7.03 Conditions to Obligations of Seller. The obligations of Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement shall be subject to the fulfillment or Seller's waiver, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

(a) Other than the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Section 4.01 and Section 4.04, the
representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and any certificate or
other writing delivered pursuant hereto shall be true and correct in all respects (in the case of any representation or warranty
qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty
not qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect) on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with
the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties that address matters only as
of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects). The representations and
warranties of Buyer contained in Section 4.01 and Section 4.04 shall be true and correct in all respects on and as of the date
hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date.
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(b) Buyer shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements, covenants and
conditions required by this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to be performed or complied with by it
prior to or on the Closing Date.

(c) No injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any Governmental Authority, and be in effect,
which restrains or prohibits any material transaction contemplated hereby.

(d) The Transaction Documents (other than this Agreement) shall have been executed and delivered by the parties
thereto and true and complete copies thereof shall have been delivered to Sellers.

(e) Seller shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized officer of
Buyer, that each of the conditions set forth in Section 7.03(a) and Section 7.03(b) have been satisfied.

(f) Seller shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of
Buyer certifying that attached thereto are true and complete copies of all resolutions adopted by the board of directors of
Buyer authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and that all such resolutions are in full force and effect and
are all the resolutions adopted in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(g) Seller shall have received a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer)
of Buyer certifying the names and signatures of the officers of Buyer authorized to sign this Agreement, the Transaction
Documents and the other documents to be delivered hereunder and thereunder.

(h) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller's Representative (i) the Buyer Shares, (ii) the Buyer Parent Note, and (iii)
cash in an amount equal to the Closing Payment, by wire transfer in immediately available funds, to an account or accounts
designated by Seller's Representative in a written notice to Buyer.

(i) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller such other documents or instruments as Seller's Representative
reasonably request and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
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ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.01 Survival. Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the representations and warranties
contained herein shall survive the Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the date that is 18 months from the Closing
Date; provided, that the representations and warranties in (a) Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.10(a), Section 3.17(f),
Section 3.24, Section 4.01 and Section 4.04 (collectively, the "Fundamental Representations") shall survive six years from the Closing
Date, and (b) Section 3.22 shall survive for the full period of all applicable statutes of limitations (giving effect to any waiver, mitigation
or extension thereof). The covenants of the Seller and Shareholders to indemnify the Buyer Indemnitees pursuant to Sections 8.02(f),
8.02(g), 8.02(h) and 8.02(i) shall survive the Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the date that is 18 months from the
Closing Date. All other covenants and agreements of the parties contained herein shall survive the Closing for the applicable statute of
limitations, plus 30 days, or for the period explicitly specified therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith
with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time) and in writing by notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party
prior to the expiration date of the applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of the relevant representation
or warranty or covenant and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.

Section 8.02 Indemnification By Seller and Shareholders. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article VIII,
Shareholders and Seller shall, in accordance with Section 8.04(e), indemnify and defend each of Buyer and its Affiliates (including the
Target Companies) and their respective Representatives (collectively, the "Buyer Indemnitees") against, and shall hold each of them
harmless from and against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon,
the Buyer Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of:

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Shareholders contained in this
Agreement or in any certificate or instrument delivered by or on behalf of Seller or Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement
(other than in respect of Section 3.22, it being understood that the sole remedy for any such inaccuracy in or breach thereof shall
be pursuant to Article VI), as of the date such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty
was made on and as of the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the
inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined with reference to such specified date); or

(b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Seller or
Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement (other than any breach or violation of, or failure to fully perform, any covenant,
agreement, undertaking or obligation in Article VI, it being understood that the sole remedy for any such breach, violation or
failure shall be pursuant to Article VI).

(c) any indemnification obligation of Seller or Shareholders under Article VI (Taxes) or Taxes or Losses payable
by Seller or Shareholders under Article VI (without duplication of the indemnification obligations set forth in that Article;
in the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Section 8.02(c) and the provisions of Article VI, the provisions of
Article VI shall govern);
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(d) any Transaction Expenses or Indebtedness (other than Assumed Indebtedness) of the Target Companies
outstanding as of the Closing to the extent not deducted from the Purchase Price in the determination of the Closing Payment
pursuant to Section 2.02(c);

(e) any Action or Liability arising out of or relating to the allocation or distribution of the Purchase Price
consideration by the Seller's Representative among Seller, Shareholders and the Bonused Employees;

(f) any Action or Liability arising out of or relating to the issues initially addressed or identified in the August
13, 2018 letter addressed to VaporFi Inc. on behalf of LG Chem, Ltd.;

(g) any Action alleging any infringement, misappropriation, dilution or violation of the Intellectual Property of
any Person by any Target Company and relating to the period prior to Closing, including without limitation, Actions disclosed
in the Disclosure Schedules or otherwise disclosed or made known to Buyer;

(h) any Action or Liability arising out of or relating to any Product Warranty Issues or Product Warranty Claims,
whether such Product Warranty Issues or Product Warranty Claims are disclosed before or after Closing, but only if such
Product Warranty Issues or Product Warranty Claims relate to products sold, distributed or manufactured by the Target
Companies prior to Closing, including without limitation, Actions and other items disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules
or otherwise disclosed or made known to Buyer. The scope of Seller’s indemnification obligation under this clause shall
include, without limitation, any Losses not covered under the insurance coverage referred to in Section 11.14, including without
limitation, as a result of any deductibles, scope of coverage issues or coverage caps; and

(i) any Action or Liability arising out of or relating to a Security Breach, including without limitation, the “Credit
Card Matter” disclosed on Section 3.17(a), Item 4 of the Disclosure Schedules and any other Actions disclosed in the Disclosure
Schedules or otherwise disclosed or made known to Buyer

Section 8.03 Indemnification By Buyer. Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article VIII, Buyer shall
indemnify and defend each Seller and Shareholder and his or its Affiliates and their respective Representatives (collectively, the "Seller
Indemnitees") against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all
Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Seller Indemnitees based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of:

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement
or in any certificate or instrument delivered by or on behalf of Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, as of the date such
representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date (except
for representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or breach of which will be
determined with reference to such specified date);
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(b) any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Buyer pursuant to
this Agreement (other than Article VI, it being understood that the sole remedy for any such breach thereof shall be pursuant
to Article VI); and

(c) any liability of Shareholders for post-closing obligations of the Target Companies arising under any
Shareholders' Guaranties (as described in Section 5.12).

Section 8.04 Certain Limitations. The indemnification provided for in Section 8.02 and Section 8.03 shall be subject to
the following limitations:

(a) Seller and Shareholders shall not be liable to the Buyer Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 8.02(a)
until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 8.02(a) exceeds $200,000 (the "Basket"),
in which event Seller and Shareholders shall be required to pay or be liable for all Losses in excess of the Basket. The aggregate
amount of all Losses for which Seller and Shareholders shall be liable pursuant to Sections 8.02(a), 8.02(f), 8.02(g), 8.02(h)
and 8.02(i) shall not exceed $4,000,000 (the "Cap").

(b) Buyer shall not be liable to the Seller Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 8.03(a) until the
aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 8.03(a) exceeds the Basket, in which event Buyer
shall be required to pay or be liable for all Losses in excess of the Basket. The aggregate amount of all Losses for which Buyer
shall be liable pursuant to Section 8.03(a) shall not exceed the Cap.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitations set forth in Section 8.04(a) and Section 8.04(b) shall not
apply to Losses based upon, arising out of, with respect to or by reason of any inaccuracy in or breach of any Fundamental
Representation.

(d) Solely for purposes of determining the amount of Losses payable with respect to an indemnification claim
for an inaccuracy in or breach of representation and warranty, the amount of Losses shall be determined without regard to any
materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to such representation
or warranty.

(e) Each Shareholders' (i) liability to Buyer for indemnification for any individual claim hereunder shall be
limited to the same percentage of the amount of the claim as shall equal his, her or its Pro Rata Share (provided, however, that
if the basis for such claim is a breach by an individual Shareholder of any representation or warranty which such Shareholder
made with respect to itself or himself [i.e., not a representation or warranty with respect to the Company], or a breach by
such individual Shareholder of a covenant to which such Shareholder is subject, then the breaching Shareholder shall bear
full liability to Buyer for the same, up to such Shareholder's Pro Rata Share of the Purchase Price, and to the extent that the
Buyer shall have offset payments under the Buyer Parent Note for the same, the breaching Shareholder shall cross-indemnify
each other Shareholder for the amounts which it or he was entitled to, but did not receive, under the Note; provided, that for
the avoidance of doubt, no Shareholder other than such breaching Shareholder shall have any personal liability to Buyer for
such breach other than in connection with Buyer's right to set off against the entire $4 million principal balance of the Buyer
Parent Note pursuant to this Article VIII); and (ii) aggregate liability to Buyer for indemnification under this Agreement shall
be limited to such Shareholder's Pro Rata Share of the Purchase Price; provided, however, that neither such limitations nor any
other provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted or otherwise operate to limit Buyer's right to indemnification for the full
amount of Losses arising out of a breach of a representation or warranty by any Shareholder, by means of Buyer exercising its
right of setoff against the full $4,000,000 principal balance Buyer Parent Note , irrespective of any possible interpretation or
application of the "Pro Rata" language in this Section or the limitations on which Shareholders are deemed to be making the
representations and warranties of Shareholders as stated in the preamble to Article III.
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(f) Neither Seller nor the Shareholders shall have any liability to any Buyer Indemnitee for any expense or other
Losses incurred after Closing by such Buyer Indemnitee or the Target Companies relating to FDA regulatory or franchise
law compliance issues arising or actions made necessary as a result of the Restructuring, including, without limitation, the
conversion of several Target Companies from corporations to limited liability companies in the Restructuring.

Section 8.05 Indemnification Procedures. The party making a claim under this Article VIII is referred to as the
"Indemnified Party," and the party against whom such claims are asserted under this Article VIII is referred to as the "Indemnifying
Party."

(a) Third Party Claims. If any Indemnified Party receives notice of the assertion or commencement of any
Action made or brought by any Person who is not a party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement
or a Representative of the foregoing (a "Third Party Claim") against such Indemnified Party with respect to which the
Indemnifying Party is obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the Indemnified Party shall give the
Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than 30 calendar days after receipt
of such notice of such Third Party Claim. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the
Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party forfeits rights
or defenses by reason of such failure. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Third Party Claim in reasonable
detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably
practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right
to participate in, or by giving written notice to the Indemnified Party, to assume the defense of any Third Party Claim at the
Indemnifying Party's expense and by the Indemnifying Party's own counsel, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in good
faith in such defense; provided, that if the Indemnifying Party is a Shareholder, such Indemnifying Party shall not have the
right to defend or direct the defense of any such Third Party Claim that seeks an injunction or other equitable relief against the
Indemnified Party. In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third Party Claim, subject to Section
8.05(b), it shall have the right to take such action as it deems necessary to avoid, dispute, defend, appeal or make counterclaims
pertaining to any such Third Party Claim in the name and on behalf of the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall have
the right to participate in the defense of any Third Party Claim with counsel selected by it subject to the Indemnifying Party's
right to control the defense thereof. The fees and disbursements of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified
Party, provided, that if in the reasonable opinion of counsel to the Indemnified Party, (A) there are legal defenses available to
an Indemnified Party that are different from or additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party; or (B) there exists a
conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party that cannot be waived, the Indemnifying Party
shall be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Indemnified Party in each jurisdiction for which the
Indemnified Party determines counsel is required. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or defend such Third
Party Claim, fails to promptly notify the Indemnified Party in writing of its election to defend as provided in this Agreement,
or fails to diligently prosecute the defense of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party may, subject to Section 8.05(b),
pay, compromise, defend such Third Party Claim and seek indemnification for any and all Losses based upon, arising from
or relating to such Third Party Claim. Shareholders and Buyer shall cooperate with each other in all reasonable respects in
connection with the defense of any Third Party Claim, including making available (subject to the provisions of Section 5.06)
records relating to such Third Party Claim and furnishing, without expense (other than reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket
expenses) to the defending party, management employees of the non-defending party as may be reasonably necessary for the
preparation of the defense of such Third Party Claim.
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(b) Settlement of Third Party Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying
Party shall not enter into settlement of any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party,
except as provided in this Section 8.05(b). If a firm offer is made to settle a Third Party Claim without leading to liability
or the creation of a financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party and provides, in customary form, for
the unconditional release of each Indemnified Party from all liabilities and obligations in connection with such Third Party
Claim and the Indemnifying Party desires to accept and agree to such offer, the Indemnifying Party shall give written notice
to that effect to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer within 10 days after its
receipt of such notice, the Indemnified Party may continue to contest or defend such Third Party Claim and in such event, the
maximum liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such Third Party Claim shall not exceed the amount of such settlement offer.
If the Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer and also fails to assume defense of such Third Party Claim, the
Indemnifying Party may settle the Third Party Claim upon the terms set forth in such firm offer to settle such Third Party Claim.
If the Indemnified Party has assumed the defense pursuant to Section 8.05(a), it shall not agree to any settlement without the
written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
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(c) Direct Claims. Any Action by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss which does not result from a
Third Party Claim (a "Direct Claim") shall be asserted by the Indemnified Party giving the Indemnifying Party reasonably
prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than 30 days after the Indemnified Party becomes aware of such Direct
Claim. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification
obligations, except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party forfeits rights or defenses or is otherwise prejudiced by
reason of such failure. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail, shall include
copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss
that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have 30 days after its receipt of such
notice to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. The Indemnified Party shall allow the Indemnifying Party and its professional
advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any
amount is payable in respect of the Direct Claim and the Indemnified Party shall assist the Indemnifying Party's investigation
by giving such information and assistance (including access to the Company's premises and personnel and the right to examine
and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying Party or any of its professional advisors may reasonably
request. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such 30-day period, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to
have rejected such claim, in which case the Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to the
Indemnified Party on the terms and subject to the provisions of this Agreement.

(d) Tax Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the control of any claim, assertion, event
or Actions in respect of Taxes of the Company (including, but not limited to, any such claim in respect of a breach of the
representations and warranties in Section 3.22 or any breach or violation of or failure to fully perform any covenant, agreement,
undertaking or obligation in Article VI) shall be governed exclusively by Article VI.

Section 8.06 Payments.

(a) Once a Loss is agreed to by the Indemnifying Party or finally adjudicated on a non-appealable basis by a court
or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction in accordance with this Agreement to be payable pursuant to this Article VIII, the
Indemnifying Party shall satisfy its obligations within 15 Business Days of such final, non-appealable adjudication by wire
transfer of immediately available funds provided, however, that any such amounts owing to Buyer by Shareholders or Seller,
shall be first set off against the outstanding principal balance of the Buyer Parent Note, with the excess payable to be satisfied
by Shareholders. The rights to cause Buyer Parent to set off against the principal balance of the Buyer Parent Note are not
Buyer's exclusive remedies for amounts owned pursuant to this Article VIII, Buyer will have the right to insist on payment
directly from Shareholders in the event the funds described in the immediately preceding sentence are insufficient to fully
satisfy Shareholders' obligations under this Agreement. The parties hereto agree that should an Indemnifying Party not make
full payment of any such obligations within such 15 Business Day period, any amount payable shall accrue interest from and
including the date of agreement of the Indemnifying Party or final, non-appealable adjudication to and including the date such
payment has been made at a rate per annum equal to 5%. Such interest shall be calculated daily on the basis of a 365-day year
and the actual number of days elapsed.
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(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in the event that a Loss is agreed
to in writing by Seller's Representative as representative of Shareholders as the Indemnifying Party or such a Loss is finally
adjudicated on a non-appealable basis by a court of competent jurisdiction, upon notice to Seller's Representative specifying in
reasonable detail the basis for such set-off, Buyer shall set off any amount to which it may be entitled under this Article VIII
against the principal amount of the Buyer Parent Note to the extent the remaining principal balance of such Buyer Parent Note
is sufficient to cover such amounts. The exercise of such right of set-off by Buyer in good faith, will not constitute an election
of remedies or limit Buyer in any manner in the enforcement of any other remedies that may be available to it, all in accordance
with this Agreement.

(c) To the extent the resolution of any Loss is pending or has not yet been agreed to or finally adjudicated on a
non-appealable basis by a court of competent jurisdiction as of the 18-month anniversary of the Closing Date, then Seller shall
not be entitled to receive final payment of the principal and accrued interest otherwise due under the Buyer Parent Note until
final agreement between the parties or adjudication of the Loss occurs.

Section 8.07 Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments. All indemnification payments made under this Agreement
shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

Section 8.08 Losses Net of Tax Benefits, Insurance Proceeds and Other Third-Party Recoveries. Notwithstanding any
provision in this Agreement to the contrary, all Losses for which any Indemnified Party would otherwise be entitled to indemnification
under this Article VIII shall be reduced by: (A) the amount of insurance proceeds and any indemnity, contribution or other similar
payment which any Indemnified Party actually received in respect of any Losses incurred by such Indemnified Party (which insurance
proceeds each Indemnified Party shall use its commercially reasonable best efforts to pursue), and (B) any Tax benefit with respect to
such Loss actually realized by the Indemnified Party in the form of a reduction in cash Taxes payable by the Indemnified Party (or
its Affiliates), which reduction is directly attributable to the deductibility of such Loss (as determined on a "with and without" basis),
in each case, net of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs, expenses, increases in insurance premiums and Taxes incurred or imposed on
such Indemnified Party (or its Affiliates) in obtaining, receiving or accruing such Tax benefits, insurance proceeds or other third-party
recoveries; provided, however, that Buyer will not be obligated to undertake efforts to recover under such insurance policies or third party
claims prior to pursuing Seller or the Shareholders for payment of indemnifiable Losses under this Agreement in accordance with the
indemnification procedures set forth in Section 8.05 (including as applicable, set-off against the Buyer Parent Note pursuant to this Article
VIII). With respect to insurance policies and other third-party recoveries, Buyer shall cooperate on a commercially reasonable basis with
Seller's Representative in providing notification of claims to insurers and other third parties and pursuing claims with such insurers and
other third parties, and will reimburse Seller or Shareholder(s), as applicable, for any Loss amounts paid by Seller or such Shareholder(s)
to Buyer that are subsequently recovered by Buyer or the Target Companies pursuant to an insurance recovery or third-party recovery.
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Section 8.09 Exclusive Remedies. Subject to Section 5.06. Section 5.07 and Section 11.11, the parties acknowledge and
agree that their sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all claims (other than claims arising from fraud, criminal activity or
willful misconduct on the part of a party hereto in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) for any breach of any
representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement,
shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in Article VI and this Article VIII. In furtherance of the foregoing, each
party hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any and all rights, claims and causes of action for any breach of any
representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement it
may have against the other parties hereto and their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives arising under or based upon any
Law, except pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in Article VI and this Article VIII. Nothing in this Section 8.09 shall
limit any Person's right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any Person shall be entitled or to seek any remedy on account of
any party's fraudulent, criminal or intentional misconduct.

Section 8.10 Right to Escrow Payments. Upon notice to Seller's Representative specifying in reasonable detail the basis
therefor, Buyer may, in addition to any other rights or remedies to which it may be entitled, in lieu of Buyer Parent making a payment to
the Seller under the Buyer Parent Note, cause Buyer Parent to pay to a third party escrow agent who shall be chosen jointly by the parties
any amount to which Buyer Parent may be entitled under this Article VIII. The exercise of such right by Buyer in good faith, whether or
not ultimately determined to be justified, will not constitute an event of default under this Agreement. Each of Seller's Representative and
Buyer shall be entitled to take appropriate legal this action necessary to determine if any escrowed amount is justified and the prevailing
party to any such action shall be entitled to payment of its costs, including reasonable legal fees and expenses.

ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION

Section 9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:

(a) by the mutual written consent of Seller's Representative and Buyer;

(b) by Buyer by written notice to Seller's Representative if:
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(i) Buyer is not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement and there has been a material
breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Sellers
pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in Article VII and such
material breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Seller's Representative within fifteen (15) calendar days
of Seller's Representative's receipt of written notice (to the recipients specified in Section 10.02) of such breach from
Buyer; or

(ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.01 or Section 7.02 shall not have been fulfilled by
September 30, 2018, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Buyer to perform or comply with any of the
covenants, agreements or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Closing;

(c) by Seller's Representative by written notice to Buyer if:

(i) Seller and the Shareholders are not then in material breach of any provision of this Agreement
and there has been a material breach, inaccuracy in or failure to perform any representation, warranty, covenant or
agreement made by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions
specified in Article VII and such material breach, inaccuracy or failure has not been cured by Buyer within fifteen (15)
calendar days of Buyer's receipt of written notice (to the recipients specified in Section 10.02) of such breach from
Seller's Representative; or

(ii) any of the conditions set forth in Section 7.01 or Section 7.03 shall not have been, or if it becomes
apparent that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled by September 30, 2018, unless such failure shall be due to the
failure of Seller, Seller's Representative or a Shareholder to perform or comply with any of the covenants, agreements
or conditions hereof to be performed or complied with by it prior to the Closing; or

(d) by Buyer or Seller's Representative in the event that (i) there shall be any Law that makes consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal or otherwise prohibited or (ii) any Governmental Authority shall have
issued a Governmental Order restraining or enjoining the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such Governmental
Order shall have become final and non-appealable.

Section 9.02 Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with this Article, this
Agreement shall forthwith become void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto except:

(a) as set forth in this Article IX and Section 5.06 and Article X; and

(b) that nothing herein shall relieve any party hereto from liability for any willful breach of any provision hereof.
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ARTICLE X
SELLER'S REPRESENTATIVE

Section 10.01 Seller's Representative.

(a) Appointment of Seller's Representative. By approval and adoption of this Agreement, the Seller and
Shareholders hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint Nicolas Molina as the true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact of
Seller and Shareholders (the "Seller's Representative"), with full powers of substitution to act in the name, place and stead of
Sellers with respect to the performance on behalf of Seller and Shareholders under the terms and provisions of this Agreement
and the other Transaction Documents, as the same may be from time to time amended, and to do or refrain from doing all
such further acts and things, and to execute all such documents on behalf of Seller and Shareholders as Seller's Representative
deems necessary or appropriate in connection with any of the transactions contemplated under this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents, including:

(i) to act for Seller and Shareholders with respect to all matters referred to in this Agreement;

(ii) to act for Seller and Shareholders with respect to all of their respective post-Closing obligations
under this Agreement;

(iii) to terminate, amend, or waive any provision of this Agreement or any other Transaction Documents;

(iv) to employ and obtain the advice of legal counsel, accountants and other professional advisors as
Seller's Representative, in his sole discretion, deems necessary or advisable in the performance of its duties as Seller's
Representative and to rely on their advice and counsel;

(v) to incur and pay out of the Seller's Representative's Fund amounts payable with respect to the
Seller's and Shareholders expenses and any other amounts, fees and expenses allocable or in any way relating to such
transactions, whether incurred prior or subsequent to the Closing; and

(vi) to do or refrain from doing any further act or deed on behalf of Seller and Shareholders which Seller's
Representative deems necessary or appropriate in his sole discretion relating to the subject matter of this Agreement
as fully and completely as any of Seller and Shareholders could do if personally present and acting, including (A)
giving and receiving any notices, documents and instructions permitted or required under this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document; (B) receiving and accepting legal process in connection with any suit or Actions arising under
this Agreement or any other Transaction Document; (C) interpreting all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement
or any other Transaction Document; (D) authorizing payments to be made with respect to this Agreement and any other
Transaction Document; (E) defending and making any claims arising under or related to this Agreement and/or any
other Transaction Document; (F) consenting to, compromising or settling all such claims; (G) conducting negotiations
with Buyer, any other Person and/or their respective representatives regarding all such claims; and (H) taking all other
actions specified in or contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document.
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(b) Authority to Act; Limitation on Liability. The appointment of Seller's Representative will be deemed coupled
with an interest and will be irrevocable, and any other Person, including Buyer and its Affiliates, may conclusively and
absolutely rely, without inquiry of Seller or Shareholders, upon any actions of Seller's Representative as the acts of Seller
and Shareholder hereunder appointing Seller's Representative in all matters referred to in this Agreement. Each of Seller and
Shareholders hereby ratifies and confirms all that Seller's Representative will do or cause to be done by virtue of such Seller's
Representative's appointment as the representative of Seller and Shareholders. Seller's Representative will act for Seller and
Shareholders on all of the matters set forth in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents in the manner Seller's
Representative believes to be in the best interest of Seller and Shareholders, but Seller's Representative will not be responsible
to any of Seller or Shareholders for any Loss any of Sellers may suffer by reason of the performance by Seller's Representative
of such Seller's Representative's duties under this Agreement or any other Transaction Documents, other than Losses arising
from gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of Seller's Representative's duties under this Agreement or any
other Transaction Documents. For the avoidance of doubt, Nicolas Molina shall not, by reason of his appointment and acting
as Seller's Representative, bear any greater share of any liability, expense or similar items than any other Seller hereunder.

(c) Reliance on Authority to Act; Resignation. Each of Seller and Shareholders hereby expressly acknowledges
and agrees that Seller's Representative is authorized to act on behalf of Seller and Shareholders notwithstanding any dispute
or disagreement among Sellers. A decision, act consent or instruction of Seller's Representative shall constitute a unanimous
decision of all Sellers and shall be final, binding and conclusive upon each applicable Shareholder or Seller, and Buyer may rely
(without independent investigation or inquiry) upon such decision, act, consent or instruction of Seller's Representative as being
the decision, act, consent or instruction of each and all Sellers as if expressly ratified and confirmed in writing by each of them,
and no party hereunder shall have any cause of action against Buyer for any action taken by Buyer in reliance upon the acts,
consents, instructions or decisions of Seller's Representative. If Seller's Representative resigns or ceases to function in such
capacity for any reason whatsoever, then the successor Seller's Representative shall be the Person appointed by Shareholders
with the majority of the Shares listed on Exhibit A; provided, however, that if for any reason, no successor has been appointed
within 30 days from such resignation or cessation of the predecessor Seller's Representative, then any Seller will have the right
to petition a court of competent jurisdiction for appointment of a successor Seller's Representative. Seller and Shareholders do
hereby jointly and severally agree to indemnify and hold Seller's Representative harmless from and against any and all Liability,
Loss, cost, damage or expense (including attorneys' fees) reasonably incurred or suffered as a result of the performance of such
Seller's Representative's duties under this Agreement, except for any such Liability arising out of the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Seller's Representative.
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(d) Distribution of Remaining Seller's Representative's Fund. At such time that Seller's Representative shall
reasonably determine, the remaining Seller's Representative's Fund, if any, shall be distributed by Seller's Representative.

ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01 Expenses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all costs and expenses, including, without
limitation, fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants, incurred in connection with this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring such costs and expenses, whether or not the Closing shall have
occurred; provided, however, that (a) Seller and Shareholders shall pay all amounts payable to MidCap Advisors, LLC at the Closing out
of the Closing Payment (as a Transaction Expense); and (b) Buyer shall pay all amounts payable to any investment advisor engaged by
Buyer. The obligations set forth in this Section 11.01 shall survive Closing.

Section 11.02 Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder shall
be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt); (b) when received
by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested); (c) on the date sent by facsimile or e-mail of a
PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next Business Day
if sent after normal business hours of the recipient or (d) on the third day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such
other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 11.02):

If to Seller or any Shareholder: c/o Nicolas Molina, Seller's Representative
International Vapor Group, Inc.
14300 Commerce Way, Miami Lakes, Florida 33016
Facsimile:
E-mail: nick@ internationalvapor.com

with a copy to: McCarter & English, LLP
100 Mulberry Street
Newark, NJ 07102
Attention: David Broderick
dbroderick@mccarter.com
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If to Buyer: Turning Point Brands, LLC
5201 Interchange Way
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
E-mail: jdobbins@tpbi.com
Attention: James Dobbins

with a copy to: Frost Brown Todd LLC
400 West Market Street, 32nd Floor
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Office: 502-589-5400
Facsimile: 502-581-1087
E-mail: rcleary@fbtlaw.com
Attention: Richard Cleary

Section 11.03 Interpretation. For purposes of this Agreement, (a) the words "include," "includes" and "including" shall
be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation"; (b) the word "or" is not exclusive; and (c) the words "herein," "hereof,"
"hereby," "hereto" and "hereunder" refer to this Agreement as a whole. Unless the context otherwise requires, references herein: (x)
to Articles, Sections, Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits mean the Articles and Sections of, and Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits
attached to, this Agreement; (y) to an agreement, instrument or other document means such agreement, instrument or other document as
amended, supplemented and modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the provisions thereof and (z) to a statute means such
statute as amended from time to time and includes any successor legislation thereto and any regulations promulgated thereunder. This
Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against the party drafting
an instrument or causing any instrument to be drafted. The Disclosure Schedules and Exhibits referred to herein shall be construed with,
and as an integral part of, this Agreement to the same extent as if they were set forth verbatim herein.

Section 11.04 Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this
Agreement.

Section 11.05 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction,
such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render
unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. Upon the determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal
or unenforceable, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties
as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally
contemplated to the greatest extent possible.
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Section 11.06 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents constitute the sole and entire
agreement of the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein and therein, and supersede all prior
and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. In the event of any
inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement and those in the other Transaction Documents, the Exhibits and
Disclosure Schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the Disclosure Schedules), the statements in the body of this
Agreement will control.

Section 11.07 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the
prior written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided, however, that prior to
the Closing Date, Buyer may, without the prior written consent of Seller, assign all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to
one or more of its direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries. No assignment shall relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations
hereunder.

Section 11.08 No Third-party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in Section 6.03 and Article VIII, this Agreement is for the
sole benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended
to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by
reason of this Agreement.

Section 11.09 Amendment and Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented
by an agreement in writing signed by the Seller's Representative and Buyer. No waiver by any party of any of the provisions hereof shall
be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiving. No waiver by any party shall operate or be construed
as a waiver in respect of any failure, breach or default not expressly identified by such written waiver, whether of a similar or different
character, and whether occurring before or after that waiver. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power or
privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any
right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy,
power or privilege.

Section 11.10 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of
Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other
jurisdiction).

(b) ANY LEGAL SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS
AGREEMENT, THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY
OR THEREBY MAY BE INSTITUTED EXCLUSIVELY IN THE DELAWARE COURT OF CHANCERY OR THE UNITED
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE AND EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO
THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING. SERVICE
OF PROCESS, SUMMONS, NOTICE OR OTHER DOCUMENT BY MAIL TO SUCH PARTY'S ADDRESS SET FORTH
HEREIN SHALL BE EFFECTIVE SERVICE OF PROCESS FOR ANY SUIT, ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING
BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT. THE PARTIES IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ANY
OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR ANY PROCEEDING IN SUCH COURTS
AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVE AND AGREE NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM IN ANY SUCH COURT THAT ANY SUCH
SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT
FORUM.

82

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


(c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE
COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES AND, THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL
ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES
AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED,
EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING
WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A LEGAL ACTION, (B) SUCH PARTY HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF
THIS WAIVER, (C) SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (D) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN
INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 10.10(c).

Section 11.11 Specific Performance. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this
Agreement were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the
terms hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

Section 11.12 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original,
but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile,
e-mail or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of
this Agreement.

Section 11.13 Ownership of Attorney Client and Work Product Privilege. Buyer, the Target Companies, Seller and
Shareholders further agree that, as to all communications among McCarter & English LLP ("Seller’s Counsel") and any of the Target
Companies and Sellers made in furtherance of, and that relate to, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Covered
Communications"), the attorney-client and work product privilege and the expectation of client confidence belongs to the Seller's
Representative acting on behalf of Sellers and the Target Companies and may be controlled by him and shall not pass to or be claimed
by Buyer or any Target Companies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event a dispute arises between Buyer, the Target Companies,
Seller or Shareholders and a third party (other than a party to this Agreement) after the Closing, the Target Companies which are
then owned by Buyer may assert the attorney-client or work product privilege to prevent disclosure of confidential communications by
Seller’s Counsel to such third party provided, however, that such Target Companies may not waive such privileges related to the Covered
Communications without the prior written consent of the Seller's Representative.
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Section 11.14 Product and General Liability Insurance Policy. Following the Closing, and continuing through January 29,
2019 (i.e., the date of expiration of such policy), Buyer shall cause the Company to keep in full force and effect its existing product and
general liability insurance policy, as listed as Item 2 on Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedule: Commercial General Liability Insurance
- Claims Made Policy issued by Underwriters at Lloyd’s London under Policy No. B0507N17QA031300-0085, for policy period from
1/29/2018 to 1/29/2019. Commencing as of February 1, 2019, Buyer shall either (a) renew such policy one or more times to provide
continued coverage through at least the eighteen-month anniversary of the Closing Date, or (b) add the Target Companies as additional
insured under Buyer or Buyer Parent’s product and general liability insurance, with such coverage including all products manufactured,
distributed or sold by the Target Companies prior to the Closing, through at least the eighteen-month anniversary of the Closing Date.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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EXECUTION COPY

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by
their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

/s/ David Epstein
David Epstein, individually

/s/ David Herrera
David Herrera, individually

/s/ David Mardini
David Mardini, individually

/s/ John M. Scott
John M. Scott, individually

/s/ Martin Flumenbaum
Martin Flumenbaum, individually

/s/ Elizabeth McColm
Elizabeth McColm, individually

/s/ Robert Schumer
Robert Schumer, individually

/s/ Daniel Kramer
Daniel Kramer, individually

/s/ Durlan Bergnes
Durlan Bergnes, individually

/s/ Angelo Bonvino
Angelo Bonvino, individually

/s/ John Lange
John Lange, individually

/s/ Mark Wlazlo
Mark Wlazlo, individually

/s/ Nicolas Molina
Nicolas Molina, as Seller's Representative
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Milander Investments, LLC

By: /s/ Steve Martinez
Name: Steve Martinez
Title: Sole Member

Pegasus Real Estate Investment Group, LLC

By: /s/ Nicolas Molina
Name: Nicolas Molina
Title: Sole Member

/s/ Nicolas Molina
Nicolas Molina, as Seller's Representative

And joined in for purposes of Section 5.07 by the sole owner of
Pegasus Real Estate Investment Group, LLC:

/s/ Nicolas Molina
Nicolas Molina, individually

1
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IVG HOLDINGS S CORPORATION

By /s/ Nicolas Molina
Name: Nicolas Molina
Title: Chief Executive Officer

TURNING POINT BRANDS, LLC

By: TURNING POINT BRANDS, INC.,
as sole member

By: /s/ Robert M. Lavan
Name: Robert Lavan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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Guaranty of Turning Point Brands, Inc.

Turning Point Brands, Inc. hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to Seller the full and punctual
performance of and compliance with all covenants, agreements and other obligations of Buyer, now or hereafter existing, under this
Agreement, including Buyer's indemnification obligations in Article VIII. This is an absolute, present, primary and continuing guaranty
of performance, payment and compliance. Turning Point Brands, Inc. acknowledges and agrees that its liability under Guaranty is joint
and several with Buyer and, upon any breach or default by Buyer, Seller shall not be obligated to first attempt enforcement against
Buyer. The liability of Turning Point Brands, Inc. hereunder is irrevocable, continuing, absolute and unconditional and the obligation
of Turning Point Brands, Inc. hereunder shall not be discharged or impaired or otherwise affected by, and Turning Point Brands, Inc.
waives any defenses to enforcement it may have (now or in the future) by reason of any illegality or lack of validity or enforceability of
such obligation or the Stock Purchase Agreement or any related agreement or instrument or any defense, set-off or counterclaim (other
than a defense of payment or performance or any set-off or counterclaim arising under this Agreement) that may at any time be available
to, or be asserted by, Buyer against Seller. Turning Point Brands, Inc. executes and delivers this guaranty in consideration of, and to
induce Seller to enter into this Agreement, and Turning Point Brands, Inc. acknowledges that Seller would not have entered into the
Stock Purchase Agreement but for this guaranty. Turning Point Brands, Inc. will derive substantial benefits from the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by the Stock Purchase Agreement.

TURNING POINT BRANDS, INC.

By /s/ Robert M. Lavan

Title: Chief Financial Officer

3
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List of exhibits & schedules omitted (except as otherwise noted) but will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request:

EXHIBIT A: Company Outstanding Capitalization (pre-Restructuring)
EXHIBIT B: Form of Estimated Closing Statement
EXHIBIT C: Form of Employment Agreement (omitted except for agreements with Nicolas Molina and David Epstein)
EXHIBIT D: Shareholders' Guaranties
EXHIBIT E: [Intentionally Deleted]
EXHIBIT F: List of Institutional Shareholders
EXHIBIT G: Form of Buyer Parent Note
EXHIBIT H: Allocation Schedule
EXHIBIT I: Form of General Release
EXHIBIT J: List of Bonused Employees
EXHIBIT K: Securities Exchange Agreement
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EXECUTION COPY

EXHIBIT C – Form of Employment Agreement

Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into between International Vapor Group, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (the "Company"), and Nicolas Molina, a resident of the State of Florida ("Employee"), effective as September
5, 2018 (the "Effective Date").

On the date hereof, Turning Point Brands, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer"), is acquiring all of the issued
and outstanding equity interests of the Company (the "Acquisition"). In connection with, and conditioned upon the closing of, the
Acquisition, Buyer requires the Company and Employee to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of Employee's
employment with the Company.

Employee has become and will continue to become familiar with and aware of information as to the products, customers, specific
manner of doing business, and future plans with respect thereto, of the Company and its Affiliates (as defined below), all of which have
been and will be established and maintained at significant expense to the Company. Employee agrees that this information includes trade
secrets and constitutes a valuable asset of the Company.

Employee further agrees that the restrictive covenants contained herein are reasonably necessary to protect the Company's
and its Affiliates' legitimate business interests, including but not limit to, its trade secrets, confidential business information, customer
relationships, and customer goodwill.

For good and valuable consideration provided to Employee, including, but not limited to, the compensation and benefits paid
to Employee while employed with the Company and the continuation of Employee's employment with the Company, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

Article I. Definitions

For the purposes of this Agreement the following definitions shall apply:

Section 1.01 "Affiliates" of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, including without limitation,
the Company's subsidiaries and Buyer and Buyer's direct and indirect parent companies.

Section 1.02 "control" (including the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
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Section 1.03 "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company,
governmental authority, unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity.

Article II. Employment

Section 2.01 During the Term (as defined below), the Company shall employ Employee, and Employee hereby accepts
such employment, to serve the Company as President, reporting to Larry Wexler (or other Person designated by Buyer).
Subject to the direction and control of Larry Wexler, Employee shall have such powers and duties as are customarily
associated with the position of President. Employee also shall perform such other duties as may be from time to time
assigned to Employee by Larry Wexler. Employee agrees to serve the Company competently and to devote all of
his business time and attention and his best efforts to the affairs of the Company and the performance of his duties
hereunder.

Section 2.02 Employee will not, without Company's prior consent, engage in other business activities, whether or not
such business activity is pursued for profit, gain or other benefit to Executive. Executive may invest Executive's assets
in investments that do not require any services by Executive in the operation of the business in which the investments
are made. Executive may serve on boards of directors, provided that such service does not prevent Executive from
devoting full time and attention to the affairs of Company and does not create a conflict of interest with Executive's
duties and obligations to the Company.

Article III. Term and Termination

Section 3.01 The term of Employee's employment with the Company under this Agreement (the "Term") shall
commence as of the Effective Date and shall end on the earlier to occur of the second anniversary of the Effective Date
or termination of Employee's employment with the Company pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.b., below.

Section 3.02 Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement, either the Company or Employee can terminate
the employment relationship at any time, for any reason or no reason, with or without Cause (provided, however, that
prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date, the Company shall not have the ability to terminate Employee
without Cause). If Employee resigns from employment with the Company, Employee will give the Company at least
30 calendar days' prior written notice of resignation. Subject to the preceding, employment will end on the termination
date stated in the Company's notice of termination to Employee or in Employee's notice of resignation to the Company,
as applicable. The Company may, in its discretion, waive any notice period stated in Employee's notice of resignation,
in which case employment will end immediately upon such waiver or alternative date stated in the waiver.
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Section 3.03 If Employee's employment is terminated for any reason, then Employee will be entitled to payment of
his base compensation under Section 4.a. through the date of termination of employment, a pro rata portion of the
annual bonus under Section 4.b. for the year of termination (as measured by the number of days that Employee was
employed during such year) and, if applicable, the applicable portion of the Exit Bonus, the Performance Bonus and
the Synergy Bonus, payable as described below, subject to execution by Employee of a Release as described in Section
4.i. below. If Employee shall terminate his employment for Good Reason, then, in addition to the foregoing, Employee
shall continue to receive, until the second anniversary of the Effective Date, payment of his base compensation under
Section 4.a., an annual bonus under Section 4.b., continued coverage under all employee benefit plans, and the Exit
Bonus, the Performance Bonus and the Synergy Bonus, payable as described below, subject to execution by Employee
of a Release as described in Section 4.i. below.

Section 3.04 A termination of employment by the Company for any of the following reasons shall be considered a
termination for "Cause" under this Agreement:

(a) Employee willfully fails to render required or expected services in accordance with this Agreement, subject
to the providing of prior written notice allowing for 30 days' opportunity cure such failure;

(b) Employee is willfully in breach any of the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, subject to the
providing of prior written notice allowing for 30 days' opportunity to cure such breach;

(c) insubordination, consisting of Employee's continued willful failure to take specific action that is material to
the operation of the Company and within Employee's individual control and consistent with Employee's duties
and responsibilities subject to the providing of prior written notice allowing for 30 days' opportunity to cure such
failure;

(d) Employee willfully violates any material rule, policy, procedure or other requirement of the Company,
subject to the providing of prior written notice allowing for at least 30 days' opportunity cure such failure;

(e) Employee's commission of an act of fraud, embezzlement or similar dishonest act against the Company or
any customer, client or business associate of any of the TPB Group; or

(f) Employee's indictment or conviction for any felony or crime of dishonesty.

e. A termination of employment by Employee for any of the following reasons shall be considered a termination for
"Good Reason" under this Agreement:
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i. a decrease in the base compensation, bonus (other than the annual bonuses which may fluctuate subject to
the Company's discretion) or employee benefits identified in this Agreement (other than changes in employee benefits affecting the
Company's employees generally);

ii. a material diminution in Employee's title, role, authority or responsibilities as President or an adverse change in
Executive's reporting structure or reporting relationships;

iii. a relocation of Executive's principal office to a location that is in excess of 25 miles from the Company's principal
office as of the Effective Date; or

iv. any continued material breach by the Company of this Agreement, subject to the providing of prior written notice
allowing for at least 30 days' opportunity cure such breach.

Article IV. Compensation

Section 4.01 Base Compensation. Employee's base compensation will be at an annual rate of $350,000, paid consistent
with the terms of this Agreement and the general payroll practices of the Company. During Employee's employment,
Employee's annual base compensation shall be subject to any adjustment approved by the Company, at its sole
discretion; provided, however, that Employee's base compensation may not be reduced.

Section 4.02 Annual Bonuses and Equity Compensation. The Company will adopt annual bonus plans that are consistent
with Turning Point Brands, Inc.'s bonus plans, which allows Employee a bonus potential of 10% to 50% (the exact
percentage being subject to the Company's discretion) of Employee's compensation. All annual bonuses will be paid
by March 15th of the calendar year after the year for which the bonus is earned, regardless of whether or not Employee
shall remain employed as of the date of payment. Employee will also be eligible for equity awards such as restricted
equity or equity options as are applicable to the Company's executive employees generally, to the extent such plans are
adopted by the Company.

Section 4.03 Exit Bonus.

(a) Unless Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than Good Reason within six
months after the Effective Date and subject to the terms of Section 4.i., Employee will be entitled to a bonus (the
"Exit Bonus") equal to the greater of (A) $1,400,000, if the Combined Two-Year EBITDA is equal to or greater
than Target EBITDA, or (B) a percentage of the $1,400,000, equal to the percentage the Combined Two-Year
EBITDA is of Target EBITDA (e.g., if the Combined Two-Year EBITDA amount is 65% of the Target EBITDA,
then the Exit Bonus will be 65% of $1,400,000).
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(b) The Exit Bonus will be paid during the 60-day period beginning 30 days after the second annual anniversary
of the Effective Date once the final Combined Two-Year EBITDA is calculated.

(c) "Target EBITDA" means an amount equal to $8,000,000 (representing the Term 1 EBITDA Target) plus an
amount (representing the Term 2 EBITDA Target) equal to 110% of Term 1 consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the
following combined entities, divisions, business units, websites and brands, as the case may be: (A) the Company;
(B) Vapor Shark; (C) retail operations of Vapor Supply; (D) any new division or business originating from the
ecig.com website (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the ecig.com name or website, including but not
limited to eCig.com Arlington LLC, eCig.com Austin LLC, and eCig.com LLC); and (E) any new division or
business originating from the relaunch of the DripCo e-liquid brand (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing
the DripCo e-liquid brand, including but not limited to DripCo.com LLC); plus Adjusted EBITDA for Vapor
Beast during the Term 1 period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if and to the extent that Employee's
duties shall be expanded to include management of any other existing TPB Group business, and/or any business
which may be acquired by any TPB Group business (including the Company) after the date hereof, the parties will
negotiate in good faith to include the EBITDA of such additional and/or acquired business in the calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA and to agree upon a revised Target EBITDA figure reflecting such inclusion and the additional
management duties of Employee.

(d) "Combined Two-Year EBITDA" means the Term 1 EBITDA Amount plus the Term 2 EBITDA Amount.

(e) "Term 1 EBITDA Amount" means the Term 1 consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the following entities,
divisions, business units, websites and brands, as the case may be: (A) the Company; (B) Vapor Shark; (C)
retail operations of Vapor Supply; (D) any new division or business originating from the ecig.com website (i.e.,
excluding any existing business utilizing the ecig.com name or website, including but not limited to eCig.com
Arlington LLC, eCig.com Austin LLC, and eCig.com LLC); and (E) any new division or business originating from
the relaunch of the DripCo e-liquid brand (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the DripCo e-liquid brand,
including but not limited to DripCo.com LLC).

(f) "Term 2 EBITDA Amount" means the Term 2 consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the following combined
entities, divisions, business units, websites and brands, as the case may be: (A) the Company; (B) Vapor Shark;
(C) retail operations of Vapor Supply; (D) any new division or business originating from the ecig.com website
(i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the ecig.com name or website, including but not limited to eCig.com
Arlington LLC, eCig.com Austin LLC, and eCig.com LLC); and (E) any new division or business originating from
the relaunch of the DripCo e-liquid brand (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the DripCo e-liquid brand,
including but not limited to DripCo.com LLC); and (F) Vapor Beast.
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(g) "Term 1" means the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the first anniversary of the
Effective Date.

(h) "Term 2" means the period commencing on the first anniversary of Effective Date and ending on the second
anniversary date of the Effective Date.

(i) "Adjusted EBITDA" means the unadjusted aggregate EBITDA of the entities, division, business units,
websites and brands included in the definition of “Target EBITDA” on a consolidated basis (each an “Included
Business”), excluding from the calculation thereof the following items: (A) all FDA PMTA and related costs, (B)
all nonrecurring or startup costs associated with new liquid production capabilities or similar endeavors, (C) any
fees, costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Company or Buyer in connection with the Acquisition,
including but not limited to any brokerage fees, commissions, finders' fees, investment banking fees and financial
advisory fees, fees paid to lenders, legal expenses and payments to other individual service providers, in each case
in connection with the Acquisition, (D) any salaries, bonuses, benefits, reimbursements or consulting, management
or other fees paid to Buyer or its Affiliates, (E) any expenses related to the board of directors (or equivalent) of
the Included Businesses, (F) any earnings and/or losses from any business acquisitions by any Included Business,
(G) any fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with pursuing or consummating any business acquisitions
by any Included Business, (H) any incentive compensation, Exit Bonus, Performance Bonus, or other bonus
compensation paid or payable to Nicolas Molina and David Epstein, (I) product launch costs, (J) non-recurring
one-time costs and expenses incurred in connection with operating improvements, restructurings and other similar
initiatives, (K) corporate or parent selling, general and administrative overhead allocations, and (L) any and all
other types of fees, costs and expenses as the parties may mutually agree.

(j) "EBITDA" means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, as determined in
accordance with GAAP.

Section 4.04 Performance Bonus. Unless Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than
Good Reason prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date, then Employee will be entitled to an additional
bonus (the "Performance Bonus"), payable during the 90-day period beginning 30 days after the second annual
anniversary of the Effective Date once the final Combined Two-Year EBITDA is calculated. If Combined Two-
Year EBITDA exceeds Target EBITDA, then the Company shall pay Employee a $700,000 Performance Bonus. If
Combined Two-Year EBITDA is less than Target EBITDA, then Employee will be entitled to an amount equal to
a percentage of $700,000, equal to the percentage the Combined Two-Year EBITDA is of Target EBITDA (e.g., if
Combined Two-Year EBITDA amount is 45% of Target EBITDA, then the Performance Bonus will be $315,000 (45%
of $700,000)). If Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than Good Reason prior to the
second anniversary of the Effective Date, then Employee will be entitled to a percentage of the Performance Bonus
amount calculated above equal to the percentage of the two-year period during which Employee remained employed
by the Company (e.g., if Employee is employed for 14 months and the Two-Year EBITDA Amount is 45% of Target
EBITDA, then he would be entitled to 14/24 of $315,000).
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Section 4.05 Synergy Bonus.

(a) Unless Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than Good Reason prior to the
first anniversary of the Effective Date, then the Company will pay Employee an additional bonus amount to reflect
the amount of synergies created with respect to the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the
second anniversary of the Effective Date through the Acquisition (the "Synergy Bonus"). Attachment A sets forth
the procedures for determining the amount of the Synergy Bonus.

(b) The Synergy Bonus will be an amount equal to 17.5% of calculated synergies, up to a maximum Synergy
Bonus of $1,050,000; provided, however, that if David Epstein shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for
other than Good Reason prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date, then Employee's Synergy Bonus will
be an amount equal to 25% of calculated synergies, up to a maximum Synergy Bonus of $1,500,000. Any annual
cash bonus amounts paid or payable to Employee under Section 4.b. of this Agreement or otherwise with respect
to the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the second anniversary of the Effective Date shall
reduce dollar-for-dollar any Synergy Bonus amount payable to Employee.

(c) Subject to the procedures set forth on Attachment A, the Synergy Bonus, if applicable, will be paid within
90 days after the second anniversary of the Effective Date, but in no event shall the Synergy Bonus be paid later than
March 15th of the calendar year after the calendar year in which the second anniversary of the Effective Date occurs.

Section 4.06 Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Achieve Bonus Amounts. The Company will use commercially
reasonable efforts to maximize the Employee's ability to earn the Synergy, Exit and Performance bonus amounts
payable under this Agreement, subject to the application of the business judgment rule and fiduciary duties. In
particular, the Company will not take any action with respect to a material asset of the Company with the intent of
reducing the Company's operational capacity or profitability or take any action, directly or indirectly, in bad faith with
the purpose of avoiding or reducing the Company's obligation with respect to the Synergy, Exit or Performance Bonus,
provided that nothing in this paragraph shall require the Company to continue to employ the Employee for any period
of time beyond the Term.

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Section 4.07 Calculations. The Combined Two-Year EBITDA Amount and any other amounts to be calculated under
this Agreement shall be determined by the Company's regular finance and accounting staff in good faith. The Company
may (but is not obligated to) seek review of calculations by the Company's regularly employed accounting firm (which
shall be a nationally-recognized accounting firm selected by the Company and may be the accounting firm employed
by Buyer), and in that case the accounting firm's determination shall be final and binding on the Company and the
Employee.

Section 4.08 Change in Control. Unless Employee shall have previously voluntarily terminated his employment for
other than Good Reason, if there is a Change in Control prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date, Employee
will be entitled to the maximum Exit Bonus ($1,400,000) and Performance Bonus ($700,000) possible under this
Agreement. Such bonus amounts will be paid within 30 days of the closing of the Change in Control. For purposes
of this provision, "Change in Control" means any person or group of persons within the meaning of § 13(d)(3) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 who are not affiliated with Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates, acquires, directly or indirectly,
ownership or control of at least 51% of the Company's equity, or acquires all or substantially all of the Company's
assets, provided that in each case the Change in Control constitutes a change in the ownership or effective control of
the Company or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company under Internal Revenue Code
(the "Code") Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

Section 4.09 Release. If any Exit Bonus, Performance Bonus, Synergy Bonus or other amount is to be paid to Employee
following Employee's termination of employment with the Company, Employee shall be entitled to payment of such
amount(s) only if Employee signs and delivers to Company, and does not revoke, a general release of all claims
Employee has or may have against the Company, its affiliates and their respective employees and directors, in the form
attached hereto as Attachment B (the "Release"), and returned no later than 14 days before the latest date the bonus can
be paid under the terms of this Agreement or such earlier deadline set by the Company for return of the Release.

Section 4.10 Other Fringe Benefits. Employee will be eligible for Company benefits and incentives appropriate for
his position and to the extent such items are offered by the Company. For the period through December 31, 2018,
Employee's fringe benefits will be consistent with those provided by International Vapor Group, Inc. for calendar
year 2018 prior to entering into this Agreement. For the period commencing January 1, 2019, the Company's and
Employee's fringe benefits will generally be consistent with those provided to employees of Turning Point Brands, Inc.,
subject to applicable plan and legal requirements.
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Section 4.11 Tax Withholding. The Company shall withhold and deduct from the compensation paid to Employee
amounts as may be required under applicable tax law. Employee shall be responsible for any employee tax liability
arising as a result of the compensation payable under the terms of this Agreement.

1. Confidential Information

Section 4.12 For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Confidential Information" means all confidential, proprietary,
and/or non-public information, whether or not in a written or recorded form, concerning the business and affairs of the
Company and its Affiliates. Confidential Information shall include, but shall not be limited to, information concerning:

(a) the terms and conditions of this Agreement;

(b) trade secrets concerning the business of the Company and any of its Affiliates, data, know-how, processes,
designs, and samples relating to the Company and its Affiliates;

(c) the Company's suppliers, customers, prospective customers, and contracts or arrangements (including
special terms and deals); and

(d) the Company's financial condition, results of operations, marketing plans, business plans, operations,
pricing, promotions, and business strategies and methods.

Section 4.13 Employee acknowledges and agrees that all Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property
of the TPB Group. Accordingly, both during and after employment with the Company (whether such separation from
employment is voluntary or involuntary, or with or without Cause), Employee shall not use, or disclose to any third
party, any Confidential Information for any reason other than as intended within the scope of Employee's employment
or as approved by the Company in writing.

Section 4.14 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Employee may disclose Confidential Information
to the extent such disclosure is required by law or legal process, provided that Employee shall, if permitted by law,
give prompt written notice of any such request for such information to the Company prior to making such disclosure.
Employee agrees to cooperate with the Company to the extent practicable or lawful to challenge the request for
information or limit the scope thereof, as the Company may reasonably deem appropriate.
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Section 4.15 Upon separation of employment for any reason, or at any other time upon request of the Company,
Employee shall immediately deliver to the Company all documents, materials, and data (including copies thereof)
relating to the business of the Company and its Affiliates. Further, upon the written request of the Company, Employee
shall erase any Confidential Information stored by electronic means from any computer or other device personally
owned, maintained and/or used by Employee.

Article V. Non-Compete; Non-Solicitation; Non-Disparagement

Section 5.01 Non-Compete. During Employee's employment with the Company and for a period of two (2) years
following termination of employment for any reason or no reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, engage
in, own, manage, operate, finance, control, or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of
any business which (i) engages in the design, manufacture, marketing, advertising, sale and promotion of electronic
nicotine delivery systems (ENDS), including without limitation, electronic cigarette products, vaporizers, tanks and
mods, e-liquids, and related accessories (collectively, the "Restricted Business") anywhere in the United States or the
world where the Company, Turning Point Brands, Inc., the Buyer, or their respective subsidiaries (collectively, the
"TPB Group") engaged in the Restricted Business during Employee's employment with the Company or in which the
Company had plans to participate at the time of Employee's employment, or (ii) competes with the products which are
being manufactured or sold by any of the TPB Group on the date of the termination of employment. Notwithstanding
the foregoing restriction, Employee may purchase or acquire in the aggregate, as a passive investment, up to (but not
more than) five percent of any class of securities of any enterprise which is engaged in competitive activities if such
securities are listed on any national securities exchange or have been registered under the applicable provisions of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any foreign securities exchange, provided Employee does not otherwise participate
in any activities of the enterprise.

Section 5.02 Non-Solicitation. During Employee's employment with the Company and for a period of two (2) years
after termination of Employee's employment with the Company for any reason or no reason, Employee will not (i)
directly or indirectly, attempt to induce any person who is an employee of any of the TPB Group (including any person
who was employed with the Company during the two-year period immediately prior to Employee's employment with
the Company) to leave the employ of any of the TPB Group or directly or indirectly employ such person; (ii) directly or
indirectly solicit or attempt to solicit or assist anyone else to solicit any client or person or entity specifically identified
as a potential client of any of the TPB Group as of the date of Employee's termination of employment, for the purpose
related to a Restricted Business or selling products or services similar to those sold by any of the TPB Group; (iii)
directly or indirectly solicit or attempt to solicit, or assist anyone else to solicit any potential target identified by any of
the TPB Group within the 12 month period prior to the date of Employee's termination of employment, as a candidate
for acquisition by any of the TPB Group, for the purpose of acquiring such candidate; or (iv) directly or indirectly,
solicit a customer or client of, supplier to or other party having material business relations with any of the TPB Group.
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Section 5.03 Non-Disparagement. Each party agrees that during and after termination of Employee's employment with
the Company, he or it will not disparage the other party or any of his or its Affiliates, directors, officers, employees or
agents or assist in or encourage any activity or efforts to damage the business reputation or goodwill of the other party
and his or its Affiliates, including their relationships with the public, customers, and employees. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, neither Employee nor the Company shall be restricted from making any disclosures as may be necessary to
comply with applicable law.

Article VI. Enforcement of Restrictive Covenants

Section 6.01 Because of the difficulty in measuring economic losses to the TPB Group as the result of a breach
of covenants in Section 6 of this Agreement, Employee agrees that damages at law for violation of the restrictive
covenants contained herein would not be an adequate or proper remedy to the TPB Group. If Employee violates any of
the provisions of such covenants, Employee agrees that any of the TPB Group shall be entitled to obtain a temporary or
permanent injunction, as appropriate, against Employee in any court having jurisdiction over the person and the subject
matter, prohibiting any further violation of any such covenants. None of the TPB Group shall not be required to post
bond. The injunctive relief provided herein shall be in addition to any award of damages, compensatory, exemplary or
otherwise, payable by reason of such violation.

Section 6.02 Employee represents and acknowledges the restrictive covenants set forth in Section 6 of this Agreement
do not in any respect inhibit Employee's ability to earn a livelihood in his chosen profession without violating the
restrictive covenants contained herein. The TPB Group by these covenants has attempted to limit Employee's right to
compete only to the extent necessary to protect the Company from unfair competition.

Section 6.03 The parties agree that the restrictive covenants contained in Section 6 of this Agreement are severable, and
the unenforceability of any specific covenant shall not affect the provisions of any other covenant. Moreover, in the
event any court of competent jurisdiction shall determine that the scope, time or territorial restrictions set forth herein
are unenforceable, then it is the intention of the parties that such restrictions be enforced to the fullest extent which
the court deems reasonable, and this Agreement shall thereby be reformed. All of the covenants in Section 6 of this
Agreement shall be construed as an agreement independent of any other provision in this Agreement, and the existence
of any claim or cause of action of Employee against any of the TPB Group, whether predicated on this Agreement or
otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by any of the TPB Group of such covenants.
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Section 6.04 It is specifically agreed by the parties that the restrictive periods following the termination of Employee's
employment stated in Section 6 of this Agreement shall be computed by excluding from such computation any time
during which Employee is in violation of any provision of Section 6 of this Agreement. Each member of the TPB
Group is a third-party beneficiary of Section 6 of this Agreement and may enforce its terms against Employee.

Article VII. Work Product

Section 7.01 Employee acknowledges that all inventions, innovations, improvements, developments, methods, designs,
analyses, drawings, reports, and all similar or related information (whether or not patentable) which relate to any of the
TPB Group's actual or anticipated business, research and development, or existing or future products or services, and
which are conceived, developed, made, or reduced to practice by Employee, alone or with others, while employed by
the Company (collectively, "Work Product") belong exclusively to applicable member of the TPB Group. Employee
hereby assigns to the Company all right, title, and interest in and to such Work Product. Employee shall promptly
disclose such Work Product to the Company and perform all actions reasonably requested by the Company (whether
during or after employment) to establish and confirm such ownership (including, without limitation, the execution of
assignments, consents, powers of attorney, and other instruments).

Section 7.02 Employee further acknowledges and agrees that all writings and documentation of any kind produced by
Employee in the course of working for the Company, are works for hire (as that term is defined by U.S. Copyright
law) and the property of the Company, without payment or royalty or any other consideration to Employee, including,
without limitation, any copyrights in such writings and documentation. To the extent that any such works may not,
by operation of law or otherwise, be a work made for hire, Employee hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company
copyright in such works, whether published or unpublished, and agrees to take any such additional steps, including,
without limitation, all those specified in Section 8.a, to secure and maintain such copyright for the Company.

Article VIII. Negotiation and Drafting

Employee acknowledges that this Agreement has been negotiated at arms' length by the parties. Neither of the parties is under
any compulsion to enter into this Agreement. This Agreement is deemed to have been drafted jointly by the parties. Any uncertainty or
ambiguity will not be construed for or against any party based on attribution of drafting to any other party.
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Article IX. Notices

All notices or deliveries authorized or required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by registered
or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; by facsimile; or by national overnight delivery service, and addressed to the
intended recipient as set forth below:

To the Company: International Vapor Group, LLC
c/o Turning Point Brands, Inc.
5201 Interchange Way
Louisville, Kentucky 40229
E-mail: jdobbins@tpbi.com
Attention: James Dobbins

To Employee: Nicolas Molina
8230 SW 53 Avenue
Miami, Florida 33143
E-mail: nick@internationalvapor.com

Notice sent by certified or registered mail or by overnight delivery will be effective upon the date of receipt or of refusal as
indicated by the U.S. Postal Service "green card" or by the overnight delivery records. Notice sent by facsimile will be effective upon
receipt as confirmed by a machine-printed report of successful transmission. Any party may change the address to which notices and
other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other party notice in the manner set forth in this Agreement.

Article X. Termination of Prior Agreements

The Company and Employee hereby acknowledge and agree that any employment, compensation, confidentiality, non-
solicitation and/or similar agreement or arrangement between Employee, on one hand, and the Company or its corporate predecessor, on
the other hand, entered into prior to the Effective Date (each, a "Prior Agreement") is hereby terminated and that, as of the Effective Date,
neither the Company nor its predecessor corporation shall have any further responsibility for any obligation or liability under any Prior
Agreement.

Article XI. Entire Agreement

This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, oral or written, between the parties with respect to the matters
contained in this Agreement, including any Prior Agreements. Employee has no oral representations, understandings or agreements with
the Company or any of its officers, directors or representatives covering the same subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement
shall not be modified in any manner except by instrument in writing signed by, or on behalf of, the parties hereto. Any of the terms and
conditions of this Agreement may be waived in writing at any time only by the party which is entitled to the benefits thereof. No waiver
of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions hereof (whether or not
similar).
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Article XII. Survival

All provisions of this Agreement that by their nature are intended to survive termination of this Agreement, including, without
limitation Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 17, and 20 shall survive termination of this Agreement and continue in full force in
accordance with their terms.

Article XIII. Applicable Law

This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to the conflicts of
laws principles thereof. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction
of the courts located in the State of Delaware, for any action, proceeding or investigation in any state or federal court or before any
governmental authority arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and further agrees not to
commence any litigation relating thereto except in such courts. Each of the parties hereto agrees that service of any process, summons,
notice or document by U.S. registered mail to its respective address set forth in this Agreement or subsequent notified change of address,
shall be effective service of process for any litigation brought against it.

Article XIV. Compliance with Internal Revenue Code Section 409A

a. In the event that Section 409A of the Code applies to any provisions of this Agreement, it is intended that
such provisions comply with the requirements of Section 409A and this Agreement shall be construed and administered in accordance
with Section 409A. Any payments under this Agreement that may be excluded from Section 409A as a short-term deferral shall be
excluded from Section 409A to the maximum extent possible. If a payment is to be made during a period of time such as a 90-day
period, Employee shall have no right to designate the payment date. For purposes of Section 409A, each installment payment provided
under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. Any payments to be made under this Agreement upon a termination of
employment shall only be made upon a "separation from service" under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company makes
no representations that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement comply with, or are exempt from compliance from,
Section 409A and in no event shall Company be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may
be incurred by Employee on account of non-compliance with Section 409A.

b. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any payment or benefit provided to Employee
in connection with his termination of employment is determined to constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning
of Section 409A that is not exempt from Section 409A and Employee is determined to be a "specified employee" as defined in Section
409A(a)(2)(b)(i), then such payment or benefit shall not be paid until the first payroll date to occur following the six-month anniversary of
the date of termination (the "Specified Employee Payment Date") to the extent required by Section 409A. The aggregate of any payments
that would otherwise have been paid before the Specified Employee Payment Date shall be paid to Employee in a lump sum on the
Specified Employee Payment Date and thereafter, any remaining payments shall be paid without delay in accordance with their original
schedule.
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Article XV. Assignment

This Agreement shall be binding upon, and is intended to inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by, each of the parties and its
or his successors and assigns (including, in the case of the Company, each successor to the Company by reason of a change of control).
Accordingly, Employee agrees that the Company may freely assign this Agreement or any payroll, benefits and other related functions, to
Buyer or any of its Affiliates without Employee's consent, and Employee will continue to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement
for the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns, any of which may enforce the Company's rights under this Agreement.
Employee may not assign or delegate Employee's obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Company.

Article XVI. Severability

Any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, shall, as to that jurisdiction,
be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms and
provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement in any other
jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is so broad as to be unenforceable, the provision shall be interpreted to be only so broad
as is enforceable.

Article XVII. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

Article XVIII. Headings

Headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be used to interpret or construe its provisions.

Article XIX. Key Man Insurance

Employee acknowledges that the Company may wish to purchase insurance on the life of Employee, the proceeds of which
would be payable to a member of the TPB Group. Employee hereby consents to such insurance and agrees to submit to any medical
examination and release of medical records required to obtain such insurance.

Article XX. JURY TRIAL WAIVER AS TO ALL CLAIMS

Employee and the Company each hereby knowingly waives any right either of them may have to a trial by jury with
respect to any action or proceeding related to or arising out of any claims, whether statutory, contractual, or at common law,
under or in conjunction with this Agreement, Employee's employment with the Company or the termination of such employment,
including any claims of discrimination. The parties agree that this waiver of the right to jury trial is done knowingly, voluntarily,
and free from duress or coercion. The parties understand that they have a right to consult with a person of their choosing,
including an attorney, before signing this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth above, but effective as of the
Effective Date.

INTERNATIONAL VAPOR GROUP, LLC EMPLOYEE

By /s/ Robert M. Lavan /s/ Nicolas Molina
Nicolas Molina, Individually

Title: Chief Financial Officer
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ATTACHMENT A

Applicable Synergies and Baseline for Calculating Synergies

Synergies shall be collaboratively determined in good faith by the Company and Employee, and shall include, but not be limited to:

(A) the Company bottling its eliquids in-house instead of through their current outsourced co-packer,

(B) elimination of employees due to redundancy, and

(C) elimination of warehouse facilities as a result of centralizing fulfillment.

The Company and Employee shall negotiate in good faith and shall mutually agree upon the complete list of synergies, as well as the
financial baselines to be used to determine the amount of synergies created.

Procedure for determining the Synergy Bonus:

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the second anniversary of the Effective Date, the Company shall deliver to the
Employee a report (the "Synergy Bonus Statement") calculating the amount of the Synergy Bonus.

(b) Following the delivery by the Company of the Synergy Bonus Statement, and continuing until the amount of the
Synergy Bonus has been finally determined in accordance with the terms hereof, the Company shall (i) permit the Employee, his
accountants and other relevant representatives to consult with the Company's accountants, and (ii) provide to the Employee, its
accountants and other relevant representatives reasonable access during reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances to
all relevant books and records of the Company relating to the preparation of the Synergy Bonus Statement, in each case upon
prior written notice as reasonably requested by the Employee in connection with its review thereof.

(c) Within 90 days following receipt by the Employee of the Synergy Bonus Statement, the Employee may deliver to
the Company written notice (a "Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice") of the Sellers' disagreement with the calculation of
the Synergy Bonus in the Synergy Bonus Statement, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail (i) the basis for such
disagreement and Employee's determination of the items in dispute and (ii) based thereon, the Employee's calculation of the
Synergy Bonus. If the Employee does not deliver a Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice within such 90 day period, or if
anytime during such period the Employee delivers a written notice to the Company that it accepts the Synergy Bonus Statement
as prepared and delivered by the Company, the Employee shall be deemed to have accepted the Synergy Bonus Statement as
final, conclusive and binding in all respects. Any item not identified and disputed in the Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice
shall be deemed final, conclusive and binding on the parties as set forth in the Synergy Bonus Statement.
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(d) During the thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of a Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice, the Company
and the Employee shall seek in good faith to resolve in writing any differences which they have with respect to the matters
specified therein. If the Company and the Employee are unable to resolve in good faith the disputed items set forth in the Synergy
Bonus Disagreement Notice within thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of the Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice
(or such longer period as the Company and the Employee may mutually agree in writing), such dispute shall be submitted to
the Independent Accountant and resolved pursuant to the procedures and other provisions in Sections 2.04(c)(iii)and (iv) of the
Stock Purchase Agreement. For purposes of the fee section, Employee shall replace "Sellers".
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ATTACHMENT B
TO

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

FORM OF RELEASE AND SEVERANCE AGREEMENT TO BE COMPLETED BY COMPANY IN CONNECTION WITH
SEVERANCE OF EMPLOYMENT

This Release and Severance Agreement (this "Release") is entered into by and between [___________________] ("Executive")
and ___________("Employer") and, collectively with its parent(s), subsidiary(ies), and all other related companies (collectively,
"Company"). Executive and Company are referred to herein as the "Parties."

RECITALS

A. Executive and Employer are parties to an Employment Agreement, dated as of [____________________] (the
"Employment Agreement"), which provides for severance after termination in certain circumstances, conditioned upon Executive first
signing a general release of claims following termination of Executive's employment, which release becomes irrevocable in accordance
with its terms (capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement).

B. This Release is the contemplated release of claims under the Employment Agreement, and Executive has had notice
of this Release since the Employment Agreement was executed, it being annexed thereto, and is being provided to Executive in final form
on [_________], which is no later than seven (7) days after the Executive's Separation Date (the "Presentation Date").

C. Executive's employment with Employer [ended or will end] on [___________________________] (the "Separation
Date").

D. The Parties desire to settle any and all other claims, if any, that Executive may have against Company or any of its
current or former employees and/or agents that are releasable by law.

THE PARTIES, INTENDING TO BE LEGALLY BOUND, AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

PART I

For and in consideration of the promises made herein by Executive in Part II and Part III of this Release, and his performance
thereof, the sufficiency of which, either separately or combined, is hereby acknowledged, Company agrees as follows:

1.1 Bonuses and Severance Benefits to Executive. In exchange for Executive signing this Release, complying with its
terms, and not revoking this Release, Company will pay to Executive the Exit Bonus, the Performance Bonus, the Synergy Bonus, and
earned but unpaid base compensation and annual bonuses, in case in accordance with the terms of the Employment Agreement, and the
following "Severance Benefits:" [insert description of severance pay and reimbursement of COBRA premiums]
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Payment of these Severance Benefits will begin within 14 days after (1) Executive signs this Release and returns it to Company
within the time period/deadline set forth in Part II, paragraph 2.3 below and (2) the seven (7) day revocation period in Part II, paragraph
2.4 below has expired, and Executive has not exercised his/her right to revoke this Release in accordance with Part II, paragraph 2.4
below.1 The first installment payment will include payment for any amounts accrued during the period from the Separation Date through
the date of the first installment payment.

1.2 Separate and Adequate Age Claim Consideration. The Parties expressly agree and acknowledge that a portion
of the Severance Benefits in paragraph 1.1 above represents separate and adequate consideration, to which Executive is not otherwise
entitled, in exchange for Executive's Age Claim Waiver, set out below in Part II. Company's present promise to provide this consideration
is exchanged for Executive's present release of any claims falling within the scope of the Age Claim Waiver at the time of the execution
of this Release.

PART II

For and in consideration of the promises made herein by Company in Part I of this Release, and its performance thereof, the
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Executive agrees as follows:

2.1 General Release and Waiver of All Claims and Potential Claims. Executive hereby releases all claims and potential
claims, known and unknown, against Company that are releasable by law which arise out of or are connected with his employment
with, or his separation or termination from, the Company. More specifically, for and on behalf of himself and his family, dependents,
heirs, executors, administrators and assigns, Executive hereby irrevocably and unconditionally releases Company and its respective
predecessors, successors, and all their past, present or future assigns, parents, subsidiaries, Affiliates, insurers, attorneys, divisions,
subdivisions and affiliated entities, together with their respective current and former officers, directors, shareholders, fiduciaries,
administrators, trustees, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, insurers and/or representatives, and their respective predecessors,
successors and assigns, heirs, executors, administrators, and any and all other affiliated Persons which may have an interest by or through
them (collectively "Releasees"), both jointly and individually, from any and all claims, actions, arbitrations, and lawsuits, of any nature
whatsoever, known or unknown to Executive, accrued or unaccrued, which he ever had, now has or may have had against Releasees since
the beginning of time through the date of execution of this Release which arise out of or are connected with his employment with, or his
separation or termination from, the Company. This general release and waiver of claims includes, but is not limited to, any and all claims,
demands, causes of action, suits, debts, complaints, liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, damages and expenses
that are releasable by law (including, without limitation, attorneys fees and costs actually incurred or to be incurred) of any nature or
description whatsoever, in law or equity, whether known or unknown, in connection with or arising out of his employment with Company
and/or termination of said employment. Claims being released include, without limitation, any and all employment-related claims that are
releasable by law arising under federal, state or local statutes, ordinances, resolutions, regulations or constitutional provisions prohibiting
discrimination in employment on the basis of sex, race, religion, national origin, age, disability and/or veterans' status, including, but not
limited to, claims arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1981a, 1983 and 1985, the Civil Rights Act
of the State in which Executive resides and works, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A, et seq., the Americans With Disabilities
Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Pregnancy Discrimination Act, the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Executive
Order 11246, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq., the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C.
§§ 201, et seq., the Family and Medical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 2601, et seq., the Genetic Information Non-Discrimination Act, 42
U.S.C. §§ 2000ff et seq., the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, 29 USC Section 1001 et seq., the Reconstruction Era Civil
Rights Acts, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 USC Section 2100 et seq., the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 USC
Section 1681 et seq., claims covered in Ohio Revised Code Chapters 4111, 4112, and 4113, Ohio Revised Code Section 4123.90, and any
related statutes of any other state or locality. This general release and waiver of claims also includes, but is not limited to, any and all
claims for unpaid benefits or entitlements asserted under any plan, policy, benefits offering or program (except as otherwise required by
law), any and all contract or tort claims, including, without limitation, claims of wrongful discharge, assault, battery, intentional infliction
of emotional distress, negligence, and/or defamation against Releasees.

1 The seven (7) day revocation period in paragraph 2.4 will be included in the Release only if Executive is age 40 or older at the time
the Release is signed by Executive.
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Nothing in this paragraph 2.1, paragraph 2.2, or any other provision in the remainder of this Release shall be construed to prohibit
Executive from talking to, cooperating in any investigation by, and/or filing a charge with, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (the "EEOC"), any other similar state or local fair employment practices administrative agency, or the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). However, by signing this Release, Executive hereby waives the right to recover from Releasees
any relief from any charge or claim pursued or otherwise prosecuted by him/her, or by Persons like the EEOC acting by or through
him/her, including, without limitation, the right to attorneys' fees, costs, and any other relief, whether legal or equitable, sought in such
charge, claim, or other proceeding. Additionally, he is not waiving (i) any right to receive the Exit Bonus, the Performance Bonus, the
Synergy Bonus, and earned but unpaid base compensation and annual bonuses, in case in accordance with the terms of the Employment
Agreement, and the Severance Benefits, (ii) any claim relating to directors' and officers' liability insurance coverage or any right of
indemnification under the Employment Agreement, the Company's and/or any TPB Group member’s organizational documents or
otherwise, (iii) his rights under the Stock Purchase Agreement to which the Employment Agreement is an exhibit, including, without
limitation, his rights to receive payment under the Note and other amounts, whether or not payable as of the Closing Date, to which he is
entitled pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, or (iv) any of his rights arising under the Securities Exchange Agreement which is an
exhibit to the Stock Purchase Agreement, including any of his rights as a stockholder of Standard Diversified, Inc.

2.2 Age Claim Waiver. Executive further agrees that his/her full general release includes a waiver of his/her rights, if
any, to assert or allege discrimination based upon age pursuant to the Age Discrimination in Employment Act or any and all other federal,
state or local laws or regulations prohibiting discrimination on the basis of age (collectively, "Age Claim Waiver").
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2.3 Adequate Consideration Period/Consult an Attorney. Executive acknowledges that he/she is hereby instructed
that he/she may and should consult an attorney of his/her own choosing regarding the terms of this Release, and specifically including the
Age Claim Waiver, and that he/she has been given 212 days after the Presentation Date to consider the terms of this Release and whether
to sign this Release, although Executive may choose to sign this Release prior to the expiration of this 21 day period. The Parties agree
that if Executive fails to execute this Release prior to the expiration of this 21 day period then this Release will be null and void.

2.4 Seven (7) Day Revocation Period. Executive further agrees that he/she is hereby instructed by Company that,
following his/her signing of this Release, Executive shall have up to seven (7) days to withdraw, rescind or revoke this Release by
providing written notice to [____], but that, in the event Executive exercises his/her right to withdraw or rescind this Release,
all terms of this Release, including, without limitation, Employer's duty to provide the Severance Benefits provided in Part I,
paragraph 1.1, above, shall be void and of no effect.3

2.5 Permanent Waiver of Re-employment. In order to effect the degree of separation contemplated by the Parties,
Executive acknowledges his present intent to permanently remove himself/herself from the labor pool of Company as of the Separation
Date and forever thereafter. In order to accomplish this present permanent removal from Company's labor pool, Executive agrees that
he/she will not seek and will not accept hiring, rehiring, placement, or reinstatement with Company, either as an employee, independent
contractor, temporary worker, consultant or in any other capacity.

PART III

Other Agreements

3.1 Additional Covenants by Executive. Executive represents, warrants and covenants that, as of the date he/she signs
this Release, (1) he/she is unaware of any wages (as that term is defined by applicable state law) that are owed to him/her by Company
and that have not been paid; (2) he/she is unaware of any request for leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act that was denied;
(3) he/she has no known work-related injury, disability, or illness, and has not requested any accommodation under the Americans With
Disabilities Act or similar state law that has not been satisfied; and (4) he/she is unaware of any document, circumstance, occurrence,
or any conduct on behalf of Company or any of its agents, employees, officers or directors, or any Releasee, which evidence, contain,
or constitute a violation of any law, standard, or regulation, including but not limited to federal or state securities laws, upon which
representations Company expressly relies in entering into this Release.

2 This time period would be extended to 45 days only if necessary to comply with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as
amended by the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, but in no event can this time period be longer than 45 days.

3 This seven (7) day revocation period will be included in the Release only if Executive is age 40 or older at the time the Release is
signed by Executive. If Executive is under age 40, then there will not be any revocation period.
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3.2 Knowing and Voluntary Agreement. Executive agrees and acknowledges that he/she has been advised to consult an
attorney regarding the terms of this Release and that he/she has carefully reviewed, studied and thought over the terms of this Release.
Executive further acknowledges and agrees that he/she knowingly and voluntarily entered into and signed this Release after deliberate
consideration and review of all of its terms and provisions, that he/she was not coerced, pressured or forced in any way by Company, any
Releasee or anyone else to accept the terms of this Release, and that the decision to accept the terms of this Release was entirely his/her
own.

3.3 No Wrongdoing by the Parties. The Parties further agree that they have entered this Release to resolve any and all
claims that Executive may have against Company or any other Releasee which arise out of or are connected with his employment with,
or his separation or termination from, the Company, and that this Release does not constitute an admission of, or is to be used as evidence
of, any liability, violation or wrongdoing of any kind.

3.4 Choice of Law; Interpretation; Captions. The Parties understand and agree that this Release shall in all respects
be interpreted, enforced and governed under the laws of the State of Delaware and the language of this Release shall in all cases be
interpreted as a whole, according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against either of the Parties, regardless of which is the drafter
of this Release. Captions and headings used herein are for convenience of reference only.

3.5 Exclusive Jurisdiction; Venue. The Parties understand and agree that the federal and/or state courts located in the
State of Delaware shall have exclusive jurisdiction with regard to any litigation relating to this Release and that venue shall be proper
only in the State of Delaware and any federal court whose judicial district encompasses the State of Delaware, and that any objection to
this jurisdiction or venue is specifically waived.

3.6 Entire Agreement. The Parties agree that this Release sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties on the
subject matter herein and fully supersedes any and all other prior agreements or understandings between them which arise out of or
are connected with Executive’s employment with, or his separation or termination from, the Company, except for the terms in the
Employment Agreement referred to herein and any agreements between Executive and Company regarding shortened statute of
limitations, arbitration, non-disclosure of confidential information, intellectual property, non-solicitation of customers, employees
or contractors, non-competition, and/or other restrictive covenant obligations, which agreements, if any, shall remain in full force
and effect according to their terms. This includes, without limitation, Executive's continuing obligations under Articles 6 and 7 of the
Employment Agreement. This Release may be amended or superseded only by a subsequent writing, executed by the Party against whom
enforcement is sought.

3.7 Agreement to Indemnify. The Parties agree that should Executive seek to overturn, set aside, or legally challenge any
release of claims, promise or covenant made by him/her under this Release, by judicial action or otherwise, Company and/or Releasees
shall be entitled to recover from Executive its costs of defending and enforcing the terms of this Release and/or any other claim brought
by or against Company or Releasees, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees. The Parties acknowledge and agree that
each Releasee is an intended third-party beneficiary of this Release and may enforce the terms of this Release accordingly.

[signature page follows]
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I, [____________ ], UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT THIS RELEASE CONSTITUTES A FULL AND FINAL
RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS THAT ARE RELEASABLE BY LAW.

Date:

STATE
OF )

) SS:
COUNTY
OF )

Subscribed and sworn to before me by _____ , this _______ day of _______ , 20__.

Notary
Public:

My Commission
expires:

--and--

XXXXX

By:

Title:

Date:

STATE
OF )

) SS:
COUNTY
OF )

Subscribed and sworn to before me by ______________________________, on behalf of
_______________________________, this _______ day of _______________, 20__.

Notary
Public:

My Commission
expires:
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Employment Agreement

This Employment Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into between International Vapor Group, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (the "Company"), and David Epstein, a resident of the State of Florida ("Employee"), effective as September
5, 2018 (the "Effective Date").

On the date hereof, Turning Point Brands, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer"), is acquiring all of the issued
and outstanding equity interests of the Company (the "Acquisition"). In connection with, and conditioned upon the closing of, the
Acquisition, Buyer requires the Company and Employee to enter into this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of Employee's
employment with the Company.

Employee has become and will continue to become familiar with and aware of information as to the products, customers, specific
manner of doing business, and future plans with respect thereto, of the Company and its Affiliates (as defined below), all of which have
been and will be established and maintained at significant expense to the Company. Employee agrees that this information includes trade
secrets and constitutes a valuable asset of the Company.

Employee further agrees that the restrictive covenants contained herein are reasonably necessary to protect the Company's
and its Affiliates' legitimate business interests, including but not limit to, its trade secrets, confidential business information, customer
relationships, and customer goodwill.

For good and valuable consideration provided to Employee, including, but not limited to, the compensation and benefits paid
to Employee while employed with the Company and the continuation of Employee's employment with the Company, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

Article XXI. Definitions

For the purposes of this Agreement the following definitions shall apply:

Section 21.01 "Affiliates" of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, including without limitation,
the Company's subsidiaries and Buyer and Buyer's direct and indirect parent companies.

Section 21.02 "control" (including the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
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Section 21.03 "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company,
governmental authority, unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity.

Article XXII. Employment

Section 22.01 During the Term (as defined below), the Company shall employ Employee, and Employee hereby accepts
such employment, to serve the Company as Vice President – Business Affairs, reporting to Nicolas Molina (or other
Person designated by Buyer). Subject to the direction and control of Nicolas Molina, Employee shall have such powers
and duties as are customarily associated with the position of Vice President – Business Affairs. Employee also shall
perform such other duties as may be from time to time assigned to Employee by Nicolas Molina. Employee agrees to
serve the Company competently and to devote all of his business time and attention and his best efforts to the affairs of
the Company and the performance of his duties hereunder.

Section 22.02 Employee will not, without Company's prior consent, engage in other business activities, whether or not
such business activity is pursued for profit, gain or other benefit to Executive. Executive may invest Executive's assets
in investments that do not require any services by Executive in the operation of the business in which the investments
are made. Executive may serve on boards of directors, provided that such service does not prevent Executive from
devoting full time and attention to the affairs of Company and does not create a conflict of interest with Executive's
duties and obligations to the Company.

Article XXIII. Term and Termination

Section 23.01 The term of Employee's employment with the Company under this Agreement (the "Term") shall
commence as of the Effective Date and shall end on the earlier to occur of the second anniversary of the Effective Date
or termination of Employee's employment with the Company pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.b., below.

Section 23.02 Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this Agreement, either the Company or Employee can terminate
the employment relationship at any time, for any reason or no reason, with or without Cause (provided, however, that
prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date, the Company shall not have the ability to terminate Employee
without Cause). If Employee resigns from employment with the Company, Employee will give the Company at least
30 calendar days' prior written notice of resignation. Subject to the preceding, employment will end on the termination
date stated in the Company's notice of termination to Employee or in Employee's notice of resignation to the Company,
as applicable. The Company may, in its discretion, waive any notice period stated in Employee's notice of resignation,
in which case employment will end immediately upon such waiver or alternative date stated in the waiver.
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Section 23.03 If Employee's employment is terminated for any reason, then Employee will be entitled to payment of
his base compensation under Section 4.a. through the date of termination of employment, a pro rata portion of the
annual bonus under Section 4.b. for the year of termination (as measured by the number of days that Employee was
employed during such year) and, if applicable, the applicable portion of the Exit Bonus, the Performance Bonus and
the Synergy Bonus, payable as described below, subject to execution by Employee of a Release as described in Section
4.i. below. If Employee shall terminate his employment for Good Reason, then, in addition to the foregoing, Employee
shall continue to receive, until the second anniversary of the Effective Date, payment of his base compensation under
Section 4.a., an annual bonus under Section 4.b., continued coverage under all employee benefit plans, and the Exit
Bonus, the Performance Bonus and the Synergy Bonus, payable as described below, subject to execution by Employee
of a Release as described in Section 4.i. below.

Section 23.04 A termination of employment by the Company for any of the following reasons shall be considered a
termination for "Cause" under this Agreement:

(a) Employee willfully fails to render required or expected services in accordance with this Agreement,
subject to the providing of prior written notice allowing for 30 days' opportunity cure such failure;

(b) Employee is willfully in breach any of the material terms and conditions of this Agreement, subject to the
providing of prior written notice allowing for 30 days' opportunity cure such breach;

(c) insubordination, consisting of Employee's continued willful failure to take specific action that is material to
the operation of the Company and within Employee's individual control and consistent with Employee's duties
and responsibilities subject to the providing of prior written notice allowing for 30 days' opportunity cure such
failure;

(d) Employee's willfully violates any material rule, policy, procedure or other requirement of the Company,
subject to the providing of prior written notice allowing for at least 30 days' opportunity cure such failure;

(e) Employee's commission of an act of fraud, embezzlement or similar dishonest act against the Company or
any customer, client or business associate of any of the TPB Group; or

(f) Employee's indictment or conviction for any felony or crime of dishonesty.
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e. A termination of employment by Employee for any of the following reasons shall be considered a termination for "Good
Reason" under this Agreement:

i. a decrease in the base compensation, bonus (other than the annual bonuses which may fluctuate subject to
the Company's discretion) or employee benefits identified in this Agreement (other than changes in employee benefits affecting the
Company's employees generally);

ii. a material diminution in Employee's title, role, authority or responsibilities as President or an adverse change in
Executive's reporting structure or reporting relationships;

iii. a relocation of Executive's principal office to a location that is in excess of 25 miles from the Company's principal
office as of the Effective Date; or

iv. any continued material breach by the Company of this Agreement, subject to the providing of prior written notice
allowing for at least 30 days' opportunity cure such breach.

Article XXIV Compensation

Section 24.01 Base Compensation. Employee's base compensation will be at an annual rate of $120,000, paid consistent
with the terms of this Agreement and the general payroll practices of the Company. During Employee's employment,
Employee's annual base compensation shall be subject to any adjustment approved by the Company, at its sole
discretion; provided, however, that Employee's base compensation may not be reduced.

Section 24.02 Annual Bonuses and Equity Compensation. The Company will adopt annual bonus plans that are consistent
with Turning Point Brands, Inc.'s bonus plans, which allows Employee a bonus potential of 10% to 50% (the exact
percentage being subject to the Company's discretion) of Employee's compensation. All annual bonuses will be paid
by March 15th of the calendar year after the year for which the bonus is earned, regardless of whether or not Employee
shall remain employed as of the date of payment. Employee will also be eligible for equity awards such as restricted
equity or equity options as are applicable to the Company's executive employees generally, to the extent such plans are
adopted by the Company.

Section 24.03 Exit Bonus.

(a) Unless Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than Good Reason within six
months after the Effective Date and subject to the terms of Section 4.i., Employee will be entitled to a bonus (the
"Exit Bonus") equal to the greater of (A) $600,000, if the Combined Two-Year EBITDA is equal to or greater
than Target EBITDA, or (B) a percentage of the $600,000, equal to the percentage the Combined Two-Year
EBITDA is of Target EBITDA (e.g., if the Combined Two-Year EBITDA amount is 65% of the Target EBITDA,
then the Exit Bonus will be 65% of $600,000).
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(b) The Exit Bonus will be paid during the 60-day period beginning 30 days after the second annual
anniversary of the Effective Date once the final Combined Two-Year EBITDA is calculated.

(c) "Target EBITDA" means an amount equal to $8,000,000 (representing the Term 1 EBITDA Target)
plus an amount (representing the Term 2 EBITDA Target) equal to 110% of Term 1 consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA of the following combined entities, divisions, business units, websites and brands, as the case may be:
(A) the Company; (B) Vapor Shark; (C) retail operations of Vapor Supply; (D) any new division or business
originating from the ecig.com website (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the ecig.com name or
website, including but not limited to eCig.com Arlington LLC, eCig.com Austin LLC, and eCig.com LLC); and
(E) any new division or business originating from the relaunch of the DripCo e-liquid brand (i.e., excluding
any existing business utilizing the DripCo e-liquid brand, including but not limited to DripCo.com LLC); plus
Adjusted EBITDA for Vapor Beast during the Term 1 period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if and
to the extent that Employee's duties shall be expanded to include management of any other existing TPB Group
business, and/or any business which may be acquired by any TPB Group business (including the Company) after
the date hereof, the parties will negotiate in good faith to include the EBITDA of such additional and/or acquired
business in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and to agree upon a revised Target EBITDA figure reflecting
such inclusion and the additional management duties of Employee.

(d) "Combined Two-Year EBITDA" means the Term 1 EBITDA Amount plus the Term 2 EBITDA Amount.

(e) "Term 1 EBITDA Amount" means the Term 1 consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the following entities,
divisions, business units, websites and brands, as the case may be: (A) the Company; (B) Vapor Shark; (C)
retail operations of Vapor Supply; (D) any new division or business originating from the ecig.com website (i.e.,
excluding any existing business utilizing the ecig.com name or website, including but not limited to eCig.com
Arlington LLC, eCig.com Austin LLC, and eCig.com LLC); and (E) any new division or business originating
from the relaunch of the DripCo e-liquid brand (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the DripCo e-
liquid brand, including but not limited to DripCo.com LLC).

(f) "Term 2 EBITDA Amount" means the Term 2 consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the following combined
entities, divisions, business units, websites and brands, as the case may be: (A) the Company; (B) Vapor Shark;
(C) retail operations of Vapor Supply; (D) any new division or business originating from the ecig.com website
(i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the ecig.com name or website, including but not limited to
eCig.com Arlington LLC, eCig.com Austin LLC, and eCig.com LLC); and (E) any new division or business
originating from the relaunch of the DripCo e-liquid brand (i.e., excluding any existing business utilizing the
DripCo e-liquid brand, including but not limited to DripCo.com LLC); and (F) Vapor Beast.
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(g) "Term 1" means the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the first anniversary of the
Effective Date.

(h) "Term 2" means the period commencing on the first anniversary of Effective Date and ending on the second
anniversary date of the Effective Date.

(i) "Adjusted EBITDA" means the unadjusted aggregate EBITDA of the entities, division, business units,
websites and brands included in the definition of “Target EBITDA” on a consolidated basis (each an “Included
Business”), excluding from the calculation thereof the following items: (A) all FDA PMTA and related costs,
(B) all nonrecurring or startup costs associated with new liquid production capabilities or similar endeavors,
(C) any fees, costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Company or Buyer in connection with the
Acquisition, including but not limited to any brokerage fees, commissions, finders' fees, investment banking
fees and financial advisory fees, fees paid to lenders, legal expenses and payments to other individual service
providers, in each case in connection with the Acquisition, (D) any salaries, bonuses, benefits, reimbursements
or consulting, management or other fees paid to Buyer or its Affiliates, (E) any expenses related to the board
of directors (or equivalent) of the Included Businesses, (F) any earnings and/or losses from any business
acquisitions by any Included Business, (G) any fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with pursuing
or consummating any business acquisitions by any Included Business, (H) any incentive compensation, Exit
Bonus, Performance Bonus, or other bonus compensation paid or payable to Nicolas Molina and David
Epstein, (I) product launch costs, (J) non-recurring one-time costs and expenses incurred in connection with
operating improvements, restructurings and other similar initiatives, (K) corporate or parent selling, general and
administrative overhead allocations, and (L) any and all other types of fees, costs and expenses as the parties
may mutually agree.

(j) "EBITDA" means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, as determined in
accordance with GAAP.
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Section 24.04 Performance Bonus. Unless Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than
Good Reason prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date, then Employee will be entitled to an additional
bonus (the "Performance Bonus"), payable during the 90-day period beginning 30 days after the second annual
anniversary of the Effective Date once the final Combined Two-Year EBITDA is calculated. If Combined Two-
Year EBITDA exceeds Target EBITDA, then the Company shall pay Employee a $300,000 Performance Bonus. If
Combined Two-Year EBITDA is less than Target EBITDA, then Employee will be entitled to an amount equal to
a percentage of $300,000, equal to the percentage the Combined Two-Year EBITDA is of Target EBITDA (e.g., if
Combined Two-Year EBITDA amount is 45% of Target EBITDA, then the Performance Bonus will be $135,000 (45%
of $300,000)). If Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than Good Reason prior to the
second anniversary of the Effective Date, then Employee will be entitled to a percentage of the Performance Bonus
amount calculated above equal to the percentage of the two-year period during which Employee remained employed
by the Company (e.g., if Employee is employed for 14 months and the Two-Year EBITDA Amount is 45% of Target
EBITDA, then he would be entitled to 14/24 of $135,000).

Section 24.05 Synergy Bonus.

(a) Unless Employee shall have voluntarily terminated his employment for other than Good Reason prior to the
second anniversary of the Effective Date, then the Company will pay Employee an additional bonus amount to
reflect the amount of synergies created with respect to the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending
on the second anniversary of the Effective Date through the Acquisition (the "Synergy Bonus"). Attachment A
sets forth the procedures for determining the amount of the Synergy Bonus.

(b) The Synergy Bonus will be an amount equal to 7.5% of calculated synergies, up to a maximum Synergy
Bonus of $450,000. Any annual cash bonus amounts paid or payable to Employee under Section 4.b. of this
Agreement or otherwise with respect to the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the second
anniversary of the Effective Date shall reduce dollar-for-dollar any Synergy Bonus amount payable to Employee.

(c) Subject to the procedures set forth on Attachment A, the Synergy Bonus, if applicable, will be paid within
90 days after the second anniversary of the Effective Date, but in no event shall the Synergy Bonus be paid later
than March 15th of the calendar year after the calendar year in which the second anniversary of the Effective
Date occurs.

Section 24.06 Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Achieve Bonus Amounts. The Company will use commercially
reasonable efforts to maximize the Employee's ability to earn the Synergy, Exit and Performance bonus amounts
payable under this Agreement, subject to the application of the business judgment rule and fiduciary duties. In
particular, the Company will not take any action with respect to a material asset of the Company with the intent of
reducing the Company's operational capacity or profitability or take any action, directly or indirectly, in bad faith with
the purpose of avoiding or reducing the Company's obligation with respect to the Synergy, Exit or Performance Bonus,
provided that nothing in this paragraph shall require the Company to continue to employ the Employee for any period
of time beyond the Term.
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Section 24.07 Calculations. The Combined Two-Year EBITDA Amount and any other amounts to be calculated under
this Agreement shall be determined by the Company's regular finance and accounting staff in good faith. The Company
may (but is not obligated to) seek review of calculations by the Company's regularly employed accounting firm (which
shall be a nationally-recognized accounting firm selected by the Company and may be the accounting firm employed
by Buyer), and in that case the accounting firm's determination shall be final and binding on the Company and the
Employee.

Section 24.08 Change in Control. Unless Employee shall have previously voluntarily terminated his employment
for other than Good Reason, if there is a Change in Control prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date,
Employee will be entitled to the maximum Exit Bonus ($600,000) and Performance Bonus ($300,000) possible under
this Agreement. Such bonus amounts will be paid within 30 days of the closing of the Change in Control. For purposes
of this provision, "Change in Control" means any person or group of persons within the meaning of § 13(d)(3) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 who are not affiliated with Buyer or Buyer's Affiliates, acquires, directly or indirectly,
ownership or control of at least 51% of the Company's equity, or acquires all or substantially all of the Company's
assets, provided that in each case the Change in Control constitutes a change in the ownership or effective control of
the Company or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company under Internal Revenue Code
(the "Code") Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

Section 24.09 Release. If any Exit Bonus, Performance Bonus, Synergy Bonus or other amount is to be paid to Employee
following Employee's termination of employment with the Company, Employee shall be entitled to payment of such
amount(s) only if Employee signs and delivers to Company, and does not revoke, a general release of all claims
Employee has or may have against the Company, its affiliates and their respective employees and directors, in the form
attached hereto as Attachment B (the "Release"), and returned no later than 14 days before the latest date the bonus can
be paid under the terms of this Agreement or such earlier deadline set by the Company for return of the Release.

Section 24.10 Other Fringe Benefits. Employee will be eligible for Company benefits and incentives appropriate for
his position and to the extent such items are offered by the Company. For the period through December 31, 2018,
Employee's fringe benefits will be consistent with those provided by International Vapor Group, Inc. for calendar
year 2018 prior to entering into this Agreement. For the period commencing January 1, 2019, the Company's and
Employee's fringe benefits will generally be consistent with those provided to employees of Turning Point Brands, Inc.,
subject to applicable plan and legal requirements.

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Section 24.11 Tax Withholding. The Company shall withhold and deduct from the compensation paid to Employee
amounts as may be required under applicable tax law. Employee shall be responsible for any employee tax liability
arising as a result of the compensation payable under the terms of this Agreement.

2. Confidential Information

Section 24.12 For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Confidential Information" means all confidential, proprietary,
and/or non-public information, whether or not in a written or recorded form, concerning the business and affairs of the
Company and its Affiliates. Confidential Information shall include, but shall not be limited to, information concerning:

(a) the terms and conditions of this Agreement;

(b) trade secrets concerning the business of the Company and any of its Affiliates, data, know-how, processes,
designs, and samples relating to the Company and its Affiliates;

(c) the Company's suppliers, customers, prospective customers, and contracts or arrangements (including
special terms and deals); and

(d) the Company's financial condition, results of operations, marketing plans, business plans, operations,
pricing, promotions, and business strategies and methods.

Section 24.13 Employee acknowledges and agrees that all Confidential Information is the sole and exclusive property
of the TPB Group. Accordingly, both during and after employment with the Company (whether such separation from
employment is voluntary or involuntary, or with or without cause), Employee shall not use, or disclose to any third
party, any Confidential Information for any reason other than as intended within the scope of Employee's employment
or as approved by the Company in writing.

Section 24.14 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Employee may disclose Confidential Information
to the extent such disclosure is required by law or legal process, provided that Employee shall, if permitted by law,
give prompt written notice of any such request for such information to the Company prior to making such disclosure.
Employee agrees to cooperate with the Company to the extent practicable or lawful to challenge the request for
information or limit the scope thereof, as the Company may reasonably deem appropriate.

Section 24.15 Upon separation of employment for any reason, or at any other time upon request of the Company,
Employee shall immediately deliver to the Company all documents, materials, and data (including copies thereof)
relating to the business of the Company and its Affiliates. Further, upon the written request of the Company, Employee
shall erase any Confidential Information stored by electronic means from any computer or other device personally
owned, maintained and/or used by Employee.
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Article XXV. Non-Compete; Non-Solicitation; Non-Disparagement

Section 25.01 Non-Compete. During Employee's employment with the Company and for a period of two (2) years
following termination of employment for any reason or no reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, engage
in, own, manage, operate, finance, control, or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of
any business which (i) engages in the design, manufacture, marketing, advertising, sale and promotion of electronic
nicotine delivery systems (ENDS), including without limitation, electronic cigarette products, vaporizers, tanks and
mods, e-liquids, and related accessories (collectively, the "Restricted Business") anywhere in the United States or the
world where the Company, Turning Point Brands, Inc., the Buyer, or their respective subsidiaries (collectively, the
"TPB Group") engaged in the Restricted Business during Employee's employment with the Company or in which the
Company had plans to participate at the time of Employee's employment, or (ii) competes with the products which are
being manufactured or sold by any of the TPB Group on the date of the termination of employment. Notwithstanding
the foregoing restriction, Employee may purchase or acquire in the aggregate, as a passive investment, up to (but not
more than) five percent of any class of securities of any enterprise which is engaged in competitive activities if such
securities are listed on any national securities exchange or have been registered under the applicable provisions of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any foreign securities exchange, provided Employee does not otherwise participate
in any activities of the enterprise.

Section 25.02 Non-Solicitation. During Employee's employment with the Company and for a period of two (2) years
after termination of Employee's employment with the Company for any reason or no reason, Employee will not (i)
directly or indirectly, attempt to induce any person who is an employee of any of the TPB Group (including any person
who was employed with the Company during the two-year period immediately prior to Employee's employment with
the Company) to leave the employ of any of the TPB Group or directly or indirectly employ such person; (ii) directly or
indirectly solicit or attempt to solicit or assist anyone else to solicit any client or person or entity specifically identified
as a potential client of any of the TPB Group as of the date of Employee's termination of employment, for the purpose
related to a Restricted Business or selling products or services similar to those sold by any of the TPB Group; (iii)
directly or indirectly solicit or attempt to solicit, or assist anyone else to solicit any potential target identified by any of
the TPB Group within the 12 month period prior to the date of Employee's termination of employment, as a candidate
for acquisition by any of the TPB Group, for the purpose of acquiring such candidate; or (iv) directly or indirectly,
solicit a customer or client of, supplier to or other party having material business relations with any of the TPB Group.
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Section 25.03 Non-Disparagement. Each party agrees that during and after termination of Employee's employment with
the Company, he or it will not disparage the other party or any of his or its Affiliates, directors, officers, employees or
agents or assist in or encourage any activity or efforts to damage the business reputation or goodwill of the other party
and his or its Affiliates, including their relationships with the public, customers, and employees. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, neither Employee nor the Company shall be restricted from making any disclosures as may be necessary to
comply with applicable law.

Article XXVI. Enforcement of Restrictive Covenants

Section 26.01 Because of the difficulty in measuring economic losses to the TPB Group as the result of a breach
of covenants in Section 6 of this Agreement, Employee agrees that damages at law for violation of the restrictive
covenants contained herein would not be an adequate or proper remedy to the TPB Group. If Employee violates any of
the provisions of such covenants, Employee agrees that any of the TPB Group shall be entitled to obtain a temporary or
permanent injunction, as appropriate, against Employee in any court having jurisdiction over the person and the subject
matter, prohibiting any further violation of any such covenants. None of the TPB Group shall not be required to post
bond. The injunctive relief provided herein shall be in addition to any award of damages, compensatory, exemplary or
otherwise, payable by reason of such violation.

Section 26.02 Employee represents and acknowledges the restrictive covenants set forth in Section 6 of this Agreement
do not in any respect inhibit Employee's ability to earn a livelihood in his chosen profession without violating the
restrictive covenants contained herein. The TPB Group by these covenants has attempted to limit Employee's right to
compete only to the extent necessary to protect the Company from unfair competition.

Section 26.03 The parties agree that the restrictive covenants contained in Section 6 of this Agreement are severable, and
the unenforceability of any specific covenant shall not affect the provisions of any other covenant. Moreover, in the
event any court of competent jurisdiction shall determine that the scope, time or territorial restrictions set forth herein
are unenforceable, then it is the intention of the parties that such restrictions be enforced to the fullest extent which
the court deems reasonable, and this Agreement shall thereby be reformed. All of the covenants in Section 6 of this
Agreement shall be construed as an agreement independent of any other provision in this Agreement, and the existence
of any claim or cause of action of Employee against any of the TPB Group, whether predicated on this Agreement or
otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by any of the TPB Group of such covenants.
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Section 26.04 It is specifically agreed by the parties that the restrictive periods following the termination of Employee's
employment stated in Section 6 of this Agreement shall be computed by excluding from such computation any time
during which Employee is in violation of any provision of Section 6 of this Agreement. Each member of the TPB
Group is a third-party beneficiary of Section 6 of this Agreement and may enforce its terms against Employee.

Article XXVII. Work Product

Section 27.01 Employee acknowledges that all inventions, innovations, improvements, developments, methods, designs,
analyses, drawings, reports, and all similar or related information (whether or not patentable) which relate to any of the
TPB Group's actual or anticipated business, research and development, or existing or future products or services, and
which are conceived, developed, made, or reduced to practice by Employee, alone or with others, while employed by
the Company (collectively, "Work Product") belong exclusively to applicable member of the TPB Group. Employee
hereby assigns to the Company all right, title, and interest in and to such Work Product. Employee shall promptly
disclose such Work Product to the Company and perform all actions reasonably requested by the Company (whether
during or after employment) to establish and confirm such ownership (including, without limitation, the execution of
assignments, consents, powers of attorney, and other instruments).

Section 27.02 Employee further acknowledges and agrees that all writings and documentation of any kind produced by
Employee in the course of working for the Company, are works for hire (as that term is defined by U.S. Copyright
law) and the property of the Company, without payment or royalty or any other consideration to Employee, including,
without limitation, any copyrights in such writings and documentation. To the extent that any such works may not,
by operation of law or otherwise, be a work made for hire, Employee hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company
copyright in such works, whether published or unpublished, and agrees to take any such additional steps, including,
without limitation, all those specified in Section 8.a, to secure and maintain such copyright for the Company.

Article XXVIII. Negotiation and Drafting

Employee acknowledges that this Agreement has been negotiated at arms' length by the parties. Neither of the parties is under
any compulsion to enter into this Agreement. This Agreement is deemed to have been drafted jointly by the parties. Any uncertainty or
ambiguity will not be construed for or against any party based on attribution of drafting to any other party.

Article XXIX. Notices

All notices or deliveries authorized or required pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by registered
or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; by facsimile; or by national overnight delivery service, and addressed to the
intended recipient as set forth below:
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To the Company: International Vapor Group, LLC
c/o Turning Point Brands, Inc.
5201 Interchange Way
Louisville, Kentucky 40229
E-mail: jdobbins@tpbi.com
Attention: James Dobbins

To Employee: David Epstein
5501 SW 198th Ter
Southwest Ranches, Florida 33332
E-mail: david@internationalvapor.com

Notice sent by certified or registered mail or by overnight delivery will be effective upon the date of receipt or of refusal as
indicated by the U.S. Postal Service "green card" or by the overnight delivery records. Notice sent by facsimile will be effective upon
receipt as confirmed by a machine-printed report of successful transmission. Any party may change the address to which notices and
other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving the other party notice in the manner set forth in this Agreement.

Article XXX. Termination of Prior Agreements

The Company and Employee hereby acknowledge and agree that any employment, compensation, confidentiality, non-
solicitation and/or similar agreement or arrangement between Employee, on one hand, and the Company or its corporate predecessor, on
the other hand, entered into prior to the Effective Date (each, a "Prior Agreement") is hereby terminated and that, as of the Effective Date,
neither the Company nor its predecessor corporation shall have any further responsibility for any obligation or liability under any Prior
Agreement.

Article XXXI. Entire Agreement

This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, oral or written, between the parties with respect to the matters
contained in this Agreement, including any Prior Agreements. Employee has no oral representations, understandings or agreements with
the Company or any of its officers, directors or representatives covering the same subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement
shall not be modified in any manner except by instrument in writing signed by, or on behalf of, the parties hereto. Any of the terms and
conditions of this Agreement may be waived in writing at any time only by the party which is entitled to the benefits thereof. No waiver
of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions hereof (whether or not
similar).
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Article XXXII. Survival

All provisions of this Agreement that by their nature are intended to survive termination of this Agreement, including, without
limitation Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 17, and 20 shall survive termination of this Agreement and continue in full force in
accordance with their terms.

Article XXXIII. Applicable Law

This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to the conflicts of
laws principles thereof. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction
of the courts located in the State of Delaware, for any action, proceeding or investigation in any state or federal court or before any
governmental authority arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and further agrees not to
commence any litigation relating thereto except in such courts. Each of the parties hereto agrees that service of any process, summons,
notice or document by U.S. registered mail to its respective address set forth in this Agreement or subsequent notified change of address,
shall be effective service of process for any litigation brought against it.

Article XXXIV. Compliance with Internal Revenue Code Section 409A

a. In the event that Section 409A of the Code applies to any provisions of this Agreement, it is intended that such
provisions comply with the requirements of Section 409A and this Agreement shall be construed and administered in accordance
with Section 409A. Any payments under this Agreement that may be excluded from Section 409A as a short-term deferral shall be
excluded from Section 409A to the maximum extent possible. If a payment is to be made during a period of time such as a 90-day
period, Employee shall have no right to designate the payment date. For purposes of Section 409A, each installment payment provided
under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. Any payments to be made under this Agreement upon a termination of
employment shall only be made upon a "separation from service" under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Company makes
no representations that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement comply with, or are exempt from compliance from,
Section 409A and in no event shall Company be liable for all or any portion of any taxes, penalties, interest or other expenses that may
be incurred by Employee on account of non-compliance with Section 409A.

b. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any payment or benefit provided to Employee in connection
with his termination of employment is determined to constitute "nonqualified deferred compensation" within the meaning of Section
409A that is not exempt from Section 409A and Employee is determined to be a "specified employee" as defined in Section
409A(a)(2)(b)(i), then such payment or benefit shall not be paid until the first payroll date to occur following the six-month anniversary of
the date of termination (the "Specified Employee Payment Date") to the extent required by Section 409A. The aggregate of any payments
that would otherwise have been paid before the Specified Employee Payment Date shall be paid to Employee in a lump sum on the
Specified Employee Payment Date and thereafter, any remaining payments shall be paid without delay in accordance with their original
schedule.
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Article XXXV. Assignment

This Agreement shall be binding upon, and is intended to inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by, each of the parties and its
or his successors and assigns (including, in the case of the Company, each successor to the Company by reason of a change of control).
Accordingly, Employee agrees that the Company may freely assign this Agreement or any payroll, benefits and other related functions, to
Buyer or any of its Affiliates without Employee's consent, and Employee will continue to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement
for the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns, any of which may enforce the Company's rights under this Agreement.
Employee may not assign or delegate Employee's obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Company.

Article XXXVI. Severability

Any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, shall, as to that jurisdiction,
be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms and
provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement in any other
jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is so broad as to be unenforceable, the provision shall be interpreted to be only so broad
as is enforceable.

Article XXXVII.Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall
constitute one and the same Agreement.

Article XXXVIII. Headings

Headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be used to interpret or construe its provisions.

Article XXXIX. Key Man Insurance

Employee acknowledges that the Company may wish to purchase insurance on the life of Employee, the proceeds of which
would be payable to a member of the TPB Group. Employee hereby consents to such insurance and agrees to submit to any medical
examination and release of medical records required to obtain such insurance.

Article XL. JURY TRIAL WAIVER AS TO ALL CLAIMS

Employee and the Company each hereby knowingly waives any right either of them may have to a trial by jury with
respect to any action or proceeding related to or arising out of any claims, whether statutory, contractual, or at common law,
under or in conjunction with this Agreement, Employee's employment with the Company or the termination of such employment,
including any claims of discrimination. The parties agree that this waiver of the right to jury trial is done knowingly, voluntarily,
and free from duress or coercion. The parties understand that they have a right to consult with a person of their choosing,
including an attorney, before signing this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth above, but effective as of the
Effective Date.

INTERNATIONAL VAPOR

GROUP, LLC EMPLOYEE

By /s/ Robert M. Lavan /s/ David Epstein
David Epstein, Individually

Title:Chief Financial Officer
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ATTACHMENT A

Applicable Synergies and Baseline for Calculating Synergies

Synergies shall be collaboratively determined in good faith by the Company and Employee, and shall include, but not be limited to:

(A) the Company bottling its eliquids in-house instead of through their current outsourced co-packer,

(B) elimination of employees due to redundancy, and

(C) elimination of warehouse facilities as a result of centralizing fulfillment.

The Company and Employee shall negotiate in good faith and shall mutually agree upon the complete list of synergies, as well as the
financial baselines to be used to determine the amount of synergies created.

Procedure for determining the Synergy Bonus:

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the second anniversary of the Effective Date, the Company shall deliver to the
Employee a report (the "Synergy Bonus Statement") calculating the amount of the Synergy Bonus.

(b) Following the delivery by the Company of the Synergy Bonus Statement, and continuing until the amount of the
Synergy Bonus has been finally determined in accordance with the terms hereof, the Company shall (i) permit the Employee, his
accountants and other relevant representatives to consult with the Company's accountants, and (ii) provide to the Employee, its
accountants and other relevant representatives reasonable access during reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances to
all relevant books and records of the Company relating to the preparation of the Synergy Bonus Statement, in each case upon
prior written notice as reasonably requested by the Employee in connection with its review thereof.

(c) Within 90 days following receipt by the Employee of the Synergy Bonus Statement, the Employee may deliver to
the Company written notice (a "Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice") of the Sellers' disagreement with the calculation of
the Synergy Bonus in the Synergy Bonus Statement, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail (i) the basis for such
disagreement and Employee's determination of the items in dispute and (ii) based thereon, the Employee's calculation of the
Synergy Bonus. If the Employee does not deliver a Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice within such 90 day period, or if
anytime during such period the Employee delivers a written notice to the Company that it accepts the Synergy Bonus Statement
as prepared and delivered by the Company, the Employee shall be deemed to have accepted the Synergy Bonus Statement as
final, conclusive and binding in all respects. Any item not identified and disputed in the Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice
shall be deemed final, conclusive and binding on the parties as set forth in the Synergy Bonus Statement.
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(d) During the thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of a Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice, the Company
and the Employee shall seek in good faith to resolve in writing any differences which they have with respect to the matters
specified therein. If the Company and the Employee are unable to resolve in good faith the disputed items set forth in the Synergy
Bonus Disagreement Notice within thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of the Synergy Bonus Disagreement Notice
(or such longer period as the Company and the Employee may mutually agree in writing), such dispute shall be submitted to
the Independent Accountant and resolved pursuant to the procedures and other provisions in Sections 2.04(c)(iii)and (iv) of the
Stock Purchase Agreement. For purposes of the fee section, Employee shall replace "Sellers".
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ATTACHMENT B
TO

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

FORM OF RELEASE AND SEVERANCE AGREEMENT TO BE COMPLETED BY COMPANY IN CONNECTION WITH
SEVERANCE OF EMPLOYMENT

This Release and Severance Agreement (this "Release") is entered into by and between [___________________] ("Executive")
and ___________("Employer") and, collectively with its parent(s), subsidiary(ies), and all other related companies (collectively,
"Company"). Executive and Company are referred to herein as the "Parties."

RECITALS

A. Executive and Employer are parties to an Employment Agreement, dated as of [____________________] (the
"Employment Agreement"), which provides for severance after termination in certain circumstances, conditioned upon Executive first
signing a general release of claims following termination of Executive's employment, which release becomes irrevocable in accordance
with its terms (capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement).

B. This Release is the contemplated release of claims under the Employment Agreement, and Executive has had notice
of this Release since the Employment Agreement was executed, it being annexed thereto, and is being provided to Executive in final form
on [_________], which is no later than seven (7) days after the Executive's Separation Date (the "Presentation Date").

C. Executive's employment with Employer [ended or will end] on [___________________________] (the "Separation
Date").

D. The Parties desire to settle any and all other claims, if any, that Executive may have against Company or any of its
current or former employees and/or agents that are releasable by law.

THE PARTIES, INTENDING TO BE LEGALLY BOUND, AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

PART I

For and in consideration of the promises made herein by Executive in Part II and Part III of this Release, and his performance
thereof, the sufficiency of which, either separately or combined, is hereby acknowledged, Company agrees as follows:

1.2 Bonuses and Severance Benefits to Executive. In exchange for Executive signing this Release, complying with its
terms, and not revoking this Release, Company will pay to Executive the Exit Bonus, the Performance Bonus, the Synergy Bonus, and
earned but unpaid base compensation and annual bonuses, in case in accordance with the terms of the Employment Agreement, and the
following "Severance Benefits:" [insert description of severance pay and reimbursement of COBRA premiums]
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Payment of these Severance Benefits will begin within 14 days after (1) Executive signs this Release and returns it to Company
within the time period/deadline set forth in Part II, paragraph 2.3 below and (2) the seven (7) day revocation period in Part II, paragraph
2.4 below has expired, and Executive has not exercised his/her right to revoke this Release in accordance with Part II, paragraph 2.4
below.4 The first installment payment will include payment for any amounts accrued during the period from the Separation Date through
the date of the first installment payment.

1.2 Separate and Adequate Age Claim Consideration. The Parties expressly agree and acknowledge that a portion
of the Severance Benefits in paragraph 1.1 above represents separate and adequate consideration, to which Executive is not otherwise
entitled, in exchange for Executive's Age Claim Waiver, set out below in Part II. Company's present promise to provide this consideration
is exchanged for Executive's present release of any claims falling within the scope of the Age Claim Waiver at the time of the execution
of this Release.

PART II

For and in consideration of the promises made herein by Company in Part I of this Release, and its performance thereof, the
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Executive agrees as follows:

2.1 General Release and Waiver of All Claims and Potential Claims. Executive hereby releases all claims and potential
claims, known and unknown, against Company that are releasable by law which arise out of or are connected with his employment
with, or his separation or termination from, the Company. More specifically, for and on behalf of himself and his family, dependents,
heirs, executors, administrators and assigns, Executive hereby irrevocably and unconditionally releases Company and its respective
predecessors, successors, and all their past, present or future assigns, parents, subsidiaries, Affiliates, insurers, attorneys, divisions,
subdivisions and affiliated entities, together with their respective current and former officers, directors, shareholders, fiduciaries,
administrators, trustees, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, insurers and/or representatives, and their respective predecessors,
successors and assigns, heirs, executors, administrators, and any and all other affiliated Persons which may have an interest by or through
them (collectively "Releasees"), both jointly and individually, from any and all claims, actions, arbitrations, and lawsuits, of any nature
whatsoever, known or unknown to Executive, accrued or unaccrued, which he ever had, now has or may have had against Releasees since
the beginning of time through the date of execution of this Release which arise out of or are connected with his employment with, or his
separation or termination from, the Company. This general release and waiver of claims includes, but is not limited to, any and all claims,
demands, causes of action, suits, debts, complaints, liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, damages and expenses
that are releasable by law (including, without limitation, attorneys fees and costs actually incurred or to be incurred) of any nature or
description whatsoever, in law or equity, whether known or unknown, in connection with or arising out of his employment with Company
and/or termination of said employment. Claims being released include, without limitation, any and all employment-related claims that are
releasable by law arising under federal, state or local statutes, ordinances, resolutions, regulations or constitutional provisions prohibiting
discrimination in employment on the basis of sex, race, religion, national origin, age, disability and/or veterans' status, including, but not
limited to, claims arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981, 1981a, 1983 and 1985, the Civil Rights Act
of the State in which Executive resides and works, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A, et seq., the Americans With Disabilities
Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Pregnancy Discrimination Act, the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Executive
Order 11246, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq., the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C.
§§ 201, et seq., the Family and Medical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 2601, et seq., the Genetic Information Non-Discrimination Act, 42
U.S.C. §§ 2000ff et seq., the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, 29 USC Section 1001 et seq., the Reconstruction Era Civil
Rights Acts, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 USC Section 2100 et seq., the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 USC
Section 1681 et seq., claims covered in Ohio Revised Code Chapters 4111, 4112, and 4113, Ohio Revised Code Section 4123.90, and any
related statutes of any other state or locality. This general release and waiver of claims also includes, but is not limited to, any and all
claims for unpaid benefits or entitlements asserted under any plan, policy, benefits offering or program (except as otherwise required by
law), any and all contract or tort claims, including, without limitation, claims of wrongful discharge, assault, battery, intentional infliction
of emotional distress, negligence, and/or defamation against Releasees.

4 The seven (7) day revocation period in paragraph 2.4 will be included in the Release only if Executive is age 40 or older at the time
the Release is signed by Executive.
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Nothing in this paragraph 2.1, paragraph 2.2, or any other provision in the remainder of this Release shall be construed to prohibit
Executive from talking to, cooperating in any investigation by, and/or filing a charge with, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (the "EEOC"), any other similar state or local fair employment practices administrative agency, or the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). However, by signing this Release, Executive hereby waives the right to recover from Releasees
any relief from any charge or claim pursued or otherwise prosecuted by him/her, or by Persons like the EEOC acting by or through
him/her, including, without limitation, the right to attorneys' fees, costs, and any other relief, whether legal or equitable, sought in such
charge, claim, or other proceeding. Additionally, he is not waiving (i) any right to receive the Exit Bonus, the Performance Bonus, the
Synergy Bonus, and earned but unpaid base compensation and annual bonuses, in case in accordance with the terms of the Employment
Agreement, and the Severance Benefits, (ii) any claim relating to directors' and officers' liability insurance coverage or any right of
indemnification under the Employment Agreement, the Company's and/or any TPB Group member’s organizational documents or
otherwise, (iii) his rights under the Stock Purchase Agreement to which the Employment Agreement is an exhibit, including, without
limitation, his rights to receive payment under the Note and other amounts, whether or not payable as of the Closing Date, to which he is
entitled pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, or (iv) any of his rights arising under the Securities Exchange Agreement which is an
exhibit to the Stock Purchase Agreement, including any of his rights as a stockholder of Standard Diversified, Inc.

2.2 Age Claim Waiver. Executive further agrees that his/her full general release includes a waiver of his/her rights, if
any, to assert or allege discrimination based upon age pursuant to the Age Discrimination in Employment Act or any and all other federal,
state or local laws or regulations prohibiting discrimination on the basis of age (collectively, "Age Claim Waiver").
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2.3 Adequate Consideration Period/Consult an Attorney. Executive acknowledges that he/she is hereby instructed
that he/she may and should consult an attorney of his/her own choosing regarding the terms of this Release, and specifically including the
Age Claim Waiver, and that he/she has been given 215 days after the Presentation Date to consider the terms of this Release and whether
to sign this Release, although Executive may choose to sign this Release prior to the expiration of this 21 day period. The Parties agree
that if Executive fails to execute this Release prior to the expiration of this 21 day period then this Release will be null and void.

2.4 Seven (7) Day Revocation Period. Executive further agrees that he/she is hereby instructed by Company that,
following his/her signing of this Release, Executive shall have up to seven (7) days to withdraw, rescind or revoke this Release by
providing written notice to [____], but that, in the event Executive exercises his/her right to withdraw or rescind this Release,
all terms of this Release, including, without limitation, Employer's duty to provide the Severance Benefits provided in Part I,
paragraph 1.1, above, shall be void and of no effect.6

2.5 Permanent Waiver of Re-employment. In order to effect the degree of separation contemplated by the Parties,
Executive acknowledges his present intent to permanently remove himself/herself from the labor pool of Company as of the Separation
Date and forever thereafter. In order to accomplish this present permanent removal from Company's labor pool, Executive agrees that
he/she will not seek and will not accept hiring, rehiring, placement, or reinstatement with Company, either as an employee, independent
contractor, temporary worker, consultant or in any other capacity.

PART III

Other Agreements

3.1 Additional Covenants by Executive. Executive represents, warrants and covenants that, as of the date he/she signs
this Release, (1) he/she is unaware of any wages (as that term is defined by applicable state law) that are owed to him/her by Company
and that have not been paid; (2) he/she is unaware of any request for leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act that was denied;
(3) he/she has no known work-related injury, disability, or illness, and has not requested any accommodation under the Americans With
Disabilities Act or similar state law that has not been satisfied; and (4) he/she is unaware of any document, circumstance, occurrence,
or any conduct on behalf of Company or any of its agents, employees, officers or directors, or any Releasee, which evidence, contain,
or constitute a violation of any law, standard, or regulation, including but not limited to federal or state securities laws, upon which
representations Company expressly relies in entering into this Release.

5 This time period would be extended to 45 days only if necessary to comply with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as
amended by the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, but in no event can this time period be longer than 45 days.

6 This seven (7) day revocation period will be included in the Release only if Executive is age 40 or older at the time the Release is
signed by Executive. If Executive is under age 40, then there will not be any revocation period.
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3.2 Knowing and Voluntary Agreement. Executive agrees and acknowledges that he/she has been advised to consult an
attorney regarding the terms of this Release and that he/she has carefully reviewed, studied and thought over the terms of this Release.
Executive further acknowledges and agrees that he/she knowingly and voluntarily entered into and signed this Release after deliberate
consideration and review of all of its terms and provisions, that he/she was not coerced, pressured or forced in any way by Company, any
Releasee or anyone else to accept the terms of this Release, and that the decision to accept the terms of this Release was entirely his/her
own.

3.3 No Wrongdoing by the Parties. The Parties further agree that they have entered this Release to resolve any and all
claims that Executive may have against Company or any other Releasee which arise out of or are connected with his employment with,
or his separation or termination from, the Company, and that this Release does not constitute an admission of, or is to be used as evidence
of, any liability, violation or wrongdoing of any kind.

3.4 Choice of Law; Interpretation; Captions. The Parties understand and agree that this Release shall in all respects
be interpreted, enforced and governed under the laws of the State of Delaware and the language of this Release shall in all cases be
interpreted as a whole, according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against either of the Parties, regardless of which is the drafter
of this Release. Captions and headings used herein are for convenience of reference only.

3.5 Exclusive Jurisdiction; Venue. The Parties understand and agree that the federal and/or state courts located in the
State of Delaware shall have exclusive jurisdiction with regard to any litigation relating to this Release and that venue shall be proper
only in the State of Delaware and any federal court whose judicial district encompasses the State of Delaware, and that any objection to
this jurisdiction or venue is specifically waived.

3.6 Entire Agreement. The Parties agree that this Release sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties on the
subject matter herein and fully supersedes any and all other prior agreements or understandings between them which arise out of or
are connected with Executive’s employment with, or his separation or termination from, the Company, except for the terms in the
Employment Agreement referred to herein and any agreements between Executive and Company regarding shortened statute of
limitations, arbitration, non-disclosure of confidential information, intellectual property, non-solicitation of customers, employees
or contractors, non-competition, and/or other restrictive covenant obligations, which agreements, if any, shall remain in full force
and effect according to their terms. This includes, without limitation, Executive's continuing obligations under Articles 6 and 7 of the
Employment Agreement. This Release may be amended or superseded only by a subsequent writing, executed by the Party against whom
enforcement is sought.

3.7 Agreement to Indemnify. The Parties agree that should Executive seek to overturn, set aside, or legally challenge any
release of claims, promise or covenant made by him/her under this Release, by judicial action or otherwise, Company and/or Releasees
shall be entitled to recover from Executive its costs of defending and enforcing the terms of this Release and/or any other claim brought
by or against Company or Releasees, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees. The Parties acknowledge and agree that
each Releasee is an intended third-party beneficiary of this Release and may enforce the terms of this Release accordingly.

[signature page follows]
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I, [___________], UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT THIS RELEASE CONSTITUTES A FULL AND FINAL RELEASE
OF ALL CLAIMS THAT ARE RELEASABLE BY LAW.

Date:

STATE
OF )

) SS:
COUNTY
OF )

Subscribed and sworn to before me by __ , this _______ day of ______, 20__.

Notary
Public:

My Commission
expires:

--and--

XXXXX

By:

Title:

Date:

STATE
OF )

) SS:
COUNTY
OF )

Subscribed and sworn to before me by ______________________________, on behalf of
_______________________________, this _______ day of _______________, 20__.

Notary
Public:

My Commission
expires:
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Lawrence S. Wexler, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Turning Point Brands, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2018 By: /s/ LAWRENCE S. WEXLER
Lawrence S. Wexler
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Robert Lavan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Turning Point Brands, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2018 By: /s/ ROBERT LAVAN
Robert Lavan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.3

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Brian Wigginton, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Turning Point Brands, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2018 By: /s/ BRIAN WIGGINTON
Brian Wigginton
Chief Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Turning Point Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Lawrence S. Wexler,
President and Chief Executive Officer, Robert Lavan, Chief Financial Officer, and Brian Wigginton, Chief Accounting Officer, of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company for the periods presented therein.

Date: November 7, 2018 By: /s/ LAWRENCE S. WEXLER
Lawrence S. Wexler
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 7, 2018 By: /s/ ROBERT LAVAN
Robert Lavan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: November 7, 2018 By: /s/ BRIAN WIGGINTON
Brian Wigginton
Chief Accounting Officer
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9 Months EndedDocument and Entity
Information - shares Sep. 30, 2018 Nov. 01, 2018

Entity Information [Line Items]
Entity Registrant Name Turning Point Brands, Inc.
Entity Central Index Key 0001290677
Current Fiscal Year End Date --12-31
Entity Filer Category Accelerated Filer
Entity Small Business false
Entity Emerging Growth Company true
Entity Ex Transition Period true
Document Type 10-Q
Amendment Flag false
Document Period End Date Sep. 30, 2018
Document Fiscal Year Focus 2018
Document Fiscal Period Focus Q3
Voting Common Stock [Member]
Entity Information [Line Items]
Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding 19,549,301
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited) - USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Current assets:
Cash $ 1,631 $ 2,607
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $44 in 2018 and $17 in 2017 6,603 3,248
Inventories 89,433 63,296
Other current assets 14,556 10,342
Total current assets 112,223 79,493
Property, plant, and equipment, net 10,585 8,859
Deferred income taxes 0 450
Deferred financing costs, net 922 630
Goodwill 146,328 134,620
Other intangible assets, net 35,140 26,436
Master Settlement Agreement (MSA) escrow deposits 29,926 30,826
Other assets 1,207 963
Total assets 336,331 282,277
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 8,760 3,686
Accrued liabilities 17,401 18,694
Current portion of long-term debt 8,000 7,850
Revolving credit facility 30,000 8,000
Total current liabilities 64,161 38,230
Notes payable and long-term debt 188,529 186,190
Deferred income taxes 2,178 0
Postretirement benefits 3,916 3,962
Other long-term liabilities 558 571
Total liabilities 259,342 228,953
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock; $0.01 par value; authorized shares 40,000,000; issued and outstanding
shares -0- 0 0

Additional paid-in capital 110,074 103,640
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,681) (2,973)
Accumulated deficit (29,599) (47,535)
Total stockholders' equity 76,989 53,324
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 336,331 282,277
Common Stock, Voting [Member]
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock 195 192
Common Stock, Nonvoting [Member]
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock $ 0 $ 0
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited) (Parenthetical) -

USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Current assets:
Accounts receivable, allowance $ 44 $ 17
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, par value (in dollars per share) $ 0.01 $ 0.01
Preferred stock, shares authorized (in shares) 40,000,000 40,000,000
Preferred stock, shares issued (in shares) 0 0
Preferred stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 0 0
Common Stock, Voting [Member]
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, par value (in dollars per share) $ 0.01 $ 0.01
Common stock, shares authorized (in shares) 190,000,000 190,000,000
Common stock, shares issued (in shares) 19,540,593 19,210,633
Common stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 19,540,593 19,210,633
Common Stock, Nonvoting [Member]
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, par value (in dollars per share) $ 0.01 $ 0.01
Common stock, shares authorized (in shares) 10,000,000 10,000,000
Common stock, shares issued (in shares) 0 0
Common stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 0 0
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedConsolidated Statements of
Income (unaudited) - USD

($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Consolidated Statements of Income (unaudited) [Abstract]
Net sales $ 83,349 $ 73,340 $ 238,392 $ 212,214
Cost of sales 47,138 40,372 134,577 119,508
Gross profit 36,211 32,968 103,815 92,706
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 23,253 18,534 66,314 53,764
Operating income 12,958 14,434 37,501 38,942
Interest expense 3,836 4,027 11,073 13,010
Interest income (134) (4) (262) (8)
Investment income (89) (131) (328) (334)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost (45) 58 176 174
Income before income taxes 9,390 10,484 24,458 19,984
Income tax expense 1,436 3,110 4,153 3,850
Consolidated net income 7,954 7,374 20,305 16,134
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 0 (556)
Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 7,954 $ 7,374 $ 20,305 $ 16,690
Basic income per common share:
Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. (in dollars
per share) $ 0.41 $ 0.39 $ 1.05 $ 0.88

Diluted income per common share:
Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. (in dollars
per share) $ 0.40 $ 0.38 $ 1.03 $ 0.86

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic (in shares) 19,378,054 19,085,329 19,290,096 18,915,606
Diluted (in shares) 19,882,994 19,589,424 19,767,667 19,503,130
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedConsolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income
(unaudited) - USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(unaudited) [Abstract]
Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374 $ 20,305 $ 16,134
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Amortization of unrealized pension and postretirement losses, net
of tax 10 71 314 218

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of tax (231) 12 (738) 241
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps, net of tax (233) 0 (308) 0
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (454) 83 (732) 459
Consolidated comprehensive income $ 7,500 $ 7,457 19,573 16,593
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest 0 (556)
Comprehensive income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 19,573 $ 17,149
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedConsolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income

(unaudited) (Parenthetical) -
USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Amortization of unrealized pension and postretirement
losses, tax $ 3 $ 43 $ 85 $ 132

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, tax 69 $ 8 173 $ 150
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps, tax $ 70 $ 92
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9 Months EndedConsolidated Statements of
Cash Flows (unaudited) -

USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Consolidated net income $ 20,305 $ 16,134
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Loss on sale of property, plant, and equipment 0 17
Depreciation expense 1,596 1,192
Amortization of other intangible assets 557 527
Amortization of deferred financing costs 712 768
Amortization of original issue discount 0 66
Deferred income taxes 2,806 1,847
Stock compensation expense 1,056 498
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,192) (779)
Inventories (18,840) (970)
Other current assets (5,971) 2,383
Other assets 144 (105)
Accounts payable 4,442 (2,292)
Accrued postretirement liabilities (107) (18)
Accrued liabilities and other (4,918) (4,993)
Net cash provided by operating activities 974 20,391
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (1,528) (1,052)
Restricted cash, MSA escrow deposits (2,234) 320
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (19,161) 268
Issuance of note receivable (6,500) 0
Receipt of note receivable repayment including prepayment penalty 7,475 0
Net cash used in investing activities (21,948) (464)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of dividends (1,537) 0
Payments of VaporBeast Note Payable (2,000) 0
Proceeds from release of restricted funds 1,107 0
Payments of financing costs (3,286) (4,783)
Exercise of options 779 1,371
Payment to terminate acquired capital lease (170) 0
Payments of Vapor Shark loans 0 (1,867)
Prepaid equity issuance costs 0 (394)
Surrender of options 0 (1,000)
Redemption of options (623) (1,740)
Distribution to non-controlling interest 0 (4)
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Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,657 (18,237)
Net increase (decrease) in cash (4,317) 1,690
Cash, beginning of period:
Unrestricted 2,607 2,865
Restricted 4,709 3,889
Total cash at beginning of period 7,316 6,754
Cash, end of period:
Unrestricted 1,631 4,235
Restricted 1,368 4,209
Total cash at end of period 2,999 8,444
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing activities:
Issuance of shares for acquisition 5,292 0
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments of) term loan, net 156,000 0
2018 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from term loans 40,000 0
2018 Revolving Credit Facility [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility 30,000 0
2017 First Lien Term Loans [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments of) term loan, net (140,613) 142,075
2017 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments of) term loan, net (55,000) 55,000
2017 Revolving Credit Facility [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments of) revolving credit facility, net (8,000) 15,550
First Lien Term Loan [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments of term loans 0 (147,362)
Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments of term loans 0 (60,000)
Revolving Credit Facility [Member]
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments of) revolving credit facility, net $ 0 $ (15,083)
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9 Months EndedOrganizations and Basis of
Presentation Sep. 30, 2018

Organizations and Basis of
Presentation [Abstract]
Organizations and Basis of
Presentation

Note 1. Organizations and Basis of Presentation

Organizations

Turning Point Brands, Inc. (the “Company”), is a holding company which owns North Atlantic
Trading Company, Inc. (“NATC”), and its subsidiaries and Turning Point Brands, LLC
(“TPLLC”), and its subsidiaries. Except where the context indicates otherwise, references to the
Company include the Company; NATC and its subsidiaries National Tobacco Company, L.P.
(“NTC”), National Tobacco Finance, LLC (“NTFLLC”), North Atlantic Operating Company, Inc.
(“NAOC”), North Atlantic Cigarette Company, Inc. (“NACC”), and RBJ Sales, Inc. (“RBJ”); and
TPLLC and its subsidiaries Intrepid Brands, LLC (“Intrepid”), Vapor Beast, LLC (“VaporBeast,”
f/k/a Smoke Free Technologies, Inc.), Vapor Shark, LLC, and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Vapor
Shark,” f/k/a The Hand Media), Vapor Acquisitions Company, LLC (“Vapor Supply”), Vapor
Finance, LLC (“VFIN”), and International Vapor Group, LLC and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“IVG”).

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the accounting practices described in the Company’s audited, consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, and are unaudited. In
the opinion of management, the unaudited, interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements
included herein contain all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows of the Company for the periods indicated. Such adjustments, other than
nonrecurring adjustments separately disclosed, are of a normal and recurring nature. The operating
results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for a full year
or future interim periods. The unaudited, interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited, consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. The accompanying interim,
condensed, consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and, accordingly, do not include all the
disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”)
with respect to annual financial statements.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
The changes did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows in any of the periods presented.
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9 Months EndedSummary of Significant
Accounting Policies Sep. 30, 2018

Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly-owned. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Revenue Recognition

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP,
on January 1, 2018. The Company recognizes revenues, net of sales incentives and sales returns, including
shipping and handling charges billed to customers, upon delivery of goods to the customer at an amount that
the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods in accordance with the five-step analysis
outlined in Topic 606: (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the
contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations,
and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied.

A further requirement of ASU 2014-09 is for entities to disaggregate revenue recognized from contracts with
customers into categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by economic factors. Company management views business performance through segments that
closely resemble the performance of major product lines. Thus, the primary and most useful disaggregation
of the Company’s contract revenue for decision making purposes is the disaggregation by segment which can
be found in Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. An additional disaggregation of contract
revenue by sales channel can be found within Note 16 as well.

Shipping Costs

The Company records shipping costs incurred as a component of selling, general, and administrative expenses.
Shipping costs incurred were approximately $3.8 million and $2.9 million for the three months ending
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Shipping costs incurred were approximately $10.5 million and $7.4
million for the nine months ending September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Fair Value

GAAP establishes a framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority
to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (level 3).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under GAAP are described below:

· Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in active markets at the measurement date.

· Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived
principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

· Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Derivative Instruments

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts: The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
a portion of its exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates on inventory purchase commitments.
The Company accounts for its forward contracts under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging.
Under the Company’s policy, the Company may hedge up to 100% of its anticipated purchases of inventory
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in the denominated invoice currency over a forward period not to exceed twelve months. The Company may
also, from time to time, hedge up to ninety percent of its non-inventory purchases in the denominated invoice
currency. Forward contracts that qualify as hedges are adjusted to their fair value through other comprehensive
income as determined by market prices on the measurement date, except any hedge ineffectiveness which
is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses on these forward contracts are transferred from other
comprehensive income into net income as the related inventories are received. Changes in fair value of any
contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in
income.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements: The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage interest rate
risk and reduce the volatility of future cash flows. The Company accounts for its interest rate swap contracts
under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Swap contracts that qualify as hedges are adjusted
to their fair value through other comprehensive income as determined by market prices on the measurement
date, except any hedge ineffectiveness which is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses on these swap
contracts are transferred from other comprehensive income into net income upon settlement of the derivative
position or at maturity of the interest rate swap contract. Changes in fair value of any contracts that do not
qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in income.

Risks and Uncertainties

Manufacturers and sellers of tobacco products are subject to regulation at the federal, state, and local levels.
Such regulations include, among others, labeling requirements, limitations on advertising, and prohibition of
sales to minors. The tobacco industry is likely to continue to be heavily regulated. There can be no assurance
as to the ultimate content, timing, or effect of any regulation of tobacco products by any federal, state, or local
legislative or regulatory body, nor can there be any assurance that any such legislation or regulation would not
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The tobacco industry has experienced, and is experiencing, significant product liability litigation. Most tobacco
liability lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and sellers of cigarettes for injuries allegedly caused
by smoking or exposure to smoke. However, several lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and
sellers of smokeless products for injuries to health allegedly caused by use of smokeless products. Typically,
such claims assert that use of smokeless products is addictive and causes oral cancer. Additionally, several
lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and distributors of NewGen products due to malfunctioning
devices. There can be no assurance the Company will not sustain losses in connection with such lawsuits
and that such losses will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Master Settlement Agreement (MSA): Pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement (the “MSA”) entered
into in November 1998 by most states (represented by their attorneys general acting through the National
Association of Attorneys General) and subsequent states’ statutes, a “cigarette manufacturer” (which is defined
to include a manufacturer of make-your-own (“MYO”) cigarette tobacco) has the option of either becoming
a signatory to the MSA or opening, funding, and maintaining an escrow account to have funds available for
certain potential tobacco-related liabilities with sub-accounts on behalf of each settling state. The Company
chose to open and fund an escrow account as its method of compliance. It is the Company’s policy to record
amounts on deposit in the escrow account for prior years as a non-current asset. Each year’s annual obligation
is required to be deposited in the escrow account by April 15 of the following year. In addition to the annual
deposit, many states have elected to require quarterly deposits for the previous quarter’s sales. As of September
30, 2018, the Company had on deposit approximately $32.1 million, the fair value of which was approximately
$29.9 million. At December 31, 2017, the Company had on deposit approximately $32.1 million, the fair value
of which was approximately $30.8 million. Effective in the third quarter of 2017, the Company no longer sells
any product covered under the MSA. Thus, absent a change in legislation, the Company will no longer be
required to make deposits to the MSA escrow account.

The Company has chosen to invest a portion of the MSA escrow deposits in U.S. Government securities
including TIPS, Treasury Notes, and Treasury Bonds. These investments are classified as available-for-sale
and carried at fair value. Realized losses are prohibited under the MSA; any investment in an unrealized loss
position will be held until the value is recovered, or until maturity. The following shows the fair value of the
MSA escrow account:

As of September 30, 2018 As of December 31, 2017

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,367 $ - $ 1,367 $ 3,602 $ - $ 3,602
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U.S. Governmental agency obligations
(unrealized loss position < 12 months) 3,181 (53) 3,128 722 (17) 705

U.S. Governmental agency obligations
(unrealized loss position > 12 months) 27,514 (2,084) 25,430 27,733 (1,214) 26,519

$32,062 $ (2,137) $ 29,925 $32,057 $ (1,231) $ 30,826

Fair value for the U.S. Governmental agency obligations are Level 2. The following shows the maturities of the
U.S. Governmental agency obligations:

As of
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Less than one year $ 1,499 $ -
One to five years 9,600 7,114
Five to ten years 15,141 17,662
Greater than ten years 4,455 3,679
Total U.S. Governmental agency obligations $ 30,695 $ 28,455

The following shows the amount of deposits by sales year for the MSA escrow account:

Deposits as of
Sales
Year

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

1999 $ 211 $ 211
2000 1,017 1,017
2001 1,673 1,673
2002 2,271 2,271
2003 4,249 4,249
2004 3,714 3,714
2005 4,552 4,552
2006 3,847 3,847
2007 4,167 4,167
2008 3,364 3,364
2009 1,619 1,626
2010 406 406
2011 193 193
2012 199 199
2013 173 173
2014 143 143
2015 101 101
2016 81 81
2017 83 70

Total $ 32,063 $ 32,057

Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”): On June 22, 2009, the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco
Control Act (“FSPTCA”) authorized the FDA to immediately regulate the manufacturing, sale, and marketing
of four categories of tobacco products – cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless
tobacco. On August 8, 2016, the FDA deeming regulation became effective. The deeming regulation gave the
FDA the authority to additionally regulate cigars, pipe tobacco, electronic cigarettes (“e-cigarettes”), vaporizers,
and e-liquids as “deemed” tobacco products under the FSPTCA.

The FDA assesses tobacco product user fees on six classes of regulated tobacco products and computes user
fees using a methodology similar to the methodology used by the U.S Department of Agriculture to compute
the Tobacco Transition Payment Program (“TTPP,” also known as the “Tobacco Buyout”) assessment. First, the
total, annual, congressionally established user fee assessment is allocated among the various classes of tobacco
products using the federal excise tax weighted market share of tobacco products subject to regulation. Then, the
assessment for each class of tobacco products is divided among individual manufacturers and importers.

Prior to October 1, 2016, these FDA user fees applied only to those products then regulated by the FDA.
Effective October 1, 2016, the FDA began additionally applying FDA user fees to newly “deemed” tobacco
products subject to FDA user fees as described above, i.e., cigars and pipe tobacco.
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On July 28, 2017, the FDA announced a new direction in regulating tobacco products, including the newly
“deemed” markets such as cigars and vapor products. The FDA stated it intends to begin several new
rulemaking processes, some of which will outline foundational rules governing the premarket application
process for the deemed products, including Substantial Equivalence Applications and Premarket Tobacco
Applications. Compliance and related costs could be significant and could increase the costs of operating in
our NewGen segment. The original filing deadlines for newly “deemed” products on the market as of August
8, 2016, have been postponed until August 8, 2021, for “combustible” products (e.g., cigar and pipe) and
August 8, 2022, for “non-combustible” products (e.g., vapor products). No other significant filing deadlines
have been altered at this time. The FDA also acknowledged a “continuum of risk” among tobacco products
(i.e., certain tobacco products pose a greater risk to individual and public health than others), that it intends to
seek public comment on the role flavors play in attracting youth and the role flavors may play in helping some
smokers switch to potentially less harmful forms of nicotine delivery, and that it would be increasing its focus
on the regulation of cigarette products. FDA has since published a number of Advanced Notices of Proposed
Rulemaking (“ANPRM”) on these subjects.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

The Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes
nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP, in the first quarter of 2018 using the
modified retrospective method. This ASU requires the recognition of revenue to depict the transfer of goods to
customers at an amount that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods in accordance
with the following five-step analysis: (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance
obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied. Other
major provisions include capitalization of certain contract costs, consideration of time value of money in
the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be recognized before contingencies
are resolved in certain circumstances. The guidance also requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
The adoption of this ASU had no effect on the timing or amount of revenue recognition, or on net income.

The Company adopted ASU 2018-02, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, in the first quarter of
2018 on a prospective basis. This ASU allows entities to make a one-time reclassification from accumulated
other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) to retained earnings for the effects of remeasuring deferred tax liabilities
and assets originally recorded in other comprehensive income as a result of the change in the federal tax rate
by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”). The adoption of this ASU resulted in a reclassification of stranded
tax effects related to the TCJA from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings of less than
$0.1 million during the first quarter of 2018.

The Company adopted ASU 2017-07, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost, in the first quarter of
2018 using the full retrospective method. This ASU requires an entity to report the service cost component in the
same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees
during the period. The other components of net periodic benefit cost are required to be presented in the income
statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from operations. The
adoption of this ASU resulted in a reclassification of $0.1 million and $0.2 million from cost of sales and selling,
general, and administrative expenses to net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost, for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, in the first quarter
of 2018 using the full retrospective method. The amendments in this ASU require that a statement of cash flows
explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as
restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. As a result of this ASU the Company’s statements of cash flows
include changes in restricted cash, such as changes in the portion of the MSA escrow deposits held in cash.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes Topic 840, Leases.
ASU 2016-02 requires a lessee to recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease
payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset (the lease
asset) for the lease term. For leases with a term of 12 months or less for which there is not an option to purchase
the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting
policy election by class of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and should
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recognize lease expense for such leases generally on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Certain qualitative
disclosures along with specific quantitative disclosures will be required so that users are able to understand
more about the nature of an entity’s leasing activities. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. At
transition, lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented
using a modified retrospective approach, which includes a number of optional practical expedients related to
the identification and classification of leases that commenced before the effective date of ASU 2016-02. An
entity that elects to use the practical expedients will, in effect, continue to account for leases that commenced
before the effective date in accordance with previous GAAP unless the lease is modified, except that lessees
are required to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all operating leases at each reporting date
based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments that were tracked and disclosed under
previous GAAP.

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, providing entities
with an additional, optional transition method by which to adopt the new leases standard. ASU 2018-11 allows
for application of the new leases standard at adoption date and recognition of a cumulative-effect adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company will adopt the new leases
standard under this optional transition method on January 1, 2019, and does not expect a material adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings at adoption. While the Company is still in the process of quantifying
the impact to the consolidated balance sheet upon adoption, the Company expects to report increased assets and
liabilities as a result of recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities related to the Company’s operating
lease agreements discussed in the Company’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. However, the Company does
not expect adoption of ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-11 to have a material impact on its consolidated statements
of income as the majority, if not all, of the Company’s leases are expected to remain operating in nature.
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9 Months EndedAcquisitions Sep. 30, 2018
Acquisitions [Abstract]
Acquisitions Note 3. Acquisitions

IVG

In September 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the equity interest of IVG for total
consideration of $23.7 million satisfied through $14.4 million paid in cash, 153,079 shares of
common stock with a fair value of $5.3 million, and a $4.0 million note payable to IVG’s former
owners (“IVG Note”) which matures 18 months from the acquisition date. All principal and
accrued and unpaid interest under the IVG Note is subject to indemnification obligations of the
sellers pursuant to the International Vapor Group Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of September
5, 2018. The arrangement includes an additional $4.5 million of earnouts with both performance-
based and service-based conditions payable to former IVG owners who became employees of
the Company as a result of the acquisition. The portion of earnout payments a recipient will
receive will be calculated by reference to certain performance metrics not to exceed a two-year
period as specified within the acquisition agreement. The Company recorded earnout expense
of approximately $0.4 million within the consolidated statement of income for the three months
ended September 30, 2018, based on the probability of achieving the performance conditions.

IVG markets and sells a broad array of proprietary and third-party vapor products directly to adult
consumers through an online platform under brand names such as VaporFi, South Beach Smoke,
and Direct Vapor. IVG operates company-owned stores under the VaporFi brand and also operates
as a franchisor to franchisee-owned stores. The acquisition of IVG adds a significant business-to-
consumer distribution platform to the Company’s NewGen portfolio. As of September 30, 2018,
the Company had not completed the accounting for the acquisition. The following purchase price
and goodwill are based on the excess of the acquisition price over the estimated fair value of the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and are based on management’s preliminary estimates.

Total purchase price $ 24,292
Adjustments to purchase price:

Cash acquired (391)
Working capital (245)

Adjusted purchase price 23,656

Assets acquired:
Working capital 2,681
Fixed assets 1,296
Intangible assets 8,140
Capital lease obligation (169)

Net assets acquired 11,948

Goodwill $ 11,708

The goodwill of $11.7 million consists of the synergies and scale expected from combining the
operations and is currently deductible for tax purposes.

Vapor Supply

On April 30, 2018, the Company purchased the assets of Vapor Supply LLC, vaporsupply.com,
and some of its affiliates including the Ecig.com domain through its subsidiary Vapor Acquisitions
Company, LLC, for total consideration of $4.8 million paid in cash to strengthen its presence
within the NewGen segment. Vapor Supply is a business-to-business e-commerce distribution
platform servicing independent retail vape shops. Additionally, Vapor Supply manufactures and
markets proprietary e-liquids under the DripCo brand and operates company-owned stores. As of
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September 30, 2018, the Company had not completed the accounting for the acquisition of these
assets. The following fair value for working capital (primarily inventory), fixed assets, and trade
name are based on management’s preliminary estimates:

Fair Value

Working capital $ 3,181
Fixed assets 498
Trade name 1,121
Total purchase price $ 4,800

Pro Forma Information – IVG and Vapor Supply

The following table presents financial information regarding IVG and Vapor Supply operations
included in our Consolidated Statement of Operations from the date of acquisition through
September 30, 2018, under the “Vapor Supply and IVG Actuals from Acquisition Dates through
September 30, 2018” column. The following table also presents unaudited pro forma information
as if the acquisitions of IVG and Vapor Supply had occurred on January 1, 2017, under the
“Pro Forma Consolidated” columns. The table below has been prepared for comparative purposes
only and is not necessarily indicative of the actual results that would have been attained had the
acquisition occurred as of the beginning of the periods presented, nor is it indicative of future
results. Furthermore, the unaudited pro forma information does not reflect management’s estimate
of any revenue-enhancing opportunities or anticipated cost savings as a result of the integration
and consolidation of the acquisition. Amortization of fair value, interest on debt, and income tax
adjustments are included in the numbers below.

Vapor Supply
and IVG Actuals Pro Forma Consolidated
from Acquisition Nine Months Ended
Dates Through September 30,

September 30, 2018 2018 2017
Net sales $ 9,737 $ 281,679 $ 270,795
Income (loss)

before income
taxes (55) 24,556 21,539

Net income
(loss) $ (55) $ 20,386 $ 17,390

Basic earnings
per common
share:
Net income $ 1.06 $ 0.92

Diluted earnings
per common
share:
Net income $ 1.03 $ 0.89

Weight average
common
shares
outstanding:
Basic -

inclusive of
voting and
non-voting
shares 19,290,096 18,915,606

Diluted -
inclusive of
voting and 19,767,667 19,503,130
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non-voting
shares

Vapor Shark

In March 2017, the Company entered into a strategic partnership with Vapor Shark in which the
Company committed to make a deposit up to $2.5 million to Vapor Shark in exchange for a warrant
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in Vapor Shark on or before April 15, 2018. In the event the
Company exercised the warrant, the Company granted Vapor Shark’s sole shareholder the option to
purchase from Vapor Shark the retail stores it owns, effective as of January 1, 2018. In April 2017,
the Company entered into a management agreement with Vapor Shark whereby the Company
obtained control of the operations. As a result of the management agreement, Vapor Shark was
accounted for as a VIE during the second quarter of 2017. The Company exercised its warrant on
June 30, 2017, and obtained 100% ownership of Vapor Shark as of that date for a nominal purchase
price. In January 2018, the Company finalized an agreement to pay Vapor Shark’s former sole
shareholder total consideration of $1.5 million in exchange for terminating his option to purchase
the company-owned stores. The Company paid Vapor Shark’s former sole shareholder $1.0 million
in February 2018 with the remaining $0.5 million to be paid in 24 monthly installments through
February 2020.
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9 Months EndedDerivative Instruments Sep. 30, 2018
Derivative Instruments
[Abstract]
Derivative Instruments Note 4. Derivative Instruments

Foreign Currency

The Company’s policy is to manage the risks associated with foreign exchange rate movements.
The policy allows hedging up to 100% of its anticipated purchases of inventory over a forward
period that will not exceed 12 rolling and consecutive months. The Company may, from time to
time, hedge currency for non-inventory purchases, e.g., production equipment, not to exceed 90%
of the purchase price. The Company executed various forward contracts during the three months
ended September 30, 2018, none of which met hedge accounting requirements, for the purchase
of €2.3 million. The Company executed various forward contracts during the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, none of which met hedge accounting requirements, for the purchase of €14.5
million. The Company executed no forward contracts during 2017. At September 30, 2018, and
December 31, 2017, the Company had forward contracts for the purchase of €5.5 million and €0
million, respectively.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company’s policy is to manage interest rate risk by reducing the volatility of future cash
flows associated with debt instruments bearing interest at variable rates. In March 2018, the
Company executed various interest rate swap agreements for a notional amount of $70 million
with an expiration of December 2022. The swap agreements fix LIBOR at 2.755%. The swap
agreements met the hedge accounting requirements; thus, any change in fair value is recorded to
other comprehensive income. The Company uses the Shortcut Method to account for the swap
agreements. The Shortcut Method assumes the hedge to be perfectly effective; thus, there is no
ineffectiveness to be recorded in earnings. The swap agreements’ fair values at September 30,
2018, resulted in a liability of $0.4 million included in other long-term liabilities.
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9 Months EndedFair Value of Financial
Instruments Sep. 30, 2018

Fair Value of Financial
Instruments [Abstract]
Fair Value of Financial
Instruments

Note 5. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the Company using the methods and
assumptions described below. However, considerable judgment is required to interpret market data
to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts the Company could realize in a current market exchange. The use of
different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the
estimated fair value amounts.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are, by definition, short-term. Thus, the carrying amount is a reasonable
estimate of fair value.

Accounts Receivable

The fair value of accounts receivable approximates their carrying value due to their short-term
nature.

2018 Revolving Credit Facility

The fair value of the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility approximates its carrying value as the
interest rate fluctuates with changes in market rates.

Note Payable – IVG

The fair value of the IVG Note approximates its carrying value of $4.0 million due to the recency
of the note’s issuance, September 5, 2018, relative to the end of the quarter, September 30, 2018.

Long-Term Debt

As the Company’s long-term debt bears interest at variable rates that fluctuate with market rates,
the carrying values of the long-term debt instruments approximate their respective fair values. As
of September 30, 2018, the fair values of the 2018 First Lien Term Loan and the 2018 Second
Lien Term Loan approximated $156.0 million and $40.0 million, respectively. As of December
31, 2017, the fair values of the 2017 First Lien Term Loans and the 2017 Second Lien Term
Loan approximated $140.6 million and $56.1 million, respectively. See Note 10 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding our current and past credit facilities.

Foreign Exchange

The Company had forward contracts for the purchase of €5.5 million at September 30, 2018.
The Company had no forward contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2017. The fair values
of the foreign exchange contracts are based upon quoted market prices and resulted in a loss of
approximately $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The fair value of the
foreign exchange contracts resulted in a liability of less than $0.1 million as of September 30,
2018.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company had swap contracts for a total notional amount of $70 million at September 30,
2018. The Company had no swap agreements outstanding at December 31, 2017. The fair values
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of the swap contracts are based upon quoted market prices and resulted in a liability of $0.4 million
as of September 30, 2018.
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9 Months EndedInventories Sep. 30, 2018
Inventories [Abstract]
Inventories Note 6. Inventories

The components of inventories are as follows:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Raw materials and work in process $ 3,285 $ 2,545
Leaf tobacco 34,873 30,308
Finished goods - Smokeless products 7,313 5,834
Finished goods - Smoking products 13,604 14,110
Finished goods - NewGen products 35,103 14,532
Other 722 1,290

94,900 68,619
LIFO reserve (5,467) (5,323)

$ 89,433 $ 63,296

The inventory valuation allowance was $1.1 million and $0.5 million as of September 30, 2018,
and December 31, 2017, respectively.

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
https://www.secdatabase.com


9 Months EndedProperty, Plant, and
Equipment Sep. 30, 2018

Property, Plant, and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, Plant, and Equipment Note 7. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Land $ 22 $ 22
Buildings and improvements 2,320 2,072
Leasehold improvements 2,064 1,873
Machinery and equipment 13,275 12,635
Furniture and fixtures 4,601 3,821

22,282 20,423
Accumulated depreciation (11,697) (11,564)

$ 10,585 $ 8,859
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9 Months EndedOther Current Assets Sep. 30, 2018
Other Current Assets
[Abstract]
Other Current Assets Note 8. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Inventory deposits $ 9,251 $ 3,797
Other 5,305 6,545

$ 14,556 $ 10,342

On May 18, 2018, the Company entered into an arrangement with a supplier which manufactures
and distributes vapor products whereby the supplier received a $6.5 million loan with a maturity
date of May 18, 2019. The note was secured by the supplier’s assets and accrued interest at an
annual rate of 15% with quarterly interest payments due to the Company which began in August
2018. In September 2018, the supplier repaid the full outstanding balance of the loan in addition
to a $1.0 million early termination fee which was recorded as a reduction to selling, general, and
administrative expenses.
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9 Months EndedAccrued Liabilities Sep. 30, 2018
Accrued Liabilities [Abstract]
Accrued Liabilities Note 9. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Accrued payroll and related items $ 4,142 $ 5,683
Customer returns and allowances 2,353 2,707
Other 10,906 10,304

$ 17,401 $ 18,694
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9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-
Term Debt Sep. 30, 2018

Notes Payable and Long-
Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes Payable and Long-Term
Debt

Note 10. Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt

Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the following in order of preference:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

2018 First Lien Term Loan $ 156,000 $ -
2018 Second Lien Term Loan 40,000 -
Note payable - IVG 4,000 -
2017 First Lien First Out Term Loan - 105,875
2017 First Lien Second Out Term Loan - 34,738
2017 Second Lien Term Loan - 55,000
Note payable - VaporBeast - 2,000

Total notes payable and long-term debt 200,000 197,613
Less deferred finance charges (3,471) (3,573)
Less current maturities (8,000) (7,850)

$ 188,529 $ 186,190

2018 Credit Facility

On March 7, 2018, the Company entered into a $250 million credit facility consisting of a $160
million 2018 First Lien Term Loan with Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent, and other
lenders, and a $50 million 2018 Revolving Credit Facility (collectively, the “2018 First Lien
Credit Facility”) in addition to a $40 million 2018 Second Lien Term Loan (together with the
2018 First Lien Credit Facility, the “2018 Credit Facility”) with Prospect Capital Corporation,
as administrative agent, and other lenders. The 2018 Credit Facility retained the $40 million
accordion feature of the 2017 Credit Facility. Proceeds from the 2018 Credit Facility were used to
repay, in full, the 2017 Credit Facility. The Company incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of
$2.4 million in the first quarter of 2018 as a result of the refinancing.

The 2018 Credit Facility contains customary events of default including payment defaults,
breaches of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, cross-defaults to certain other
material indebtedness in excess of specified amounts, certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency,
certain ERISA events, judgments in excess of specified amounts, and change in control defaults.
The 2018 Credit Facility also contains certain negative covenants customary for facilities of these
types including covenants that, subject to exceptions described in the 2018 Credit Facility, restrict
the ability of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors: (i) to pledge assets, (ii) to incur additional
indebtedness, (iii) to pay dividends, (iv) to make distributions, (v) to sell assets, and (vi) to
make investments. Refer to Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information regarding dividend restrictions.

2018 First Lien Credit Facility: The 2018 First Lien Term Loan and the 2018 Revolving Credit
Facility bear interest at LIBOR plus a spread of 2.75% to 3.50% based on the Company’s senior
leverage ratio. The 2018 First Lien Term Loan has quarterly required payments of $2.0 million
beginning June 30, 2018, increasing to $3.0 million on June 30, 2020, and increasing to $4.0
million on June 30, 2022. The 2018 First Lien Credit Facility has a maturity date of March 7, 2023.
The 2018 First Lien Term Loan is secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the assets
of the borrowers and the guarantors thereunder, including a pledge of the Company’s capital stock,
other than certain excluded assets (the “Collateral”). The 2018 First Lien Credit Facility contains
certain financial covenants including maximum senior leverage ratio of 3.50x with step-downs to
3.00x, a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.50x with step-downs to 4.00x, and a minimum fixed
charge coverage ratio of 1.20x. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 First Lien Term
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Loan was 5.49% at September 30, 2018. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 Revolving
Credit Facility was 6.36% at September 30, 2018. At September 30, 2018, the Company had $30.0
million of borrowings outstanding under the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility. The $20.0 million
unused portion of the 2018 Revolving Credit Facility is reduced by a $0.5 million letter of credit
with Fifth Third Bank, resulting in $19.5 million of availability under the 2018 Revolving Credit
Facility at September 30, 2018.

2018 Second Lien Credit Facility: The 2018 Second Lien Credit Facility bears interest at a rate
of LIBOR plus 7.00% and has a maturity date of March 7, 2024. The 2018 Second Lien Term
Loan is secured by a second priority interest in the Collateral and is guaranteed by the same
entities as the 2018 First Lien Term Loan. The 2018 Second Lien Credit Facility contains certain
financial covenants including a maximum senior leverage ratio of 3.75x with step-downs to 3.50x,
a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.75x with step-downs to 4.50x, and a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio of 1.10x. The weighted average interest rate of the 2018 Second Lien Term Loan
was 9.15% at September 30, 2018.

Note Payable – IVG

In September 2018, the Company issued a note payable to IVG’s former shareholders (“IVG
Note”). The IVG Note is $4.0 million principal with 6.0% interest compounding annually and
matures on March 5, 2020.

2017 Credit Facility

On February 17, 2017, the Company and NATC, entered into a $250 million secured credit facility
comprised of (i) a First Lien Credit Facility with Fifth Third Bank, as administrative agent, and
other lenders (the “2017 First Lien Credit Facility”) and (ii) a Second Lien Credit Facility with
Prospect Capital Corporation, as administrative agent, and other lenders (the “2017 Second Lien
Credit Facility,” and together with the 2017 First Lien Credit Facility, the “2017 Credit Facility”).
The Company used the proceeds of the 2017 Credit Facility to repay, in full, the Company’s prior
credit facilities and to pay related fees and expenses. As a result of this transaction, the Company
incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $6.1 million during the first quarter of 2017.

Note Payable – VaporBeast

On November 30, 2016, the Company issued a note payable to VaporBeast’s former shareholders
(“VaporBeast Note”). The VaporBeast Note was $2.0 million principal with 6% interest
compounded monthly and matured on May 30, 2018, at which time it was paid in full.
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Income Taxes [Abstract]
Income Taxes Note 11. Income Taxes

In December 2017, the U.S. Congress passed the TCJA which the President signed in the same
month. The TCJA reduced the corporate income tax rate to 21%, effective January 1, 2018. Other
significant changes accompanying the corporate income tax rate reduction include eliminating the
corporate alternative minimum tax, limiting the interest expense deduction to 30% of adjusted
taxable income, and limiting net operating losses to 80% of taxable income for losses arising in tax
years beginning after 2017. The TCJA required the Company to remeasure its deferred tax assets
and liabilities at the newly enacted tax rate in December 2017, the period of enactment.

The Company’s effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2018, was 15% and 17%, respectively, which includes a tax deduction of $3.3 million and $5.2
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, relating to stock option exercises.
The Company’s effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2017, was 30% and 19%, respectively, which includes a tax deduction of $2.6 million and $11.7
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, relating to stock option exercises.
The Company’s effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, also
reflected a tax benefit of $0.4 million primarily related to Kentucky corporate income tax changes
enacted in April 2018. The significant impacts to the Company regarding the Kentucky changes
included a reduction of the corporate tax rate from 6% to 5% and moving to a single sales factor
apportionment formula for tax years beginning on and after January 1, 2018.

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 740-10-25, which prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax
position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities.
The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50
percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company has determined that the
Company did not have any uncertain tax positions requiring recognition under the provisions of
ASC 740-10-25. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on uncertain
tax positions, if any, as part of interest expense. The Company files income tax returns in the U.S.
federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. In general, the Company is no longer subject to
U.S. federal and state tax examinations for years prior to 2014.
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9 Months EndedPension and Postretirement
Benefit Plans Sep. 30, 2018

Pension and Postretirement
Benefit Plans [Abstract]
Pension and Postretirement
Benefit Plans

Note 12. Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan. Benefits for hourly employees were based on
a stated benefit per year of service, reduced by amounts earned in a previous plan. Benefits for
salaried employees were based on years of service and the employees’ final compensation. The
defined benefit pension plan is frozen. The Company’s policy is to make the minimum amount
of contributions that can be deducted for federal income taxes. The Company expects to make
no contributions to the pension plan in 2018. In the second quarter of 2018, the Company made
mutually agreed upon lump-sum payments to certain individuals covered by the defined benefit
pension plan which resulted in a curtailment loss of approximately $0.3 million during the second
quarter of 2018.

The Company sponsored a defined benefit postretirement plan that covered hourly employees.
This plan provides medical and dental benefits. This plan is contributory with retiree contributions
adjusted annually. The Company’s policy is to make contributions equal to benefits paid during the
year. The Company expects to contribute approximately $0.3 million to its postretirement plan in
2018 for the payment of benefits.

The following table provides the components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit
costs and total costs for the plans:

Three Months Ended September 30,
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017
Service cost $ 26 $ 26 $ - $ -
Interest cost 135 164 30 36
Expected return on plan assets (221) (256) - -
Amortization of (gains) losses 33 114 (21) -
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ (27) $ 48 $ 9 $ 36

Nine Months Ended September 30,
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017
Service cost $ 78 $ 78 $ - $ -
Interest cost 419 484 88 108
Expected return on plan assets (728) (768) - -
Amortization of (gains) losses 153 350 (61) -
Curtailment loss 306 - - -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 228 $ 144 $ 27 $ 108
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9 Months EndedShare Incentive Plans Sep. 30, 2018
Share Incentive Plans
[Abstract]
Share Incentive Plans Note 13. Share Incentive Plans

On April 28, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the Turning Point Brands,
Inc., 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), pursuant to which awards may be granted
to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants. In addition, the 2015 Plan provides for
the granting of nonqualified stock options to employees of the Company or any subsidiary of the
Company. Pursuant to the 2015 Plan, 1,400,000 shares of the Company’s voting common stock
are reserved for issuance as awards to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants as
compensation for past or future services or the attainment of certain performance goals. The 2015
Plan is scheduled to terminate on April 27, 2026. The 2015 Plan is administered by a committee
(the “Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Committee determines the vesting
criteria for the awards, with such criteria to be specified in the award agreement. As of September
30, 2018, net of forfeitures, there were 18,247 shares of restricted stock, 184,000 performance-
based restricted stock units, and 297,520 options granted under the 2015 Plan. There are 900,233
shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan.

On February 8, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “2006 Plan”) of North Atlantic Holding Company, Inc., pursuant to which awards may be
granted to employees. The 2006 Plan provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options and
restricted stock awards to employees. Upon the adoption of the Company’s 2015 Equity Incentive
Plan in connection with its IPO, the Company determined no additional grants would be made
under the 2006 Plan. However, all awards issued under the 2006 Plan that have not been previously
terminated or forfeited remain outstanding and continue unaffected.

On February 7, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company approved stock option cash-out
agreements with three Company officers and a director for the surrender of 83,400 expiring stock
options in exchange for payment to the option holders of $11.99 per share. This payment equaled
the difference between the exercise price of $1.06 and closing stock price of $13.05 on the approval
date, or an aggregate of $1.0 million.

There are no shares available for grant under the 2006 Plan. Stock option activity for the 2006 and
2015 Plans is summarized below:

Stock
Option
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding, December 31, 2016 1,637,762 $ 2.41 $ 1.23

Granted 133,819 14.69 4.41
Exercised (923,708) 1.55 0.83
Forfeited (801) 15.37 4.59
Surrendered (83,400) 1.06 0.54
Outstanding, December 31, 2017 763,672 5.73 2.36

Granted 124,100 21.27 6.33
Exercised (196,585) 3.96 1.42
Forfeited (13,595) 13.08 3.71
Outstanding, September 30, 2018 677,592 $ 8.95 $ 3.33
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Under the 2006 and 2015 Plans, the total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, was $5.2 million, and $11.7 million, respectively.
The total intrinsic value of options surrendered during the nine months ended September 30, 2017,
was $1.0 million.

At September 30, 2018, under the 2006 Plan, the outstanding stock options’ exercise price for
432,227 options is $3.83 per share, all of which are exercisable. The weighted average of the
remaining lives of the outstanding stock options with an exercise price of $3.83 is approximately
4.62 years. The Company estimates the expected life of these stock options is ten years from the
date of grant. For the $3.83 per share options, the weighted average fair value of options was
determined using the Black-Scholes model assuming a ten-year life from grant date, a current
share price and exercise price of $3.83, a risk-free interest rate of 3.57%, volatility of 40%,
and no assumed dividend yield. Based on these assumptions, the fair value of these options is
approximately $2.17 per share option granted.

At September 30, 2018, under the 2015 Plan, the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S.
Treasury rate for the expected life at the time of grant. The expected volatility is based on the
average long-term historical volatilities of peer companies. We intend to continue to consistently
use the same group of publicly traded peer companies to determine expected volatility until
sufficient information regarding volatility of our share price becomes available or until the selected
companies are no longer suitable for this purpose. Due to our limited trading history, we are using
the simplified method presented by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 to calculate expected
holding periods, which represent the periods of time for which options granted are expected to
be outstanding. We will continue to use this method until we have sufficient historical exercise
experience to give us confidence in the reliability of our calculations. The fair values of these
options were determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following table outlines the assumptions based on the number of options granted under the
2015 Plan.

February 10,
2017

May 17,
2017

March 7,
2018

March 13,
2018

Number of options granted 40,000 93,819 98,100 26,000
Options outstanding at

September 30, 2018 38,300 84,665 96,400 26,000
Number exercisable at

September 30, 2018 11,900 28,572 - 8,840
Exercise price $ 13.00 $ 15.41 $ 21.21 $ 21.49
Remaining lives 8.37 8.63 9.44 9.46
Risk free interest rate 1.89% 1.76% 2.65% 2.62%
Expected volatility 27.44% 26.92% 28.76% 28.76%
Expected life 6.000 6.000 6.000 5.495
Dividend yield - - 0.83% 0.82%
Fair value at grant date $ 3.98 $ 4.60 $ 6.37 $ 6.18

The Company has recorded compensation expense related to the options based on the provisions
of ASC 718 under which the fixed portion of such expense is determined as the fair value of
the options on the date of grant and amortized over the vesting period. The Company recorded
compensation expense related to the options of approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. The Company recorded compensation expense
related to the options of approximately $0.6 million and $0.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017. Total unrecognized compensation expense related to options at
September 30, 2018, is $0.5 million, which will be expensed over 1.93 years.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSUs”)

PRSUs are restricted stock units subject to both performance-based and service-based vesting
conditions. The number of common stock shares a recipient will receive upon vesting of a
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PRSU will be calculated by reference to certain performance metrics related to the Company’s
performance over a five-year period. PRSUs will vest on the measurement date, which is no
more than 65 days after the performance period (provided the applicable service and performance
conditions are satisfied). On March 31, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors granted 94,000
PRSUs to employees of the Company. On March 7, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors
granted an additional 96,000 PRSUs to employees of the Company. The fair values of the
PRSUs granted on March 31, 2017, and March 7, 2018, are $15.60 and $21.21, respectively, the
Company’s stock price on the date of grant. As of September 30, 2018, there are 184,000 PRSUs
outstanding, all of which are unvested. The Company recorded compensation expense related
to the PRSUs of approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million in the consolidated statements of
income for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, based on the probability of
achieving the performance condition. The Company recorded compensation expense related to the
PRSUs of approximately $0.4 million and $0.2 million in the consolidated statements of income
for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Total unrecognized compensation
expense related to these awards at September 30, 2018, is $2.7 million which will be expensed
over the service periods based on the probability of achieving the performance condition.

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


9 Months EndedContingencies Sep. 30, 2018
Contingencies [Abstract]
Contingencies Note 14. Contingencies

Other major tobacco companies are defendants in product liability claims. In a number of these
cases, the amounts of punitive and compensatory damages sought are significant and could have
a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The Company is a defendant
in certain cases which have been dormant for many years, which cases have now been dismissed
with prejudice.

The Company is subject to several lawsuits alleging personal injuries resulting from
malfunctioning vaporizer devices and may be subject to claims in the future relating to other
NewGen products. The Company is still evaluating these claims and the potential defenses to
them. For example, the Company did not design or manufacture the products at issue; rather, the
Company was merely the distributor. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the Company
will prevail in these cases, and they could have a material adverse effect on the financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
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Income Per Share [Abstract]
Income Per Share Note 15. Income Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS
computations of net income:

Three Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017

Income Shares
Per

Share Income Shares
Per

Share
Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374

Basic EPS:
Weighted average 19,378,054 $ 0.41 19,085,329 $ 0.39

Diluted EPS:
Effect of dilutive

securities:
Stock options 504,940 504,095

19,882,994 $ 0.40 19,589,424 $ 0.38

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017

Income Shares
Per

Share Income Shares
Per

Share
Net income

attributable to
Turning Point
Brands, Inc. $ 20,305 $ 16,690

Basic EPS:
Weighted

average 19,290,096 $ 1.05 18,915,606 $ 0.88

Diluted EPS:
Effect of

dilutive
securities:

Stock options 477,571 587,524
19,767,667 $ 1.03 19,503,130 $ 0.86
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Segment Information
[Abstract]
Segment Information Note 16. Segment Information

In accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting, the Company has three reportable segments:
Smokeless products, Smoking products, and NewGen products. The Smokeless products segment
(i) manufactures and markets moist snuff and (ii) contracts for and markets chewing tobacco
products. The Smoking products segment (i) markets and distributes cigarette papers, tubes, and
related products; (ii) markets and distributes finished cigars and MYO cigar wraps; and (iii)
processes, packages, markets, and distributes traditional pipe tobaccos. The NewGen products
segment (i) markets and distributes e-cigarettes, e-liquids, vaporizers, and certain other products
without tobacco and/or nicotine; (ii) distributes a wide assortment of vaping products to non-
traditional retail outlets via VaporBeast, Vapor Shark, Vapor Supply, and IVG; and (iii) distributes
a wide assortment of vaping related products to individual consumers via Vapor Shark, Vapor
World, and VaporFi branded retail outlets in addition to online platforms. Smokeless and Smoking
products are distributed primarily through wholesale distributors in the United States while
NewGen products are distributed primarily through e-commerce to non-traditional retail outlets in
the United States. The Other segment includes the costs and assets of the Company not assigned
to one of the three reportable segments such as intercompany transfers, deferred taxes, deferred
financing fees, and investments in subsidiaries.

The accounting policies of these segments are the same as those of the Company. Segment
data includes a charge allocating corporate costs to the three reportable segments based on their
respective net sales. Prior period corporate costs have been allocated in accordance with the current
period allocation methodology to conform prior period segment operating income figures to
current period presentation. The Company evaluates the performance of its segments and allocates
resources to them based on gross profit.

The tables below present financial information about reported segments:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017

Net sales
Smokeless products $ 21,743 $ 21,294
Smoking products 28,079 26,860
NewGen products 33,527 25,186

$ 83,349 $ 73,340

Gross profit
Smokeless products $ 11,020 $ 11,516
Smoking products 14,814 14,201
NewGen products 10,377 7,251

$ 36,211 $ 32,968

Operating income (loss)
Smokeless products (1) $ 4,114 $ 6,036
Smoking products (2) 8,595 8,958
NewGen products (3) 371 (535)
Other (4) (122) (25)

$ 12,958 $ 14,434
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Interest expense 3,836 4,027
Interest income (134) (4)
Investment income (89) (131)
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service

cost (45) 58

Income before income taxes $ 9,390 $ 10,484

Capital expenditures
Smokeless products $ 251 $ 446
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 274 39

$ 525 $ 485

Depreciation and amortization
Smokeless products $ 342 $ 341
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 343 255

$ 685 $ 596

(1) Includes allocated corporate charges of $1,748 and $1,734 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(2) Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,266 and $2,187 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(3) Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,168 and $2,061 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(4) "Other" includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017

Net sales
Smokeless products $ 66,900 $ 63,563
Smoking products 84,403 81,056
NewGen products 87,089 67,595

$ 238,392 $ 212,214

Gross profit
Smokeless products $ 34,546 $ 32,385
Smoking products 43,158 42,018
NewGen products 26,111 18,303

$ 103,815 $ 92,706

Operating income (loss)
Smokeless products (1) $ 15,040 $ 15,256
Smoking products (2) 24,270 25,663
NewGen products (3) (1,437) (1,916)
Other (4) (372) (61)

$ 37,501 $ 38,942

Interest expense 11,073 13,010
Interest income (262) (8)
Investment income (328) (334)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Net periodic benefit expense, excluding service cost 176 174
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Income before income taxes $ 24,458 $ 19,984

Capital expenditures
Smokeless products $ 1,140 $ 973
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 388 79

$ 1,528 $ 1,052

Depreciation and amortization
Smokeless products $ 1,014 $ 1,046
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 1,139 672

$ 2,153 $ 1,718

(1) Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,010 and $5,324 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(2) Includes allocated corporate charges of $7,585 and $6,789 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(3) Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,948 and $5,662 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(4) '"Other" includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Assets
Smokeless products $ 100,199 $ 94,559
Smoking products 141,129 141,869
NewGen products 94,020 44,914
Other (1) 983 935

$ 336,331 $ 282,277

(1) "Other" includes the assets that are not assigned to the three
reportable segments. All goodwill has been allocated to the
reportable segments.

Revenue Disaggregation—Sales Channel

Revenues of the Smokeless and Smoking segments are primarily comprised of sales made to
wholesalers while NewGen sales are made to wholesalers, retailers, and ultimate end-customers.
NewGen net sales are broken out by sales channel below.

NewGen Segment
Three Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Wholesalers $ 1,892 $ 2,818
Retail outlets 22,473 19,889
End-customers 9,162 2,479

$ 33,527 $ 25,186

NewGen Segment
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
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2018 2017

Wholesalers $ 6,572 $ 7,971
Retail outlets 63,185 53,665
End-customers 17,332 5,959

$ 87,089 $ 67,595

Net Sales—Domestic vs. Foreign

The following table shows a breakdown of consolidated net sales between domestic and foreign
customers.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Domestic $ 78,529 $ 69,484
Foreign 4,820 3,856
Total $ 83,349 $ 73,340

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Domestic $ 226,826 $ 203,210
Foreign 11,566 9,004
Total $ 238,392 $ 212,214
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9 Months EndedDividends Sep. 30, 2018
Dividends [Abstract]
Dividends Note 17. Dividends

On November 9, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the initiation of a cash
dividend to shareholders. The initial quarterly dividend of $0.04 per common share was paid on
December 15, 2017, to shareholders of record at the close of business on November 27, 2017. The
most recent dividend of $0.04 per common share was paid on October 12, 2018, to shareholders of
record at the close of business on September 24, 2018.

Dividends are classified as restricted payments within the 2018 Credit Facility. The Company is
generally permitted to make restricted payments provided that, at the time of payment, or as a
result of payment, the Company is not in default on its debt covenants. Additional restrictions limit
the aggregate amount of restricted, quarterly dividends during a fiscal year to the aggregate amount
of mandatory and voluntary principal payments made on the priority term loans during the fiscal
year.
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9 Months EndedOrganizations and Basis of
Presentation (Policies) Sep. 30, 2018

Organizations and Basis of
Presentation [Abstract]
Basis of Presentation Basis of Presentation

The accompanying interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the accounting practices described in the Company’s audited, consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, and are unaudited. In
the opinion of management, the unaudited, interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements
included herein contain all adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows of the Company for the periods indicated. Such adjustments, other than
nonrecurring adjustments separately disclosed, are of a normal and recurring nature. The operating
results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for a full year
or future interim periods. The unaudited, interim, condensed, consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited, consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. The accompanying interim,
condensed, consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and, accordingly, do not include all the
disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”)
with respect to annual financial statements.

Reclassifications Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
The changes did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows in any of the periods presented.
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9 Months EndedSummary of Significant
Accounting Policies (Policies) Sep. 30, 2018
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Consolidation Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are
wholly-owned. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Revenue Recognition Revenue Recognition

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP,
on January 1, 2018. The Company recognizes revenues, net of sales incentives and sales returns, including
shipping and handling charges billed to customers, upon delivery of goods to the customer at an amount that
the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods in accordance with the five-step analysis
outlined in Topic 606: (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the
contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations,
and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied.

A further requirement of ASU 2014-09 is for entities to disaggregate revenue recognized from contracts with
customers into categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by economic factors. Company management views business performance through segments that
closely resemble the performance of major product lines. Thus, the primary and most useful disaggregation
of the Company’s contract revenue for decision making purposes is the disaggregation by segment which can
be found in Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. An additional disaggregation of contract
revenue by sales channel can be found within Note 16 as well.

Shipping Costs Shipping Costs

The Company records shipping costs incurred as a component of selling, general, and administrative expenses.
Shipping costs incurred were approximately $3.8 million and $2.9 million for the three months ending
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Shipping costs incurred were approximately $10.5 million and $7.4
million for the nine months ending September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Fair Value Fair Value

GAAP establishes a framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority
to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (level 3).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under GAAP are described below:

· Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in active markets at the measurement date.

· Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived
principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

· Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Derivative Instruments Derivative Instruments

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts: The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
a portion of its exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates on inventory purchase commitments.
The Company accounts for its forward contracts under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging.
Under the Company’s policy, the Company may hedge up to 100% of its anticipated purchases of inventory
in the denominated invoice currency over a forward period not to exceed twelve months. The Company may
also, from time to time, hedge up to ninety percent of its non-inventory purchases in the denominated invoice
currency. Forward contracts that qualify as hedges are adjusted to their fair value through other comprehensive
income as determined by market prices on the measurement date, except any hedge ineffectiveness which
is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses on these forward contracts are transferred from other
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comprehensive income into net income as the related inventories are received. Changes in fair value of any
contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in
income.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements: The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage interest rate
risk and reduce the volatility of future cash flows. The Company accounts for its interest rate swap contracts
under the provisions of ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. Swap contracts that qualify as hedges are adjusted
to their fair value through other comprehensive income as determined by market prices on the measurement
date, except any hedge ineffectiveness which is recognized currently in income. Gains and losses on these swap
contracts are transferred from other comprehensive income into net income upon settlement of the derivative
position or at maturity of the interest rate swap contract. Changes in fair value of any contracts that do not
qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as hedges are recognized currently in income.

Risks and Uncertainties Risks and Uncertainties

Manufacturers and sellers of tobacco products are subject to regulation at the federal, state, and local levels.
Such regulations include, among others, labeling requirements, limitations on advertising, and prohibition of
sales to minors. The tobacco industry is likely to continue to be heavily regulated. There can be no assurance
as to the ultimate content, timing, or effect of any regulation of tobacco products by any federal, state, or local
legislative or regulatory body, nor can there be any assurance that any such legislation or regulation would not
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The tobacco industry has experienced, and is experiencing, significant product liability litigation. Most tobacco
liability lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and sellers of cigarettes for injuries allegedly caused
by smoking or exposure to smoke. However, several lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and
sellers of smokeless products for injuries to health allegedly caused by use of smokeless products. Typically,
such claims assert that use of smokeless products is addictive and causes oral cancer. Additionally, several
lawsuits have been brought against manufacturers and distributors of NewGen products due to malfunctioning
devices. There can be no assurance the Company will not sustain losses in connection with such lawsuits
and that such losses will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Master Settlement Agreement (MSA): Pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement (the “MSA”) entered
into in November 1998 by most states (represented by their attorneys general acting through the National
Association of Attorneys General) and subsequent states’ statutes, a “cigarette manufacturer” (which is defined
to include a manufacturer of make-your-own (“MYO”) cigarette tobacco) has the option of either becoming
a signatory to the MSA or opening, funding, and maintaining an escrow account to have funds available for
certain potential tobacco-related liabilities with sub-accounts on behalf of each settling state. The Company
chose to open and fund an escrow account as its method of compliance. It is the Company’s policy to record
amounts on deposit in the escrow account for prior years as a non-current asset. Each year’s annual obligation
is required to be deposited in the escrow account by April 15 of the following year. In addition to the annual
deposit, many states have elected to require quarterly deposits for the previous quarter’s sales. As of September
30, 2018, the Company had on deposit approximately $32.1 million, the fair value of which was approximately
$29.9 million. At December 31, 2017, the Company had on deposit approximately $32.1 million, the fair value
of which was approximately $30.8 million. Effective in the third quarter of 2017, the Company no longer sells
any product covered under the MSA. Thus, absent a change in legislation, the Company will no longer be
required to make deposits to the MSA escrow account.

The Company has chosen to invest a portion of the MSA escrow deposits in U.S. Government securities
including TIPS, Treasury Notes, and Treasury Bonds. These investments are classified as available-for-sale
and carried at fair value. Realized losses are prohibited under the MSA; any investment in an unrealized loss
position will be held until the value is recovered, or until maturity. The following shows the fair value of the
MSA escrow account:

As of September 30, 2018 As of December 31, 2017

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,367 $ - $ 1,367 $ 3,602 $ - $ 3,602
U.S. Governmental agency obligations

(unrealized loss position < 12 months) 3,181 (53) 3,128 722 (17) 705
U.S. Governmental agency obligations

(unrealized loss position > 12 months) 27,514 (2,084) 25,430 27,733 (1,214) 26,519
$32,062 $ (2,137) $ 29,925 $32,057 $ (1,231) $ 30,826
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Fair value for the U.S. Governmental agency obligations are Level 2. The following shows the maturities of the
U.S. Governmental agency obligations:

As of
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Less than one year $ 1,499 $ -
One to five years 9,600 7,114
Five to ten years 15,141 17,662
Greater than ten years 4,455 3,679
Total U.S. Governmental agency obligations $ 30,695 $ 28,455

The following shows the amount of deposits by sales year for the MSA escrow account:

Deposits as of
Sales
Year

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

1999 $ 211 $ 211
2000 1,017 1,017
2001 1,673 1,673
2002 2,271 2,271
2003 4,249 4,249
2004 3,714 3,714
2005 4,552 4,552
2006 3,847 3,847
2007 4,167 4,167
2008 3,364 3,364
2009 1,619 1,626
2010 406 406
2011 193 193
2012 199 199
2013 173 173
2014 143 143
2015 101 101
2016 81 81
2017 83 70

Total $ 32,063 $ 32,057

Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”): On June 22, 2009, the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco
Control Act (“FSPTCA”) authorized the FDA to immediately regulate the manufacturing, sale, and marketing
of four categories of tobacco products – cigarettes, cigarette tobacco, roll-your-own tobacco, and smokeless
tobacco. On August 8, 2016, the FDA deeming regulation became effective. The deeming regulation gave the
FDA the authority to additionally regulate cigars, pipe tobacco, electronic cigarettes (“e-cigarettes”), vaporizers,
and e-liquids as “deemed” tobacco products under the FSPTCA.

The FDA assesses tobacco product user fees on six classes of regulated tobacco products and computes user
fees using a methodology similar to the methodology used by the U.S Department of Agriculture to compute
the Tobacco Transition Payment Program (“TTPP,” also known as the “Tobacco Buyout”) assessment. First, the
total, annual, congressionally established user fee assessment is allocated among the various classes of tobacco
products using the federal excise tax weighted market share of tobacco products subject to regulation. Then, the
assessment for each class of tobacco products is divided among individual manufacturers and importers.

Prior to October 1, 2016, these FDA user fees applied only to those products then regulated by the FDA.
Effective October 1, 2016, the FDA began additionally applying FDA user fees to newly “deemed” tobacco
products subject to FDA user fees as described above, i.e., cigars and pipe tobacco.

On July 28, 2017, the FDA announced a new direction in regulating tobacco products, including the newly
“deemed” markets such as cigars and vapor products. The FDA stated it intends to begin several new
rulemaking processes, some of which will outline foundational rules governing the premarket application
process for the deemed products, including Substantial Equivalence Applications and Premarket Tobacco
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Applications. Compliance and related costs could be significant and could increase the costs of operating in
our NewGen segment. The original filing deadlines for newly “deemed” products on the market as of August
8, 2016, have been postponed until August 8, 2021, for “combustible” products (e.g., cigar and pipe) and
August 8, 2022, for “non-combustible” products (e.g., vapor products). No other significant filing deadlines
have been altered at this time. The FDA also acknowledged a “continuum of risk” among tobacco products
(i.e., certain tobacco products pose a greater risk to individual and public health than others), that it intends to
seek public comment on the role flavors play in attracting youth and the role flavors may play in helping some
smokers switch to potentially less harmful forms of nicotine delivery, and that it would be increasing its focus
on the regulation of cigarette products. FDA has since published a number of Advanced Notices of Proposed
Rulemaking (“ANPRM”) on these subjects.

Recent Accounting
Pronouncements Adopted

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

The Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes
nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP, in the first quarter of 2018 using the
modified retrospective method. This ASU requires the recognition of revenue to depict the transfer of goods to
customers at an amount that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods in accordance
with the following five-step analysis: (i) identify the contract with the customer, (ii) identify the performance
obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied. Other
major provisions include capitalization of certain contract costs, consideration of time value of money in
the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be recognized before contingencies
are resolved in certain circumstances. The guidance also requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
The adoption of this ASU had no effect on the timing or amount of revenue recognition, or on net income.

The Company adopted ASU 2018-02, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, in the first quarter of
2018 on a prospective basis. This ASU allows entities to make a one-time reclassification from accumulated
other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) to retained earnings for the effects of remeasuring deferred tax liabilities
and assets originally recorded in other comprehensive income as a result of the change in the federal tax rate
by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”). The adoption of this ASU resulted in a reclassification of stranded
tax effects related to the TCJA from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings of less than
$0.1 million during the first quarter of 2018.

The Company adopted ASU 2017-07, Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost, in the first quarter of
2018 using the full retrospective method. This ASU requires an entity to report the service cost component in the
same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees
during the period. The other components of net periodic benefit cost are required to be presented in the income
statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from operations. The
adoption of this ASU resulted in a reclassification of $0.1 million and $0.2 million from cost of sales and selling,
general, and administrative expenses to net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service cost, for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, in the first quarter
of 2018 using the full retrospective method. The amendments in this ASU require that a statement of cash flows
explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as
restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. As a result of this ASU the Company’s statements of cash flows
include changes in restricted cash, such as changes in the portion of the MSA escrow deposits held in cash.

Recent Accounting
Pronouncements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes Topic 840, Leases.
ASU 2016-02 requires a lessee to recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease
payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset (the lease
asset) for the lease term. For leases with a term of 12 months or less for which there is not an option to purchase
the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting
policy election by class of underlying asset not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities and should
recognize lease expense for such leases generally on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Certain qualitative
disclosures along with specific quantitative disclosures will be required so that users are able to understand
more about the nature of an entity’s leasing activities. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. At
transition, lessees are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented
using a modified retrospective approach, which includes a number of optional practical expedients related to
the identification and classification of leases that commenced before the effective date of ASU 2016-02. An

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
https://www.secdatabase.com


entity that elects to use the practical expedients will, in effect, continue to account for leases that commenced
before the effective date in accordance with previous GAAP unless the lease is modified, except that lessees
are required to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all operating leases at each reporting date
based on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments that were tracked and disclosed under
previous GAAP.

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements, providing entities
with an additional, optional transition method by which to adopt the new leases standard. ASU 2018-11 allows
for application of the new leases standard at adoption date and recognition of a cumulative-effect adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company will adopt the new leases
standard under this optional transition method on January 1, 2019, and does not expect a material adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings at adoption. While the Company is still in the process of quantifying
the impact to the consolidated balance sheet upon adoption, the Company expects to report increased assets and
liabilities as a result of recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities related to the Company’s operating
lease agreements discussed in the Company’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. However, the Company does
not expect adoption of ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-11 to have a material impact on its consolidated statements
of income as the majority, if not all, of the Company’s leases are expected to remain operating in nature.
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9 Months EndedSummary of Significant
Accounting Policies (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018
Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Fair Value of MSA Escrow
Account

The following shows the fair value of the MSA escrow account:

As of September 30, 2018 As of December 31, 2017

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Estimated
Fair

Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,367 $ - $ 1,367 $ 3,602 $ - $ 3,602
U.S. Governmental agency obligations

(unrealized loss position < 12 months) 3,181 (53) 3,128 722 (17) 705
U.S. Governmental agency obligations

(unrealized loss position > 12 months) 27,514 (2,084) 25,430 27,733 (1,214) 26,519
$32,062 $ (2,137) $ 29,925 $32,057 $ (1,231) $ 30,826

Maturities of U.S.
Governmental Agency
Obligations

The following shows the maturities of the U.S. Governmental agency obligations:

As of
September 30,

2018
December 31,

2017
Less than one year $ 1,499 $ -
One to five years 9,600 7,114
Five to ten years 15,141 17,662
Greater than ten years 4,455 3,679
Total U.S. Governmental agency obligations $ 30,695 $ 28,455

Deposits by Sales Year for
MSA Escrow Account

The following shows the amount of deposits by sales year for the MSA escrow account:

Deposits as of
Sales
Year

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

1999 $ 211 $ 211
2000 1,017 1,017
2001 1,673 1,673
2002 2,271 2,271
2003 4,249 4,249
2004 3,714 3,714
2005 4,552 4,552
2006 3,847 3,847
2007 4,167 4,167
2008 3,364 3,364
2009 1,619 1,626
2010 406 406
2011 193 193
2012 199 199
2013 173 173
2014 143 143
2015 101 101
2016 81 81
2017 83 70

Total $ 32,063 $ 32,057
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9 Months EndedAcquisitions (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018
Acquisitions [Abstract]
Pro Forma Information - IVG
and Vapor Supply

Amortization of fair value, interest on debt, and income tax adjustments are included in the
numbers below.

Vapor Supply
and IVG Actuals Pro Forma Consolidated
from Acquisition Nine Months Ended
Dates Through September 30,

September 30, 2018 2018 2017
Net sales $ 9,737 $ 281,679 $ 270,795
Income (loss)

before income
taxes (55) 24,556 21,539

Net income
(loss) $ (55) $ 20,386 $ 17,390

Basic earnings
per common
share:
Net income $ 1.06 $ 0.92

Diluted earnings
per common
share:
Net income $ 1.03 $ 0.89

Weight average
common
shares
outstanding:
Basic -

inclusive of
voting and
non-voting
shares 19,290,096 18,915,606

Diluted -
inclusive of
voting and
non-voting
shares 19,767,667 19,503,130

IVG [Member]
Acquisitions [Abstract]
Acquisition The following purchase price and goodwill are based on the excess of the acquisition price over

the estimated fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and are based on
management’s preliminary estimates.

Total purchase price $ 24,292
Adjustments to purchase price:

Cash acquired (391)
Working capital (245)

Adjusted purchase price 23,656

Assets acquired:
Working capital 2,681
Fixed assets 1,296
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Intangible assets 8,140
Capital lease obligation (169)

Net assets acquired 11,948

Goodwill $ 11,708

Vapor Supply [Member]
Acquisitions [Abstract]
Acquisition The following fair value for working capital (primarily inventory), fixed assets, and trade name

are based on management’s preliminary estimates:

Fair Value

Working capital $ 3,181
Fixed assets 498
Trade name 1,121
Total purchase price $ 4,800
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9 Months EndedInventories (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018
Inventories [Abstract]
Inventories The components of inventories are as follows:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Raw materials and work in process $ 3,285 $ 2,545
Leaf tobacco 34,873 30,308
Finished goods - Smokeless products 7,313 5,834
Finished goods - Smoking products 13,604 14,110
Finished goods - NewGen products 35,103 14,532
Other 722 1,290

94,900 68,619
LIFO reserve (5,467) (5,323)

$ 89,433 $ 63,296
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9 Months EndedProperty, Plant, and
Equipment (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018

Property, Plant, and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, Plant, and Equipment Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Land $ 22 $ 22
Buildings and improvements 2,320 2,072
Leasehold improvements 2,064 1,873
Machinery and equipment 13,275 12,635
Furniture and fixtures 4,601 3,821

22,282 20,423
Accumulated depreciation (11,697) (11,564)

$ 10,585 $ 8,859
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9 Months EndedOther Current Assets
(Tables) Sep. 30, 2018

Other Current Assets [Abstract]
Other Current Assets Other current assets consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Inventory deposits $ 9,251 $ 3,797
Other 5,305 6,545

$ 14,556 $ 10,342
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9 Months EndedAccrued Liabilities (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018
Accrued Liabilities [Abstract]
Accrued Liabilities Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Accrued payroll and related items $ 4,142 $ 5,683
Customer returns and allowances 2,353 2,707
Other 10,906 10,304

$ 17,401 $ 18,694
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9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-
Term Debt (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the following in order of

preference:

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

2018 First Lien Term Loan $ 156,000 $ -
2018 Second Lien Term Loan 40,000 -
Note payable - IVG 4,000 -
2017 First Lien First Out Term Loan - 105,875
2017 First Lien Second Out Term Loan - 34,738
2017 Second Lien Term Loan - 55,000
Note payable - VaporBeast - 2,000

Total notes payable and long-term debt 200,000 197,613
Less deferred finance charges (3,471) (3,573)
Less current maturities (8,000) (7,850)

$ 188,529 $ 186,190
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9 Months EndedPension and Postretirement
Benefit Plans (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018

Pension and Postretirement Benefit
Plans [Abstract]
Net Periodic Benefit Cost The following table provides the components of net periodic pension and postretirement

benefit costs and total costs for the plans:

Three Months Ended September 30,
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017
Service cost $ 26 $ 26 $ - $ -
Interest cost 135 164 30 36
Expected return on plan

assets (221) (256) - -
Amortization of (gains)

losses 33 114 (21) -
Net periodic benefit (income)

cost $ (27) $ 48 $ 9 $ 36

Nine Months Ended September 30,
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2018 2017 2018 2017
Service cost $ 78 $ 78 $ - $ -
Interest cost 419 484 88 108
Expected return on plan assets (728) (768) - -
Amortization of (gains) losses 153 350 (61) -
Curtailment loss 306 - - -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 228 $ 144 $ 27 $ 108
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9 Months EndedShare Incentive Plans
(Tables) Sep. 30, 2018

Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Stock Option Activity There are no shares available for grant under the 2006 Plan. Stock option activity for the

2006 and 2015 Plans is summarized below:

Stock
Option
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding, December 31, 2016 1,637,762 $ 2.41 $ 1.23

Granted 133,819 14.69 4.41
Exercised (923,708) 1.55 0.83
Forfeited (801) 15.37 4.59
Surrendered (83,400) 1.06 0.54
Outstanding, December 31, 2017 763,672 5.73 2.36

Granted 124,100 21.27 6.33
Exercised (196,585) 3.96 1.42
Forfeited (13,595) 13.08 3.71
Outstanding, September 30, 2018 677,592 $ 8.95 $ 3.33

Assumptions for Options Granted
Under 2015 Plan

The following table outlines the assumptions based on the number of options granted under
the 2015 Plan.

February 10,
2017

May 17,
2017

March 7,
2018

March 13,
2018

Number of options granted 40,000 93,819 98,100 26,000
Options outstanding at

September 30, 2018 38,300 84,665 96,400 26,000
Number exercisable at

September 30, 2018 11,900 28,572 - 8,840
Exercise price $ 13.00 $ 15.41 $ 21.21 $ 21.49
Remaining lives 8.37 8.63 9.44 9.46
Risk free interest rate 1.89% 1.76% 2.65% 2.62%
Expected volatility 27.44% 26.92% 28.76% 28.76%
Expected life 6.000 6.000 6.000 5.495
Dividend yield - - 0.83% 0.82%
Fair value at grant date $ 3.98 $ 4.60 $ 6.37 $ 6.18
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9 Months EndedIncome Per Share (Tables) Sep. 30, 2018
Income Per Share [Abstract]
Basic and Diluted Net Income
per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted EPS
computations of net income:

Three Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017

Income Shares
Per

Share Income Shares
Per

Share
Consolidated net income $ 7,954 $ 7,374

Basic EPS:
Weighted average 19,378,054 $ 0.41 19,085,329 $ 0.39

Diluted EPS:
Effect of dilutive

securities:
Stock options 504,940 504,095

19,882,994 $ 0.40 19,589,424 $ 0.38

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018 2017

Income Shares
Per

Share Income Shares
Per

Share
Net income

attributable to
Turning Point
Brands, Inc. $ 20,305 $ 16,690

Basic EPS:
Weighted

average 19,290,096 $ 1.05 18,915,606 $ 0.88

Diluted EPS:
Effect of

dilutive
securities:

Stock options 477,571 587,524
19,767,667 $ 1.03 19,503,130 $ 0.86
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9 Months EndedSegment Information
(Tables) Sep. 30, 2018

Segment Information
[Abstract]
Financial Information of
Reported Segments

The tables below present financial information about reported segments:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017

Net sales
Smokeless products $ 21,743 $ 21,294
Smoking products 28,079 26,860
NewGen products 33,527 25,186

$ 83,349 $ 73,340

Gross profit
Smokeless products $ 11,020 $ 11,516
Smoking products 14,814 14,201
NewGen products 10,377 7,251

$ 36,211 $ 32,968

Operating income (loss)
Smokeless products (1) $ 4,114 $ 6,036
Smoking products (2) 8,595 8,958
NewGen products (3) 371 (535)
Other (4) (122) (25)

$ 12,958 $ 14,434

Interest expense 3,836 4,027
Interest income (134) (4)
Investment income (89) (131)
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service

cost (45) 58

Income before income taxes $ 9,390 $ 10,484

Capital expenditures
Smokeless products $ 251 $ 446
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 274 39

$ 525 $ 485

Depreciation and amortization
Smokeless products $ 342 $ 341
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 343 255

$ 685 $ 596

(1) Includes allocated corporate charges of $1,748 and $1,734 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(2) Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,266 and $2,187 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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(3) Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,168 and $2,061 for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(4) "Other" includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017

Net sales
Smokeless products $ 66,900 $ 63,563
Smoking products 84,403 81,056
NewGen products 87,089 67,595

$ 238,392 $ 212,214

Gross profit
Smokeless products $ 34,546 $ 32,385
Smoking products 43,158 42,018
NewGen products 26,111 18,303

$ 103,815 $ 92,706

Operating income (loss)
Smokeless products (1) $ 15,040 $ 15,256
Smoking products (2) 24,270 25,663
NewGen products (3) (1,437) (1,916)
Other (4) (372) (61)

$ 37,501 $ 38,942

Interest expense 11,073 13,010
Interest income (262) (8)
Investment income (328) (334)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Net periodic benefit expense, excluding service cost 176 174

Income before income taxes $ 24,458 $ 19,984

Capital expenditures
Smokeless products $ 1,140 $ 973
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 388 79

$ 1,528 $ 1,052

Depreciation and amortization
Smokeless products $ 1,014 $ 1,046
Smoking products - -
NewGen products 1,139 672

$ 2,153 $ 1,718

(1) Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,010 and $5,324 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(2) Includes allocated corporate charges of $7,585 and $6,789 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(3) Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,948 and $5,662 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(4) '"Other" includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

https://www.secdatabase.com


September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Assets
Smokeless products $ 100,199 $ 94,559
Smoking products 141,129 141,869
NewGen products 94,020 44,914
Other (1) 983 935

$ 336,331 $ 282,277

(1) "Other" includes the assets that are not assigned to the three
reportable segments. All goodwill has been allocated to the
reportable segments.

Revenue Disaggregation -
Sales Channel

NewGen net sales are broken out by sales channel below.

NewGen Segment
Three Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Wholesalers $ 1,892 $ 2,818
Retail outlets 22,473 19,889
End-customers 9,162 2,479

$ 33,527 $ 25,186

NewGen Segment
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2018 2017

Wholesalers $ 6,572 $ 7,971
Retail outlets 63,185 53,665
End-customers 17,332 5,959

$ 87,089 $ 67,595

Net Sales - Domestic vs.
Foreign

The following table shows a breakdown of consolidated net sales between domestic and foreign
customers.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Domestic $ 78,529 $ 69,484
Foreign 4,820 3,856
Total $ 83,349 $ 73,340

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018 2017
Domestic $ 226,826 $ 203,210
Foreign 11,566 9,004
Total $ 238,392 $ 212,214
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedSummary of Significant
Accounting Policies,

Shipping Costs (Details) -
USD ($)

$ in Millions

Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2017 Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2017

Shipping Costs [Abstract]
Shipping costs $ 3.8 $ 2.9 $ 10.5 $ 7.4
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9 Months EndedSummary of Significant
Accounting Policies,

Derivative Instruments
(Details) - Maximum

[Member]

Sep. 30, 2018

Derivative Instruments [Abstract]
Percentage of anticipated purchases of inventory that may be hedged 100.00%
Term of hedge 12 months
Percentage of non-inventory purchases that may be hedged 90.00%
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Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, Master

Settlement Agreement
(Details) - USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Dec. 31,
2017

Fair Value of MSA Escrow Account [Abstract]
Cost $ 32,062 $ 32,057
Gross unrealized losses (2,137) (1,231)
Estimated fair value 29,925 30,826
Maturities of U.S. Governmental Agency Obligations [Abstract]
Less than one year 1,499 0
One to five years 9,600 7,114
Five to ten years 15,141 17,662
Greater than ten years 4,455 3,679
Total U.S. Governmental agency obligations 30,695 28,455
Master Settlement Agreement Escrow Account by Sales Year [Abstract]
1999 211 211
2000 1,017 1,017
2001 1,673 1,673
2002 2,271 2,271
2003 4,249 4,249
2004 3,714 3,714
2005 4,552 4,552
2006 3,847 3,847
2007 4,167 4,167
2008 3,364 3,364
2009 1,619 1,626
2010 406 406
2011 193 193
2012 199 199
2013 173 173
2014 143 143
2015 101 101
2016 81 81
2017 83 70
Total 32,063 32,057
Cash and Cash Equivalents [Member]
Fair Value of MSA Escrow Account [Abstract]
Cost 1,367 3,602
Gross unrealized losses 0 0
Estimated fair value 1,367 3,602
U. S. Governmental Agency Obligations (Unrealized Loss Position less than 12
Months) [Member]
Fair Value of MSA Escrow Account [Abstract]
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Cost 3,181 722
Gross unrealized losses (53) (17)
Estimated fair value 3,128 705
U. S. Governmental Agency Obligations (Unrealized Loss Position more than 12
Months) [Member]
Fair Value of MSA Escrow Account [Abstract]
Cost 27,514 27,733
Gross unrealized losses (2,084) (1,214)
Estimated fair value $ 25,430 $ 26,519
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9 Months
EndedSummary of Significant

Accounting Policies, Food
and Drug Administration

(Details)

Sep. 30, 2018
Category

Class
Food and Drug Administration [Abstract]
Number of categories of tobacco products regulated by the FDA | Category 4
Number of classes of regulated tobacco products on which user fees are assessed by the FDA |
Class 6

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
https://www.secdatabase.com


3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedSummary of Significant
Accounting Policies, Recent
Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted (Details) - USD ($)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Mar. 31,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
[Abstract]
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service
cost $ (45) $ 58 $ 176 $ 174

ASU 2017-07 [Member]
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
[Abstract]
Cost of sales and selling, general, and administrative
expenses (100) (200)

Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding service
cost $ 100 $ 200

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income [Member] |
ASU 2018-02 [Member]
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
[Abstract]
Reclassification of stranded tax effects related to the TCJA $ 100
Retained Earnings [Member] | ASU 2018-02 [Member]
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
[Abstract]
Reclassification of stranded tax effects related to the TCJA $ (100)
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1 Months
Ended

3 Months
Ended

9 Months
EndedAcquisitions, IVG (Details) -

USD ($)
$ in Thousands Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2018 Dec. 31,

2017
Acquisitions [Abstract]
Note payable issued for acquisition $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 197,613
Assets Acquired [Abstract]
Goodwill $ 146,328 $ 146,328 $ 146,328 $ 134,620
IVG [Member]
Acquisitions [Abstract]
Equity interest acquired 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Cash paid for acquisition $ 14,400
Common stock issued for acquisition (in
shares) 153,079

Fair value of common stock issued for
acquisition $ 5,300 $ 5,300 $ 5,300

Note payable issued for acquisition 4,000 4,000 $ 4,000
Maturity period of note payable 18 months
Earnouts payable to former IVG owners 4,500 4,500 $ 4,500
Term for payment of performance-based
earnouts 2 years

Earnout expense 400
Purchase Price [Abstract]
Total purchase price 24,292
Adjustments to Purchase Price [Abstract]
Cash acquired (391)
Working capital (245)
Adjusted purchase price 23,656
Assets Acquired [Abstract]
Working capital 2,681 2,681 $ 2,681
Fixed assets 1,296 1,296 1,296
Intangible assets 8,140 8,140 8,140
Capital lease obligation (169) (169) (169)
Net assets acquired 11,948 11,948 11,948
Goodwill $ 11,708 $ 11,708 $ 11,708
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Acquisitions, Vapor Supply
(Details) - Vapor Supply

[Member]
$ in Thousands

Apr. 30, 2018
USD ($)

Business Combination, Description [Abstract]
Cash paid at closing $ 4,800
Working capital 3,181
Fixed assets 498
Trade name 1,121
Total purchase price $ 4,800
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1 Months
Ended 3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedAcquisitions, Pro Forma

Information - IVG and
Vapor Supply (Details) -

USD ($)
$ / shares in Units, $ in

Thousands

Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding
[Abstract]
Basic - inclusive of voting and non-voting shares
(in shares) 19,378,054 19,085,329 19,290,096 18,915,606

Diluted - inclusive of voting and non-voting shares
(in shares) 19,882,994 19,589,424 19,767,667 19,503,130

IVG and Vapor Supply [Member]
Actuals from Acquisition Dates [Abstract]
Net sales $ 9,737
Income (loss) before income taxes (55)
Net income (loss) $ (55)
Pro Forma Consolidated [Abstract]
Net sales $ 281,679 $ 270,795
Income (loss) before income taxes 24,556 21,539
Net income (loss) $ 20,386 $ 17,390
Basic earnings per common share (in dollars per
share) $ 1.06 $ 0.92

Diluted earnings per common share (in dollars per
share) $ 1.03 $ 0.89
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1 Months EndedAcquisitions, Vapor Shark
(Details) - Vapor Shark

[Member]
$ in Millions

Feb. 28,
2018

USD ($)
Intallment

Jan. 31,
2018

USD ($)

Jun. 30,
2017

Mar. 31,
2017

USD ($)

Acquisitions [Abstract]
Committed deposit in exchange for warrant $ 2.5
Equity interest to be purchased upon exercise of warrant 100.00%
Equity interest acquired 100.00%
Consideration paid in exchange for option to purchase owned stores $ 1.5
Cash paid to former shareholder in exchange for option to purchase
branded company-owned stores $ 1.0

Liability to former shareholder in exchange for option to purchase
branded company-owned stores $ 0.5

Number of monthly installments for the remaining amount | Intallment 24
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3 Months
Ended

9 Months
EndedDerivative Instruments

(Details)
€ in Millions, $ in Millions

Sep. 30,
2018

EUR (€)

Sep. 30,
2018

EUR (€)

Sep. 30,
2018

USD ($)

Sep. 30,
2018

EUR (€)

Mar. 31,
2018

USD ($)

Dec. 31,
2017

USD ($)

Dec. 31,
2017

EUR (€)
Maximum [Member]
Derivative Instruments [Abstract]
Percentage of anticipated purchases of
inventory that may be hedged 100.00%

Term of hedge 12 months
Percentage of non-inventory purchases that
may be hedged 90.00%

Foreign Exchange Contracts [Member]
Derivative Instruments [Abstract]
Notional amount of contracts purchased | € € 2.3 € 14.5
Notional amount | € € 5.5 € 0.0
Foreign Exchange Contracts [Member] |
Maximum [Member]
Derivative Instruments [Abstract]
Fair value $ 0.1
Interest Rate Swap [Member]
Derivative Instruments [Abstract]
Notional amount 70.0 $ 70.0 $ 0.0
Fair value $ 0.4
Interest Rate Swap [Member] | LIBOR
[Member]
Derivative Instruments [Abstract]
Interest rate percentage 2.755% 2.755%
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9 Months
EndedFair Value of Financial

Instruments (Details)
$ in Thousands, € in Millions Sep. 30, 2018

USD ($)

Sep. 30,
2018

EUR (€)

Mar. 31,
2018

USD ($)

Dec. 31,
2017

USD ($)

Dec. 31,
2017

EUR (€)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Note payable $ 200,000 $ 197,613
Foreign Exchange Contracts [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Notional amount | € € 5.5 € 0.0
Loss on fair value (100)
Foreign Exchange Contracts [Member] | Maximum
[Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Fair value 100
Interest Rate Swap [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Notional amount 70,000 $ 70,000 0
Fair value 400
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Note payable 156,000 0
2017 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Note payable 0 55,000
Note Payable - IVG [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Note payable 4,000 0
Fair Value [Member] | 2018 First Lien Term Loan
[Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Long-term debt 156,000
Fair Value [Member] | 2018 Second Lien Term
Loan [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Long-term debt $ 40,000
Fair Value [Member] | 2017 First Lien Term Loans
[Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Long-term debt 140,600
Fair Value [Member] | 2017 Second Lien Term
Loan [Member]
Fair Value of Financial Instruments [Abstract]
Long-term debt $ 56,100
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Inventories (Details) - USD
($)

$ in Thousands
Sep. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Inventories [Abstract]
Raw materials and work in process $ 3,285 $ 2,545
Leaf tobacco 34,873 30,308
Other 722 1,290
Inventory 94,900 68,619
LIFO reserve (5,467) (5,323)
Inventory, net 89,433 63,296
Inventory valuation allowance 1,100 500
Smokeless Products [Member]
Inventories [Abstract]
Finished goods 7,313 5,834
Smoking Products [Member]
Inventories [Abstract]
Finished goods 13,604 14,110
NewGen Products [Member]
Inventories [Abstract]
Finished goods $ 35,103 $ 14,532
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Property, Plant, and
Equipment (Details) - USD

($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, plant and equipment $ 22,282 $ 20,423
Accumulated depreciation (11,697) (11,564)
Property, plant and equipment, net 10,585 8,859
Land [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, plant and equipment 22 22
Buildings and Improvements [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, plant and equipment 2,320 2,072
Leasehold Improvements [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, plant and equipment 2,064 1,873
Machinery and Equipment [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, plant and equipment 13,275 12,635
Furniture and Fixtures [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Abstract]
Property, plant and equipment $ 4,601 $ 3,821
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9 Months EndedOther Current Assets
(Details) - USD ($)

$ in Thousands Sep. 30, 2018 May 18, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Other Current Assets [Abstract]
Inventory deposits $ 9,251 $ 3,797
Other 5,305 6,545
Other current assets 14,556 $ 10,342
Note Receivable [Abstract]
Note receivable $ 6,500
Termination fee $ 1,000
Note Receivable [Member]
Note Receivable [Abstract]
Maturity date May 18, 2019
Interest rate 15.00%

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
https://www.secdatabase.com


Accrued Liabilities (Details)
- USD ($)

$ in Thousands
Sep. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Accrued Liabilities [Abstract]
Accrued payroll and related items $ 4,142 $ 5,683
Customer returns and allowances 2,353 2,707
Other 10,906 10,304
Total accrued liabilities $ 17,401 $ 18,694

Copyright © 2018 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
https://www.secdatabase.com


Notes Payable and Long-
Term Debt, Summary of
Notes Payable and Long-

Term Debt (Details) - USD
($)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2018 Dec. 31, 2017

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt $ 200,000 $ 197,613
Less deferred finance charges (3,471) (3,573)
Less current maturities (8,000) (7,850)
Long-term debt 188,529 186,190
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt 156,000 0
2018 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt 40,000 0
Note Payable - IVG [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt 4,000 0
2017 First Lien First Out Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt 0 105,875
2017 First Lien Second Out Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt 0 34,738
2017 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt 0 55,000
Note Payable - VaporBeast [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Notes payable and long-term debt $ 0 $ 2,000
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3 Months
Ended 9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-

Term Debt, 2018 Credit
Facility (Details) - USD ($)

$ in Thousands Mar. 31, 2018 Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Mar. 07,
2018

Feb. 17,
2017

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ (2,384) $ (6,116)
2018 Credit Facility [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Secured credit facility $ 250,000
Additional borrowing capacity under accordion
feature 40,000

2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Face amount 160,000
2018 Revolving Credit Facility [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Maximum borrowing capacity 50,000
2018 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Face amount $ 40,000
2017 Credit Facility [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Face amount $ 250,000
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ (2,400)
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9 Months
EndedNotes Payable and Long-

Term Debt, 2018 First Lien
Credit Facility (Details)

$ in Millions

Mar. 07,
2018

USD ($)

Sep. 30, 2018
USD ($)

Letter of Credit [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Maximum borrowing capacity $ 0.5
2018 First Lien Credit Facility [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Maturity date Mar. 07, 2023
2018 First Lien Credit Facility [Member] | Minimum [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Senior leverage ratio 3.00
Total leverage ratio 4.00
Fixed charge coverage ratio 1.20
2018 First Lien Credit Facility [Member] | Maximum [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Senior leverage ratio 3.50
Total leverage ratio 4.50
2018 Revolving Credit Facility [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Weighted average interest rate 6.36%
Outstanding borrowings $ 30.0
Unused portion of credit facility 20.0
Maximum borrowing capacity $ 50.0
Availability under credit facility $ 19.5
2018 Revolving Credit Facility [Member] | LIBOR [Member] | Minimum
[Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Margin on variable rate 2.75%
2018 Revolving Credit Facility [Member] | LIBOR [Member] | Maximum
[Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Margin on variable rate 3.50%
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Frequency of required payment Quarterly
Weighted average interest rate 5.49%
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member] | June 30, 2018 through March 31, 2020
[Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Required payment $ 2.0
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2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member] | June 30, 2020 through March 31, 2022
[Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Required payment 3.0
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member] | June 30, 2022 and after [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Required payment $ 4.0
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member] | LIBOR [Member] | Minimum [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Margin on variable rate 2.75%
2018 First Lien Term Loan [Member] | LIBOR [Member] | Maximum [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Margin on variable rate 3.50%
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9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-
Term Debt, 2018 Second

Lien Credit Facility (Details) Mar. 07, 2018 Sep. 30, 2018

2018 Second Lien Credit Facility [Member] | Minimum [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Senior leverage ratio 3.50
Total leverage ratio 4.50
Fixed charge coverage ratio 1.10
2018 Second Lien Credit Facility [Member] | Maximum [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Senior leverage ratio 3.75
Total leverage ratio 4.75
2018 Second Lien Term Loan [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Maturity date Mar. 07, 2024
Weighted average interest rate 9.15%
2018 Second Lien Term Loan [Member] | LIBOR [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Margin on variable rate 7.00%
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9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-
Term Debt, Note Payable -

IVG (Details) - Note Payable
- IVG [Member]

$ in Millions

Sep. 30, 2018
USD ($)

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Face amount $ 4
Interest rate 6.00%
Maturity date Mar. 05, 2020
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-
Term Debt, 2017 Credit

Facility (Details) - USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Mar. 31,
2018

Mar. 31,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Feb. 17,
2017

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ (2,384) $ (6,116)
2017 Credit Facility [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Face amount $ 250,000
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ (2,400)
Prior Credit Facilities [Member]
Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
[Abstract]
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ (6,100)
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9 Months EndedNotes Payable and Long-
Term Debt, Note Payable -
VaporBeast (Details) - Note

Payable - VaporBeast
[Member] - USD ($)

$ in Millions

Sep. 30, 2018 Nov. 30, 2016

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt [Abstract]
Face amount $ 2.0
Interest rate 6.00%
Maturity date May 30, 2018
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3 Months Ended 9 Months Ended 12 Months
EndedIncome Taxes (Details) -

USD ($)
$ in Millions Sep. 30,

2018
Sep. 30,

2017
Sep. 30,

2018
Sep. 30,

2017 Dec. 31, 2017

Income Taxes [Abstract]
Federal statutory rate 21.00%
Effective income tax rate 15.00% 30.00% 17.00% 19.00%
Tax deductions relating to stock options exercised $ 3.3 $ 2.6 $ 5.2 $ 11.7
State [Member] | Kentucky [Member]
Income Taxes [Abstract]
Income tax benefit related to enacted corporate
income tax changes $ (0.4)

Corporate tax rate 6.00% 5.00%
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedPension and Postretirement
Benefit Plans (Details) - USD

($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2018 Jun. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2017 Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2017

Pension Benefits [Member]
Plan Contributions [Abstract]
Expected contributions in 2018 $ 0 $ 0
Net Periodic Benefit Cost [Abstract]
Service cost 26 $ 26 78 $ 78
Interest cost 135 164 419 484
Expected return on plan assets (221) (256) (728) (768)
Amortization of (gains) losses 33 114 153 350
Curtailment loss $ 300 306 0
Net periodic benefit (income) cost (27) 48 228 144
Postretirement Benefits [Member]
Plan Contributions [Abstract]
Expected contributions in 2018 300 300
Net Periodic Benefit Cost [Abstract]
Service cost 0 0 0 0
Interest cost 30 36 88 108
Expected return on plan assets 0 0 0 0
Amortization of (gains) losses (21) 0 (61) 0
Curtailment loss 0 0
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ 9 $ 36 $ 27 $ 108
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9 Months Ended
Share Incentive Plans,
Equity Incentive Plans

(Details)
$ / shares in Units, $ in

Thousands

Feb. 07,
2017

USD ($)
Individual
$ / shares

shares

Sep. 30,
2018

USD ($)
shares

Sep. 30,
2017

USD ($)

Apr. 28,
2016

shares

Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Surrender of options | $ $ 0 $ 1,000
Officer [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of individuals receiving cash-out agreements for surrender of
expiring stock options | Individual 3

Director [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of individuals receiving cash-out agreements for surrender of
expiring stock options | Individual 1

Stock Options [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Options surrendered (in shares) 83,400
Surrender price (in dollars per share) | $ / shares $ 11.99
Exercise price (in dollars per share) | $ / shares 1.06
Share price (in dollars per share) | $ / shares $ 13.05
Surrender of options | $ $ 1,000
2015 Plan [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of shares available for grant (in shares) 900,233
2015 Plan [Member] | Restricted Stock [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of awards granted (in shares) 18,247
2015 Plan [Member] | Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
[Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of awards granted (in shares) 184,000
2015 Plan [Member] | Stock Options [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of awards granted (in shares) 297,520
2015 Plan [Member] | Voting Common Stock [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of shares authorized for issuance (in shares) 1,400,000
2006 Plan [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of shares available for grant (in shares) 0
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9 Months Ended 12 Months
Ended

Share Incentive Plans, Stock
Option Activity (Details) -
Stock Options [Member] -

USD ($)
$ / shares in Units, $ in

Millions

Feb. 07,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017 Dec. 31, 2017

Incentive Shares [Roll Forward]
Surrendered (in shares) (83,400)
2006 and 2015 Plans [Member]
Incentive Shares [Roll Forward]
Outstanding, beginning balance (in shares) 763,672 1,637,762 1,637,762
Granted (in shares) 124,100 133,819
Exercised (in shares) (196,585) (923,708)
Forfeited (in shares) (13,595) (801)
Surrendered (in shares) (83,400)
Outstanding, ending balance (in shares) 677,592 763,672
Weighted Average Exercise Price [Abstract]
Outstanding, beginning balance (in dollars per share) $ 5.73 $ 2.41 $ 2.41
Granted (in dollars per share) 21.27 14.69
Exercised (in dollars per share) 3.96 1.55
Forfeited (in dollars per share) 13.08 15.37
Surrendered (in dollars per share) 1.06
Outstanding, ending balance (in dollars per share) 8.95 5.73
Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
[Abstract]
Outstanding, beginning balance (in dollars per share) 2.36 $ 1.23 1.23
Granted (in dollars per share) 6.33 4.41
Exercised (in dollars per share) 1.42 0.83
Forfeited (in dollars per share) 3.71 4.59
Surrendered (in dollars per share) 0.54
Outstanding, ending balance (in dollars per share) $ 3.33 $ 2.36
Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 5.2 $ 11.7
Intrinsic value of options surrendered $ 1.0
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9 Months EndedShare Incentive Plans,
Assumptions for Options
Granted Under 2006 Plan

(Details) - 2006 Plan
[Member] - Stock Options

[Member]

Sep. 30, 2018
$ / shares

shares

Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Expected life 10 years
Exercise Price $3.83 [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of options (in shares) | shares 432,227
Exercise price (in dollars per share) $ 3.83
Number of options exercisable (in shares) | shares 432,227
Remaining lives 4 years 7 months 13 days
Expected life 10 years
Exercise price (in dollars per share) $ 3.83
Risk free interest rate 3.57%
Expected volatility 40.00%
Dividend yield 0.00%
Fair value at grant date (in dollars per share) $ 2.17
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9 Months EndedShare Incentive Plans,
Assumptions for Options
Granted Under 2015 Plan

(Details) - 2015 Plan
[Member] - Stock Options

[Member] - $ / shares

Mar. 13,
2018

Mar. 07,
2018

May 17,
2017

Feb. 10,
2017 Sep. 30, 2018

February 10, 2017 [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of options granted (in shares) 40,000
Options outstanding (in shares) 38,300
Number exercisable (in shares) 11,900
Exercise price (in dollars per share) $ 13.00
Remaining lives 8 years 4 months 13

days
Risk free interest rate 1.89%
Expected volatility 27.44%
Expected life 6 years
Dividend yield 0.00%
Fair value at grant date (in dollars per
share) $ 3.98

May 17, 2017 [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of options granted (in shares) 93,819
Options outstanding (in shares) 84,665
Number exercisable (in shares) 28,572
Exercise price (in dollars per share) $ 15.41
Remaining lives 8 years 7 months 17

days
Risk free interest rate 1.76%
Expected volatility 26.92%
Expected life 6 years
Dividend yield 0.00%
Fair value at grant date (in dollars per
share) $ 4.60

March 7, 2018 [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of options granted (in shares) 98,100
Options outstanding (in shares) 96,400
Number exercisable (in shares) 0
Exercise price (in dollars per share) $ 21.21
Remaining lives 9 years 5 months 8

days
Risk free interest rate 2.65%
Expected volatility 28.76%
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Expected life 6 years
Dividend yield 0.83%
Fair value at grant date (in dollars per
share) $ 6.37

March 13, 2018 [Member]
Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Number of options granted (in shares) 26,000
Options outstanding (in shares) 26,000
Number exercisable (in shares) 8,840
Exercise price (in dollars per share) $ 21.49
Remaining lives 9 years 5 months 16

days
Risk free interest rate 2.62%
Expected volatility 28.76%
Expected life 5 years 5 months 28

days
Dividend yield 0.82%
Fair value at grant date (in dollars per
share) $ 6.18
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedShare Incentive Plans,
Compensation Expense

(Details) - USD ($)
$ in Millions

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017 Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30,

2017

Compensation Expense [Abstract]
Compensation expense related to options $ 0.2 $ 0.1 $ 0.6 $ 0.2
Unrecognized compensation expense related to options $ 0.5 $ 0.5
Period over which unrecognized compensation expense
will be expensed

1 year 11 months 5
days
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedShare Incentive Plans,
Performance-Based

Restricted Stock Units
(Details) - Performance-

Based Restricted Stock Units
[Member] - USD ($)

$ / shares in Units, $ in
Millions

Mar. 07,
2018

Mar. 31,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Share Incentive Plans [Abstract]
Performance period 5 years
Period between performance period and
measurement date for vesting 65 days

Number of units granted (in shares) 96,000 94,000
Fair value (in dollars per share) $ 21.21 $ 15.60
Unvested units outstanding (in shares) 184,000 184,000
Compensation expense $ 0.2 $ 0.1 $ 0.4 $ 0.2
Unrecognized compensation expense $ 2.7 $ 2.7
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedIncome Per Share (Details) -
USD ($)

$ / shares in Units, $ in
Thousands

Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2017 Sep. 30, 2018 Sep. 30, 2017

Income Per Share [Abstract]
Net income attributable to Turning Point Brands, Inc. $ 7,954 $ 7,374 $ 20,305 $ 16,690
Basic EPS [Abstract]
Basic weighted average shares (in shares) 19,378,054 19,085,329 19,290,096 18,915,606
Basic EPS (in dollars per share) $ 0.41 $ 0.39 $ 1.05 $ 0.88
Effect of Dilutive Securities [Abstract]
Stock options (in shares) 504,940 504,095 477,571 587,524
Diluted weighted average shares (in shares) 19,882,994 19,589,424 19,767,667 19,503,130
Diluted EPS (in dollars per share) $ 0.40 $ 0.38 $ 1.03 $ 0.86
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedSegment Information,
Financial Information of

Reportable Segments
(Details)

$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

USD ($)

Sep. 30,
2017

USD ($)

Sep. 30,
2018

USD ($)
Segment

Sep. 30,
2017

USD ($)

Dec. 31,
2017

USD ($)

Segment Information [Abstract]
Number of reportable segments | Segment 3
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales $

83,349
$
73,340

$
238,392

$
212,214

Gross profit 36,211 32,968 103,815 92,706
Operating income (loss) 12,958 14,434 37,501 38,942
Interest expense 3,836 4,027 11,073 13,010
Interest income (134) (4) (262) (8)
Investment income (89) (131) (328) (334)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 2,384 6,116
Net periodic benefit (income) expense, excluding
service cost (45) 58 176 174

Income before income taxes 9,390 10,484 24,458 19,984
Capital expenditures 525 485 1,528 1,052
Depreciation and amortization 685 596 2,153 1,718
Assets 336,331 336,331 $ 282,277
NewGen Products [Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales 33,527 25,186 87,089 67,595
Reportable Segments [Member] | Smokeless
Products [Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales 21,743 21,294 66,900 63,563
Gross profit 11,020 11,516 34,546 32,385
Operating income (loss) 4,114 [1] 6,036 [1] 15,040 [2] 15,256 [2]

Capital expenditures 251 446 1,140 973
Depreciation and amortization 342 341 1,014 1,046
Allocated corporate charges 1,748 1,734 6,010 5,324
Assets 100,199 100,199 94,559
Reportable Segments [Member] | Smoking
Products [Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales 28,079 26,860 84,403 81,056
Gross profit 14,814 14,201 43,158 42,018
Operating income (loss) 8,595 [3] 8,958 [3] 24,270 [4] 25,663 [4]

Capital expenditures 0 0 0 0
Depreciation and amortization 0 0 0 0
Allocated corporate charges 2,266 2,187 7,585 6,789
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Assets 141,129 141,129 141,869
Reportable Segments [Member] | NewGen
Products [Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales 33,527 25,186 87,089 67,595
Gross profit 10,377 7,251 26,111 18,303
Operating income (loss) 371 [5] (535) [5] (1,437) [6] (1,916) [6]

Capital expenditures 274 39 388 79
Depreciation and amortization 343 255 1,139 672
Allocated corporate charges 2,168 2,061 6,948 5,662
Assets 94,020 94,020 44,914
Other [Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Operating income (loss) [7] (122) $ (25) (372) $ (61)
Assets [8] $ 983 $ 983 $ 935

[1] Includes allocated corporate charges of $1,748 and $1,734 for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

[2] Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,010 and $5,324 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

[3] Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,266 and $2,187 for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

[4] Includes allocated corporate charges of $7,585 and $6,789 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

[5] Includes allocated corporate charges of $2,168 and $2,061 for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

[6] Includes allocated corporate charges of $6,948 and $5,662 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

[7] "Other" includes the costs that are not assigned to the three reportable segments.
[8] '"Other" includes the assets that are not assigned to the three reportable segments. All goodwill has been

allocated to the reportable segments.
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedSegment Information,
Revenue Disaggregation -
Sales Channel (Details) -

USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Net Sales by Sales Channel [Abstract]
Net sales $ 83,349 $ 73,340 $ 238,392 $ 212,214
NewGen Products [Member]
Net Sales by Sales Channel [Abstract]
Net sales 33,527 25,186 87,089 67,595
NewGen Products [Member] | Wholesalers [Member]
Net Sales by Sales Channel [Abstract]
Net sales 1,892 2,818 6,572 7,971
NewGen Products [Member] | Retail Outlets [Member]
Net Sales by Sales Channel [Abstract]
Net sales 22,473 19,889 63,185 53,665
NewGen Products [Member] | End-customers
[Member]
Net Sales by Sales Channel [Abstract]
Net sales $ 9,162 $ 2,479 $ 17,332 $ 5,959
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3 Months Ended 9 Months EndedSegment Information, Net
Sales - Domestic vs. Foreign

(Details) - USD ($)
$ in Thousands

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Sep. 30,
2018

Sep. 30,
2017

Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales $ 83,349 $ 73,340 $ 238,392 $ 212,214
Reportable Geographical Component [Member] | Domestic
[Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales 78,529 69,484 226,826 203,210
Reportable Geographical Component [Member] | Foreign
[Member]
Segment Information [Abstract]
Net sales $ 4,820 $ 3,856 $ 11,566 $ 9,004
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9 Months
EndedDividends (Details) - $ /

shares Oct. 12,
2018

Dec. 15,
2017 Sep. 30, 2018

Dividend Declared Q4-2017 [Member]
Dividends [Abstract]
Dividend payable, date declared Nov. 09, 2017
Cash dividend paid (in dollars per share) $ 0.04
Dividend payable, date to be paid Dec. 15, 2017
Dividend payable, date of record Nov. 27, 2017
Dividend Declared Q3-2018 [Member] | Subsequent Event
[Member]
Dividends [Abstract]
Cash dividend paid (in dollars per share) $ 0.04
Dividend payable, date to be paid Oct. 12,

2018
Dividend payable, date of record Sep. 24,

2018
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